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PRICING INFORMATION 
 
 

$40,565,000 
BOARD OF EDUCATION OF THE CITY OF BUFORD (GEORGIA) 

REFUNDING REVENUE BONDS, TAXABLE SERIES 2021 
 

Maturity  
January 1 

Principal 
Amount 

Interest 
Rate 

 
Yield 

 
Price 

Initial CUSIP  
 1200041 

2024 $1,930,000.00 0.886% 0.886% 100.000% 120004AA4 

2025 1,955,000.00 1.132% 
 

1.132% 100.000% 120004AB2 
 

2026 1,975,000.00 1.364% 
 

1.364% 100.000% 120004AC0 
 

2027 2,005,000.00 1.464% 
 

1.464% 100.000% 120004AD8 
 

2028 2,030,000.00 1.635% 
 

1.635% 100.000% 120004AE6 
 

2029 2,060,000.00 1.765% 
 

1.765% 100.000% 120004AF3 
 

2030 2,100,000.00 1.924% 
 

1.924% 100.000% 120004AG1 
 

2031 2,140,000.00 2.024% 
 

2.024% 100.000% 120004AH9 
 

2032 2,185,000.00 2.114 % 
 

2.114% 100.000% 120004AJ5 
 

2033 2,230,000.00 2.244% 
 

2.244% 100.000% 120004AK2 
 

2034 2,280,000.00 2.364% 
 

2.364% 100.000% 120004AL0 
 

2035 2,335,000.00 2.464% 
 

2.464% 100.000% 120004AM8 
 

2036 2,395,000.00 2.564% 
 

2.564% 100.000% 120004AN6 
 

2037 2,450,000.00 2.674% 
 

2.674% 100.000% 120004AP1 

2039 5,105,000.00 2.713% 
 

2.713% 100.000% 120004AQ9 
 

2041 5,390,000.00 2.813% 
 

2.813% 100.000% 120004AR7 
 

 
____________________ 
1 Initial CUSIP numbers have been assigned by an organization not affiliated with the Board and are included for 

the convenience of the owners of the Bonds only at the time of original issuance of the Bonds.  The Board is not 
responsible for the selection or uses of these CUSIP numbers, nor is any representation made as to their accuracy 
on the Bonds, as included herein or at any time in the future.  The CUSIP number for a specific maturity is subject 
to being changed after the issuance of the Bonds as a result of various subsequent actions including, but not 
limited to, a refunding in whole or in part or as a result of the procurement of secondary market portfolio insurance 
or other similar enhancement by investors that is applicable to all or a portion of certain maturities of the Bonds. 

 



 

 
 

BOARD OF EDUCATION OF THE CITY OF BUFORD 
 

School Board 
Phillip Beard, Chairman 

Pat Pirkle, Vice Chairman 
Bruce Fricks 
Matt Peevy 

Daren Perkins 
Dr. Robert Downs, Secretary 

 
Appointed Officials 

Dr. Robert Downs, Superintendent 
Angela Adams, Director of Finance 

 
THE CITY OF BUFORD 

 
Board of Commissioners 
Phillip Beard, Chairman 

L. Chris Burge, Vice Chairman 
Bradley W. Weeks 

 
Appointed Officials 

Bryan B. Kerlin, City Manager 
Mike Brown, Finance Director/Deputy Clerk 
Kim C. Wolfe, City Clerk/Planning Director 

 
 

SPECIAL SERVICES 
 

Board Independent Auditors 
Mauldin & Jenkins, LLC 

Atlanta, Georgia 

City Independent Auditors 
Wilcox & Bivings, P.C. 

Suwanee, Georgia 
 

Board and City Attorney 
Gregory D. Jay, Esq. 

Buford, Georgia 

Bond Counsel and Disclosure Counsel 
Alston & Bird, LLP 

Atlanta, Georgia 
 

Underwriter 
Stephens Inc. 

Atlanta, Georgia 
 



[THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK] 



 

i 
 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 Page 

INTRODUCTION ........................................................................................................................................ 1 
The School System .......................................................................................................................... 1 
The City ........................................................................................................................................... 1 
Legal Authority for the Bonds ......................................................................................................... 1 
Security and Sources of Payment for the Bonds .............................................................................. 1 
Purposes of the Bonds ...................................................................................................................... 2 
Tax Status ........................................................................................................................................ 2 
Other Information ............................................................................................................................ 2 

THE BONDS ................................................................................................................................................ 3 
General Description ......................................................................................................................... 3 
Redemption ...................................................................................................................................... 3 
Registration, Transfer, and Exchange of Bonds .............................................................................. 5 
DTC and Book-Entry Only System of Registration ........................................................................ 6 

PLAN OF REFUNDING .............................................................................................................................. 8 
Verification of Mathematical Computations .................................................................................... 9 
Investment of Money ....................................................................................................................... 9 

ESTIMATED SOURCES AND USES OF FUNDS .................................................................................. 12 

SECURITY AND SOURCES OF PAYMENT FOR THE BONDS .......................................................... 12 
General ........................................................................................................................................... 12 
Pledge of Revenues; Intergovernmental Agreement with the City ................................................ 12 
Additional Security Provided by State of Georgia Intercept Program ........................................... 13 
Enforcement of Remedies .............................................................................................................. 14 

RISK FACTORS ........................................................................................................................................ 15 
Special, Limited Obligation ........................................................................................................... 15 
General Factors that May Affect Sufficiency of Revenues ........................................................... 15 
Maintenance of Credit Rating ........................................................................................................ 15 
Cybersecurity ................................................................................................................................. 15 
Economy ........................................................................................................................................ 16 
Secondary Markets and Prices ....................................................................................................... 16 
Infectious Disease Outbreak – COVID-19 .................................................................................... 16 

CITY OF BUFORD DEBT STRUCTURE ................................................................................................ 18 
Summary of City Debt by Category .............................................................................................. 18 
Indebtedness of Overlapping Governmental Entities .................................................................... 18 
Debt Limitation .............................................................................................................................. 18 
Long and Short-Term Indebtedness ............................................................................................... 19 
Debt Service Schedules .................................................................................................................. 20 

CITY OF BUFORD AD VALOREM TAXATION ................................................................................... 21 
Introduction .................................................................................................................................... 21 
Property Subject to Taxation ......................................................................................................... 21 
Tax Reform .................................................................................................................................... 21 
Assessed Value .............................................................................................................................. 22 
Annual Tax Levy ........................................................................................................................... 22 
Property Tax Collections ............................................................................................................... 22 



 

ii 
 

M&O Tax Digest ........................................................................................................................... 24 
Ten Largest Taxpayers ................................................................................................................... 25 
M&O Tax Levies and Collections for the City and School System .............................................. 26 
Millage Rates ................................................................................................................................. 27 

SCHOOL SYTEM FINANCIAL INFORMATION ................................................................................... 28 
Five-Year General Fund History ................................................................................................... 28 
Management Comments Concerning Material Trends in Revenues and Expenditures ................. 29 

CITY OF BUFORD FINANCIAL INFORMATION................................................................................. 31 
Six-Year Total-Primary Government History ................................................................................ 31 
Six-Year General Fund History ..................................................................................................... 32 
Six-Year Proprietary Funds History .............................................................................................. 33 
Management Comments Concerning Material Trends in Revenues and Expenditures ................. 35 
Accounting Policies ....................................................................................................................... 36 
Budgetary Process for General Fund ............................................................................................. 37 
Retirement Plans and Other Post-Employment Benefits ............................................................... 38 
Governmental Immunity and Insurance Coverage ........................................................................ 40 

LITIGATION .............................................................................................................................................. 42 

VALIDATION AND APPROVAL OF LEGAL PROCEEDINGS ........................................................... 42 

TAX MATTERS ......................................................................................................................................... 42 

RATINGS ................................................................................................................................................... 43 

UNDERWRITING ..................................................................................................................................... 43 

CONTINUING DISCLOSURE .................................................................................................................. 43 

EXPERTS ................................................................................................................................................... 44 

ACCURACY AND COMPLETENESS OF OFFICIAL STATEMENT .................................................... 44 

AUTHORIZATION OF OFFICIAL STATEMENT .................................................................................. 45 
 
Appendix A:    BUFORD SCHOOL SYSTEM GENERAL INFORMATION 
Appendix B:    CITY OF BUFORD GENERAL INFORMATION 
Appendix C: FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF THE CITY OF BUFORD FOR THE FISCAL YEAR 

ENDED JUNE 30, 2020 
Appendix D: PROPOSED FORM OF LEGAL OPINIONS OF BOND COUNSEL 
Appendix E: FORM OF DISCLOSURE DISSEMINATION AGREEMENT 

 
  



 

iii 
 

No dealer, broker, salesman, or other person has been authorized by the Board or the Underwriter, 
or any other person to give any information or to make any representations other than those contained in 
this Official Statement, and, if given or made, such other information or representation must not be relied 
upon as having been authorized by the Board, the Underwriter, or any other person. Except where otherwise 
indicated, all information contained in this Official Statement has been provided by the Board Sources other 
than the Board are believed to be reliable, but are not guaranteed as to accuracy or completeness by the 
Board or the Underwriter. The Underwriter has reviewed the information in this Official Statement in 
accordance with, and as part of, its responsibilities to investors under the federal securities laws as applied 
to the facts and circumstances of this transaction, but the Underwriter does not guarantee the accuracy or 
completeness of such information. The information and expressions of opinion herein are subject to change 
without notice and neither the delivery of this Official Statement nor any sale made hereunder shall create, 
under any circumstances, any implication that there has been no change in any of the information set forth 
herein since the date hereof or the earlier dates set forth herein as of which certain information contained 
herein is given.  

This Official Statement (including the Appendices attached hereto) contains forecasts, projections, 
and estimates that are based on current expectations but are not intended as representations of fact or 
guarantees of results. If and when included in this Official Statement (including the Appendices attached 
hereto), the words “expects,” “forecasts,” “projects,” “intends,” “anticipates,” “estimates,” and analogous 
expressions are intended to identify forward looking statements as defined in the Securities Act of 1933, as 
amended, and any such statements inherently are subject to a variety of risks and uncertainties, which could 
cause actual results to differ materially from those contemplated in such forward looking statements. These 
forward-looking statements speak only as of the date of this Official Statement. The Board and the 
Underwriter disclaim any obligation or undertaking to release publicly any updates or revisions to any 
forward looking statement contained herein to reflect any change in the Board expectations with regard 
thereto or any change in events, conditions, or circumstances on which any such statement is based. 

This Official Statement does not constitute an offer to sell or the solicitation of an offer to buy, nor 
shall there be any sale of the Bonds by any person in any jurisdiction in which it is unlawful for such person 
to make such offer, solicitation, or sale. 

The Bonds have not been registered under the Securities Act of 1933, and the Resolution has not 
been qualified under the Trust Indenture Act of 1939, in reliance on exemptions contained in such Acts.  

NO REGISTRATION STATEMENT RELATING TO THE BONDS HAS BEEN FILED WITH 
THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION (“SEC”) OR ANY STATE SECURITIES 
AGENCY. THE BONDS HAVE NOT BEEN APPROVED OR DISAPPROVED BY THE SEC OR ANY 
STATE SECURITIES AGENCY. NEITHER THE SEC NOR ANY STATE SECURITIES AGENCY HAS 
PASSED UPON THE ACCURACY OR ADEQUACY OF THIS OFFICIAL STATEMENT.  
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OFFICIAL STATEMENT 
 
 Relating to 
 

$40,565,000 
BOARD OF EDUCATION OF THE CITY OF BUFORD (GEORGIA) 

REFUNDING REVENUE BONDS, TAXABLE SERIES 2021 
 

 
INTRODUCTION 

The purpose of this Official Statement, which includes the cover page and the appendices hereto, 
is to furnish information with respect to the proposed issuance and sale by the Board of Education of the 
City of Buford (the “Board of Education”) of its Board of Education of the City of Buford (Georgia) 
Refunding Revenue Bonds, Taxable Series 2021 (the “Bonds”). 

The information contained in this section entitled “INTRODUCTION” is a brief description of the 
terms of and security for the Bonds and does not purport to be comprehensive or definitive. A full review 
of the entire Official Statement, as well as the documents summarized or described herein, should be made. 
All undefined, capitalized terms used herein shall have the meaning ascribed to such terms in the Resolution 
(as defined herein) unless the context requires otherwise. 

The School System 

The Charter of the City authorizes the Board of Education of the City of Buford (the “Board” or 
“Board of Education”) to regulate the operations of the system of public schools located within the 
corporate limits of the City, known as the Buford City School System (the “School System”). The Board 
of Education is fiscally dependent upon the City because the governing body of the City must approve the 
School System’s annual budget, levy the necessary taxes for the School System, and issue general 
obligation debt for the School System.  For more detailed information on the School System, see 
“APPENDIX A - BUFORD SCHOOL SYSTEM GENERAL INFORMATION.” 

The City 

The City is a municipal corporation of the State of Georgia (the “State”), located in north central 
Georgia, and was created and is existing under the laws of the State of Georgia. The City received its 
original charter in 1872 and its current charter became effective in 2003.  For more detailed information on 
the City, see “APPENDIX B - CITY OF BUFORD GENERAL INFORMATION.” 

Legal Authority for the Bonds 

The Bonds are to be issued pursuant to the authority granted by (i) the Constitution of the State of 
Georgia, (ii) the general laws of the State of Georgia, particularly O.C.G.A. § 36-82-60, et seq. (as amended, 
the “Revenue Bond Law”, and (iii) a bond resolution adopted by the Board on December 7, 2020, as 
amended and restated on December 13, 2021 (the “Resolution”).  

Security and Sources of Payment for the Bonds 

The Bonds will be limited obligations of the Board payable solely from and secured by a first 
priority pledge of and lien on the following: (i) all funds established by the Resolution; (ii) amounts payable 
by the City pursuant to a certain Intergovernmental Contract with the Board (the “Intergovernmental 
Contract”), for which the City has pledged its full faith and credit and ad valorem taxing power; and (iii) 
amounts available to the Board pursuant to the State of Georgia’s Intercept Program (collectively, the 
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“Revenues”).  For more detailed information, see “SECURITY AND SOURCES OF PAYMENT FOR 
THE BONDS” and “CITY OF BUFORD AD VALOREM TAXATION.” 

Purposes of the Bonds 

The Bonds are being issued by the Board (i) to provide funds, together with other available funds 
of the Board, to finance the costs of advance refunding and redeeming the outstanding City of Buford 
General Obligation Bonds, Series 2015 (the “Series 2015 Bonds”) and City of Buford General Obligation 
Bonds, Series 2017C (the “Series 2017C Bonds” and together with the Series 2015 Bonds, the “Refunded 
Bonds”), and (ii) to pay costs of issuance of the Bonds.   

For more detailed information, see “ESTIMATED SOURCES AND USES OF FUNDS” and 
“PLAN OF REFUNDING.”  

Tax Status 

In the opinion of Bond Counsel, under existing law and subject to the limitations and conditions 
described herein and assuming continuous compliance with certain covenants described herein, (1) interest 
on the Bonds will be included in gross income for federal income tax purposes, and (2) interest on the 
Bonds is exempt from state income taxation within the State of Georgia. See Appendix D for the form of 
the opinions Bond Counsel proposes to deliver in connection with the issuance of the Bonds.  

Bond Counsel expresses no opinion regarding any other tax consequences related to the ownership 
or disposition of or the accrual or receipt of interest on the Bonds.  For more complete discussion of such 
opinion and certain other tax consequences of owning the Bonds, including certain exceptions to the 
exclusion of the interest of the Bonds from gross income, see “TAX MATTERS” herein. 

Other Information 

This Official Statement and the Appendices hereto contain brief descriptions of, among other 
matters, the School System, the City, the Bonds, the Resolution, and the security and sources of payment 
for the Bonds.  Such descriptions and information do not purport to be comprehensive or definitive.  

All references herein to, or summaries of, the Resolution or any other document or any 
constitutional provision or statute are qualified in their entirety by the exact terms of such documents or 
constitutional provision or statute.  All references herein to, or summaries of, the Bonds are qualified in 
their entirety by the definitive form thereof and the provisions with respect thereto included in the 
Resolution.  

Copies of all documents described herein are available upon request, prior to the delivery of the 
Bonds, from Stephens Inc., 3344 Peachtree Road, Suite 1650, Atlanta, Georgia 30326, (404) 461-5155, and 
after delivery of the Bonds upon payment to the City of a charge for copying, mailing and handling, from 
the City of Buford, 2300 Buford Highway, Buford, Georgia 30518, telephone (770) 945-6761.  
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THE BONDS 

General Description 

The Bonds will be dated as of the date of issuance thereof, and will bear interest at the rates per 
annum, and mature in the amounts and on January 1 of the years, set forth on the inside cover page hereof.  
The principal of the Bonds is payable to the registered holders thereof upon presentation and surrender of 
the Bonds at the designated office of U.S. Bank National Association, Atlanta, Georgia, as paying agent 
(the “Paying Agent”).  Interest on the Bonds is payable on January 1 and July 1 of each year (each an 
“Interest Payment Date”), beginning January 1, 2022.  Interest will be computed on the basis of a 360-
day year of twelve 30-day months. 

Redemption.  The Bonds are subject to optional redemption and scheduled mandatory redemption 
as described herein under the heading “THE BONDS - Redemption.” 

Denominations.  The Bonds will be issued in the denomination of $5,000 or any integral multiple 
thereof. 

Registration and Transfer.  The Bonds will be registered initially in the name of Cede & Co., as 
nominee of The Depository Trust Company (“DTC”), New York, New York, as securities depository for 
the book-entry system of registration for the Bonds.  Purchasers of Bonds will not receive certificates 
representing their interests in Bonds so purchased.  See “DTC and Book-Entry Only System of 
Registration” in this section. 

Redemption 

The bonds having stated maturities on or after January 1, 2031, may be redeemed prior to their 
respective maturities at the option of the City, either in whole on any date or in part on any Interest Payment 
Date, in such order of maturity as shall be selected and specified by the City, in any year not earlier than 
January 1, 2031 from any moneys available for such purpose as provided in the Resolution at a redemption 
price of the par amount of the bonds to be redeemed plus accrued interest to the date fixed for redemption.  
If less than all of the bonds of any maturity are to be redeemed, the actual Bonds of such maturity to be 
redeemed shall be selected by lot or in such manner as may be designated by the City.  The bonds are 
subject to redemption only in principal amount of $5,000 or any integral multiple thereof. 

 
The bonds maturing on January 1, 2039 are subject to scheduled mandatory redemption prior to 

maturity in part (the actual bonds to be redeemed to be selected by lot in such manner as may be designated 
by the Bond Registrar) at a redemption price equal to 100% of the principal amount thereof, plus accrued 
interest to the redemption date in the following principal amounts on January 1 of the years set forth below 
(the January 1, 2039 amount to be paid at maturity rather than redeemed): 

 
January 1 of the Year 

 
  

2038                        $2,515,000 
 

2039                        $2,590,000 
  

The bonds maturing on January 1, 2041 are subject to scheduled mandatory redemption prior to 
maturity in part (the actual bonds to be redeemed to be selected by lot in such manner as may be designated 
by the Bond Registrar) at a redemption price equal to 100% of the principal amount thereof, plus accrued 
interest to the redemption date in the following principal amounts on January 1 of the years set forth below 
(the January 1, 2041 amount to be paid at maturity rather than redeemed): 
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January 1 of the Year 
 

  

2040                        $2,655,000 
 

2041                        $2,735,000 
 

  
The bonds are subject to redemption only in principal amounts of $5,000 or any multiple thereof. 
 

Notice of Redemption.  Notice of optional redemption of the Bonds pursuant to the Resolution shall be given 
by the Board one time not less than 30 days nor more than 60 days prior to the date fixed for redemption to the 
Holders of each of the Bonds being called for redemption by first class or registered or certified mail as the 
Paying Agent shall determine is necessary at the address shown on the register of the Bond Registrar as of 
45 days prior to the date fixed for redemption.  Said notice shall contain (i) redemption date, (ii) redemption 
price, (iii) if less than all outstanding Bonds are to be redeemed, the identification and CUSIP number (if 
any)(and, in the case of partial redemption, the respective principal amounts) of the Bonds to be redeemed 
date of issue of the Bonds, (iv) that on the redemption date the redemption price will become due and 
payable upon each such Bond or portion thereof called for redemption, and that interest thereon shall cease 
to accrue from and after said date and any conditions to such redemption, and (v) if applicable, the place 
where such Bonds are to be surrendered for payment of the redemption price, which place of payment shall 
be the principal office of the  Paying Agent.  No transfer or exchange of any Bonds so called for redemption 
shall be allowed.  In the event any Holder of any Bond being redeemed pursuant to the provisions of the 
Resolution shall fail to present for redemption any such Bond within 60 days after the date fixed for 
redemption, a second notice of the redemption of such Bond shall be given to said owner at the address of 
said owner as shown on the bond register of the Bond Registrar within 90 days after the date fixed for 
redemption.  Any notice mailed or delivered as provided by the Resolution shall be conclusively presumed 
to have been duly given, whether or not the registered owner receives the notice.  

Manner of Redemption. Bonds shall be redeemed only in the principal amount of $5,000 or any 
integral multiple thereof.  In the case of bonds of denominations greater than $5,000, if less than all of such 
bonds of a single maturity then outstanding are to be called for redemption then for all purposes in 
connection with redemption, each $5,000 of face value shall be treated as though it were a separate bond in 
the denomination of $5,000.  If it is determined that one or more, but not all of the $5,000 units of face 
value represented by any bond, are to be called for redemption, then upon notice of the intention to redeem 
such $5,000 unit or units, the Owner of such bond shall forthwith surrender such bond to the Paying Agent 
for payment of the redemption price (including the redemption premium, if any, and interest to the date 
fixed for redemption) of the $5,000 unit or units of face value called for redemption and there shall be 
issued to the Owner thereof, without charge therefor, fully registered bonds for the unredeemed balance of 
the principal amount thereof, in any of the authorized denominations.  If the Owner of any such bond of a 
denomination greater than $5,000 shall fail to present such bond to the Paying Agent for payment in 
exchange as aforesaid, such bond shall, nevertheless, become due and payable on the date fixed for 
redemption to the extent of the $5,000 unit or units of face value called for redemption (and to that extent 
only); interest shall cease to accrue on the portion of the principal amount of such bond represented by such 
$5,000 unit or units of face value on and after the date fixed for redemption and (funds sufficient for the 
payment of the redemption price having been deposited with the Paying Agent and being available for the 
redemption) such bond shall not be entitled to the benefit and security of the Resolution to the extent of the 
portion of its principal amount (and accrued interest thereon to the date fixed for redemption) represented 
by such $5,000 unit or units. 

Effect of Redemption Call. Notice having been given in the manner and under the conditions 
prescribed herein, and money for the payment of the redemption price being held by the Paying Agent, all 
as provided in the Resolution, the Bonds or the portion thereof so called for redemption shall become and 
be due and payable on the redemption date designated in such notice at the redemption price provided for 
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redemption of such bonds on such date.  Interest on the Bonds or the portion thereof so called for redemption 
shall cease to accrue from and after the date fixed for redemption unless default shall be made in payment 
of the redemption price thereof upon presentation and surrender thereof. Such bonds shall cease to be 
entitled to any lien, benefit or security under the Resolution and the Owners of such bonds shall have no 
rights in respect thereof except to receive payment of the redemption price thereof and such bond or the 
portion thereof so called shall not be considered to be outstanding.  Upon surrender of such bond paid or 
redeemed in part only, the Board shall execute and the Bond Registrar shall deliver to the Owner thereof, 
at the expense of the Board, a new bond or bonds of the same type, of authorized denominations in the 
aggregate principal amount equal to the unpaid or unredeemed portion of the bond. 

Registration, Transfer, and Exchange of Bonds 

The Bonds shall be registered as to the payment of principal and interest on registration books kept 
by U.S. Bank National Association, Atlanta, Georgia, as bond registrar (the “Bond Registrar”).  The Bond 
Registrar will also serve as authenticating agent (the “Authenticating Agent”) for the purpose of 
authenticating any Bonds issued or surrendered for registration of exchange or transfer or in replacement 
for Bonds previously issued. 

The Bonds may be transferred only on the bond register of the Bond Registrar with respect to the 
Bonds.  No transfer of any Bond shall be permitted except upon registration and surrender of such Bond at 
the designated corporate trust office of the Bond Registrar in Atlanta, Georgia, with a written assignment 
signed by the registered owner of such Bond in person or by a duly authorized attorney, in such form and 
with a guaranty of signature, satisfactory to the Bond Registrar.  The Board, its agents and the Bond 
Registrar may deem and treat the registered owner of any Bonds as the absolute owner of such Bond for 
the purpose of receiving payment of the principal thereof, the redemption premium, if any, and the interest 
thereon. 

Upon surrender for registration of transfer of any Bond at the designated corporate trust office of 
the Bond Registrar, the Board is required to execute and the Authenticating Agent will authenticate and 
deliver to the transferee or transferees a new Bond or Bonds for a like aggregate principal amount and 
maturity.  Bonds may be exchanged at said office of the Bond Registrar for a like aggregate principal 
amount of Bonds of authorized denominations and of like interest rate and maturity.  Every Bond presented 
or surrendered for registration of transfer or exchange shall (if so required by the Board or the Bond 
Registrar) be duly endorsed, or be accompanied by a written instrument of transfer in form satisfactory to 
the Board and the Bond Registrar duly executed by the owner thereof or his attorney duly authorized in 
writing.  No charge will be made to any Bondholder for the privilege of registration of transfer or exchange, 
but any Bondholder requesting any such registration of transfer or exchange is required to pay any tax or 
other governmental charge required to be paid with respect thereto.  The Bond Registrar is not required (i) 
to issue, register the transfer of or exchange any Bond during a period beginning at the opening of business 
15 days before the day of the mailing of a notice of redemption of Bonds selected for redemption and ending 
at the close of business on the date of such mailing or (ii) to register the transfer of or exchange of any Bond 
so selected for redemption in whole or in part. 

In case any Bond shall become mutilated or be destroyed or lost, the Bond Registrar in its discretion 
and at the expense of the holder of such Bond cause to be executed and delivered a new Bond of like type, 
date, number and tenor in exchange and substitution for and upon cancellation of such mutilated Bond, or 
in lieu of and in substitution for such Bond destroyed or lost, upon the holder paying the reasonable 
expenses and charges of the Board in connection therewith and, in the case of a Bond destroyed or lost, his 
filing with the Board and the Bond Registrar of evidence satisfactory to them that such Bond was destroyed 
or lost, and of his ownership thereof, and furnishing the Board and the Bond Registrar with indemnity 
satisfactory to them.  If any such Bond shall have matured, instead of issuing a new Bond, the Board may 
pay or cause to be paid the same. 
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DTC and Book-Entry Only System of Registration 

The Depository Trust Company (“DTC”), New York, New York, will act as securities depository 
for the Bonds. The Bonds will be issued as fully-registered securities registered in the name of Cede & Co. 
(DTC’s partnership nominee) or such other name as may be requested by an authorized representative of 
DTC. One fully-registered bond certificate will be issued for each maturity of the Bonds, in the principal 
amount of such maturity, and will be deposited with DTC. 

 DTC, the world’s largest securities depository, is a limited-purpose trust company organized under 
the New York Banking Law, a “banking organization” within the meaning of the New York Banking Law, 
a member of the Federal Reserve System, a “clearing corporation” within the meaning of the New York 
Uniform Commercial Code, and a “clearing agency” registered pursuant to the provisions of § 17A of the 
Securities Exchange Act of 1934. DTC holds and provides asset servicing for over 3.5 million issues of 
U.S. and non-U.S. equity issues, corporate and municipal debt issues, and money market instruments (from 
over 100 countries) that DTC’s participants (“Direct Participants”) deposit with DTC. DTC also facilitates 
the post-trade settlement among Direct Participants of sales and other securities transactions in deposited 
securities, through electronic computerized book-entry transfers and pledges between Direct Participants’ 
accounts. This eliminates the need for physical movement of securities certificates. Direct Participants 
include both U.S. and non-U.S. securities brokers and dealers, banks, trust companies, clearing 
corporations, and certain other organizations. DTC is a wholly-owned subsidiary of The Depository Trust 
& Clearing Corporation (“DTCC”). DTCC is the holding company for DTC, National Securities Clearing 
Corporation and Fixed Income Clearing Corporation, all of which are registered clearing agencies. DTCC 
is owned by the users of its regulated subsidiaries. Access to the DTC system is also available to others 
such as both U.S. and non-U.S. securities brokers and dealers, banks, trust companies, and clearing 
corporations that clear through or maintain a custodial relationship with a Direct Participant, either directly 
or indirectly (“Indirect Participants”). DTC has a Standard & Poor’s rating of AA+. The DTC Rules 
applicable to its Participants are on file with the Securities and Exchange Commission. More information 
about DTC can be found at www.dtcc.com. 

 Purchases of the Bonds under the DTC system must be made by or through Direct Participants, 
which will receive a credit for the Bonds on DTC’s records. The ownership interest of each actual purchaser 
of each Bond (a “Beneficial Owner”) is in turn to be recorded on the Direct and Indirect Participants’ 
records. Beneficial Owners will not receive written confirmation from DTC of their purchase. Beneficial 
Owners are, however, expected to receive written confirmation providing details of the transaction, as well 
as periodic statements of their holdings, from the Direct or Indirect Participant through which the Beneficial 
Owner entered into the transaction. Transfers of ownership interests in the Bonds are to be accomplished 
by entries made on the books of Direct and Indirect Participants acting on behalf of Beneficial Owners. 
Beneficial Owners will not receive certificates representing their ownership interests in the Bonds, except 
in the event that use of the book-entry system for the Bonds is discontinued.  

 To facilitate subsequent transfers, all bonds deposited by Direct Participants with DTC are 
registered in the name of DTC’s partnership nominee, Cede & Co., or such other name as may be requested 
by an authorized representative of DTC. The deposit of Bonds with DTC and their registration in the name 
of Cede & Co. or such other DTC nominee do not effect any change in beneficial ownership. DTC has no 
knowledge of the actual Beneficial Owners of the Bonds; DTC’s records reflect only the identity of the 
Direct Participants to whose accounts such bonds are credited, which may or may not be the Beneficial 
Owners. The Direct and Indirect Participants will remain responsible for keeping account of their holdings 
on behalf of their customers.  

 Conveyance of notices and other communications by DTC to Direct Participants, by Direct 
Participants to Indirect Participants, and by Direct Participants and Indirect Participants to Beneficial 
Owners will be governed by arrangements among them, subject to any statutory or regulatory requirements 
as may be in effect from time to time. Beneficial Owners of Bonds may wish to take certain steps to augment 
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the transmission to them of notices of significant events with respect to the Bonds, such as redemptions, 
defaults, and proposed amendments to the documents pertaining to the Bonds. For example, Beneficial 
Owners of bonds may wish to ascertain that the nominee holding the bonds for their benefit has agreed to 
obtain and transmit notices to Beneficial Owners. In the alternative, Beneficial Owners may wish to provide 
their names and addresses to the Bond Registrar and request that copies of notices be provided directly to 
them.  

 Redemption notices will be sent to DTC. If less than all of the Bonds within a maturity are being 
redeemed, DTC’s practice is to determine by lot the amount of the interest of each Direct Participant in 
such maturity to be redeemed.  

 Neither DTC nor Cede & Co. (nor any other DTC nominee) will consent or vote with respect to 
the Bonds unless authorized by a Direct Participant in accordance with DTC’s Procedures. Under its usual 
procedures, DTC mails an Omnibus Proxy to the Paying Agent as soon as possible after the Record Date. 
The Omnibus Proxy assigns Cede & Co.’s consenting or voting rights to those Direct Participants to whose 
accounts the bonds are credited on the Record Date (identified in a listing attached to the Omnibus Proxy).  

 Payments with respect to the Bonds will be made to Cede & Co., or such other nominee as may be 
requested by an authorized representative of DTC. DTC’s practice is to credit Direct Participants’ accounts 
upon DTC’s receipt of funds and corresponding detail information from the Board or the Paying Agent, on 
the payable date in accordance with their respective holdings shown on DTC’s records. Payments by 
Participants to Beneficial Owners will be governed by standing instructions and customary practices, as is 
the case with securities held for the accounts of customers in bearer form or registered in “street name,” 
and will be the responsibility of such Participant and not of DTC nor its nominee, the Paying Agent, or the 
Board, subject to any statutory or regulatory requirements as may be in effect from time to time. Payments 
with respect to the Bonds to Cede & Co. (or such other nominee as may be requested by an authorized 
representative of DTC) is the responsibility of the Paying Agent or the Board, disbursement of such 
payments to Direct Participants will be the responsibility of DTC, and disbursements of such payments to 
the Beneficial Owners will be the responsibility of Direct and Indirect Participants.  

 DTC may discontinue providing its services as securities depository with respect to the Bonds at 
any time by giving reasonable notice to the Board or the Paying Agent. Under such circumstances, in the 
event that a successor securities depository is not obtained, bond certificates are required to be printed and 
delivered.  

 The Board may decide to discontinue use of the system of book-entry-only transfers through DTC 
(or a successor securities depository). In that event, bond certificates will be printed and delivered to DTC.  

 The foregoing information concerning DTC and its book-entry system has been obtained from 
DTC. The Board and the Underwriter do not make any representation or warranty or take any responsibility 
for the accuracy or completeness of such information. 

 SO LONG AS CEDE & CO. OR SUCH OTHER DTC NOMINEE, AS NOMINEE FOR DTC, IS THE SOLE 
BONDHOLDER, THE BOARD AND THE BOND REGISTRAR WILL TREAT CEDE & CO. OR SUCH OTHER NOMINEE 
AS THE ONLY OWNER OF THE BONDS FOR ALL PURPOSES UNDER THE RESOLUTION, INCLUDING RECEIPT OF 
ALL PRINCIPAL OF AND PREMIUM, IF ANY, AND INTEREST ON THE BONDS, RECEIPT OF NOTICES, VOTING, 
AND REQUESTING OR DIRECTING THE BOARD OR THE PAYING AGENT TO TAKE OR NOT TO TAKE, OR 
CONSENTING TO, CERTAIN ACTIONS UNDER THE RESOLUTION. THE BOARD HAS NO RESPONSIBILITY OR 
OBLIGATION TO THE DIRECT OR INDIRECT PARTICIPANTS OR THE BENEFICIAL OWNERS WITH RESPECT TO 
(A) THE ACCURACY OF ANY RECORDS MAINTAINED BY DTC OR ANY DIRECT OR INDIRECT PARTICIPANT; 
(B) THE PAYMENT OR ANY DIRECT OR INDIRECT PARTICIPANT OF ANY AMOUNT DUE TO ANY BENEFICIAL 
OWNER IN RESPECT OF THE PRINCIPAL OF AND PREMIUM, IF ANY, AND INTEREST ON THE BONDS; (C) THE 
DELIVERY OR TIMELINESS OF DELIVERY BY ANY DIRECT OR INDIRECT PARTICIPANT OF ANY NOTICE TO ANY 
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BENEFICIAL OWNER WHICH IS REQUIRED OR PERMITTED UNDER THE TERMS OF THE RESOLUTION TO BE 
GIVEN TO BONDHOLDERS; OR (D) OTHER ACTION TAKEN BY DTC OR CEDE & CO. OR SUCH OTHER DTC 
NOMINEE, AS OWNER. 

 Beneficial Owners of the Bonds may experience some delay in their receipt of distributions of 
principal and interest on the Bonds since such distributions will be forwarded by the Paying Agent to DTC, 
and DTC will credit such distributions to the accounts of Direct Participants which will thereafter credit 
them to the accounts of Beneficial Owners either directly or indirectly through Indirect Participants. 

 The information in this section concerning DTC and DTC’s book-entry system has been obtained 
from sources that the Board believes to be reliable, but the Board takes no responsibility for the accuracy 
thereof. 

PLAN OF REFUNDING  

Proceeds from the sale of the Bonds will be used to advance refund and defease the Series 2015 
Bonds on January 1, 2025 (the “2015 Redemption Date”). Proceeds from the sale of the Bonds will be 
used to advance refund and defease the Series 2017C on January 1, 2027 (the “2017C Redemption Date” 
and together with the 2015 Redemption Date, the “Redemption Dates”). 

Simultaneously with the issuance and delivery of the Bonds, the Board will enter into an Escrow 
Deposit Agreement (the “Escrow Agreement”) with U.S. Bank National Association, Atlanta, Georgia, as 
escrow agent (the “Escrow Agent”) for the Refunded Bonds.  The amount deposited in the escrow fund 
(the “Escrow Fund”) established pursuant to the Escrow Agreement shall be sufficient to purchase, or there 
will be purchased by the Board and so deposited, certain investment securities, the principal of and interest 
on which will provide money which, together with the remaining money, if any, deposited with the Escrow 
Agent, shall be sufficient to pay the principal amounts maturing and interest on the Refunded Bonds on the 
respective Redemption Dates. 

The Refunded Bonds will be redeemed on their applicable Redemption Dates.  The Board will give 
irrevocable instructions to the Escrow Agent, as escrow agent for the Refunded Bonds, to call the Refunded 
Bonds for redemption on their applicable Redemption Dates.  None of the money deposited with the Escrow 
Agent will be available to pay the principal of, premium, if any, or interest on the Bonds and the owners of 
the Bonds will have no claim to any of said amounts. 

The Board acknowledges and intends that, by virtue of the aforesaid deposits with the Escrow 
Agent, the Refunded Bonds will be deemed to have been paid and that, consequently, the rights granted to 
the Holders of the Refunded Bonds under the 2015 Ordinance and the 2017 Ordinance (each as hereinafter 
defined), respectively will have ceased, been terminated, and become void, except for those provisions 
pertaining to registration and exchange as provided in the 2015 Ordinance and 2017C Ordinance, 
concurrently with the issuance and delivery of the Bonds. 

2015 Ordinance.  The City previously issued its Series 2015 Bonds on June 17, 2015, which bonds 
were authorized by the qualified voters of the City voting in an election held on March 17, 2015, and by a 
bond resolution adopted by the City on February 2, 2015 (the “2015 Ordinance”). The Series 2015 Bonds 
were issued to provide funds needed to finance, in whole or in part, certain capital outlay projects of the 
School System and the costs of issuance of the Series 2015 Bonds.  

2017 Ordinance.  The City previously issued its Series 2017C Bonds on December 6, 2017, by a 
bond resolution adopted by the City on November 16, 2017 (the “2017C Ordinance”). The Series 2017C 
Bonds were issued to provide funds needed to finance, in whole or in part, certain capital outlay projects of 
the School System and the costs of issuance of the Series 2017C Bonds. 
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Verification of Mathematical Computations 

Ritz & Associates, independent certified public accountants (the “Verification Agent”), will 
deliver to the Board on or before the issuance of the Bonds, its verification report indicating that it has 
verified, in accordance with standards established by the American Institute of Certified Public 
Accountants, the arithmetical accuracy of (a) the computation of the adequacy of the amounts to be 
deposited in the Escrow Fund to be held by the Escrow Agent to pay when due all principal of, and accrued 
interest on the Refunded Bonds, through the dates of maturity or redemption for the Refunded Bonds, as 
provided in the Escrow Agreement, and (b) the computation of the yield on the Bonds and the amounts to 
be deposited in the Escrow Fund. 

The verification performed by the Verification Agent will be solely based upon assumptions and 
information provided to the Verification Agent by the Underwriter.  The Verification Agent has restricted 
it procedures to verifying the arithmetical accuracy of certain computations and has not made any study or 
evaluation of the assumptions and information upon which the computations are based, and accordingly, 
has not expressed an opinion on the data used, the reasonableness of the assumptions, or the achievability 
of the forecasted outcome. 

Investment of Money 

Money in the Escrow Fund which is not needed at the time to pay current obligations for the 
Refunded Bonds may be invested, upon direction to the Escrow Agent from the Board of Education, in any 
of the following investments allowed by O.C.G.A. § 36-82-7, and no others: 

 (a) investments and reinvestments in the local government investment pool created in 
O.C.G.A. § 36-83-8; or 

 (b) investment in the following securities and no others: 

(1) bonds or other obligations of the issuer, or bonds or obligations of the State of 
Georgia or other states or other counties, municipal corporations, and political subdivisions of the 
State of Georgia; 

(2) bonds or other obligations of the United States or of subsidiary corporations of the 
United States government, which are fully guaranteed by such government; 

(3) obligations of and obligations guaranteed by agencies or instrumentalities of the 
United States government, including those issued by the Federal Land Bank, Federal Home Loan 
Bank, Federal Intermediate Credit Bank, Bank for Cooperatives, and any other such agency or 
instrumentality now or hereafter in existence; provided, however, that all such obligations shall 
have a current credit rating from a nationally recognized rating service of at least one of the three 
highest rating categories available and have a nationally recognized market; 

(4) bonds or other obligations issued by any public housing agency or municipal 
corporation in the United States, which such bonds or obligations are fully secured as to payment 
of both principal and interest by a pledge of annual contributions under an annual contributions 
contract or contracts with the United States government, or project notes issued by any public 
housing agency, urban renewal agency, or municipal corporation in the United States which are 
fully secured as to payment of both principal and interest by a requisition, loan, or payment 
agreement with the United States government;  

(5) certificates of deposit of national or state banks located within the State of Georgia 
which have deposits insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation and certificates of 
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deposit of federal savings and loan associations and state building and loan or savings and loan 
associations located within the State of Georgia which have deposits insured by the Savings 
Association Insurance Fund of the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation or the Georgia Credit 
Union Deposit Insurance Corporation, including the certificates of deposit of any bank, savings and 
loan association, or building and loan association acting as depository, custodian, or trustee for any 
proceeds of the Bonds; provided, however, that the portion of such certificates of deposit in excess 
of the amount insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation, the Savings Association 
Insurance Fund of the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation, or the Georgia Credit Union Deposit 
Insurance Corporation, if any, shall be secured by deposit with the Federal Reserve Bank of Atlanta, 
Georgia, or with any national or state bank or federal savings and loan association or state building 
and loan or savings and loan association located within the State of Georgia or with a trust office 
within the State of Georgia, of one or more of the following securities in an aggregate principal 
amount equal at least to the amount of such excess: direct and general obligations of the State of 
Georgia or other states or any county or municipal corporation in the State of Georgia, obligations 
of the United States or subsidiary corporations included in paragraph (2) above, obligations of the 
agencies and instrumentalities of the United States government included in paragraph (3) above, or 
bonds, obligations, or project notes of public housing agencies, urban renewal agencies, or 
municipalities included in paragraph (4) above;  

(6) securities of or other interests in any no-load, open-end management type 
investment company or investment trust registered under the Investment Company Act of 1940, as 
from time to time amended, or any common trust fund maintained by any bank or trust company 
which holds such proceeds as trustee or by an affiliate thereof so long as: 

(A) the portfolio of such investment company or investment trust or common 
trust fund is limited to the obligations referenced in paragraphs (2) and (3) above and 
repurchase agreements fully collateralized by any such obligations;  

(B) such investment company or investment trust or common trust fund takes 
delivery of such collateral either directly or through an authorized custodian;  

(C) such investment company or investment trust or common trust fund is 
managed so as to maintain its shares at a constant net asset value; and  

(D) securities of or other interests in such investment company or investment 
trust or common trust fund are purchased and redeemed only through the use of national 
or state banks having corporate trust powers and located within the State of Georgia; and 

(7) interest-bearing time deposits, repurchase agreements, reverse repurchase 
agreements, rate guarantee agreements, or other similar banking arrangements with a bank or trust 
company having capital and surplus aggregating at least $50 million or with any government bond 
dealer reporting to, trading with, and recognized as a primary dealer by the Federal Reserve Bank 
of New York having capital aggregating at least $50 million or with any corporation which is 
subject to registration with the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System pursuant to the 
requirements of the Bank Holding Company Act of 1956, provided that each such interest-bearing 
time deposit, repurchase agreement, reverse repurchase agreement, rate guarantee agreement, or 
other similar banking arrangement shall permit the money so placed to be available for use at the 
time provided with respect to the investment or reinvestment of such money. 

Debt Service Fund. Pursuant to the Resolution, it is authorized to be established prior to or 
concurrently with the issuance and delivery of the Bonds, a special account designated the CITY OF BUFORD 
BOARD OF EDUCATION DEBT SERVICE FUND, SERIES 2021 (the “Debt Service Fund”).  Money in the Debt 
Service Fund shall be held and kept separate and apart from all other funds of the Board and shall not in 
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any manner be commingled with other funds of the Board.  The Debt Service Fund will be maintained and 
held in trust by the Board with the custodian of the account and the owners of the Bonds shall have a 
beneficial interest therein.  Payment of the principal of and interest on the Bonds shall be made from the 
Debt Service Fund. Money in the Debt Service Fund shall be invested pursuant to O.C.G.A. § 36-80-3 and 
O.C.G.A. § 36-83-4.O.C.G.A. § 36-80-3 provides that the governing body of the Board, or the financial 
officer of the Board to whom investment authority is delegated pursuant to O.C.G.A. § 36-80-4, in addition 
to other legal investments, may invest and reinvest money subject to its control and jurisdiction in: 

(a) obligations of the United States and of its agencies and instrumentalities, or obligations 
fully insured or guaranteed by the United States government or by one of its agencies;  

(b) bonds or certificates of indebtedness of the State of Georgia and of its agencies and 
instrumentalities; and 

(c) certificates of deposit of banks which have deposits insured by the Federal Deposit 
Insurance Corporation (“FDIC”); provided, however, that portion of such certificates of deposit in excess 
of the amount insured by the FDIC must be secured by direct obligations of the State of Georgia or the 
United States which are of a par value equal to that portion of such certificates of deposit which would be 
uninsured. 

O.C.G.A. § 36-83-4 provides that the governing body of the Board, or the financial officer of the 
Board to whom investment authority is delegated, may invest and reinvest money subject to its control and 
jurisdiction in: 

(a) obligations of the State of Georgia or of other states; 

(b) obligations issued by the United States government; 

(c) obligations fully insured or guaranteed by the United States government or by one of its 
agencies; 

(d) obligations of any corporation of the United States government; 

(e) prime bankers’ acceptances; 

(f) the local government investment pool established by O.C.G.A. § 36-83-8; 

(g) repurchase agreements; and 

(h) obligations of other political subdivisions of the State of Georgia. 
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ESTIMATED SOURCES AND USES OF FUNDS 

  
Sources of Funds:  
 
Proceeds from Sale of the Series 2021 Bonds ......................................  $40,565,000.00 
 
Total Sources of Funds: ........................................................................  $40,565,000.00 

 
Uses of Funds:  
 
Costs of refunding 20151 ......................................................................  $12,336,029.50 
 
Costs of refunding 2017C1 ...................................................................  27,625,935.43 
 
Costs of Issuance2 .................................................................................  603,035.07  
 
Total Uses of Funds: .............................................................................  $40,565,000.00 

 
  

_______________ 
 
1 See “THE BONDS – Plan of Refunding,” 
2 Includes Underwriter’s Discount and expenses, estimated legal and accounting fees, printing costs, validation 
court costs, rating agency fees, and other fees and expenses associated with the issuance of the Bonds.  

   
 

Concurrently with the issuance and delivery of the Bonds, the applicable Underwriter’s Discount 
shall be paid, all costs and expenses in connection with the issuance and sale of the Bonds (including 
without limitation the fees and expenses of accountants, attorneys, and the cost of printing, validation fees, 
and other miscellaneous fees and expenses) shall be paid to those persons entitled to receive the same, and 
the balance of the proceeds from the sale of the Bonds shall be deposited in the Escrow Fund created by the 
City pursuant to the terms of the Escrow Agreement and the Resolution. 

SECURITY AND SOURCES OF PAYMENT FOR THE BONDS 

General 

The Bonds will be limited obligations of the Board payable solely from and secured by a first 
priority pledge of and lien on the following: (i) all funds established by the Resolution; (ii) amounts payable 
by the City pursuant to a certain Intergovernmental Contract with the Board, for which the City has pledged 
its full faith and credit and ad valorem taxing power; and (iii) to the extent invoked, amounts available to 
the Board pursuant to the State of Georgia’s Intercept Program.  See “RISK FACTORS” herein.   

 
The Bonds do not constitute a charge, lien, or incumbrance, legal or equitable, on any real or 

personal property of the Board or the City.  
 

Pledge of Revenues; Intergovernmental Agreement with the City  

Pursuant to the Intergovernmental Contract, the Board must defease the Refunded Bonds and 
operate the facilities financed by the Refunded Bonds in exchange for the City’s promise to pay principal 
(whether at maturity, upon mandatory redemption or otherwise) and interest on the Bonds (the “Contract 
Payments”).  Further, the obligation of the City to pay promptly the Contract Payments is for the benefit 
of, among others, the owners of the Bonds and is absolute and unconditional.  The City has agreed to levy 
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an ad valorem tax on all taxable property located within the limits of the City subject to taxation for such 
purposes, as now existent and as same may hereafter be extended, at such unlimited rate or rates, as may 
be necessary to produce in each calendar year revenues that are sufficient to make the Contract Payments.  
All Contract Payments required to be made by the City are pledged to secure the payment of the Bonds. 

Until such time as the principal of, redemption premium (if any), and interest on the Bonds are 
fully paid or provision for the payment of the Bonds are made in accordance with the Resolution, the City 
has agreed (a) not to suspend or discontinue any payments provided for under the Intergovernmental 
Contract, (b) to perform and observe all of its other agreements contained in the Intergovernmental 
Contract, and (c) not to terminate the Intergovernmental Contract or its obligations thereunder for any 
contingency, act of God, event, or cause whatsoever, including, without limiting the generality of the 
foregoing, failure of the Board to complete any project, the occurrence of any acts or circumstances that 
may constitute failure of consideration, eviction or constructive eviction, destruction of or damage to any 
project or any of the Board's facilities, the taking by eminent domain of title to or temporary use of all or 
any portion of any project or of any of the Board's facilities, commercial frustration of purpose, or finding 
that any of the Bonds are unenforceable or invalid, the invalidity of any provision of the Intergovernmental 
Contract, any change in the tax or other laws of the United States of America or the State of Georgia or of 
any political subdivision of either thereof or any failure of any party to perform and observe any agreement, 
whether express or implied, or any duty, liability, or obligation arising out of or in connection with the 
Intergovernmental Contract or otherwise. 

To the extent legally enforceable, the Board and the City have created liens on the Contract 
Payments and tax monies, respectively, realized pursuant to the Intergovernmental Contract, in order to 
secure their respective obligations under the Intergovernmental Contract.  The Board and the City have 
covenanted not to create any lien on such Contract Payments and tax monies on parity with or prior to the 
liens created by the Resolution and the Intergovernmental Contract, except they may create a parity lien in 
connection with the issuance of additional parity bonds.  There can be no assurances given that a court 
would enforce such liens or respect their priority by siding with the interests of the holders of the Bonds 
over the cost of maintaining and operating the schools and facilities of the School System for the benefit of 
school children.  Furthermore, no opinion will be rendered with respect to the enforceability or priority of 
the lien on the tax monies created pursuant to the Intergovernmental Contract.  

Additional Security Provided by State of Georgia Intercept Program  

Prior to the issuance of the Bonds, the Board of Education, pursuant to O.C.G.A. § 20-2-480, will 
notify the State of Georgia Board of Education (the “State Board”) of the proposed issuance of the Bonds 
and authorize and direct the State Board to withhold and transfer School System funds as hereinafter set 
forth.   

Under the terms of a resolution to be adopted by the Board, the Debt Service Fund Custodian is 
required to transfer to the Paying Agent for the Bonds such amounts of moneys as are necessary to provide 
for the payment of the interest, or principal and interest, on the Bonds coming due each Interest Payment 
Date. Under the terms of such resolution, if on the 15th day of the calendar month preceding each Interest 
Payment Date (or, if such 15th day is not a business day, the next succeeding business day) there shall not 
be on deposit in the Debt Service Fund an amount sufficient to pay in full the interest, or principal and 
interest, coming due on the Bonds on such Interest Payment Date, as the case may be, and the City or the 
Board of Education does not immediately remedy the deficiency, the Debt Service Fund Custodian shall 
notify the State Board of the amount of any such deficiency.  Upon such notification, the State Board will 
withhold such amount from any State appropriation to which the School System may be entitled and 
thereafter transfer the amount so withheld to the Debt Service Fund Custodian not less than two business 
days prior to such payment date, for immediate deposit into the Debt Service Fund.  Such intercept 
payments are pledged to secure the payment of the Bonds 
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The amounts subject to interception by the State Board for the benefit of the owners of the Bonds 
will depend on the amount and timing of annual appropriations made by the General Assembly of the State 
for the Board.  The State paid to the Board for general operating purposes $25,099,591 during fiscal year 
2019 and $26,955,287 during fiscal year 2020, and the Board estimates the State will pay approximately 
$26,115,771 during fiscal year 2021.   See “SCHOOL DISTRICT FINANCIAL INFORMATION – Five-
Year General Fund History” herein for the amounts paid to the Board by the State for general operating 
purposes over the past five fiscal years.  

The State disburses the amount committed to the Board for each fiscal year in 12 approximately 
equal installments on or before the last day of each month of such fiscal year.  The timing of the payment 
of any amounts subject to interception by the State Board to the Paying Agent for the benefit of the owners 
of the Bonds will depend upon the ability of the State Board to promptly liquidate investments of money 
appropriated but not disbursed by the General Assembly of the State to the Board.  No assurance can be 
given concerning the timing or amounts of future appropriations by the General Assembly of the State to 
the Board or the timing of the payment of any amounts subject to interception by the State Board to the 
Paying Agent. 

Enforcement of Remedies 

The realization of value from the pledge of the taxing power of the City to the payment of the Bonds 
upon any default will depend upon the exercise of various remedies specified by the Bond Resolution and 
Georgia law. These and other remedies may require judicial actions, which are often subject to discretion 
and delay and which may be difficult to pursue. The enforceability of rights or remedies with respect to the 
Bonds may be limited by state and federal laws, rulings, and decisions affecting remedies and by 
bankruptcy, insolvency, or other laws affecting creditors’ rights or remedies heretofore or hereafter enacted.  
The various legal opinions to be delivered concurrently with the delivery of the Series 2021 Bonds will be 
qualified as to enforceability by limitations imposed by such state and federal laws, rulings, and decisions 
and by such bankruptcy, insolvency, and other laws. 

O.C.G.A. § 36-80-5 provides that no county, municipality, authority, division, instrumentality 
political subdivision, or public body created under the Constitution or laws of the State of Georgia shall be 
authorized to file a petition for relief from payment of its debts as they mature or a petition for composition 
of its debts under any federal statute providing for such relief or composition or otherwise to take advantage 
of any federal statute providing for the adjustment of debts of political subdivisions and public agencies 
and instrumentalities. O.C.G.A. § 36-80-5 also provides that no chief executive or other governmental 
officer, governing body, or organization shall be empowered to cause or authorize the filing by or on behalf 
of any county, municipality, authority, division, instrumentality, political subdivision, or public body 
corporate created under the Constitution or laws of the State of Georgia of any petition for relief from 
payment of its debts as they mature or a petition for consolidation of its debts under any federal statute 
providing for such relief or consolidation or otherwise to take advantage of any federal statute providing 
for the adjustment of debts of political subdivisions and public agencies and instrumentalities.  
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RISK FACTORS 

Prospective purchasers of the Bonds should be aware that investment in the Bonds may entail some 
degree of risk.  Each prospective investor in the Bonds is encouraged to read this Official Statement in its 
entirety.  Particular attention should be given to the factors described below which, among others, could 
affect the payment of debt service on the Bonds and which could also affect the market price of the Bonds 
to an extent that cannot be determined.  This discussion of risk factors is not, and is not intended to be, 
exhaustive. 

 
Special, Limited Obligation 

The obligation of the Board to pay debt service on the Bonds is a special, limited obligation of the 
Board and not a general obligation of the Board.   As further described elsewhere herein, debt service on 
the Bonds is payable solely from and secured by a first and prior pledge of and lien on the amounts payable 
by the City pursuant to the Intergovernmental Contract (such amounts referred to herein as Revenues), for 
which the City has pledged its full faith and credit and ad valorem taxing power.  The Board does not have 
the authority to levy ad valorem property taxes for any purpose.  While it is believed that Revenue will be 
sufficient to pay debt service on the Bonds when due, a number of factors described below may affect the 
receipt of sufficient Revenue for such purposes, which may impair the ability of the Board to make timely 
debt service payments on the Bonds.  

 
General Factors that May Affect Sufficiency of Revenues  

As stated above, the Board is obligated to pay debt service on the Bonds solely from Revenues 
generated by the Intergovernmental Contract.  A number of factors may have an adverse effect on the 
receipt of money in an amount sufficient to pay the Bonds.  These include potential adverse changes in the 
economic condition of the City, including potential decreases in population that may arise from decisions 
by employers located in and around the City to relocate their operations elsewhere; potential unemployment 
at a level that would preclude residents from paying ad valorem taxes and other fees that support City and 
Board operations; and other factors such as unforeseen conditions that could have a material adverse impact 
on the City. 
 
Maintenance of Credit Rating 

The Bonds will be rated as to their creditworthiness by Moody’s Investors Service (“Moody’s”).  
No assurance can be given that the Bonds will maintain its original rating from Moody’s.  If a rating on the 
Bonds decreases, the Bonds may lack liquidity in the secondary market in comparison to other municipal 
bonds.  Adverse developments with respect to the financial condition of the Board or the City may have an 
unfavorable effect upon a holder’s ability to sell the holder’s Bonds or the bid and ask prices for the Bonds.  
See “RATING” in this Official Statement. 
 
Cybersecurity 

Computer networks and data transmission and collection are vital to the efficient operations of the 
Board of Education and the City.  Despite security measures, information technology and infrastructure 
may be vulnerable to attacks by hackers or breached due to employee error, malfeasance, or other 
disruptions.  Any such breach could compromise networks and the information stored there could be 
disrupted, accessed, publicly disclosed, lost or stolen.  Any such disruption, access, disclosure, or other loss 
of information could materially adversely affect the operations of and services provided by the Board of 
Education and/or the City, and result in legal claims or proceedings, liability under laws that protect the 
privacy of personal information, and regulatory penalties, which could materially adversely impact the 
financial condition of the Board of Education and/or the City. 
 



 

16 
 

 

Economy 

A combination of economic, climactic, political, or civil disruptions or terrorist actions could affect 
the local economy and result in reduced revenues and/or tax collections and/or increased demands upon the 
City. 
 
Secondary Markets and Prices 

Neither the City nor the underwriter will be obligated to repurchase any of the Bonds, and no 
representation is made concerning the existence of any secondary market for the Bonds.  No assurance can 
be given that any secondary market will develop following the completion of the offering of the Bonds and 
no assurance can be given that the initial offering prices for the Bonds will continue for any period of time.  
 
Infectious Disease Outbreak – COVID-19 

` Background 
 

The outbreak of COVID-19, a respiratory disease caused by a new strain of coronavirus, has been 
characterized as a pandemic (the “COVID-19 Pandemic”) by the World Health Organization and is 
currently affecting many parts of the world, including the United States and the State of Georgia.  On March 
13, 2020, the President of the United States declared the outbreak of COVID-19 Pandemic in the United 
States a national emergency.  Subsequently, the United States Center for Disease Control and Prevention 
recommended actions to slow the spread of COVID-19 in the United States by, among other measures, 
social distancing. 
 

State Actions to Address COVID-19  
 
On March 2, 2020, the first confirmed cases of COVID-19 in the State were announced.  As of 

September 7, 2020, the State’s Department of Public Health reports approximately 283,807 confirmed 
cases, 25,538 hospitalizations, and 6,044 deaths attributable to COVID-19.  Additional public health data 
and other information on the State’s response to COVID-19 is available on the following website: 
https://dph.georgia.gov/covid-19-daily-status-report.  This website is provided for convenience only and is 
not incorporated by reference into this Official Statement. 
 

On March 14, 2020, the Governor of the State of Georgia signed Executive Order No. 03.14.20.01 
(the “March 14 Executive Order”) declaring a “Public Health State of Emergency” in the State due to the 
spread of COVID-19.  On March 16, 2020, the Georgia General Assembly concurred with the Executive 
Order by joint resolution.  During a state of emergency, Georgia law vests the Governor with powers and 
duties as may be deemed necessary to promote and secure the safety and protection of the civilian 
population.  In addition to the March 14 Executive Order, the Governor has signed multiple subsequent 
executive orders relating to COVID-19 that have, among other effects, (i) limited large gatherings 
statewide, ordered “shelter in place” for specific populations, and closed bars and nightclubs in Georgia; 
(ii) closed public elementary, secondary, and post-secondary schools to stop the spread of COVID-19;  (iii) 
reduced regulations to assist the State’s response to the spread of COVID-19; and (iv) authorized certain 
transfers from the Governor’s Emergency Fund.  More recently, the Governor issued Executive Orders for 
reopening the State’s economy, allowing certain “non-essential” businesses to resume operations and 
allowing restaurants to resume dine-in service, so long as these businesses implemented measures designed 
to mitigate exposure to COVID-19 and limit its spread to previously non-infected persons.  On August 31, 
2020, the Governor further extended the Public Health State of Emergency to October 10, 2020.   

 
On August 15, 2020, the Governor also signed Executive Order 08.15.20.01, which updated 

COVID-19 guidelines (the “August 15 Executive Order”).  The Governor renewed the August 15 Executive 
Order on August 31, 2020, pursuant to Executive Order 08.31.20.02, which was effective through 
September 15, 2020 (the “August 31 Executive Order”).   On September 15, 2020, the Governor signed 
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Executive Order .09.15.20.01, which is effective through September 30, 2020 (the “September 15 Executive 
Order”).   Similar to the August 15 Executive Order and the August 31 Executive Order, the September 15 
Executive Order continues to require social distancing, bans gatherings of more than 50 people unless there 
is six feet between each person, with certain exceptions including for schools, outlines mandatory criteria 
for businesses, strongly encourages use of face coverings, and requires sheltering in place for those living 
in long-term care facilities and the medically fragile.  On September 30, 2020, the Governor again renewed 
his Public Health State of Emergency declaration through November 9, 2020. 
 

Impact of COVID-19  
 
The COVID-19 Pandemic has negatively affected travel, commerce, and financial markets 

globally, and is widely expected to continue negatively affecting economic growth and financial markets 
worldwide.  There can be no assurances regarding the extent to which the COVID-19 Pandemic will impact 
the national and State of Georgia’s responses and economies and, accordingly, how it may adversely impact 
local governments and municipal authorities, including the City and the Board.  Because of the evolving 
nature of the outbreak and federal, state, and local responses thereto, the Board cannot predict how the 
outbreak will impact the financial condition or operations of the Board and City.  The Board cannot predict 
costs associated with this or any other potential infectious disease outbreak. 
 

Except for certain unaudited financial data that is provided, the financial and operating data 
contained within this Official Statement are the latest available but are reported as of the dates and for 
periods prior to the economic impact of the COVID-19 Pandemic and measures instituted to slow it.  
Accordingly, they are not indicative of the current financial condition or future prospects of the Board and 
the City.  To date, there have not been any material decreases in, or delays in collections of, ad valorem tax 
revenues, and the City does not anticipate raising ad valorem taxes as a result of COVID-19.   

 
The Board continues to monitor the spread of COVID-19 and while any further impact of the 

COVID-19 Pandemic on the School System is currently uncertain, the Board is monitoring the situation 
and will address such impact as necessary. 

 
The foregoing is intended only as a summary of certain investment considerations attendant to an 

investment in the Bonds.  It is NOT an exhaustive list of all possible factors that could adversely impact the 
ability of the City to make payments on the Bonds.  In order for potential investors to identify investment 
considerations and make an informed decision with respect to the Bonds, potential investors in the Bonds 
should be thoroughly familiar with this entire Official Statement and the appendices hereto. 

 
[Remainder of Page Intentionally Left Blank] 
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CITY OF BUFORD DEBT STRUCTURE 

Summary of City Debt by Category 

Set forth below is information concerning debt of the City as of June 30, 2020, and as of the 
anticipated date of issuance of the Bonds. The information set forth below should be read in conjunction 
with the City’s financial statements included as Appendix C hereto. 

 
 
Category of Obligation 

Amount 
Authorized  
or Issued 

Amount  
Outstanding as of 

June 30, 2020 

Amount to be  
Outstanding Upon 

Issuance of the Bonds 

General Obligation Debt    
   Series 2021 Bonds1 $40,565,000 -0- $40,565,000 
    
   Series 2017A Bonds 20,000,000 $12,820,000 12,820,000 
   Series 2017B Bonds 10,000,000 6,410,000 6,410,000 
   Series 2017C Bonds 24,270,000 24,270,000 -0- 
   Series 2015 Bonds 33,050,000 10,700,000 -0- 
   Series 2010 Bonds   10,000,000    4,503,236               -0- 

Total: $137,885,000 $58,703,236 $59,795,000 
_______________ 
1 The Bonds are special obligations of the School System backed by general obligation intergovernmental agreement 
with the City to which its full faith and credit and taxing power are pledged. Except as otherwise provided herein, debt 
service on the Bonds is payable based on matching City contract payments from the City general fund and then, from 
City ad valorem taxes levied, without limitation as to rate or amount, upon all taxable property within the City.    

 
Indebtedness of Overlapping Governmental Entities 

Property owners in the City are responsible for both the City’s debt obligations and any debt 
obligations of other taxing entities (“Overlapping Entities”) in the proportion to which the jurisdiction of 
the City overlaps such entities. 

 
Category of Obligation 

Amount of Outstanding Debt 
as of June 30, 2020 

Gwinnett County  
   General Obligation Debt $              0 

Hall County  
   General Obligation Debt     9,116,000 

Total: $9,116,000 
 
Debt Limitation 

State Law. Article IX, Section V, Paragraph I(a) of the Constitution of the State of Georgia provides 
that the City may not incur long-term obligations (other than refunding obligations) payable out of general 
property taxes without the approval of a majority of the qualified voters of the City voting at an election 
called to approve the obligations. In addition, under the Constitution of the State of Georgia, the City may 
not incur long-term obligations payable out of general property taxes in excess of 10% of the assessed value 
of all taxable property within the City. Short-term obligations (those payable within the same calendar year 
in which they are incurred), lease and installment purchase obligations subject to annual appropriation, and 
intergovernmental obligations are not subject to the legal limitations described above.  
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As computed in the tables below, based upon assessed values as of January 1, 2020, the City could 
incur, upon necessary voter approval, immediately after the issuance of the Bonds, approximately 
$42,785,000 of long-term obligations payable out of general property taxes. 

Computation of Legal Debt Margin - Gwinnett County 
 

Gross Tax Digest for the City as of January 1, 2020 ..................................  $1,407,116,515 
Less Bond Exemptions ...............................................................................     (246,249,019) 
Net Bond Digest ..........................................................................................  $1,160,867,496 
 
Debt Limit (10% of Net M&O Tax Digest) ................................................  $116,086,750 
Less Amount of Debt Outstanding, after Issuance of the Bonds,  
Applicable to Debt Limit1 ...........................................................................   (55,127,667) 
Legal Debt Margin ......................................................................................  $60,959,083 

 
 Computation of Legal Debt Margin - Hall County 

 
Gross Tax Digest for the City as of January 1, 2020 ..................................  $357,272,878 
Less M&O Exemptions2 .............................................................................     (68,318,529) 
Net M&O Tax Digest..................................................................................  $288,954,349 
 
Debt Limit (10% of Net M&O Tax Digest) ................................................  $28,895,435 
Less Amount of Debt Outstanding, after Issuance of the Bonds,  
Applicable to Debt Limit1 ...........................................................................   (8,505,658) 
Legal Debt Margin ......................................................................................  $20,389,777 
_______________ 
1 The Debt Outstanding has been calculated by using the outstanding general obligation debt of the City 

($68,806,000) on a pro rata basis between the gross digest of the City in Gwinnett County (80.12%) and Hall 
County (19.88%).] 

2 Based on M&O exemptions. Actual bond exemptions are not available because in past years it has not been 
necessary for the City to levy a tax for general obligation debt; debt service on all outstanding school bonds 
has been paid by an educational sales tax. It is not expected that the amount of bond exemptions would be 
materially higher than the amount of M&O exemptions. 

 
 Source: State of Georgia Department of Revenue.  

O.C.G.A. § 20-2-506(a)(4) provides that lease and installment purchase contracts subject to annual 
appropriation must contain provisions limiting the total combined annual payments for such contracts and 
intergovernmental contracts in any calendar year to an amount equal to 7.5% of the total local revenue 
collected for M&O of the School System in the most recently completed fiscal year. The School System 
has no annual payments for lease and installment purchase contracts or intergovernmental contracts in 
calendar year 2017. 

Long and Short-Term Indebtedness 

The Board and the City currently have no plans to issue any short-term obligations or any additional 
long-term indebtedness other than the Bonds. 

 

[REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK] 
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Debt Service Schedules 

Set forth below are the principal and interest payment requirements of the City with respect to the 
Bonds.  

 
Payment Date Principal Interest Total Principal 

and Interest  
 January 1,2022 - $24,263.76 $       24,263.76 
 July 1,2022 - 436,747.78 436,747.78 
 January 1,2023 - 436,747.78 436,747.78 
 July 1,2023 - 436,747.78 436,747.78 
 January 1,2024 $1,930,000.00 436,747.78 2,366,747.78 
 July 1,2024 - 428,197.88 428,197.88 
 January 1,2025 1,955,000.00 428,197.88 2,383,197.88 
 July 1,2025 - 417,132.58 417,132.58 
 January 1,2026 1,975,000.00 417,132.58 2,392,132.58 
 July 1,2026 - 403,663.08 403,663.08 
 January 1,2027 2,005,000.00 403,663.08 2,408,663.08 
 July 1,2027 - 388,986.48 388,986.48 
 January 1,2028 2,030,000.00 388,986.48 2,418,986.48 
 July 1,2028 - 372,391.23 372,391.23 
 January 1,2029 2,060,000.00 372,391.23 2,432,391.23 
 July 1,2029 - 354,211.73 354,211.73 
 January 1,2030 2,100,000.00 354,211.73 2,454,211.73 
 July 1,2030 - 334,009.73 334,009.73 
 January 1,2031 2,140,000.00 334,009.73 2,474,009.73 
 July 1,2031 - 312,352.93 312,352.93 
 January 1,2032 2,185,000.00 312,352.93 2,497,352.93 
 July 1,2032 - 289,257.48 289,257.48 
 January 1,2033 2,230,000.00 289,257.48 2,519,257.48 
 July 1,2033 - 264,236.88 264,236.88 
 January 1,2034 2,280,000.00 264,236.88 2,544,236.88 
 July 1,2034 - 237,287.28 237,287.28 
 January 1,2035 2,335,000.00 237,287.28 2,572,287.28 
 July 1,2035 - 208,520.08 208,520.08 
 January 1,2036 2,395,000.00 208,520.08 2,603,520.08 
 July 1,2036 - 177,816.18 177,816.18 
 January 1,2037 2,450,000.00 177,816.18 2,627,816.18 
 July 1,2037 - 145,059.68 145,059.68 
 January 1,2038 2,515,000.00 145,059.68 2,660,059.68 
 July 1,2038 - 110,943.71 110,943.71 
 January 1,2039 2,590,000.00 110,943.71 2,700,943.71 
 July 1,2039 - 75,810.36 75,810.36 
 January 1,2040 2,655,000.00 75,810.36 2,730,810.36 
 July 1,2040 - 38,467.78 38,467.78 
 January 1,2041 2,735,000.00 38,467.78 2,773,467.78  
Total $40,565,000.00 $10,887,945.02 $51,452,945.02 

 
[REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK] 
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CITY OF BUFORD AD VALOREM TAXATION 

Introduction  

An important source of revenue to fund the School System are ad valorem property taxes.  The 
Board does not have the power to levy ad valorem taxes, however, the City annually levies ad valorem 
property taxes for the School System.  In addition, under the Intergovernmental Contract, the City is 
required to levy ad valorem taxes to the extent required therein for payment on the Bonds.  See “SECURITY 
AND SOURCES OF PAYMENT FOR THE BONDS” herein. 

Ad valorem property taxes accounted for an annual average of approximately 75% of the general 
fund revenues of the City for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2020 and are budgeted to account for 
approximately 33% of general fund revenues for the year ending June 30, 2021. Ad valorem property taxes 
are levied annually in mills (one tenth of one percent) upon each dollar of assessed property value. The City 
uses county-assessed valuations for real and personal property. 

Property Subject to Taxation 

Ad valorem property taxes are levied, based upon value, on real and personal property within the 
City subject to taxation for school bond purposes. There are, however, certain classes of property which are 
exempt from taxation, including public property, religious property, charitable property, property of 
nonprofit hospitals, nonprofit homes for the aged, and nonprofit homes for the mentally handicapped, 
college and certain educational property, public library property, certain farm products, certain air and water 
pollution control property, and personal effects. 

In addition to the statewide homestead exemptions available to all homesteads, the City allows the 
following exemptions:  

(a) a $30,000 homestead exemption for school tax purposes for persons age 65 and older 
having a net income of less than $25,000; and 

(b) a 100% exemption for a school tax purposes for persons age 70 and older, limited to one 
acre of property and the value of the homestead; and 

(c) a $30,000 homestead exemption for 100% disabled persons. 

Additionally, the City allows the following types of commercial and industrial inventory as 100% 
exempt from ad valorem taxation: (1) raw materials and goods in process of manufacture, (2) finished goods 
produced in Georgia within the last 12 months, and (3) finished goods stored in Georgia within the last 12 
months and destined for shipment out-of-state. 

Tax Reform 

The Georgia Jobs and Family Tax Reform Plan, House Bill 386 (“HB 386”) became law on April 
19, 2012 and produced significant changes in the ad valorem taxation of vehicles.  HB 386 eliminated the 
ad valorem taxation of vehicles and replaced it with a one-time title tax (the “Title Tax”) that is levied 
whenever the title to a vehicle is registered to a new owner (except if a transfer is made between immediate 
family members).  The Title Tax is based upon the value of the vehicle and is currently being levied at a 
rate of 6.6%.  The revenues will be shared among the State and local governments by formula.  [See footnote 
3 of the table set forth under the heading “CITY OF BUFORD AD VALOREM TAXATION — Ad 
Valorem Property Tax Digest.”] 
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Assessed Value 

Assessed valuation, which represents the value upon which ad valorem property taxes are levied, 
is calculated as a percentage of fair market value. Georgia law requires all counties to assess taxable tangible 
property, with certain exceptions, at 40% of its fair market value and to tax such property on a levy made 
by each tax jurisdiction according to 40% of the property’s fair market value. Georgia law requires certain 
agricultural real property to be assessed for ad valorem property tax purposes at 75% of the value of which 
other real property is assessed and requires certain historical property to be valued at a lower fair market 
value for ad valorem property tax purposes.  

The chief appraiser of the county is required to submit a certified list of assessments for all taxable 
property, except motor vehicles, mobile homes, and property owned by public utilities, within the county 
to the County Board of Tax Assessors.  The Tax Commissioner for each county is required to present the 
tax returns to its County Board of Tax Assessors by April 1 of each year.  The Board of Tax Assessors is 
required to complete its revision and assessment of returns by June 1 of each year.  The Tax Commissioner 
then certifies the digest and forwards a copy of the completed digest to the State of Georgia Revenue 
Commissioner for examination and approval.  The Revenue Commissioner has the authority to examine 
the digest for the purpose of determining if the valuations of property are reasonably uniform and equalized 
between and within counties.  Assessments may also be subject to review at various stages by the County 
Board of Equalization and by state courts. 

The State of Georgia Motor Vehicle Tax Unit assesses the value of all motor vehicles by make, 
model, and year by county and provides this information to each county’s tax office.  The State of Georgia 
Property Tax Unit assesses the value of the property of public utilities and divides the assessment into two 
parts, assessed value of property and assessed value of franchise, and provides these amounts to the county 
which bills these taxes to the utilities. 

Annual Tax Levy 

The City determines a rate of levy for each fiscal year by computing a rate which, when levied 
upon the assessed value of taxable property within its territorial limits, will produce the necessary amount 
of property tax revenues to finance City services. The City then levies its ad valorem property tax. 

The Board of Education annually prepares a budget for the operation of the School System and 
recommends to the Commission and City Manager a school tax, upon 40% of the assessed value of all 
property of the City for the support and maintenance of education. The Commission and City Manager have 
the power and authority to levy and collect a tax annually, for school purposes, upon 40 percent of the 
assessed value of all property of the City. The recommendation of the Board of Education with respect to 
the amount of such levy is advisory only; the number of mills of school tax to be actually levied is 
determined in the sole discretion of the Commission and City Manager. 

Under Georgia law, there is no limitation on the annual rate of levy for the payment of principal of 
and interest on bonded indebtedness of the City. Ad valorem property taxes received for the payment of 
debt service on the Bonds are required by law to be held and accounted for separately from other funds of 
the City.  See “SECURITY AND SOURCES OF PAYMENT FOR THE BONDS.” 

Property Tax Collections 

The City bills and collects its own property taxes. Real and personal property taxes, as per the 
January 1 digest and subsequent adopted millage by the Buford City Commission, are levied on January 1 
of each year on the assessed value listed as of January 1. Taxes levied by the City on January 1 are normally 
billed by September 15 and are normally payable on or before November 20, but the law allows taxpayers 
60 days from the date of mailing before interest may be charged. Interest of 12% per annum is applied to 
taxes paid after December 5. In addition, late payment of all taxes incurs a 10% penalty after 90 days. 
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All taxes levied on real and personal property, together with interest thereon and penalties for late 
payment, constitute a perpetual lien on and against the property arising after January 1 in the year in which 
taxed. The lien becomes enforceable 30 days after notification. Georgia law provides that taxes must be 
paid before any other debt, lien, or claim of any kind, except for certain claims against the estate of a 
decedent and except that the title and operation of a security deed is superior to the taxes assessed against 
the owner of property when the tax represents an assessment upon property of the owner other than the 
property specifically subject to the title and operation of the security deed. 

Collection of delinquent real property taxes is enforceable by tax sale of such realty. Delinquent 
personal property taxes are similarly enforceable by seizure and sale of the taxpayer’s personal property. 
There can be no assurance, however, that the value of the property sold, in the event of a tax sale, will be 
sufficient to produce the amount required to pay in full the delinquent taxes, including any interest or 
penalties thereon. 

When the last day for the payment of taxes has arrived, the tax collector notifies the taxpayer in 
writing of the fact that the taxes have not been paid and that, unless paid, an execution will be issued. At 
any time after 30 days from giving the notice described in the preceding sentence, the Tax Commissioner, 
as ex officio sheriff, may issue an execution for nonpayment of taxes. The Tax Commissioner then publishes 
a notice of the sale in a local newspaper weekly for four weeks and gives the taxpayer ten days written 
notice by registered or certified mail. A public sale of the property is then made by the Tax Commissioner 
at the County Courthouse of the county in which the property is located on the first Tuesday of the month 
after the required notices are given. 
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M&O Tax Digest  

 Set forth below is information concerning the assessed and estimated actual value of taxable property within the City for the past five calendar years.  

 2016 
Gwinnett 

2016 
Hall 

2017 
Gwinnett 

2017 
Hall 

2018 
Gwinnett 

2018 
Hall 

2019 
Gwinnett 

2019 
Hall 

2020 
Gwinnett 

2020 
Hall 

           
Real & Personal1 $833,837,160 $230,915,285 $956,651,830 $272,105,526 $965,082,330 $270,165,819 $1,219,027,477 $303,099,229 $1,322,398,183 $353,869,849 
Public Utility4 33,053,200 800,234 33,836,680 1,084,625 40,110,880 1,084,625 46,966,600 1,133,073 47,442,732 1,472,966 
Motor Vehicles2 11,773,700 4,035,940 8,332,680 3,019,540 8,832,680 3,019,540 6,791,600 2,381,890 5,409,120 1,873,730 
Mobile Homes3 1,999,560 28,235 2,029,720 28,235 2,050,320 28,235 1,972,520 28,235 1,866,480 56,333 
Timber                     0                     0               80,290                     0                     0                     0                     0                     0                     0                     0 
   Gross Tax Digest 880,663,620 235,779,694 1,000,931,200 276,237,926 1,016,076,210 274,298,219 1,274,758,197 306,642,427 1,407,116,515 357,272,878 
           
Less Bond Exemptions                     0                     0                     0                     0                     0                     0                     0                     0                     0                     0 
   Net Bond Tax Digest 880,663,620 235,779,694 1,000,931,200 276,237,926 1,016,076,210 274,298,219 1,274,758,197 306,642,427 1,407,116,515 357,272,878 
           
Gross M&O Tax Digest 880,663,620 235,779,694 1,000,931,200 276,237,926 1,016,076,210 274,298,219 1,274,758,197 306,642,427 1,407,116,515 357,272,878 
Less M&O Exemptions  (154,116,106)   (36,876,763)  (165,122,460)   (42,987,997)  (173,610,701)  ( 46,310,134)  (175,377,768)   (41,514,900)   (246,249,019)   (68,318,529) 
Net M&O Tax Digest5 726,547,514 198,902,931 835,808,740 233,249,929 842,465,509 227,988,085 1,099,380,429 265,127,527 1,160,867,496 288,954,349 
           
Estimated Actual Value $2,201,659,050 $589,449,235 $2,502,328,000 $690,594,815 $2,540,190,525 $685,745,548 $3,186,895,493 $766,606,068 $3,517,791,288 $893,182,195 
                          
1 The State requires all counties to assess real estate and personal property at the rate of at least 40% of estimated actual value, with the exception of timber, which is assessed at 100%. 
2 The State of Georgia Motor Vehicle Tax Unit assesses the value of motor vehicles by make, model, and year by county and provides this information to each county tax office. The State of 

Georgia assesses the value of motor vehicles at the percentage of fair market value used by the county. 
3 The State of Georgia assesses the value of mobile homes at the percentage of fair market value used by the county. 
4 The State of Georgia Property Tax Unit assesses the value of the property of public utilities at the percentage of fair market value used by the county. The Property Tax Unit then divides the 

assessment into two parts, assessed value of property and assessed value of franchise, and provides these figures to the county, which bills these taxes to the utilities with the amount of tax for 
each. 

5 Total assessed value, after deducting exemptions, for purposes of levying tax for the School System’s general obligation bonds. 
 

Source:  City of Buford. 
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Ten Largest Taxpayers 

 Set forth below is information concerning the ten largest taxpayers in the City in calendar year 
2020.  

 
Taxpayer 

 
Type of Business 

2020 Taxable 
Assessed Value 

for the 
School System 

Assessed Value 
as a Percent of 

2020 Gross  
Assessed Values1 

2020 Taxes 
Levied for the  
School System 

Amerisource Bergen Drug Co. Manufacturing $109,039,052 5% $   716,236 
Makita USA Manufacturing 38,037,572 2 481,175 
Elringklinger USA Inc. Manufacturing 37,891,206 2 353,817 
Industrial Development Int. Warehousing 22,623,226 1 286,183 
Diversitech Corporation Manufact/Distrib 20,230,102 1 255,911 
Lit Industrial Ltd Partners Warehousing 18,362,800 1 232,289 
Prologis, Inc. Warehousing 16,821,720 1 212,795 
2500 Mill Center Ind, LP Warehousing 15,444,000 1 195,367 
Hamilton Mill Business Center Warehousing 15,189,422 1 188,915 
Teachers Ins & Annuity Warehousing      14,933,990   1          188,915 

Total:   $308,573,090 16% $3,114,834 
_______________ 
1 Based on calendar year 2020 Gross Tax Digest of 1,764,389,393.  
 
 Source:  City of Buford.  
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M&O Tax Levies and Collections for the City and School System 

 
 The City bills and collects the real and personal property taxes used for the School System. The 
City levies M&O taxes on behalf of the School System on January 1 of each year and normally bills said 
taxes by September 15. M&O taxes are due and payable on or before November 20 of each year or 60 days 
after the tax bill is mailed. Set forth below is information concerning total real and personal property tax 
and public utilities tax collections of the School System reported as of the School System’s fiscal years 
ended June 30, 2016, through June 30, 2020, for the prior calendar year’s tax levy. The figures below 
EXCLUDE taxes levied and collected on motor vehicles, mobile homes, heavy equipment, and timber.  

 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 
Current Year’s M&O Tax Levy  

 
    

  
 

    
School System’s M&O Tax Levy $10,482,003 $12,714,190 $13,351,659 $16,239,453 $18,111,265 
Total Current Year’s Net M&O Tax Levy $10,482,003 $12,714,190 13,351,659 16,239,453 18,111,265 
  

 
   

Tax Collections   
 

   
   School System’s Current Year’s 

Collections 
$10,227,923 $12,265,630 $12,926,155 15,799,086 17,554,759 

   School System’s Prior Years’ Collections        405,466        154,140      257,600        434,705        370,008 
Total Tax Collections $10,629,369 $12,419,770 $13,183,755 $16,233,791 $17,924,767 
  

 
    

Total Current Year’s Tax Collections as a 
Percent of Total Current Year’s M&O Tax 
Levy 98% 96% 97% 97% 98% 
      
Total Tax Collections as a Percent of Total 
Current Year’s M&O Tax Levy 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 
       
Uncollected Current Year’s M&O Property 
Taxes $254,080 $448,560 $391,014 $440,367 $556,506 
  

 
    

Due Date of Taxes November 20 November 20 November 20 November 20 November 20 
Tax Period Begins January 1 January 1 January 1 January 1 January 1 
Tax Period Ends December 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 

 
Source:  Tax Clerk and Finance Director, City of Buford. 

Delinquent property taxes of the City are written off when the statute of limitations for their 
collection (seven years) expires or if no property is found to levy upon, earlier. The delinquent taxes written 
off are typically for personal property, which are more difficult to collect than taxes on real property. 

 

[REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK] 
 



 

27 
 

 

Millage Rates  

Set forth below is information concerning the rate of levy of property taxes per $1,000 of assessed 
value, or millage rates, of the City, Gwinnett County, and the State of Georgia for the past five calendar 
years.  

 
Calendar 

Year 

 
Buford 

School System 

Incorporated 
Gwinnett 
County 

 
County Wide 

Services 

County Wide 
Debt 

Service 

 
State of 
Georgia 

System Wide 
Incorporated 

Total 

2016 12.850 6.826 5.750 0.240 0.000 25.666 
2017 12.800 7.400 5.750 0.000 0.000 25.950 
2018 12.750 7.209 5.750 0.000 0.000 25.709 
2019 12.700 7.209 5.750 0.000 0.000 25.659 
2020 12.650 6.950 7.400 0.000 0.000 27.000 

 
Set forth below is information concerning the rate of levy of property taxes per $1,000 of assessed 

value, or millage rates, of the City, Hall County, and the State of Georgia for the past five calendar years.  

 
Calendar 

Year 

 
Buford 

School System 

Incorporated 
Hall 

County 

 
County 

Fire District 

 
State of 
Georgia 

System Wide 
Incorporated 

Total 

2016 12.850 5.716 4.080 0.000 22.646 
2017 12.800 6.700 4.080 0.000 23.580 
2018 12.750 6.295 4.080 0.000 23.125 
2019 12.700 6.033 4.080 0.000 22.813 
2020 12.650 5.788 4.080 0.000 22.518 

 
Source:  State of Georgia Department of Revenue, Local Government Services.  
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SCHOOL SYTEM FINANCIAL INFORMATION 

Five-Year General Fund History 

 
 

General Fund History for Years 
Ended June 30 (Audited)   Unaudited Unaudited 

 
2016 2017 2018 2019 

Unaudited 
2020 

September 
2020 

September 
2021 

Revenues        
Property Taxes  $10,796,279 $12,889,513 $14,726,590 $17,607,897 $20,142,560 $3,794,363 $4,579,079 
Sales Taxes(1)  8,091,071 – 7,410,367 4,187,690 –   
State Funds 19,851,234 21,398,199 23,196,890 25,099,591 9,035,853 1,905,834 2,673,487 
Federal Funds 3,350,060 2,864,326 2,988,344 3,034,118 3,028,234 250,135 1,869,441 
Charges for 
Services 3,500,392 3,528,340 3,385,210 2,690,486 2,847,241 662,949 742,865 
Investment 
Earnings 9,106 7,487 554,039 1,582 4,427 1,445 2,303 
Miscellaneous 2,555,943 2,989,446 11,191,147 3,846,135 3,972,746 184,845 342,926 

Total Revenues 48,154,086 51,174,400 29,774,445 59,471,912 65,986,348 6,799,583 10,210,103.355 
Expenditures        

Current:        
Instruction 31,492,460 34,071,552 39,105,713 38,493,132 40,969,585 4,355,238 5,594,907.60 
Support 
Services:         

Pupil Services 1,926,629 2,001,282 2,685,164 2,540,725 2,458,152 366,932 451,420 
Improvement of 
Instructional 
Services 363,357 2,001,282 296,882 409,795 436,347 2,001,282 296,882 
Educational 
Media Services  602,626 321,565 661,825 660,304 790,792 77,967 83,536 
Federal grant 
administration     5,804   
General 
administrations 2,361,008 664,667 3,247,081 2,949,759 3,429,869 1,513.211 1,594,320  
School 
Administration 2,892,006 2,723,933 3,509,861 3,501,896 4,399,659 942,274 970,137 
Business 
Administration 494,979 3,111,638 1,148,944 591,452 653,515 124,169 154,132 
Maintenance 
and Operation 
of Plant 3,148,670 3,277,510 3,019,082 3,889,619 4,739,503 1,088,695.88 1,209,238 
Student 
Transportation 
Services 1,418,853 1,491,375 1,691,837 1,946,766 1,622,276 222,299 278,257 
Other Support 
Services 14,730 9,477 - 9,915 193,692   

Enterprise 
Operations 608,037 731,119 883,986 993,023 1,237,589 130,154 175,420 
Community 
Services     612,398 54,480 73,836 
Food Services 
Operation 1,900,636 2,025,402 474,300 2,206,935 2,240,270 305,063 673,542 

Capital Outlay        
Total 
Expenditures 47,587,421 51,314,013 60,496,608 61,997,274 63,789,451 9,275,766 11,332,462 

Excess of 
Revenues Over 
(Under) 
Expenditures 566,665 (139,613) 3,159,980 12,474,017 2,196,897 (2,476,186) (1,122,359)) 
Other Financing 
Sources         

Transfers In(2)  - - 3,103,021 1,372,252 –   
Transfers Out(2)  - -               (3,103,021)  (1,742,607) (151,103)   

Total Other 
Financing                                    (370,355) (151,103)   
Sources (Uses) -                    - -     

Special Item        
Proceeds from 
Sale of Land        
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General Fund History for Years 
Ended June 30 (Audited)   Unaudited Unaudited 

 
2016 2017 2018 2019 

Unaudited 
2020 

September 
2020 

September 
2021 

Net Change in 
Fund Balance  566,665 (139,613) 3,159,980   366,964 2,045,794   
Fund Balance, 
Beginning of Year 6,707,372 7,274,037 7,134,424 6,813,879 7,180,843   
Fund Balance, End 
of Year $7,274,037 $7,134,424 $10,294,44 $7,180,843 $9,226,637   

 
(1) Reflects licensing taxes, title fees, etc. Does not include ESPLOST collections. 
(2) Transfers in and transfers out generally represent expenditures paid from the general fund and reimbursed in the subsequent 

fiscal year with ESPLOST revenues collected by the debt service fund. 

Management Comments Concerning Material Trends in Revenues and Expenditures 

 Although great gains were occurring academically during FY2020 in the classroom, the COVID 
pandemic caused Buford City Schools to close down the school year early.  Buford City Schools sent all 
students, faculty and most staff home on March 16, 2020 to distance learn.  However, Buford City Schools 
continued to pay all faculty and staff as if they were on campus.  During the closure, the custodial staff 
continued to work and deep clean all facilities.  The School Nutrition Staff continued to feed students 
through a meal pickup and drop-off system.  All staff members of Buford City Schools continued to work 
in some capacity for everything to run smoothly.  During the closure, Buford City Schools Operations 
Manager procured protective equipment and supplies for our faculty, staff and students for the upcoming 
school year.  Custodial staff received additional cleaning and sanitation equipment.  During early summer 
2020, Buford City Schools received the first of several ESSER grants.  The grant was utilized in 2020 and 
2021 to provide additional protective equipment and to provide for hazard pay to bus drivers and school 
nutrition staff.  The first ESSER grant also paid for additional time for the custodial staff to maintain a 
sanitary environment.  
 

For FY2021 and FY2022, there were no significant changes in the employer portion of Teacher 
Retirement System pension. 
 

In FY2021, sixteen positions were added to accommodate growth.  Fifteen of the sixteen positions 
were teaching positions.  In addition to the additional positions to accommodate growth in the student body, 
the Board of Education voted to raise all salaries by 2% and continue to pay employees on the salary scales 
by allowing step increases.  During the summer of 2020, Buford Middle School’s roof was replaced.  This 
was a $1,000,000 building improvement.  
 

In person learning resumed in August 2020 with 8% of the student population learning digitally at 
home taught by Buford City Schools’ faculty.  FY2021 brought new opportunities to expand digital learning 
and several ESSER formula grants were awarded to the district.  With the challenges that digital learning 
brought to light, ESSER II grant’s focus was on the district’s technology infrastructure.  In order to expand 
digital learning to all students if the district had to shut down in person learning again, the technology 
department invested ESSER II funds in new servers, switches, networking and additional chrome books.  
ESSER II funds were also used to provide a new digital learning platform and learning system.  This new 
program required professional learning to ensure that teachers and staff were able to utilize the learning 
management system.  This system allowed Buford to prepare students for post-secondary learning and 
provide a “house” for all classes.  City of Buford government awarded Buford City Schools CARES act 
funds to provide retention supplements in November and December of 2020.  In early 2021, Georgia 
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Department of Education also voted to provide retention supplements to all school districts.  Those funds 
were distributed to faculty and staff in March 2021.  With Spring 2021 completed, a large additional ESSER 
III grant was awarded to the district.  This grant expires September 2023.  The grant was for $3.6 million.  
The ESSER III grant will provide $2 million in additional positions and state austerity cut relief for 2022.  
ESSER III will provide additional instructional support to the students who have an academic achievement 
gap.  The funds will supplement additional services to the students.  The ESSER III grant in addition will 
provide funds to purchase a universal screener for at risk students, it will provide for additional instructional 
resources for math and it will provide additional professional learning for the social and emotional well-
being of students. 
 

In Spring of 2021, the Board of Education reviewed the FY2022 budget needs.  The continual 
student growth required additional 25 positions for the district.  In addition to the positions, the district 
voted to procure four additional buses, replace the roof and HVAC systems for both Buford Academy and 
Buford Elementary.  The new roofs and HVAC systems are building improvements estimated at $1.8 
million.  Additionally, the board voted to fund capital improvements at several other areas in the system 
totaling $1.3 million.  There are no cost of living adjustments for FY2022 anticipated. 
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CITY OF BUFORD FINANCIAL INFORMATION 

Six-Year Total-Primary Government History 

Set forth below is a summary of changes in net position of the City relating to governmental and 
business-type activities of the City for the past five fiscal years. Information in the table for fiscal years 
2015 to 2020 has been extracted from audited financial statements of the City for the years ended June 30, 
2015, to June 30, 2020. Although taken from audited financial statements, no representation is made that 
the information is comparable from year to year, or that the information as shown taken by itself presents 
fairly the financial condition of the City for the fiscal years shown. For more complete information, 
reference is made to the audited financial statements of the City for fiscal year 2020 which are included in 
this Official Statement as Appendix C and to the audited financial statements of the City for fiscal years 
2015 to 2019, copies of which are available from the City upon request. 

City of Buford, Georgia 
Summary of Changes in Net Position 

Total-Primary Government 

 For Fiscal Years Ended June 30 

 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 
 

2020 
Revenues       
Program revenues:       
   Charges for services $66,578,313 $63,822,055 $63,021,428 72,292,658 $78,659,921 $77,056,309 
   Capital grants and contributions 3,780,030 3,501,910 3,905,320 41,145,589 16,761,264 3,029,882 
   Operating grants 0 50,344 49,656 108,502 0 2,624,220 
General revenues:       
   Taxes 12,083,228 13,097,780 15,942,807 17,996,258 21,194,237 23,746,449 
   Franchise fees 915,632 955,880 953,296 940,009 1,002,189 1,030,883 
   Investment income 132,390 473,307 499,511 717,103 795,455 656,914 
   Gain on Sales of Assets 0 0 21,935 0 (29,485) 121 
   Miscellaneous 2,172,136 2,407,833 1,533,069 1,771,103 1,610,571 2,302,382 
Total revenues 85,661,729 84,309,109 85,927,022 134,971,222 119,994,152 110,447,160 
       
Expenses       
General government 3,599,957 5,685,827 3,629,122 3,681,796 4,032,032 5,001,974 
Public safety 393,874 495,957 480,755 511,935 544,470 670,866 
Public services 7,005,910 8,500,927 7,441,716 7,805,299 8,326,901 10,752,477 
Debt service 621,669 1,541,499 1,784,326 2,299,692 2,851,696 2,565,380 
Intergovernmental - Board of Education 18,400,000 19,650,000 32,767,493 61,740,917 54,979,747 32,277,283 
Gas system 22,447,756 19,123,150 18,816,452 21,454,856 22,476,307 20,818,379 
Electric system 16,600,734 15,590,647 15,911,730 15,789,926 16,393,850 16,082,134 
Solid waste and recycling 2,222,162 2,495,421 2,681,695 3,119,724 3,775,421 4,228,311 
Wastewater system 2,491,279 1,921,943 2,463,419 4,033,722 5,534,096 4,339,806 
Water system 1,838,291 2,488,389 2,059,007 2,333,229 2,173,260 2,663,921 
Utilities Fund - Non Divisional 119,309 81,271 596,615 350,728 269,631 272,871 
Community Center 1,180,012 1,363,079 1,372,812 1,409,474 1,545,914 1,435,203 
Total expenses 76,920,953 78,938,110 91,090,145 124,531,298 124,310,376 101,666,711 
       
Increases (decreases) in net position 
before transfers 8,740,776 5,370,999 (5,163,12)3 10,439,924 (4,316,224) 8,780,449 
       
Transfers - internal 0 0 0 0 0 915,300 
       
Increases (decreases) in net position 8,740,776 5,370,999 (5,163,123) 10,439,924 (4,316,224) 9,695,749 
       
Net position-beginning of year (restated) 138,266,154 144,954,425 143,385,729 169,155,189 179,595,113 175,278,889 
       
Net position - end of year $147,006,930 $150,336,424 $169,155,189 $179,595,113 $175,278,889 $184,974,638 
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Six-Year General Fund History 

 Set forth below is a historical, comparative summary of the revenues, expenditures, and changes in 
fund balance of the City’s General Fund for the past six fiscal years. Information in the table for fiscal years 
2015 to 2020 has been extracted from audited financial statements of the City for the years ended June 30, 
2015, to June 30, 2020. Although taken from audited financial statements, no representation is made that 
the information is comparable from year to year, or that the information as shown taken by itself presents 
fairly the financial condition of the City for the fiscal years shown. For more complete information, 
reference is made to the audited financial statements of the City for fiscal year 2020 which are included in 
this Official Statement as Appendix C and to the audited financial statements of the City for fiscal years 
2015 to 2019, copies of which are available from the City upon request. 

City of Buford, Georgia 
Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances 

General Fund 

 For the Fiscal Years Ending June 30 

 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 
 

2020 
Revenues       
Taxes - property $10,784,894 $11,290,667 $13,164,057 $14,331,939 $17,709,175 $19,768,459 
Taxes - sales and excise 2,715,362 3,281,243 2,813,872 3,083,296 3,290,631  3,286,770 
Franchise fees 1,503,721 1,627,074 953,296 940,009 1,002,189  1,030,553 
Charges for services 161,146 955,880 1,433,343 1,261,474 1,452,895  1,389,553 
Intergovernmental revenue 915,632 743,259 553,112 3,384,663 1,483,895  398,599 
Investment income 77,873 62,415 57,101 88,437 65,059  100,715 
Miscellaneous 16,076 18,104 56,448 171,576 156,998  229,155 
Total revenues 16,174,704 17,978,642 19,031,229 23,261,394 25,160,780 26,204,134  
       
Expenditures       
Current operating:       
   General government:       
      General 2,984,944 3,692,970 3,223,477 10,625,883 6,714,381 15,145,758 
      Financial and administration 2,984,944 3,692,970 3,172,463 3,201,496 3,429,589  3,493,959 
    Public safety:        
       Marshal and code enforcement 393,874 495,957 499,114 519,714 551,751  597,906  
   Public services:       
       Highway and street  3,856,173 5,405,454 3,778,141 4,123,912 4,462,224  5,097,744 
       Building inspection  285,767 314,379 346,843 342,140 423,282  375,026 
       Culture and recreation 5,970,903 888,512 696,499 816,680 862,545  882,119 
      Maintenance 673,928 914,083 869,731 891,728 991,953  988,224 
Intergovernmental       
    Buford Board of Education  18,400,000 18,900,000 22,338,708 22,500,407 24,800,000  29,678,096 
         Total expenditures 32,565,589 30,611,355 34,924,976 43,021,960 42,334,511 56,258,862 
       
Excess (deficiency) of revenues over 
(under) expenditures (16,390,885) (12,632,713) 

 
(15,893,747) (19,760,566) (17,173,731) (30,054,728) 

       
Other Financing Source (Uses)       
Sale of Surplus Property 0 0 21,935 0 55,002 121 
Transfers in 19,031,936 24,479,714 21,256,574 19,196,210 24,479,714 29,906,055 
Transfers out (1,621,717) (1,787,017) (2,074,154) (1,162,663) (17,173,731) (7,864,448) 
Total other financing sources (uses) 17,410,219 22,692,697 19,204,355 18,033,547 23,067,861 22,041,678 
       
Change in Fund Balances 1,019,334 10,059,984 3,310,068 (1,727,019) 5,894,130 (8,013,050) 
       
Fund balance at beginning of year 3,480,496 4,499,830 5,255,046 8,565,6544 6,838,635 12,732,765 
       
Fund balance at end of year $4,499,830 $14,559,814 $8,565,654 $6,838,635 $12,732,765 $4,719,715 

 



 

33 
 

 

Six-Year Proprietary Funds History 

 Set forth on the following page is a historical, comparative summary of the revenues, expenditures, 
and changes in fund balance of the City’s Proprietary Funds for the past six fiscal years. Information in the 
table for fiscal years 2015 to 2020 has been extracted from audited financial statements of the City for the 
years ended June 30, 2015, to June 30, 2020. Although taken from audited financial statements, no 
representation is made that the information is comparable from year to year, or that the information as 
shown taken by itself presents fairly the financial condition of the City for the fiscal years shown. For more 
complete information, reference is made to the audited financial statements of the City for fiscal year 2020 
which are included in this Official Statement as Appendix C and to the audited financial statements of the 
City for fiscal years 2015 to 2019, copies of which are available from the City upon request.  
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City of Buford, Georgia 
Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances 

Proprietary Funds 

 For Fiscal Years Ended June 30 

 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 
 

2020 
Operating Revenues       
Charges for services:       
   Gas  $36,435,643 $31,120,634 $31,137,093 $38,468,828 $42,070,827 $40,289,140 
   Electric 18,881,589 19,924,115 21,012,204 21,904,435 22,855,079 22,070,852 
   Solid Waste and recycling 3,628,469 3,894,570 4,163,801 4,895,266 5,817,761 7,029,913 
   Wastewater 2,409,031 3,052,268 2,705,707 2,870,366 3,378,593 3,520,324 
   Water 988,241 1,019,141 1,103,059 1,314,793 1,371,892 1,216,053 
   Penalties 807,518 691,639 684,158 860,534 899,246 904,476 
   Service Charges 258,307 275,151 270,821 269,128 274,956 190,321 
   Buford Community Center 454,153 563,294 511,242 447,833 538,734 445,677 
     Total charges for services 63,862,951 60,540,812 61,588,085 71,031,183 77,207,088 75,666,756 
       
Miscellaneous:       
   Refunds, reimbursements and rebates 0 0 0 0 0 0 
   Other 641,450 483,210 115,122 233,990 35,122 98,010 
      Total Miscellaneous 641,450 483,210 115,122 233,990 35,122 98,010 
       
Total Operating Revenues 64,504,401 61,024,022 61,703,207 71,265,173 77,242,210 75,764,766 
       
Expenses       
   Utilities purchase for resale 29,731,903 24,715,151 24,826,314 27,095,316 31,199,823 26,046,385 
   Personal services 5,017,209 6,212,795 6,741,654 6,695,178 6,874,616 9,159,626 
   Depreciation 4,415,334 4,450,401 4,568,401 4,965,671 5,150,633 5,400,884 
   Contractual services 3,053,435 3,141,024 3,451,953 3,711,826 4,496,360 4,527,867 
   Materials and supplies 2,330,037 2,174,131 2,157,928 2,483,241 2,232,621 2,604,957 
   Utilities 823,907 855,784 928,377 2,214,282 868,622 909,633 
   Repairs and Maintenance 694,978 807,004 500,995 633,078 569,349 563,507 
   Event expenses 425,407 459,969 513,142 483,761 623,257 526,507 
   Other operating 407,333 247,641 212,966 209,306 133,198 100,934 
      Total operating expenses 46,899,543 43,063,900 43,901,730 48,491,659 52,148,479 49,840,62 
       
Income (loss) from operations 17,604,858 17,960,122 17,801,477 22,773,514 25,093,731 25,924,141 
       
Nonoperating Revenues       
Refunds and Rebates 1,452,813 1,862,208 2,154,406 2,115,915 2,179,880 2,542,917 
Grant income 1,094,000 900,938 659,279 0 0 0 
Off-system sales 0 0 0 0 0 0 
Investment income 112,315 302,490 229,750 367,292 621,439 543,336 
Miscellaneous income 0 0 0 0 0 0 
Fiscal agents’ fees 0 0 0 0 0 0 
Interest expense 0 0 0 0 0 0 
Amortization 0 0 0 0 0 0 
Total nonoperating revenue (expenses) 2,659,128 3,065,636 3,043,435 2,483,207 2,801,319 3,086,2533 
       
Income (loss) before transfers 20,263,986 21,025,758 20,844,912 25,256,721 27,895,050 29,010,394 
       
Transfers In 872,193 1,130,969 691,027 1,500,000   
Transfers Out (18,865,985) (24,371,727) (20,705,8722) (18,056,143) (23,682,763) (28,700,954) 
Total (17,993,792) (23,240,758) (20,014,845) (16,556,143) (23,682,763) (28,700,954) 
       
Change in Net Position 2,270,194 (2,215,000) 830,067 8,700,578 4,212,287 309,440 
       
Total Net Position - Beginning of Year 79,247,857 81,518,051 74,545,789 73,786,923 82,487,501 86,699,788 
       
Total Net Position - End of Year $81,518,051 $79,303,051 $75,375,856 $82,487,501 $86,699,788 $87,009,228 
1 Restated. 
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Management Comments Concerning Material Trends in Revenues and Expenditures 

The City utilizes the following types of interfund transfers: (1) Budgeted transfers of funds from 
the General Fund or a Special Revenue Fund to a Debt Service Fund to accumulate resources for debt 
service. Annual budgets are adopted by the Commissioners, on a basis consistent with GAAP, for the 
General and Utilities Department Enterprise Funds. Debt Service is budgeted through either the General or 
Utilities Department Enterprise Funds depending on the type of debt. All budget amendments must be 
approved by the Commissioners; (2) The return of residual fund balance of a discontinued fund to the 
General Fund or a Debt Service Fund; (3) The elimination of interfund receivables and payables that are 
judged unlikely to be settled in a reasonable period of time, such as the amounts paid by the General Fund 
for Utilities Department Enterprise Fund payroll related expenditures; and (4) Budgeted transfers from the 
Utilities Department Enterprise Fund of excess net position to the General Fund which is used to finance 
General Fund expenditures.  

The assets of the City exceeded its liabilities at the close of the fiscal year ended June 30, 2020, by 
$184,974,638 (“net position”). Of this amount, $22,652,294 (“unrestricted net position”) may be used to 
meet the City’s ongoing obligations to citizens and creditors in accordance with the City’s fund designation 
and fiscal policies as more fully described below. The remainder of net position consisted of amounts 
restricted by law, contracts, donors or debt agreements, and totaled $12,140,877 

The City’s total net position increased by $9,695,749 in the fiscal year ended June 30, 2020. 

As of the close of fiscal year ended June 30, 2020, the City’s governmental funds reported 
combined ending fund balances of $17,509,594, and 21.92% of this total amount, $3,838,585, is available 
for use within the City’s policies (“unassigned fund balances”). 

At the end of fiscal year ended June 30, 2020, unassigned fund balance for the general fund was 
$3,838,585 or 6.82% of total general fund expenditures. 
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Accounting Policies 

The financial statements of the City have been prepared in accordance with generally accepted 
accounting principles in the United States of America (“GAAP”) applicable to state and local governments. 
The Governmental Accounting Standards Board (“GASB”) is the accepted standard-setting body for 
establishing governmental accounting and financial reporting principles. The GASB periodically updates 
its codification of the existing Governmental Accounting and Financial Reporting Standards, which, along 
with subsequent GASB pronouncements (Statements and Interpretations), constitutes GAAP for 
governmental units. The more significant of these accounting policies are described below. 

The financial statements of the City are prepared in accordance with GASB Statement No. 34, 
Basic Financial Statements-and Management's Discussion and Analysis-for State and Local Governments. 
This Statement established financial reporting requirements for state and local governments throughout the 
United States and required new information and restructured much of the information that governments 
presented in the past.  

The City uses funds, each of which is considered a separate accounting entity, to report on its 
financial position and the results of its operations. Fund accounting is designed to demonstrate legal 
compliance and to aid financial management by segregating transactions related to certain government 
functions or activities. The operations of each fund are accounted for with a self-balancing set of accounts.  

Governmental Funds. Governmental funds are those funds through which most governmental 
functions typically are financed. The measurement focus of governmental funds is on the sources, uses and 
balance of current financial resources. The City has one major governmental fund, the General Fund, which 
is the main operating fund of the City. This fund is used to account for all financial resources not accounted 
for in other funds. All general tax revenues and other receipts that are not restricted by law or contractual 
agreement to some other fund are accounted for in this fund. General operating expenditures, fixed charges 
and capital improvement costs that are not paid through other funds are paid from the General Fund. Other 
Governmental Funds which are not considered major include the Special Revenue Fund, the Hotel/Motel 
Tax Fund, the 2010 General Obligation Bond Debt Service Fund, and the various Capital Projects Funds.  

Proprietary Funds. This category is used to account for self-supporting activities of the City similar 
to those found in the private sector, where the determination of net income is necessary or useful to sound 
financial administration. Enterprise Funds are used to account for goods and services provided by the City 
to the general public. The City maintains two Enterprise Funds, the Utilities Fund and the Buford 
Community Center Fund. 

Fiduciary Funds. This category accounts for assets held by a government unit in a trustee capacity 
or as an agent for individuals, private organizations, other government units and/or other funds. The Agency 
Funds account for assets held by the City as an agent for other funds, governments, or individuals. Agency 
Funds of the City are related to Buford Board of Education SPLOST funds.  

All governmental funds are accounted for on a spending or “current financial resources” 
measurement focus and the modified accrual basis of accounting. Under the modified accrual basis of 
accounting, revenues are recognized in the accounting period in which they become both measurable and 
available to finance expenditures in the current period. Accordingly, revenues are recorded when received 
in cash, except those revenues that are subject to accrual (generally 60 days after year-end), which are 
recognized when due. The primary revenue sources, which have been treated as susceptible to accrual by 
the City are property tax, sales tax, intergovernmental revenues, and other taxes. Sales taxes collected and 
held by the state at year-end on behalf of the government are also recognized as revenue. All other 
governmental fund revenues are recognized when received. Expenditures are recorded in the accounting 
period in which the related fund liability is incurred. However, debt service expenditures, as well as 
expenditures related to compensated absences are recorded only when payment is due.  
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Note 1 of the general purpose financial statements of City included as Appendix C to this Official 
Statement contains a detailed discussion of the City’s significant accounting policies. 

Budgetary Process for General Fund 

 General Description. Annual budgets are adopted for the General and Proprietary (Enterprise) 
Funds. Capital Projects are budgeted over the life of the projects. Debt Service is budgeted through either 
the General or Proprietary (Enterprise) Fund depending on the type of debt. The budget for the General 
Fund is adopted on a basis consistent with generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP). The budget 
for the Proprietary (Enterprise) Fund is adopted on a GAAP basis, except that depreciation expense is not 
budgeted. Budget amounts are as originally adopted, or as amended by the Board of Commissioners. 

Budgeting Policy. The prior year’s actual revenues and expenditures/expenses for the General and 
Proprietary (Enterprise) Funds are compared to budget amounts for that year and adjustments are then made 
to the prior year's budgeted revenues and expenditures/expenses to make budgeted amounts agree with 
actual amounts. These are the proposed budgets for the coming year. The proposed budgets are submitted 
to the Board of Commissioners, who make adjustments to the proposed budgets as it deems necessary, and 
the proposed budgets are then revised in accordance with the Board of Commissioners recommendations 
and resubmitted to the Board of Commissioners for their approval. After reviewing the budget revisions, 
the Board of Commissioners approves and adopts the budgets. All budget amendments must be approved 
by the Board of Commissioners. All appropriations lapse at the end of the fiscal year. 

 Pursuant to O.C.G.A. § 36-81-3(b), the annual budget approved by the City Council must be 
balanced. A budget is balanced when the sum of estimated net revenues and appropriated fund balances is 
equal to appropriations. The City Council has the authority under O.C.G.A. § 36-81-3(d), however, to 
amend its budget as follows: 

(1) Any increase in appropriation at the legal level of control of the City, whether 
accomplished through a change in anticipated revenues in any fund or through a transfer of 
appropriations among departments, requires the approval of the City Council. Such amendment 
shall be adopted by ordinance or resolution; 

(2) Transfers of appropriations within any fund below the local government=s legal 
level of control requires only the approval of the budget officer; and  

(3) The City Council may amend the legal level of control to establish a more detailed 
level of budgetary control at any time during the budget period. Said amendment shall be adopted 
by ordinance or resolution. 
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Current Budget. Set forth below is a summary of the City’s adopted budget for its General Fund 
for the fiscal year ending June 30, 2022. The budget is based upon certain assumptions and estimates of the 
City’s administration regarding future events, transactions, and circumstances. Realizations of the results 
projected in the 2022 budget will depend upon implementation by management of policies and procedures 
consistent with the assumptions made by the City. Accordingly, the actual results achieved for the 2022 
budget could materially vary from those projected in the 2022 budget shown below.   

City of Buford 
General Fund Budget  

for Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2022 
 

Estimated Revenues  
Taxes  $26,721,500 
Licenses and Permits  $ 2,734,500 
Intergovernmental  $36,258,000 
Fines  $     160,000 
Other Financial Services  $     176,195  

Total Revenues:  $66,050,195 

Estimated Expenditures  
General Administration  $49,765,700 
Public Works  $ 7,417,000  
 
Total Estimated  
Expenditures:   $57,182,700  

 

                                     Retirement Plans and Other Post-Employment Benefits 

Employee Pension Plan 

General Description. The City’s defined benefit pension plan, the City of Buford Retirement Plan 
(the “BRP”), provides retirement and death benefits to plan members and beneficiaries. These retirement 
provisions were established by an adoption agreement executed by the City Commission. The BRP is 
affiliated with the Georgia Municipal Employees Benefit System (“GMEBS”), an agent multiple-employer 
pension plan administered by the Georgia Municipal Association (the “GMA”). The GMA assigns the 
authority to establish and amend the benefit provisions of the plans that participate in GMEBS to the 
respective employer entities; for the BRP, that authority rests with the City. The GMA issues a publicly 
available financial report that includes financial statements and required supplementary information for 
GMEBS. That report may be obtained by written request to Georgia Municipal Association, 201 Pryor 
Street, S.W., Atlanta, Georgia 30303. 

Eligibility Requirements and Plan Membership. Employees must work 30 or more hours per week 
to qualify for participation in the BRP. There is no waiting period. Membership as of the January 1, 2020, 
actuarial valuation was as follows:  

 Retirees and beneficiaries receiving benefits ....................................................  66 
 Terminated plan members entitled to, but not yet receiving benefits ...............  11 
 Active plan members ....................................................................................... 113 
 Active elected officials .....................................................................................     0 
 Total ................................................................................................................. 190 
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Funding Policy. BRP members are not required and do not contribute to BRP. BRP is a 
noncontributory plan. The City is required to contribute at an actuarially determined rate; the rate was 13% 
of annual covered payroll for the plan year ending June 30, 2016, for a total recommended contribution of 
$757,091. The rate was 18.13% of annual covered payroll for the plan year ending June 30, 2017, for a total 
recommended contribution of $1,008,855. Payments for recommended contributions begin at the start of 
each fiscal year on July 1. The contribution requirements of the City are established and may be amended 
by the GMEBS Board of Trustees. The funding policy for the plan is to contribute an amount equal to the 
recommended contribution each year. The recommended contribution meets the guidelines of GASB 
Statement No. 27. 

Pension Cost. Trend information gives an indication of the progress made in accumulating 
sufficient assets for pay benefits when due. Annual pension cost (“APC”) trend information is set forth 
below.  

 
Plan Year 
Beginning 

 
Annual 

Pension Cost 

Percentage 
of APC 

Contributed 

 
Net Pension 

Liability 
07/01/2016 $1,008,855 100% -0- 
07/01/2017 938,559 100 -0- 
07/01/2018 888,965 100 -0- 
07/01/2019 735,492 100 -0- 
07/01/2020 1,201,412 100 -0- 

 
 Funding Status and Funding Progress. As of January 1, 2020, the most recent valuation date, the 
actuarial value of plan assets was $15,967,189, the actuarial accrued liability for benefits was $21,146,982, 
and the actuarial value of assets as a percentage of that actuarial accrued liability was 75.51% (funded ratio). 
The unfunded actuarial accrued liability was $5,179,783. The covered payroll (annual payroll of active 
employees covered in the plan) was $5,785,007, and the ratio of the unfunded actuarial accrued liability to 
the covered payroll was 89.54%. 

 Reference is made to Notes 9 of the general purpose financial statements of the City included as 
Appendix C for a more complete description of the City’s pension plan. 

Other Post-Employment Benefits 

Plan Description. City employees participate in a post-employment benefit other than pensions 
(“OPEB”) plan sponsored by the City (the “Plan”). The Plan allows employees to continue medical, 
prescription drug, dental insurance, and life insurance coverage beyond retirement, depending on whether 
the retiree had those coverages at the time they retire. Spouse benefits are the same as benefits for retirees 
except for life insurance. Benefits are payable to a spouse regardless of when the retiree dies. Retiree and 
spouse contribution rates are periodically reset by City ordinance. Membership in the Plan by City retirees 
is voluntary. The authority to establish and amend benefit provisions of the Plan rests with the City and is 
established by ordinance. The Plan does not issue separate financial statements. The City currently pays 
100% of the premium.  

Eligibility Requirements and Membership. Elected officials and their dependents are eligible for a 
period equal to their years of service, employees in appointed positions and department heads and their 
dependents are eligible for a period equal to their years of service in which they held an appointed position, 
and regular employee and their dependents are eligible for life after 30 years of service by the employee.  

Funding Policy. The City has chosen the pay-as-you-go method of funding the Plan, and recorded 
OPEB cost of $672,087 for the year ended June 30, 2016 and a net OPEB obligation of $4,552,752 based 
upon an actuarial valuation performed as of January 1, 2015 for the year ending June 30, 2016. 
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The City has chosen the pay-as-you-go method of funding the Plan, and the City’s Net OPEB 
liability was as follows for fiscal years 2018 through 2020:  

 
Fiscal Year 

Ending 

 
OPEB 
Cost 

Net 
OPEB 

Liability 

06/30/2018 $526,542 $10,277,287 
06/30/2019 391,345 10,177,579 
06/30/2020 553,115 12,017,144 

 
 Reference is made to Note 10 of the general purpose financial statements of the City included as 
Appendix C for a more complete description of other post-employment benefits of the City. 

Deferred Compensation Plan 

The City offers its employees a deferred compensation plan created in accordance with § 457 of 
the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”). The plan, available to all City employees, 
permits them to defer a portion of their salary until future years. Participation in the plan is optional. The 
deferred compensation is not available to employees until termination, retirement, death, or unforeseeable 
emergencies. In accordance with Code § 457, plan assets are held in trust for the exclusive benefit of 
participants and their beneficiaries. 

Other Employee Benefits 

After one year of service with the City, employees accrue one week of vacation. Upon the 
employee’s second anniversary, one week of vacation is earned. Three years of service entitles employees 
to two weeks of vacation. The maximum vacation benefit, three weeks, is earned after serving ten years 
with the City; however, department heads earn three weeks after five years of service. Vacation benefits 
must be utilized during the calendar year; no amount may be carried over to be used in another year. The 
City pays accrued vacation benefits upon termination of employment. Sick leave accrues at one week per 
year after a probationary period. The City provides the majority of the cost of health insurance for 
employees. Other benefits include 11 personal days off for holidays and educational opportunities. 
Employees are also covered under statutory plans for social security and workers’ compensation. 

Governmental Immunity and Insurance Coverage 

Governmental Immunity. Under State law, the City has sovereign immunity from suit, except for 
actions against the City for the breach of written contracts or unless the General Assembly has specifically 
provided by statute that the City has waived its sovereign immunity (see O.C.G.A. § 36-33-1 et seq.). State 
law requires that sovereign immunity of local governments is waived with respect to claims for the negligent 
ownership, maintenance, operation, or use of a covered motor vehicle up to certain limits. The City may be 
unable to rely upon the defense of sovereign immunity and may be subject to liability in the event of suits 
alleging causes of action founded upon various federal laws, such as suits filed pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 
1983, alleging the deprivation of federal constitutional or statutory rights of an individual and suits alleging 
anti-competitive practices and violations of the federal antitrust laws by the City in the exercise of its 
delegated powers. Officers and employees of the City may be subject to suit and may be liable for injuries 
and damages caused by the negligent performance of, or negligent failure to perform, their ministerial 
functions and may be liable for injuries and damages if they act with actual malice or with actual intent to 
cause injury in the discretionary performance of their official functions. Except as provided in the previous 
sentence, officers and employees of the City shall not be subject to suit or liability, and no judgment shall 
be entered against them for the performance or nonperformance of their official functions. 
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Insurance Coverage. The City carries liability insurance for the types of claims and in amounts that 
are customary for similar entities for those categories of claims that are not subject to the defense of 
sovereign immunity. Settled claims resulting from these risks have not exceeded commercial insurance 
coverage in any of the past three fiscal years. The City obtains workers’ compensation insurance through 
Summit Insurance. The City is insured for general liability through Travelers Indemnity Company. Current 
coverage is as follows:  

 Limits of Liability 
Type Each Occurrence Annual Aggregate 
 Casualty   
 Commercial General Liability Coverage  $1,000,000 $2,000,000 
 Umbrella Liability  5,000,000   5,000,000 
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LITIGATION 

There is no litigation now pending or threatened against the City or the Board which seeks to 
restrain or enjoin the issuance or delivery of the Bonds, the State of Georgia Intercept Program, the 
assessment and collection of an ad valorem tax for payment of debt service on the Bonds, or the use of the 
proceeds from the sale of the Bonds, or which questions or contests the validity of the Bonds or the 
proceedings or authority under which they are to be issued. Neither the creation, organization, or existence 
of the City or the Board of Education, nor the title of the present members or other officials of the City or 
the Board of Education to their respective offices, is being contested or questioned. 

VALIDATION AND APPROVAL OF 
LEGAL PROCEEDINGS 

In accordance with the law of the State of Georgia and in particular Article 2 of Chapter 82 of Title 
36 of O.C.G.A, the Bonds and the security therefore were confirmed and validated by a judgment of the 
Superior Court of Gwinnett County on February 9, 2021.  Under Georgia law, the judgment of validation 
is forever conclusive against the Board with respect to such validation of the Bonds and the security 
therefor. 

Opinions of Counsel. All legal matters incidental to authorization and issuance of the Bonds are 
subject to the approval of Alston & Bird, LLP, Atlanta, Georgia, Bond Counsel. It is anticipated that the 
approving opinions will be in substantially the forms included in Appendix D. Certain legal matters will be 
passed upon for the Board by its counsel Gregory D. Jay, Esq., Chandler Britt & Jay, LLC, Buford, Georgia. 
The payment of legal fees is contingent upon issuance of the respective series of the Bonds. 

The various legal opinions to be delivered concurrently with the delivery of each series of the Bonds 
express the professional judgment of the attorneys or law firms rendering the opinion as to the legal issues 
explicitly addressed therein. By rendering a legal opinion, the attorney or law firm does not become an 
insurer or guarantor of the transaction opined upon, or of the future performance of parties to such 
transaction. Nor does the rendering of an opinion guarantee the outcome of any legal dispute that may arise 
out of the transaction.  

TAX MATTERS 

In the opinion of Bond Counsel, under existing law and subject to the limitations and conditions 
described herein and assuming continuous compliance with certain covenants described herein, (1) interest 
on the Bonds is included in gross income for federal income tax purposes under Section 103 of the Internal 
Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and (2) interest on the Bonds is exempt from state income taxation 
within the State of Georgia.  

Purchasers of any Bond at a premium or discount, whether at the time of initial issuance or 
subsequent thereto, should consult their own tax advisors with respect to the determination and treatment 
of premium or discount for federal income tax purposes and with respect to any state and local tax 
consequences of owning such Bond. 

A copy of the proposed form of Bond Counsel’s opinions are set forth in Appendix E hereto. 
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RATINGS 

Moody’s has assigned an enhanced rating of “Aa1” based upon the Board’s participation in the 
State of Georgia Intercept Program. See “SECURITY AND SOURCES OF PAYMENT FOR THE 
BONDS - Additional Security Provided by State of Georgia Intercept Program.”  Moody’s has assigned an 
underlying rating (without regard to the State of Georgia Intercept Program) of “Aa3” to the Bonds.   

These ratings reflect only the views of the rating agency.  Generally, a rating agency bases its rating 
on the information and materials furnished to it and on investigations, studies and assumptions of its own.  
Any explanation of the significance of the ratings may be obtained only from the rating agency furnishing 
such rating.  A rating is not a recommendation to buy, sell, or hold securities. 

There is no assurance that a rating, if assigned, will remain unchanged for any given period of time, 
or that it will not be revised, suspended, or withdrawn entirely by the rating agency furnishing the same, if, 
in its judgment, circumstances so warrant.  Any such revision, suspension, or withdrawal of the rating may 
have an adverse effect on the liquidity and market price of the Bonds.  None of the City, the Board of 
Education, nor the Underwriter have undertaken any responsibility to oppose any such proposed revision, 
suspension or withdrawal.   

UNDERWRITING 

Stephens Inc. (the “Underwriter”) has agreed to purchase the Bonds pursuant to a Bond Purchase 
Agreement entered into between the County and the Underwriter.  The price and other terms regarding 
underwriting of the Bonds were established through negotiation.  The Underwriter has agreed to purchase 
the Bonds, subject to certain conditions set forth in the Bond Purchase Agreement, at a purchase price of 
$40,297,200.93, which represents the par amount of the Series 2021 Bonds of $40, 565,000, less 
underwriter’s discount of $267,799.07.   

 
The Bond Purchase Agreement provides that the Underwriter will purchase all of the Bonds if any 

are purchased, the obligation to make such purchase being subject to certain terms and conditions set forth 
in the Bond Purchase Agreement.  The Underwriter intends to offer the Bonds to the public initially at the 
offering prices shown on the cover page hereof, which prices may subsequently change without any 
requirement of prior notice.  The Underwriter reserves the right to join with other dealers and underwriters 
in offering the Bonds to the public.  The Underwriter may offer and sell the Bonds to certain dealers at 
prices lower than the public offering. 

 
CONTINUING DISCLOSURE 

Pursuant to Securities and Exchange Commission Rule 15c2-12 under the Securities Exchange Act 
of 1934 (the “Rule”), the Board and the City will sign, as of the date of the issuance and delivery of the 
Bonds, a Disclosure Dissemination Agent Agreement (“Disclosure Dissemination Agreement”) with 
Digital Assurance Certification, L.L.C. (“DAC”), under which the City and the Board have designated 
DAC as Disclosure Dissemination Agent. The Disclosure Dissemination Agreement will allow the 
Underwriter of the Bonds to comply with the Rule. See “Appendix E: FORM OF DISCLOSURE 
DISSEMINATION AGREEMENT.”  

Securities and Exchange Commission Rule 15c2-12(b)(5) (the “Rule”) under the Securities 
Exchange Act of 1934 imposes continuing disclosure obligations on the issuers of certain state and 
municipal securities to permit participating underwriters to offer and sell the issuer’s securities.  In order to 
assist the Underwriter of the Bonds in complying with the Rule, the Board will sign a Disclosure 
Dissemination Agent Agreement with DAC on the date of issuance and delivery of the Bonds (the 
“Disclosure Agreement”) under which the Board has designated DAC as Disclosure Dissemination Agent. 
The Board will provide for the benefit of the beneficial owners of the Bonds (i) certain financial information 
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and/or operating data relating to the Board (the “Annual Report”) and (ii) notices of the occurrence of 
certain enumerated events, if material (“Event Notices”). The Annual Reports and Event Notices will be 
filed electronically with the Electronic Municipal Market Access website (“EMMA”), an Internet based 
electronic filing system supported by the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board.  

The Annual Report shall contain or incorporate by reference, among other items, the general 
purpose financial statements of the Board for the prior Fiscal Year. The Board’s current fiscal year began 
on July 1, 2021, and will end on June 30, 2022. The specific nature of the information to be contained in 
the Annual Report or in the notices of material events is in “Appendix E: FORM OF DISCLOSURE 
DISSEMINATION AGREEMENT.”  

EXPERTS 

The financial statements of the Board included in “APPENDIX C” of this Official Statement have 
been audited by Wilcox & Bivings, P.C., Suwanee, Georgia, independent certified public accountants, to 
the extent and for the period indicated in its report thereon which appears in such appendix.  Such financial 
statements have been included herein with the consent of Wilcox & Bivings, P.C., given upon the authority 
of such firm as experts in accounting and auditing.  

ACCURACY AND COMPLETENESS OF OFFICIAL STATEMENT 

The references, excerpts and summaries of all documents referred to herein do not purport to be 
complete statements of the provisions of such documents and reference is directed to all such documents 
for full and complete statements of all matters of fact relating to the Bonds, the security for the payment of 
the Bonds, and the rights and obligations of the holders thereof.  The information contained in this Official 
Statement has been compiled from official and other sources believed to be reliable and, while not 
guaranteed as to completeness or accuracy, is believed to be correct as of this date.   

Any statements made in this Official Statement involving matters of opinion or of estimates, 
whether or not so expressly stated, are set forth as such and not as representations of fact, and no 
representation is made that any of the estimates will be realized.  Neither this Official Statement nor any 
statement which may have been made orally or in writing is to be construed as a contract with the owners 
of the Bonds. 

Use of the words “shall,” “must,” or “will” in summaries of documents or laws in this Official 
Statement to describe future events or continuing obligations is not intended as a representation that such 
event will occur or obligation will be fulfilled but only that the document or law contemplates or requires 
such event to occur or obligation to be fulfilled. 

The Appendices hereto are integral parts of this Official Statement and must be read in their entirety 
together with all foregoing statements. 
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AUTHORIZATION OF OFFICIAL STATEMENT 

The execution and delivery of this Official Statement, and its distribution and use by the 
Underwriter, have been duly authorized and approved by the Board of Education and the City. 

BOARD OF EDUCATION  
OF THE CITY OF BUFORD 

 
 

By:  /s/     
Chairman 

 
 
 
CITY OF BUFORD, GEORGIA 

 
 

By:  /s/     
Chairman 
Board of Commissioners 
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Appendix A 
 

BUFORD SCHOOL SYSTEM GENERAL INFORMATION 
 
Information as of December 1, 2021, regarding the members and officers of the Board of Education is set forth 
below:  

 
Name 

Expiration Date 
of Current Term 

 
Principal Occupation 

Phillip Beard, Chairman December 31, 2023 Self employed 
Pat Pirkle, Vice Chairman December 31, 2021 Retired 
Bruce Fricks December 31, 2021 Engineer 
Matt Peevy December 31, 2023 Retired 
Daren Perkins December 31, 2023 Gas Department Superintendent 
Dr. Robert Downs, Secretary By Appointment School Superintendent  

 
Administration 

School Superintendent. The Board of Education appoints the Superintendent of Schools (the “School 
Superintendent”), who is the executive officer of the School System and the Secretary of the Board of Education. 
Dr. Robert Downs has been the School Superintendent since July 2019. City of Buford School System 

General Fund Budget 
 2021 

REVENUES:   
 Local City appropriations ......................................................  $30,100,000 
 Tuition ...................................................................................  1,500,000 
 Other Local ............................................................................  75,000 
 QBE .......................................................................................  25,828,334 
 State Grants (General Fund) ..................................................  30,000 
 Austerity (2,654,900) 
 Bonds for Buses 77,000 
 Childcare Revenue ................................................................  475,000 
Total Revenues ..........................................................................  55,430,434 
  
EXPENDITURES:  
 Certified Salaries ...................................................................  $39,577,500 
 Classified Salaries .................................................................  10,654,062 
 Federal Salaries paid by Federal Funds .................................  (532,993) 
 New Positions ........................................................................  2,567,538 
 Central Office Non Salary Expense .......................................  1,000,000 
 M&O .....................................................................................  2,850,000 
 M&O – Arena 250,000 
 State Staff Development ........................................................  125,000 
 New BHS/BMS Roof & HVAC ............................................  _ 
 Local Technology ..................................................................  900,000 
 Spe Ed and .............................................................................  800,000 
 Testing ...................................................................................  76,700 
 Online Assessments/Classes ..................................................  25,000 
 Transportation .......................................................................  332,000 
 BES Budget ...........................................................................  40,000 
 BA Budget .............................................................................  70,000 
 BSA Budget ..........................................................................  50,000 
 BMS Budget ..........................................................................  83,000 
 BHS Budget ..........................................................................  315,000 
 Fine Arts ................................................................................  10,000 
 Vocational State (Local Share) ..............................................  35,000 
 New Pathway (Computer Science) 25,000 
 Pupil Services ........................................................................  80,000 
 Transportation (Buses) 114,000 
 Textbooks/Instructional Technology  ....................................  175,000 
 Instructional Resources 450,000 
 Diversity and Inclusion 5,000 
 Communications 15,000 
 Safety & Security ..................................................................  15,000 
 Daycare Non Salary Expense ................................................  20,000 
Total Expenditures ....................................................................  $60,126,807 
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Appendix B 
 

CITY OF BUFORD GENERAL INFORMATION 

 

Government Services and Facilities  

The City’s police services are provided by Gwinnett County through agreement. The City’s fire department 
services are provided by Gwinnett County through agreement. The City maintains approximately 65 miles of paved 
streets and .2 miles of unpaved roads. The City’s public works, gas, electric, water, sewer, and sanitation departments 
have 110 employees and operate and maintain the City’s utility systems and other public works. 

 

Employees and Employee Relations 

As of December 1, 2021, the City has approximately 145 full-time employees and 4 part-time employees. 
The City’s Management believes that it enjoys an excellent relationship with its employees. The City has never 
experienced a major disruption of services due to strike or employee action. No employees belong to labor unions or 
other collective bargaining groups and the City has no knowledge of any union organizing efforts. 

 

Building Permits  

The following table shows a summary of residential building permits in the Counties (each including the 
City) for the year 2015 through 2019. 

 

 Gwinnett County  Hall County 

Year Buildings Units Value  Buildings Units Value 

2015 3,315 3,918 $522,549,949  916 946 $ 158,693,503 
2016 3,661 3,461 793,323,722  856 1,367 202,127,451 
2017 2,639 2,639 313,258,149  1,021 1,021 132,408,750 
2018 2,599 2,599 312,521,112  1,101 1,101 152,370,135 
2019 2,218 2,218 267,379,059  1,036 1,036 149,909,200 

 
 

Industry and Employment 

Public Employers. Set forth below are the largest public employers located in the City as of July 1, 2021, 
their type of service, and their approximate number of employees. There can be no assurance that any employer listed 
below will continue employment at the level stated. 

Employer Type of Business Employees 

Buford City Schools Education 604 
City of Buford Municipality 145 
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Private Employers. Set forth below are the ten largest private employers located in the City as of July 1, 
2021, their type of business, and their approximate number of employees. There can be no assurance that any employer 
listed below will continue to be located in the City or will continue employment at the level stated. No independent 
investigation has been made of, and no representation can be made as to, the stability or financial condition of the 
companies listed.  

Employer Type of Business Employees 

Global Equipment Co., Inc Warehouse 480 
Office Depot #1214. Warehouse 382 
Hisco, Inc. Distribution 340 
Uline, Inc 

Wal-Mart 

Warehouse 

Retail 

333 

322 
Emcor Services Aircond HVAC 280 
Elringklinger Manufacturing 271 
Sherwin Williams Co Distribution 262 
Fed Ex Freight Distribution 223 
Contempary Marketing, LLC Flooring 200 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 
 

 
The Honorable Members of the Board of Commissioners 
City of Buford, Georgia 
 
 
REPORT ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type 
activities, the discretely presented component units, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund 
information of the City of Buford, Georgia (the “City”) as of and for the year ended June 30, 2020, and the related 
notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the City’s basic financial statements as listed in the 
table of contents. 
 
 
MANGEMENT’S RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance 
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes the design, 
implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.    
 
 

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY 
 
Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements based on our audit. We did not audit the 
financial statements of the City of Buford Board of Education, which represent 100% of the assets, net 
position, revenues, and expenses of the discretely presented component unit. Those financial statements were 
audited by other auditors whose report has been furnished to us, and our opinion, insofar as it relates to the 
amounts included for the City of Buford Board of Education, is based solely on the report of the other auditors. 
We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America 
and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the 
Comptroller General of the United States. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain 
reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.  
 
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the 
risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk 
assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of 
the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for 
the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. Accordingly, we express 
no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the 
reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall 
presentation of the financial statements.  
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit 
opinions. 
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Honorable Members of the Board of Commissioners 
City of Buford, Georgia 
 
 
OPINIONS 
 
In our opinion, based on our audit and the report of other auditors, the financial statements referred to above 
present fairly, in all material respects, the respective financial position of the governmental activities, the 
business-type activities, the discretely presented component units, each major fund, and the aggregate 
remaining fund information of the City of Buford, Georgia, as of June 30, 2020, and the respective changes in 
financial position and where applicable, cash flows thereof, and the respective budgetary comparison for the 
General Fund, thereof for the year then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the 
United States of America. 
 
 
OTHER MATTERS 
 
Required Supplementary Information 
 

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the management’s 
discussion and analysis on pages 4 through 12, the City of Buford Retirement Plan on pages 63-66 and the City 
of Buford Other Postemployment Benefit Plan on pages 67-68 be presented to supplement the basic financial 
statements. Such information, although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by the 
Governmental Accounting Standards Board, who considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for 
placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or historical context. We have 
applied certain limited procedures to the required supplementary information in accordance with auditing 
standards generally accepted in the United States of America, which consisted of inquiries of management 
about the methods of preparing the information and comparing the information for consistency with 
management’s responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained 
during our audit of the basic financial statements. We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on 
the information because the limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an 
opinion or provide any assurance. 
 
Other Information 
 
Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that collectively 
compromise the City of Buford, Georgia’s basic financial statements. The accompanying supplementary 
information which consists of the combining and individual nonmajor fund financial statements, budgetary 
comparison schedules, combining fiduciary fund financial statements, and Schedule of Projects Constructed 
and Expenditures Incurred with Special Sales Tax Proceeds are presented for purposes of additional analysis 
and are not a required part of the basic financial statements.   
 
The combining nonmajor and individual fund financial statements, budgetary comparison schedules, 
combining fiduciary fund financial statements, and Schedule of Projects Constructed and Expenditures 
Incurred with Special Sales Tax Proceeds are the responsibility of management and were derived from and 
relate directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements. 
Such information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial 
statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly to 
the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements or to the basic 
financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards 
generally accepted in the United States of America.  In our opinion, the combining and individual nonmajor 
fund financial statements, budgetary comparison schedules, combining fiduciary fund financial statements, 
and Expenditures Incurred with Special Sales Tax Proceeds are fairly stated in all material respects in relation 
to the basic financial statements taken as a whole.  
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To the Board of Commissioners 
City of Buford, Georgia 

 
 
OTHER REPORTING REQUIRED BY GOVERNMENTAL AUDITING STANDARDS 
 
In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated December 18, 2020, on 
our consideration of the City’s internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its compliance with 
certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other matters. The purpose of that 
report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting and compliance and 
the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the City of Buford, Georgia’s 
internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit performed in 
accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the City of Buford, Georgia’s internal control over 
financial reporting and compliance.  
 
 
 

Wilcox & Bivings, P.C. 
Suwanee, Georgia 
December 18, 2020 
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CITY OF BUFORD, GEORGIA 
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS-UNAUDITED 
FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2020          

 
 

Management of the City of Buford, Georgia (the “City”) provides this Management Discussion and Analysis, as 
prescribed by the provisions of Governmental Accounting Standards Board Statement 34 (GASB 34).  This 
narrative overview and analysis of the City’s financial activities is for the fiscal year ending June 30, 2020.  
Please consider this information in conjunction with the City’s financial statements, which follow. 
 
FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS 
 

➢ The assets of the City exceeded its liabilities at the close of the fiscal year ended June 30, 2020 by 
$184,974,638 (“net position”).  Of this amount, $22,652,294, was reported as “unrestricted net 
position”.  $150,181,467 of net position consisted of net investment in capital assets.  The remainder 
of net position consisted of amounts restricted by law, contracts, donors or debt agreements. 
$11,148,012 was restricted for capital projects to be financed by SPLOST funds, $383,675 was 
restricted for debt service of the 2010, 2015, and 2017 General Obligation Bonds, and $609,190 was 
restricted for Education.  

 
➢ The City’s total net position increased by $9,695,749 in the fiscal year ended June 30, 2020. 

 
➢ As of the close of the current fiscal year ended June 30, 2020, the City’s governmental funds reported 

combined ending fund balances of $17,509,594.  21.92% of this total amount, $3,838,585 is available 
for use within the City’s policies (“unassigned fund balances”). 

 
➢ At the end of the current fiscal year, unassigned fund balance for the general fund was $3,838,585 or 

6.82% of total general fund expenditures. 
 
OVERVIEW OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
 
This discussion and analysis is intended to serve as an introduction to the City’s basic financial statements.  
The City’s basic financial statements are comprised of three components: 1) government-wide financial 
statements, 2) fund financial statements, and 3) notes to the financial statements. The report also contains 
other supplemental information in addition to the basic financial statements themselves. 

 
Government-wide financial statements 
The government-wide financial statements are designed to provide readers with a broad overview of the City’s 
finances, in a manner similar to a private-sector business. 
 
The statement of net position presents information on all of the City’s assets and liabilities, with the difference 
between the two reported as net position.  Over time, increases or decreases in net position may serve as a 
useful indicator of whether the financial position of the City is improving or deteriorating. 
 
The statement of activities presents information showing how the City’s net position changed during the fiscal 
year.  All changes in net position are reported when the underlying event giving rise to the change occurs, 
regardless of the timing of related cash flows.  Thus, revenues and expenses are reported in this statement for 
some items that will only result in cash flows in future fiscal periods, such as uncollected property taxes and 
earned and unused compensated absences. 
 
Both of the government-wide financial statements distinguish functions of the City that are principally 
supported by taxes and intergovernmental revenues (“governmental activities”) from functions that are 
intended to recover all or a significant portion of their costs through user fees and charges (“business-type 
activities”).   
 
The government-wide financial statements can be found on pages 13-14 of this reporting package. 
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CITY OF BUFORD, GEORGIA 
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS-UNAUDITED 
FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDING JUNE 30, 2020          

 
 

OVERVIEW OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTINUED 
 
Fund financial statements 
A fund is a grouping of related accounts used to maintain control over resources that have been segregated for 
specific activities or objectives.  The City, like other state and local governments, uses fund accounting to 
ensure and demonstrate compliance with finance-related legal requirements.  All of the funds of the City can 
be divided into three categories - governmental funds, proprietary funds and fiduciary funds. 
 
Governmental Funds 
Governmental funds are used to account for essentially the same functions reported as governmental activities 
in the government-wide financial statements.  However, unlike the government-wide financial statements, the 
governmental fund financial statements focus on current sources and uses of spendable resources, as well as 
on balances of spendable resources available at the end of the fiscal year.  Such information may be useful in 
evaluating a government’s near-term financing requirements. 

 
Because the focus of governmental funds is narrower than that of the government-wide financial statements, 
it is useful to compare the information presented for governmental funds with similar information presented 
for governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements.  By doing so, readers may better 
understand the long-term effect of the government’s near-term financing decisions.  Both the governmental 
funds balance sheet and the governmental funds statement of revenues, expenditures, and changes in fund 
balances provide a reconciliation to facilitate this comparison between governmental funds and governmental 
activities. 
 
The City maintains fifteen governmental funds.  Information is presented separately in the governmental fund 
balance sheet and in the governmental fund statement of revenues, expenditures, and changes in fund 
balances for the General Fund which is considered to be a major fund. Data from the other fourteen funds are 
combined into a single, aggregated presentation, Individual fund data for each of these non-major 
governmental funds is provided in the form of combining statements elsewhere in this report. 
 
The basic governmental fund financial statements can be found on pages 15 to 19 of this reporting package. 

 
Proprietary Funds 
The City maintains one type of proprietary fund.  Enterprise funds are used to report the same functions 
presented as business-type activities in the government-wide financial statements.  The City uses enterprise 
funds to account for its gas, electric, solid waste and recycling, wastewater and water operations (Utilities 
Fund) and to account for the operations of the Buford Community Center Fund.  Proprietary funds provide the 
same type of information as the government-wide financial statements, only in more detail. The Utilities Fund 
is considered a major fund of the City. The basic proprietary funds financial statements can be found on pages 
20 to 23 of this reporting package. 
 
Fiduciary Funds 
The City maintains three fiduciary funds consisting of custodial funds related to the Buford Board of Education 
SPLOST funds from Gwinnett and Hall Counties. The basic fiduciary fund financial statements can be found on 
pages 24 to 25 of this reporting package. 
 
Notes to the Basic Financial Statements 
The notes provide additional information that is essential to a full understanding of the data provided in the 
government-wide and fund financial statements.  The notes to the basic financial statements can be found on 
pages 26 to 62 of this reporting package. 
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CITY OF BUFORD, GEORGIA 
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS-UNAUDITED 
FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2020          

 
 

OVERVIEW OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTINUED 
 

Supplementary Information Required or Recommended by GASB 34 
Supplementary information required by GASB 34 consisting of pension and OPEB disclosures, combining 
nonmajor governmental funds, schedules of budget to actual for nonmajor governmental funds and a 
statement of changes in assets and liabilities for the agency funds can be found on pages 63 to 92 of this 
reporting package. 
 
Report Required by Governmental Auditing Standards  
The Report required by Government Auditing Standards can be found on pages 93 to 94 of this reporting 
package.  
 
Schedule Required by the State of Georgia 
The schedule required by the State of Georgia relating to SPLOST expenditures can be found on page 95 of this 

reporting package.  
 

GOVERNMENT-WIDE FINANCIAL ANALYSIS 
 
As noted earlier, net position may serve over time as a useful indicator of government’s financial position.  In 
the case of the City of Buford, assets exceeded liabilities by $184,974,638 as of June 30, 2020. 
 
The largest portion of the City’s net position, totaling $150,181,467 (81.19%) reflects its investments in 
capital assets (such as land, buildings and improvements, furniture, machinery and equipment, computer 
equipment, vehicles, utility systems and infrastructure); less any related debt used to acquire those assets that 
are still outstanding.  The City uses these capital assets to provide services to citizens; consequently, these 
assets are not available for future spending.  Although the City’s investment in its capital assets is reported net 
of related debt, it should be noted that the resources needed to repay this debt must be provided from other 
sources, since the capital assets themselves cannot be used to liquidate these liabilities. 
 
An additional portion of the City’s net position, totaling $12,140,877 (6.56%) represents resources that are 

subject to external restrictions on how they may be used.  The remaining balance of unrestricted net position 
of $22,652,294 (12.25%) may be used to meet the government’s ongoing obligations to citizens and creditors.  
 
The property tax rate decreased to 12.70 mills from 12.75 for the tax year billed in 2019 and payable in the 
fiscal year ending June 30, 2020.  
 
At June 30, 2020, the governmental activities of the City had positive balances in net investment in capital 
assets of $90,312,068 and in restricted assets totaling $12,140,877, and a negative balance in unrestricted net 
position of $(4,487,535).  At June 30, 2019, the governmental activities of the City had positive balances in net 
investment in capital assets of $76,342,652, in restricted assets totaling $10,553,763 and in unrestricted net 
position of $1,682,686.  
 
The unrestricted net position of business-type activities had a positive balance of $27,139,829 as of June 30, 
2020, and a positive balance of $28,899,580 as of June 30, 2019. 
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CITY OF BUFORD, GEORGIA 
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS-UNAUDITED 
FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2020             

 
 
GOVERNMENT-WIDE FINANCIAL ANALYSIS - CONTINUED 

 
 

CITY OF BUFORD, GEORGIA’S CONDENSED NET POSITION 
  
  Governmental   Business-Type     
  Activities   Activities   Total - Primary Government  
  2020   2019   2020   2019   2020   2019  
 
Current and other assets $  81,698,423  $  87,111,437  $  46,463,608  $  46,184,593  $ 128,162,031  $ 133,296,030 
Capital assets    94,815,304    81,345,888    59,869,399    57,800,208   154,684,703   139,146,096 
 
 Total assets  176,513,727   168,457,325   106,333,007   103,984,801   282,846,734   272,442,126 
 
 
Deferred outflows  
 of resources   2,756,423    1,764,331    2,348,063    1,533,485    5,104,486    3,297,816 
 
 
Noncurrent liabilities   73,489,474    70,823,079    16,296,894    13,027,107    89,786,368    83,850,186 
Other liabilities   6,765,173    9,206,416    4,609,816    4,536,937    11,374,989    13,743,353 
 
 Total liabilities   80,254,647    80,029,495    20,906,710    17,564,044   101,161,357    97,593,539 
 
 
Deferred inflows 
 of resources   1,050,093    1,613,060    765,132    1,254,454    1,815,225    2,867,514   
 
 
Net position: 
 Net investment in 
  capital assets   90,312,068    76,342,652    59,869,399    57,800,208   150,181,467   134,142,860  
 Restricted    12,140,877    10,553,763    -    -    12,140,877    10,553,763 
 Unrestricted ( 4,487,535)   1,682,686    27,139,829    28,899,580    22,652,294    30,582,266 
 
 Total net position $  97,965,410  $  88,579,101  $  87,009,228  $  86,699,788  $ 184,974,638  $ 175,278,889 
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CITY OF BUFORD, GEORGIA 
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS-UNAUDITED 
FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2020             
 
 
GOVERNMENT-WIDE FINANCIAL ANALYSIS - CONTINUED 
 
Analysis of the City’s Operations 
The following table provides a summary of the City’s operations for the year ended June 30, 2020 and June 30, 
2019. Governmental activities increased the City’s net position by $9,386,309 for the year ended June 30, 2020 
and decreased net position by $(8,528,511) for the year ended June 30, 2019.  Business-type activities 
increased the City’s net position by $309,440 for the year ended June 30, 2020 and increased net position by 
$4,212,287 for the year ended June 30, 2019. 

 
CITY OF BUFORD, GEORGIA’S CHANGES IN NET POSITION 

 
  Governmental   Business-Type     
  Activities   Activities   Total-Primary Government  
  2020   2019   2020   2019   2020   2019  
Revenues: 
Program revenues: 
 Charges for services $  1,389,553  $  1,452,833  $  75,666,756  $  77,207,088  $  77,056,309  $  78,659,921 
 Capital grants and 
  Contributions   2,462,182    15,999,835    567,700    761,429    3,029,882    16,761,264 
 Operating grants and 
  Contributions   2,624,220             -    -    -    2,624,220    - 
General revenues: 
 Taxes     23,746,449    21,194,237    -               -    23,746,449    21,194,237 
 Franchise fees   1,030,883    1,002,189    -               -    1,030,883    1,002,189 
 Investment income   113,578    174,016    543,336    621,439    656,914    795,455 
 Gain (loss) on sale of  
  assets    121  ( 29,485)   -    -    121  ( 29,485) 
 Miscellaneous   229,155    156,998    2,073,227    1,453,573    2,302,382    1,610,571 
 
Total revenues   31,596,141    39,950,623    78,851,019    80,043,529   110,447,160   119,994,152 
 
Expenses: 
 General government   5,001,974    4,032,032    -    -    5,001,974    4,032,032 
 Public safety   670,866    544,470    -               -    670,866    544,470 
 Public services   10,752,477    8,326,901    -               -    10,752,477    8,326,901 
 Board of Education   32,277,283    54,979,747    -               -    32,277,283    54,979,747 
 Downtown development   558,106    1,427,051    -    -    558,106    1,427,051 
 Debt service   2,565,380    2,851,696    -               -    2,565,380    2,851,696 
 Gas system   -    -    20,818,379    22,476,307    20,818,379    22,476,307 
 Electric system   -    -    16,082,134    16,393,850    16,082,134    16,393,850 
 Solid waste and recycling   -    -    4,228,311    3,755,421    4,228,311    3,755,421 
 Wastewater system   -    -    4,339,806    5,534,096    4,339,806    5,534,096 
 Water system   -    -    2,663,921    2,173,260    2,663,921    2,173,260 
 Utilities Fund - 
  Nondivisional   -    -     272,871    269,631    272,871    269,631 
 Community Center   -    -    1,435,203    1,545,914        1,435,203    1,545,914 
 
Total expenses   51,826,086    72,161,897    49,840,625    52,148,479   101,666,711   124,310,376 
 
Excess (deficiency) in net  
 position before 
 contributions and 
 transfers  ( 20,229,945) ( 32,211,274)   29,010,394    27,895,050    8,780,449  ( 4,316,224) 
  
Contributions    915,300    -    -    -    915,300    - 
Transfers - internal   28,700,954     23,682,763  ( 28,700,954) ( 23,682,763)   -              - 
 
Change in  net position   9,386,309  ( 8,528,511)   309,440    4,212,287    9,695,749  ( 4,316,224) 
 
Net position – July 1    88,579,101    97,107,612    86,699,788    82,487,501   175,278,889    179,595,113 
 
Net position – June 30 $  97,965,410  $  88,579,101  $  87,009,228  $  86,699,788  $ 184,974,638  $ 175,278,889 
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CITY OF BUFORD, GEORGIA 
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS-UNAUDITED 
FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2020             
 
 
FINANCIAL ANALYSIS OF THE GOVERNMENT’S FUNDS 
 
Governmental funds 
The focus of the City’s governmental funds is to provide information on near-term inflows, outflows, and 
balances of spendable resources.  Such information is useful in assessing the City’s financing requirements.  In 
particular, unassigned fund balance may serve as a useful measure of a government’s net resources available 
for spending at the end of the fiscal year. 
 
At the end of the current fiscal year, the City’s governmental funds reported combined ending fund balances of 
$17,509,594.  Of this amount, $12,141,581 (69.34%) of this total is restricted due to external limitations on its 
use. These uses include 1) capital projects funded by the 2017 General Obligation Bonds $704 and SPLOST 
funds $11,148,012, 2) debt service related to the 2010 GOB Bond $65,372, 2015 GOB Bond $288,075, and 
2017 GOB Bond $30,228, and 3) education purposes $609,190.  $1,529,428 (8.73%) of fund balances is 
considered unspendable because it has been used for prepaid items. $3,838,585 (21.93%) constitutes 

unassigned fund balance.  
 
The General Fund is the main operating fund of the City.  At the end of the current fiscal year, unassigned fund 
balance of the General Fund was $3,838,585, and total fund balance was $4,719,715.  As a measure of the 
General Fund’s liquidity, it may be useful to compare both unassigned fund balance and total fund balance to 
the fund’s total operational expenditures.  Unassigned fund balance represents 6.82% of total expenditures, 
while total fund balance represents 8.39% of that same amount. 
 
The General Fund’s fund balance decreased by $(8,013,050) during the current fiscal year.  Key factors are as 
follows: 
 

➢ Total revenues increased by $1,043,354. Components of this increase included an increase in property 
tax revenues of $2,059,284 due to increases in real property valuations; and a decrease in 
intergovernmental revenues of $1,085,296 due to a decrease in capital grant revenue.  
 

➢ Total expenditures increased by $13,924,351. Components of this increase included an increase in 

general governmental expenditures of $8,431,377 due to an increase in capital expenditures for 
construction projects and property purchases; and an increase in intergovernmental expenditures to the 
Buford Board of Education of $4,878,096. 

  
➢  Other financing sources decreased by $1,026,183 due primarily to an increase in transfers in of 

$5,005,408 and an increase in transfers out of $5,976,710.   
 

Proprietary funds 
The City’s proprietary funds statements provide the same type of information found in the government-wide 
financial statements, but in more detail.  Unrestricted net position of the proprietary funds was $27,139,829, 
primarily represented by unrestricted net position of $27,203,714 from the Utilities Fund.  The funds had an 
overall net increase in fund net position of $309,440, represented primarily by an increase in Utilities Fund net 
position of $313,713. 

 
General Fund Budgetary Highlights 
The City made revisions to the original budgeted expenditures as necessary during the year, as approved by 
the City Commission, including amending the budget in order to equal actual expenditures at the end of the 
fiscal year. Overall, these changes resulted in an increase from original budgeted expenditures by $4,389,362 a 
percentage increase of 8.46%. Budgeted expenditures for General Government were increased by $5,135,758, 
Financial Administration budgeted expenditures were decreased by $(582,541).   
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CITY OF BUFORD, GEORGIA 
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS-UNAUDITED 
FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2020             

 
 
CAPITAL ASSETS 

 
The City’s investment in capital assets for its governmental and business-type activities as of June 30, 2020 
and 2019, amounted to $154,684,703 and $139,146,096, net of accumulated depreciation.  This investment in 
capital assets includes land, buildings and improvements, furniture, machinery and equipment, computer 
equipment, utility infrastructure, infrastructure assets, and vehicles. 
 
Major capital asset events during the current fiscal year included the following: 

 
➢ The City added $3,217,258 to its Gas System, $104,880 to its Electric System, and $2,867,977 to its 

Water and Wastewater System for improvements and expansion of the systems.  
 

➢ The City capitalized $2,861,784 in street additions and improvements. 
 

➢ The City purchased and received through contributions land parcels totaling $2,935,063. 
 

➢ The City transferred land parcels totaling $558,106 to the Buford Downtown Development Authority. 
 

➢ The City incurred $11,935,605 in construction in progress in its governmental activities including 
$7,496,353 in construction costs on the new Legion ballfields and $3,865,734 in construction costs on 
the new City parking deck. 
 

➢ The City incurred construction in progress costs for improvements and expansion of its Gas System of 
$408,713, and its Water and Wastewater System of $1,412,029. 
 

Depreciation expense totaled $3,398,990 in the governmental activities and $5,400,884 in the business-type 
enterprises. 
  

CAPITAL ASSETS AT YEAR-END (NET OF ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION) 
 

  Governmental   Business-Type     
  Activities   Activities   Total-Primary Government  
 
  2020   2019   2020   2019   2020   2019  
Land $  23,507,453  $   21,130,496  $  202,663  $  202,663  $  23,710,116  $  21,333,159 
Construction in progress   15,815,633    4,716,294    2,779,522    2,045,112      18,595,155    6,761,406 
Utility system infrastructure   -              -   123,311,643   117,863,951   123,311,643   117,863,951 
Buildings and improvements   39,327,808    39,089,580    146,773     146,773    39,474,581    39,236,353 
City parks     4,726,902    4,661,579        -                 -    4,726,902    4,661,579 
Furniture and equipment   1,070,486        984,397    698,347    411,719    1,768,833    1,396,116 
Sidewalks     1,523,755    1,488,738    -                 -    1,523,755    1,488,738 
Streets     26,080,962    23,219,178    -                 -    26,080,962    23,219,178 
Streetscapes & hardscapes   10,560,013    10,560,013    -                 -    10,560,013    10,560,013 
Vehicles     352,958    339,893    1,393,802    1,246,763    1,746,760    1,586,656 
Accumulated depreciation ( 28,150,666) ( 24,844,280) ( 68,663,351) ( 64,116,773) ( 96,814,017) ( 88,961,053) 
 
Total    $  94,815,304  $  81,345,888  $  59,869,399  $  57,800,208  $ 154,684,703  $ 139,146,096 
 

 
Additional information on the City’s capital assets can be found in note 5 in the notes to the basic financial 
statements on pages 40-42 of this reporting package. 
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CITY OF BUFORD, GEORGIA 
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS-UNAUDITED 
FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2020            

 
 

DEBT ADMINISTRATION 
 
At the end of the current fiscal year, the City had $63,698,321 in outstanding debt consisting of general 
obligation bonds.  

CITY OF BUFORD, GEORGIA’S OUTSTANDING DEBT 
 

  Governmental   Business-Type     
  Activities   Activities   Total-Primary Government  
                  
  2020   2019   2020   2019   2020   2019  
 
General obligation bonds $   63,698,321  $   64,728,284  $              -  $  -  $  63,698,321  $   64,728,284 
 
Total    $   63,698,321  $   64,728,284  $  -  $          -  $  63,698,321  $  64,728,284 
 

The City’s total debt decreased by $1,029,963 during the current fiscal year.  This was attributable to the City 
making principal payments to retire $500,000 of general obligation bonds along with $529,963 of amortization 
of bond reoffering premiums.   
 
The General Obligation Bonds issued in 2015 and 2017 were for the purpose of acquisition and construction of 
school facilities to be owned by the Board of Education of the City of Buford school system “BOE”.  The General 
Obligation Refunding Bonds issued in 2017 were issued to advance refund a portion of the General Obligation 
Bonds issued in 2015.  The City has entered into intergovernmental contracts with the BOE in regards to 
issuance, use of proceeds and payment of the Bonds. The contracts stipulate that the BOE’s payment 
obligations consist of the payments of all amounts coming due as principal and interest on the Bonds as set 
forth in the Bonds and the Bond Ordinance directly to and for the applicable account of the City as so 
designated by the City. The obligation of the BOE to pay promptly its obligations shall be absolute and 
unconditional and shall not be subject to any defense or right of setoff, counterclaim, or recoupment arising 
from any breach by the City of any obligation to the Board or the breach by the BOE of any obligation to the 
City. In addition, the Board has notified the State Board of Education of the issuance of the Bonds and has 
authorized and directed the State Board to withhold and transfer any state appropriation to which the BOE is 

entitled to. The Sinking Fund Custodian shall be required to transfer to the paying agent for the Bonds such 
amounts of monies as are necessary to provide for the payment of the principal and/or interest on the Bonds 
coming due each payment date. The BOE has assigned SPLOST revenues from an Intergovernmental 
Agreement with the Board of Education of Gwinnett County for use in payment of the Bonds. 
 
Additional information on the City’s long-term debt can be found in note 6 on pages 42-47 of this reporting 
package. 
 
ECONOMIC FACTORS AND NEXT YEAR’S BUDGETS 

The area’s economy continues to show strength with a particularly high level of activity in the light 
industrial/office/warehouse sector.  Several projects have been completed with others slated for completion in 
2021.  Single family housing construction is healthy with several developments offering a range of housing 
opportunities.  The retail sector continues its steady improvement.  Several commercial developments are 
either proposed or in concept development.  The City plans to continue improvements to its infrastructure, 
further invest in its utility systems, support planning and development in the City and focus on delivery of 
services to its citizens and customers.  

With regards to capital projects, the City’s downtown parking deck has been completed and improvements to 
the new Legion ballfields are ongoing.  Numerous gas and sewer extension and improvement projects were 
completed in 2020 supporting development, roadway projects, system safety and reliability, which will 
continue in 2021.  In July 2020, the City issued Combined Utility System Revenue Bonds, Series 2020 which 
will be used to construct a new water plant and improvements to one or more existing sewer main service 
lines.   
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CITY OF BUFORD, GEORGIA 
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS-UNAUDITED 
FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2020            
 
 
ECONOMIC FACTORS AND NEXT YEAR’S BUDGETS - CONTINUED 

The Georgia Department of Transportation let the Buford Highway widening project on the north side of the 
City with construction nearing completion.   A number of other capital projects are in the planning stages for 
2021 and beyond.  

Buford Community Center and Theatre continues to host events, weddings, receptions and meetings with 
demand for the facility remaining strong.  Buford Youth Sports Complex continues to host youth sporting 
events and draws teams and spectators from across Georgia and the Southeast.  

Fiscal Year 2021 Budget 
 
General Fund budgeted revenue and transfers in for the 2021 fiscal year total $69,973,195, while General Fund 
budgeted expenditures and transfers out for the 2021 fiscal year total $57,026,750.   
 
Budgeted revenues for the Utilities Fund for the 2021 fiscal year include $3,389,000 for the Waste Water 
System, $13,310,000 for the Water System, $7,250,000 for Solid Waste and Recycling, $23,076,000 for the 
Electric System, $43,458,000 for the Gas System and $1,224,000 for Nondivisional revenues for a total of 
$91,707,000. Budgeted expenditures and transfers out for the 2021 fiscal year include $8,580,000 for the 
Waste Water System, $14,229,500 for the Water System, $3,906,000 for Solid Waste and Recycling, 
$18,193,000 for the Electric System, $21,005,719 for the Gas System, 85,000 for Nondivisional expenditures 
and $33,000,000 transfers out for a total of $98,999,219.  
 
REQUEST FOR INFORMATION 
 
This financial report is designed to provide a general overview of the City’s finances for all with an interest in 
the City’s finances.  Questions concerning any of the information provided in this report or requests for 
additional information should be addressed to the City of Buford, 2300 Buford Highway, Buford, Georgia 
30518.    
 
The financial statements of the City of Buford Board of Education are audited by the Georgia Department of 

Audits, as allowed by Code of Georgia Annotated 50-6-6.  These component financial statements can be 
obtained from the City of Buford Board of Education at 70 Wiley Drive, Buford, Georgia 30518. 
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CITY OF BUFORD, GEORGIA 
STATEMENT OF NET POSITION   

JUNE 30, 2020 
        
  Primary Government   Component Units  
           06/30/18  
           City of Buford   Downtown 
  Governmental   Business-type      Board of    Development 
  Activities   Activities   Total   Education   Authority  
ASSETS 
Cash and cash equivalents $  12,259,227  $  8,703,135  $  20,962,362  $  10,323,764  $  6,479,690  
Investments     7,092,418    24,948,723    32,041,141       -       2,310,243 
Receivables - net    750,253    5,353,212    6,103,465    1,689,705    39,000 
Due from other governments   554,316             -    554,316    4,453,673    - 
Internal balances  (  66,683)   66,683    -    -    - 
Prepaid expenses    1,529,428    314,476    1,843,904    240,167    - 
Inventories               -               -               -    18,290    - 
Property held for resale   -    -    -    -    475,606 
Cash on hand with fiscal agent   -    -    -    46,936,376    - 
Restricted cash and cash equivalents      384,379    -    384,379                -    - 
Restricted investments      -    7,077,379    7,077,379                -    - 
Intergovernmental contracts receivable   59,195,085    -    59,195,085    -    -  
Capital assets being depreciated - net   55,492,218    56,887,214    112,379,432    69,555,986    - 
Capital assets not being depreciated    39,323,086     2,982,185     42,305,271    53,835,594    - 
Total assets      176,513,727     106,333,007     282,846,734    187,053,555    9,304,539 
 
DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES 
 OPEB related deferred outflows    705,492    600,974    1,306,466    1,658,899    - 
 Pension related deferred outflows    2,050,931     1,747,089    3,798,020    9,195,051    - 
Total deferred outflows of resources    2,756,423     2,348,063    5,104,486    10,853,950    - 
 
LIABILITIES 
Bank overdrafts    -    14,180    14,180    -    - 
Accounts payable     4,378,083    2,712,334     7,090,417    2,757,608    - 
Accrued interest     1,288,363               -    1,288,363    1,479,022    - 
Other accrued liabilities   68,763    283,207    351,970    11,375,466    - 
Unearned revenue   -    1,600,095    1,600,095    36,998    - 
Due to primary government   -    -    -    2,336,215    - 
General obligation bonds payable, 
 due in less than one year   1,029,964    -    1,029,964    -    - 
Intergovernmental payable, 
 due in less than one year   -    -    -    15,470,261    - 
Long-term liabilities, 
 due in more than one year 
  Intergovernmental agreement             -               -               -    74,438,104    - 
  Customer deposits             -    7,077,379    7,077,379                -    - 
  Accrued compensated absences   192,120    165,185    357,305                -    - 
  General obligation bonds payable   62,668,357               -    62,668,357                -    - 
  Net OPEB liability   6,489,258    5,527,886    12,017,144    34,778,709    - 
  Net pension liability   4,139,739    3,526,444    7,666,183    41,898,161    - 
Total liabilities     80,254,647     20,906,710     101,161,357    184,570,544    - 
 
DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES 
 Deferred gain on bond refunding   151,895    -    151,895    323,789    - 
 OPEB related deferred inflows   898,198    765,132    1,663,330    2,648,310    - 
 Pension related deferred inflows    -    -    -    446,448    - 
Total deferred inflows of resources   1,050,093    765,132    1,815,225    3,418,547    - 
 
NET POSITION 
Net Investment in capital assets   90,312,068    59,869,399    150,181,467    71,430,404    - 
Restricted for: 
 Capital projects - SPLOST   11,148,012               -    11,148,012         -     - 
 Debt service     383,675                -    383,675    342,097    - 
 Education     609,190    -    609,190    -    - 
 Federal programs   -    -    -    458,267    - 
Unrestricted   ( 4,487,535)     27,139,829     22,652,294   ( 62,312,354)   9,304,539 
 
Total net position  $   97,965,410  $   87,009,228  $   184,974,638  $  9,918,414  $  9,304,539 

 
 
 
 

 
SEE NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS. 
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CITY OF BUFORD, GEORGIA 
STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES   

FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2020 
 
                  Program Revenues      
        Operating   Capital  
     Charges for   Grants and   Grants and  
Functions/Programs:                                   Expenses   Services   Contributions   Contributions 
Primary government 
 Governmental activities: 
  General government $  973,130  $  494,076  $ 2,624,220  $  3,185,079 
  Financial administration   4,028,844    -            -    - 
  Public safety, Marshal and  
    Code enforcement   670,866    7,770              -              - 
  Highway and street   6,958,878    -              -    192,403  
  Building inspection   377,726    798,120              -              -  
   Culture and recreation   2,159,515    89,587              -        -        
  Maintenance   1,256,358              -              -              -  
  Board of Education   32,277,283             -             -    -  

  Downtown Development Authority   558,106    -    -    - 
  Interest and fiscal charges   2,565,380             -    -              -  
 
   Total governmental activities   51,826,086    1,389,553    2,624,220    3,377,482 
 
 Business-type activities: 
  Gas system   20,818,379    40,289,140                    -    489,803 
  Electric system   16,082,134    22,070,852              -    77,897 
  Solid waste and recycling   4,228,311    7,029,913                    -              - 
  Wastewater system   4,339,806    3,520,324              -    - 
  Water system   2,663,921    1,216,053              -    - 
  Non-divisional utility   272,871    1,094,797              -              -  
  Community Center      1,435,203     445,677     -               -  
 
   Total business-type activities   49,840,625    75,666,756         -       567,700    
 

Total primary government $   101,666,711  $  77,056,309     $   2,624,220  $   3,945,182  
 
Component Units 
 City of Buford Board of Education $  60,496,608  $   3,385,210    $   26,188,828  $   200,407         
 Downtown Development Authority   -    -    -    - 
 
Total component units $  60,496,608  $  3,385,210  $  26,188,828  $  200,407 
 
           General revenues: 
            Taxes: 
             Property 
             Sales, excise, and other 
            Franchise fees    
            Investment income 
            Payments from City of Buford 
            Gain on sale of assets 
            Miscellaneous 
           Transfers       
  
             Total general revenues and transfers 
  
               Change in net position 
 
           Net position at beginning of year, restated 
            for City of Buford BOE   
      
           Net position at end of year 
 
  
 
 



 
 
 Net (Expense) Revenue and                              
  Changes in Net Position     Component Units  
    06/30/18 
  Primary Government               City of Buford Downtown 
Governmental Business-Type  Board of  Development 
 Activities   Activities   Total   Education   Authority  
 
 
 $  5,330,245  $  -  $  5,330,245  $  -  $  - 
 ( 4,028,844)   -  ( 4,028,844)   -    - 
 
 ( 663,096)   -  ( 663,096)   -    - 
 ( 6,766,475)   -  ( 6,766,475)   -    - 
   420,394     -    420,394    -    - 
 ( 2,069,928)   -  ( 2,069,928)   -    - 
 ( 1,256,358)   -  ( 1,256,358)   -    - 
 ( 32,277,283)   -  (  32,277,283)   -    - 

 ( 558,106)   -  ( 558,106)   -    - 
 ( 2,565,380)    -  ( 2,565,380)   -    - 
 
 ( 44,434,831)    -  ( 44,434,831)    -    - 
 
 
             -    19,960,564     19,960,564    -    - 
             -    6,066,615    6,066,615    -    - 
             -    2,801,602    2,801,602    -    - 
             -  ( 819,482) ( 819,482)   -    - 
             -  ( 1,447,868) ( 1,447,868)   -    - 
             -    821,926    821,926    -        - 
            -  ( 989,526) ( 989,526)   -    - 
 
            -    26,393,831    26,393,831     -    - 
 

 $( 44,434,831)  $   26,393,831  $( 18,041,000) $   -  $  - 
 
 
 $           -      $           -  $           -  $( 30,722,163) $  - 
   -    -    -    -    - 
                    
 $  -  $  -  $  -  $( 30,722,163) $  - 
                    
 
 
 $  20,103,080  $            -  $  20,103,080  $  14,726,590  $  - 
   3,643,369                    -    3,643,369       7,410,367           -     
   1,030,883              -    1,030,883              -    - 
         113,578    543,336    656,914    554,039    39,242 
   -    -    -    7,596,841    558,106 
   121    -    121    -    417,500 
   229,155    2,073,227    2,302,382    3,594,306    - 
   28,700,954  ( 28,700,954)             -    -    - 
 
   53,821,140  ( 26,084,391)    27,736,749     33,882,143    1,014,848 
 
   9,386,309    309,440    9,695,749    3,159,980    1,014,848 
 
    
   88,579,101    86,699,788    175,278,889     6,758,494    8,289,691 
 
 $   97,965,410  $   87,009,228   $  184,974,638    $   9,918,414  $  9,304,539 
   
   

SEE NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS. 
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CITY OF BUFORD, GEORGIA 
BALANCE SHEET   

GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS 
JUNE 30, 2020 

  

 
    
                   Other      Total 
               Governmental   Governmental        
               General   Funds   Funds  
  
ASSETS 
Cash and cash equivalents             $  614,562  $  11,644,665  $  12,259,227 
Investments – certificates of deposit             7,092,418        -    7,092,418 
Property taxes receivable - net                     594,333      -        594,333 
Sales, excise, and other taxes receivable             -     36,187              36,187 
Other receivables               119,733       -         119,733  
Due from other governments               156,389         397,927       554,316 
Interfund balances               110,302    -      110,302 
Prepaid items                    271,940    1,257,488     1,529,428 
Restricted cash and cash equivalents             -    384,379    384,379 
 
Total assets                                          $   8,959,677  $  13,720,646  $    22,680,323 
 
 
LIABILITIES, DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES AND FUND BALANCES 
 
LIABILITIES 
Accounts payable             $  3,624,301  $  753,782  $  4,378,083 
Accrued expenses               68,763    -    68,763 
Interfund balances               -    176,985    176,985 
 
 Total liabilities                       3,693,064     930,767    4,623,831 
 
DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES  
Property tax revenue                          546,898    -    546,898 
 
 Total deferred inflows of resources                    546,898    -    546,898                   
 
FUND BALANCES 
Non-spendable: 
    Prepaid items                         271,940     1,257,488    1,529,428 
Restricted for:  
    Capital project – SPLOST construction             -    11,148,012    11,148,012   
    Capital projects - City of Buford  
 Board of Education                 -     704     704 
    Debt service                          -        383,675     383,675 
    Education                  609,190     -    609,190     
Unassigned                         3,838,585    -    3,838,585 
 
 Total fund balances                        4,719,715     12,789,879     17,509,594                   
 
Total liabilities, deferred inflows of 
 resources and fund balances           $   8,959,677  $  13,720,646   $  22,680,323 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
SEE NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
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CITY OF BUFORD, GEORGIA 
RECONCILIATION OF THE GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS BALANCE SHEET 

TO GOVERNMENT-WIDE STATEMENT OF NET POSITION 
JUNE 30, 2020 

 
 

 
Total fund balance - total governmental funds $  17,509,594 
 
Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of net position 
 are different because: 
 
Capital assets used in governmental activities are not current financial resources, 
 and therefore, are not reported in the governmental funds balance sheet.   94,815,304   
 
Long-term receivables applicable to governmental activities are not due and receivable 
 in the current period and accordingly are not reported in the governmental funds balance sheet: 
 
  Intergovernmental contracts receivable    59,195,085 
 
Other long-term assets are not available to pay for current period expenditures, 
 and therefore, are reported as deferred inflows of resources in governmental funds: 
 
  Property tax revenue   546,898   
 
Deferred outflows of resources are not due and payable in the current period, and therefore, are not 
 reported in the funds: 
 
 OPEB related experience differences, assumption changes, differences between projected and  
  actual earnings on OPEB plan investments, and contributions   705,492 
    
 Pension related experience differences, assumption changes, differences between projected and 
  actual earnings on pension plan investments, and contributions   2,050,931  
 
Deferred inflows of resources are not available to pay for current-period expenditures, and therefore, 
 are not reported in the funds: 
 
 OPEB related differences between expected and actual experience ( 898,198) 
 Pension related differences between expected and actual experience   -  
 
Long-term liabilities applicable to governmental activities are not due and payable 
 in the current period and accordingly are not reported in fund liabilities. Interest 
 on long-term debt is not accrued in governmental funds, but is recognized as  
 an expenditure when due. All liabilities, both current and long-term, are  
 reported in the statement of net position: 
 
  General obligation bonds - 2010 issue ( 4,503,236)  
  General obligation bonds - 2015 issue ( 10,700,000) 
  General obligation bonds - 2017 issue ( 43,500,000) 
  Refunding premium - 2015 issue ( 962,145) 
  Refunding premium - 2017 issue ( 4,032,940) 
  Deferred gain on bond refunding ( 151,895) 
  Accrued interest payable ( 1,288,363) 
  Compensated absences ( 192,120) 
  OPEB liability  ( 6,489,258) 
  Net pension liability ( 4,139,739) 
     
 
Net position of governmental activities $  97,965,410 
 

                                                                
 

   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
SEE NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
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CITY OF BUFORD, GEORGIA 
STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES   

GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2020 

 
           
             Other      Total 
               Governmental   Governmental             
           General   Funds            Funds  
 

REVENUES 
Taxes - property             $  19,768,459  $  -  $ 19,768,459 
Taxes - sales, excise, and other                 3,286,770     356,599         3,643,369 
Intergovernmental                  398,599      4,676,731    5,075,330 
Charges for services               1,389,553         -     1,389,553 
Franchise fees                    1,030,883          -    1,030,883 
Investment income                 100,715     23,935    124,650 
Miscellaneous                  229,155     -    229,155 
 
Total revenues                      26,204,134         5,057,265    31,261,399 
 
 
EXPENDITURES 
Current operating: 
   General government: 
 General                15,145,758    -    15,145,758 
 Financial administration               3,493,959                  -    3,493,959  
   Public safety: 
    Public safety, Marshal and 
  code enforcement               597,906                       -     597,906 
   Public services: 
    Highway and street               5,097,774      -    5,097,774 
    Building inspection               375,026          -    375,026 
    Culture and recreation                  882,119        66,511    948,630 
    Maintenance               988,224      -    988,224 
Intergovernmental: 
   Buford Board of Education                29,678,096       2,599,187    32,277,283  
Capital outlay                -    731,094    731,094  
Debt Service 
   Principal retirement                    -           500,000    500,000    
   Interest and fiscal charges                     -    2,591,496       2,591,496    
 
Total expenditures               56,258,862    6,488,288    62,747,150 
 
Excess (deficiency) of revenues over 
   (under) expenditures              ( 30,054,728) ( 1,431,023) ( 31,485,751)  
 
OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES) 
Sales of surplus property               121    -    121  
Transfers in                 29,906,005    6,949,620    36,855,625  
Transfers out              ( 7,864,448) ( 290,223) ( 8,154,671) 
 
Total other financing sources (uses)             22,041,678    6,659,397    28,701,075 
  

Net change in fund balance                 ( 8,013,050)   5,228,374  ( 2,784,676) 
 
Fund balance - beginning                 12,732,765      7,561,505    20,294,270 
  
Fund balance - ending             $  4,719,715  $  12,789,879  $   17,509,594 

 
 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
SEE NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS. 
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CITY OF BUFORD, GEORGIA 
RECONCILIATION OF THE STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, 

AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE OF GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS 
TO THE GOVERNMENT-WIDE STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES 

FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2020 
 

 
 
 
Net change in fund balances - total governmental funds $( 2,784,676) 
 
Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of activities 
 are different because: 
 
Governmental funds report capital outlays as expenditures. However, in the  
 Government-wide statement of activities, the cost of those assets is allocated 
 over their estimated useful lives as depreciation expense. When assets are sold 
 or retired, the difference between the sales proceeds, if any, and the net book 
 value of the assets is reported in the statement of activities as a gain or loss: 
 
   Capital asset additions   16,511,212       
  Depreciation expense ( 3,398,990) 
  Loss on disposal of assets  ( 558,106) 
 
Revenues in the government-wide statement of activities that do not provide  
 current financial resources are not reported as revenues in governmental funds. 
 
  Contributions of capital assets    915,300 
 
Revenues in the government-wide statement of activities that do not provide  
 current financial resources are not reported as revenues in the funds. This  
 is the increase (decrease) during the current year in deferred inflows or resources 
 that are earned but not collected: 
 
  Property tax revenue   334,621           
 
In the governmental funds, payments received on long-term intergovernmental contracts 
 receivable are reported as intergovernmental revenues.  However, in the statement of 
 activities, the intergovernmental contracts receivable, is recorded in the year it is  
 created and repayments serve to reduce the long-term receivable.  This is the net  
 effect of these differences in the current year: ( 529,963) 
 
The issuance of long-term debt (e.g. bonds) provides current financial resources 
 to governmental funds while the repayment of the principal of long-term debt 
 consumes current financial resources of governmental funds. Neither transaction, 
 however, has any effect on net position. Also, governmental funds report the effect 
 of issuance cost, premiums, discounts, and similar items when debt is first issued, 
 whereas the amounts are deferred and amortized in the government-wide statement 
 of activities: 
 
  Principal payments on general obligation bonds    500,000 
   
Some expenses reported in the government-wide statement of activities do not  
 require the use of current financial resources, and therefore, are not reported 
 as expenditures in governmental funds: 
 
  Amortization of bond reoffering premiums   529,963 
  Amortization of gain on advance bond refunding   17,870 
  Accrued interest   8,246     
  Compensated absences   4,349  
  OPEB cost ( 271,228) 
  Pension cost ( 1,892,289)       
 
 
Change in net position of governmental activities $  9,386,309  
 
 
 
 
 

 
SEE NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS. 
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CITY OF BUFORD, GEORGIA 
 STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES -    

BUDGET AND ACTUAL - GENERAL FUND  
FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2020 

 
 
  

               
  General Fund  
        Variance with 
        Final budget 
 Original        Final      Over 
  Budget   Budget   Actual   (Under)  
REVENUES 
 Taxes - property                 $  18,320,500       $  18,320,500    $  19,768,459  $  1,447,959     
 Taxes - sales, excise, and other   3,201,000    3,201,000    3,286,770    85,770 
 Intergovernmental   1,041,195    1,041,195    398,599       ( 642,596)  
 Charges for services   1,360,000    1,360,000    1,389,553    29,553  
 Franchise fees   1,040,000    1,040,000    1,030,883  ( 9,117) 
 Payments from Downtown 
  Development Authority   2,300,000    2,300,000    -  ( 2,300,000) 
 Investment income    10,000          10,000     100,715    90,715  
 Miscellaneous    70,000    70,000    229,155    159,155  
 
  Total revenues   27,342,695     27,342,695           26,204,134       ( 1,138,561) 
 
EXPENDITURES 
 Current operating: 
  General government: 
   General   10,010,000    15,145,758    15,145,758    - 
   Financial administration   4,076,500    3,493,959     3,493,959               -      

 Public safety: 
   Public safety, Marshal and  
    Code enforcement   664,000     597,906    597,906               - 
  Public services: 

   Highway and street    5,042,000    5,097,774     5,097,774               - 
   Building inspection   371,000    375,026    375,026               - 
   Culture and recreation   936,500    882,119    882,119               - 
   Maintenance   844,500    988,224    988,224               -  
 Intergovernmental: 
  Board of Education   29,925,000    29,678,096    29,678,096              - 
 
   Total expenditures   51,869,500    56,258,862    56,258,862            - 
 
Excess (deficiency) of revenues over 
 (under) expenditures ( 24,526,805)  ( 28,916,167) ( 30,054,728) ( 1,138,561) 
 
OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES) 
 Sales of surplus equipment   10,000    10,000    121  ( 9,879) 
 Transfers in    36,371,000    36,371,000    29,906,005  ( 6,464,995)  
 Transfers out ( 1,750,000) ( 7,864,448) ( 7,864,448)             -     
  
  Net other financing sources (uses)   34,631,000    28,516,552    22,041,678  ( 6,474,874) 
 
Net change in fund balance   10,104,195  ( 399,615) ( 8,013,050) ( 7,613,435) 
  
Fund balance - beginning    12,732,765    12,732,765    12,732,765              -  
 
Fund balance - ending $  22,836,960  $  12,333,150  $  4,719,715  $( 7,613,435) 
 
 
 

 

 
SEE NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS. 
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CITY OF BUFORD, GEORGIA 
STATEMENT OF NET POSITION 

PROPRIETARY FUNDS 
JUNE 30, 2020 

 
      Nonmajor Total 
     Utilities Enterprise Enterprise  
                                                                                     Fund         Fund Funds  
            
 
ASSETS  
 Current assets: 
  Cash and cash equivalents          $  8,703,135  $            -  $  8,703,135   

 Investments        24,948,723              -    24,948,723  
 Accounts receivable, net       5,353,212     -    5,353,212 
 Due from other funds       -    66,683    66,683 
 Prepaid expenses       304,532    9,944    314,476 
 

   Total current assets       39,309,602    76,627      39,386,229 
 
 Noncurrent assets: 
  Restricted assets: 
   Restricted investments        7,077,379            -    7,077,379 
  Capital assets - net       59,656,726            212,673        59,869,399 
 
   Total noncurrent assets       66,734,105                   212,673        66,946,778 
 
Total assets              106,043,707     289,300     106,333,007 
 
DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES 
 Deferred outflows of resources related to OPEB       600,974    -    600,974 
 Deferred outflows of resources related to pensions     1,674,547    72,542    1,747,089 
 
Total deferred outflows of resources       2,275,521    72,542    2,348,063 
 
LIABILITIES 
 Current liabilities: 
  Bank overdrafts       -    14,180    14,180 
  Accounts payable               2,703,873    8,461    2,712,334 
  Other accrued liabilities       276,628     6,579    283,207 
  Unearned revenue       1,562,685    37,410    1,600,095 
   
   Total current liabilities        4,543,186     66,630    4,609,816 
 
 Noncurrent liabilities: 
  Customer deposits payable          7,077,379               -    7,077,379 
  Accrued compensated absences       165,185               -    165,185 
  Net OPEB liability       5,527,886    -    5,527,886 
  Net pension liability       3,380,020            146,424    3,526,444 
   
   Total noncurrent liabilities        16,150,470    146,424    16,296,894 
 
Total liabilities        20,693,656    213,054     20,906,710 
 
DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES 
 Deferred inflows of resources related to OPEB       765,132    -    765,132 
 Deferred inflows of resources related to pensions     -    -    - 
 
Total deferred inflows of resources       765,132    -    765,132 
 
NET POSITION 
 Investment in capital assets       59,656,726            212,673    59,869,399 
 Unrestricted          27,203,714  ( 63,885)    27,139,829 
 
Total net position      $   86,860,440  $  148,788  $   87,009,228 

 
 
 
 
 

 
SEE NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS. 
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CITY OF BUFORD, GEORGIA 
STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES, AND CHANGES IN NET POSITION   

PROPRIETARY FUNDS 
FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2020 

                                
      Nonmajor Total 
     Utilities Enterprise Enterprise  
                                                                                     Fund         Fund Funds  
 
 
OPERATING REVENUES 
 Charges for services: 
  Gas       $  40,289,140  $            -  $  40,289,140 
  Electric        22,070,852              -    22,070,852      

 Solid waste and recycling        7,029,913              -    7,029,913   
 Wastewater       3,520,324             -    3,520,324 
 Water         1,216,053              -    1,216,053  
 Penalties        904,476                    -    904,476 
 Service charges       190,321              -    190,321   
 Buford Community Center                          -    445,677    445,677   

    
  Total charges for services       75,221,079     445,677      75,666,756 
 
 Miscellaneous: 
  Other         94,276     3,734    98,010 
   
   Total miscellaneous       94,276     3,734    98,010 
 
Total operating revenues       75,315,355     449,411    75,764,766 
 
 
OPERATING EXPENSES 
 Utilities purchased for resale          26,046,385              -    26,046,385 
 Personal services       8,720,747    438,879    9,159,626    
 Depreciation        5,377,597              23,287    5,400,884         actual services       2,452,464      475    172,130 
 Contractual services       4,322,791    205,076    4,527,867  
 Materials and supplies       2,563,517    41,440    2,604,957      
 Utilities         787,972    121,661    909,633 
 Repairs and maintenance       500,072            63,760    563,832 
 Event expenses                 -    526,507    526,507 
 Other operating        86,341    14,593    100,934 
   
  Total operating expenses         48,405,422    1,435,203    49,840,625 
 
 Income (loss) from operations       26,909,933  ( 985,792)    25,924,141 
 
 
 NONOPERATING REVENUES (EXPENSES) 
 Refunds and rebates       2,542,917    -    2,542,917 
 Investment income       543,328     8    543,336 
   
  Total nonoperating revenues (expenses)        3,086,245    8    3,086,253 
 
 Income (loss) before transfers       29,996,178  ( 985,784)   29,010,394 
 
 
TRANSFERS        ( 29,682,465)   981,511  ( 28,700,954) 
   
 Total transfers      ( 29,682,465)   981,511  ( 28,700,954) 
 
Change in net position       313,713  ( 4,273)    309,440  
 
Total net position at beginning of year          86,546,727     153,061     86,699,788 
  
Total net position at end of year         $   86,860,440  $  148,788  $   87,009,228 

         
 

  
 
 

 
SEE NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS. 
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CITY OF BUFORD, GEORGIA 
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS    

PROPRIETARY FUNDS 
FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2020 

                            
      Nonmajor Total 
     Utilities Enterprise Enterprise  
                                                                                     Fund         Fund Funds  
 
 
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES: 
 Receipts from customers     $  74,745,427  $  380,402  $  75,125,829 
 Receipts from other operating sources       94,276    3,734    98,010 
 Receipts from interfund services provided       515,313    -    515,313 
 Payments to suppliers for goods and services     ( 34,698,310) ( 908,896) ( 35,607,206) 
 Payments for personal services     ( 7,001,417) ( 365,450) ( 7,366,867)  
 
  Net cash provided (used) by operating activities     33,655,289  ( 890,210)   32,765,079 
             
 
CASH FLOWS FROM NONCAPITAL FINANCING ACTIVITIES: 
 Transfers from other funds                    -            981,511    981,511  
 Proceeds from refunds and rebates       1,975,218    -    1,975,218  
 Transfers to other funds     ( 29,682,465)             -  ( 29,682,465) 
 
  Net cash provided (used) by noncapital   
   financing activities      ( 27,707,247)   981,511  ( 26,725,736) 
 
 
CASH FLOWS FROM CAPITAL AND RELATED   
 FINANCING ACTIVITIES: 
  Proceeds from refunds and rebates       567,699    -    567,699 
  Purchases of capital assets     ( 7,384,112)  ( 85,963) ( 7,470,075) 
  
   Net cash provided (used) by capital and 
    related financing activities      ( 6,816,413) ( 85,963) ( 6,902,376) 
 
 
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES: 
 Purchases of investments     ( 2,148,827)   -  ( 2,148,827) 
 Income from investments          543,328               8    543,336 
  
  Net cash provided (used) by investing activities    ( 1,605,499)              8  ( 1,605,491) 
 
 
Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents     ( 2,473,870)   5,346  ( 2,468,524)    
 
 
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year        11,177,005  ( 19,526)   11,157,479 
 
 
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year     $  8,703,135  $( 14,180) $   8,688,955 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
SEE NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS. 
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CITY OF BUFORD, GEORGIA  
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS - CONTINUED 

PROPRIETARY FUNDS 
FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2020 

                               
      Nonmajor Total 
     Utilities Enterprise Enterprise  
                                                                                     Fund         Fund Funds  
 
                                     
RECONCILIATION OF INCOME (LOSS) FROM  
 OPERATIONS TO NET CASH PROVIDED (USED) 
  BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES: 
 
Income (loss) from operations     $  26,909,933  $( 985,792) $  25,924,141   
 
Adjustments to reconcile income (loss) from  
 operations to net cash provided (used) by operating 
  activities: 
   Cash flows reported in other categories: 
    Depreciation       5,377,597    23,287    5,400,884 
   Changes in assets and liabilities: 
    Accounts receivable     ( 652,160)   -  ( 652,160) 
    Due from other funds       -    23,934    23,934  
    Prepaid expenses     ( 19,234)   43,401    24,167  
    Deferred outflows OPEB     ( 519,887)   -  ( 519,887) 
    Deferred outflows pension     ( 269,001) ( 25,690) ( 294,691) 
    Accounts payable     ( 357,112) ( 2,332) ( 359,444)  
    Other accrued liabilities       5,309    4,194    9,503  
    Unearned revenue       493,441  ( 65,275)   428,166 
    Customer deposits payable       198,380    -    198,380  
    Compensated absences       38,863    -    38,863  
    Net OPEB liability       795,312    -    795,312  
    Net pension liability       2,132,396    104,837    2,237,233  
    Deferred inflows OPEB     ( 155,329)   -  ( 155,329) 
    Deferred inflows of pension      ( 323,219) ( 10,774) (  333,993) 
     
Net cash provided (used) by operating activities     $  33,655,289  $( 890,210) $  32,765,079  
 
 
RECONCILIATION OF CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 
 TO STATEMENT OF NET ASSETS: 
 
Cash and cash equivalents     $  8,703,135  $  -  $  8,703,135 
 
Restricted cash and cash equivalents       -    -    - 
 
Bank overdrafts        -  ( 14,180) ( 14,180)  
 
 
 Total cash and cash equivalents at end of year     $  8,703,135  $( 14,180) $  8,688,955  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

SEE NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS. 
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CITY OF BUFORD, GEORGIA 
STATEMENT OF FIDUCIARY NET POSITION   

FIDUCIARY FUNDS 
JUNE 30, 2020 

 
           
 
   
         Custodial  
         Funds  
            
ASSETS 
 Cash and cash equivalents                 $  1,105,399 
 Investments                    8,254,715 

  
Total assets                   $  9,360,114 
 
 
NET POSITION 
 Restricted for: 
  City of Buford Board of Education                 $  9,360,114 
 
Total net position                     $  9,360,114 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
SEE NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS. 
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CITY OF BUFORD, GEORGIA 
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN FIDUCIARY NET POSITION   

FIDUCIARY FUNDS 
JUNE 30, 2020 

 
           
 
  
         Custodial  
         Funds  
            
ADDITIONS 
 Investment income                 $  415,245 

  
Total additions                    415,245 
 
 
DEDUCTIONS 
 Intergovernmental                   2,418,023 
 
Total deductions                    2,418,023 
 
Net increase (decrease) in fiduciary 
 net position                  ( 2,002,778) 
 
Total net position at beginning of year, 
 as restated                    11,362,892  
 
Total net position at end of year                 $  9,360,114 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
SEE NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS. 
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CITY OF BUFORD, GEORGIA 
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2020         

 
 

NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
The financial statements of the City of Buford, Georgia (the “City”) have been prepared in accordance with 
generally accepted accounting principles in the United States of America (“GAAP”) applicable to state and local 
governments. The Governmental Accounting Standards Board (“GASB”) is the accepted standard-setting body 
for establishing governmental accounting and financial reporting principles. The GASB periodically updates its 
codification of the existing Governmental Accounting and Financial Reporting Standards, which, along with 
subsequent GASB pronouncements (Statements and Interpretations), constitutes GAAP for governmental 
units. The more significant of these accounting policies are described below.   
 
These financial statements are prepared in accordance with GASB Statement No. 34, Basic Financial 
Statements-and Management’s Discussion and Analysis-for State and Local Governments.  This Statement 
established financial reporting requirements for state and local governments throughout the United States.  As 
part of the implementation of GASB Statement No. 34, the City has prepared required supplementary 

information titled Management’s Discussion and Analysis, which precedes the financial statements.  
 
REPORTING ENTITY 
The City was incorporated December 23, 1937, under Code of Georgia Annotated Title 69-1 and reincorporated 
under a revised City Charter in 2003.  The City operates under a Commission-Manager form of government and 
is vested with all rights, powers, and privileges incident to a Municipal corporation.  The City’s charter 
authorizes the following services:  public safety (public safety, marshal and code enforcement), highways and 
streets, culture and recreation, maintenance, sanitation and utility services, education and general 
administrative services. 
 
The City for financial reporting purposes includes all of the funds relevant to the operations of the City of 
Buford.  The Government Accounting Standards Board has set forth criteria to determine if legally separate 
organizations are considered to be component units in which the City is considered to be financially 
accountable or other organizations whose nature and significant relationship with the City is such that 
exclusion would cause the City’s financial statements to be incomplete or misleading.  These criteria include 
appointing a voting majority of an organization’s governing body and (1) the ability of the City to impose its 

will on that organization or (2) the potential for the organization to provide specific financial benefits to, or 
impose specific financial burdens on, the City.  Additionally, the primary government is required to consider 
other organizations for which the nature and significance of their relationship with the primary government 
are such that exclusion would cause the reporting entity’s financial statements to be misleading or incomplete.  
Blended component units, although legally separate entities, are, in substance, part of the City’s operations, 
and accordingly, data from these units are combined with data of the City.  Discretely presented component 
units are reported in a separate column in the government-wide financial statements to emphasize that they 
are legally separate from the government.  The component units discussed below should be included in the 
City’s reporting entity because of their operational or financial relationship with the City. 
 
Discretely Presented Component Units 
 
City of Buford Board of Education - The City of Buford Board of Education (“BOE”) is the governing authority of 
the City School System.  There are five members on the Board.  Four of them are elected by the public, and one 
is the Chairman of the City of Buford Board of Commissioners.  The BOE is a legally separate entity with the 
power to sue or be sued. The BOE has decision-making authority, the power to designate management, the 
power to incur indebtedness, and the ability to significantly influence operations. The BOE controls the 
employment of all personnel and has the final decision on how its funds are disbursed.  However, the City 
Commission holds the authority to levy taxes and determines the amount of tax revenue flowing to the BOE. 
The City approves the property tax millage, levies the tax and remits the school portion of the tax to the board. 
In addition, the City provides additional funds as necessary to ensure that the quality of educational facilities 
and services provided are maintained at the highest level possible. Finally, the City may, and has, approved the 
issuance of bonded debt for the use of the BOE and is legally responsible for that debt. Thus, the BOE is a 
component unit of the City because it is fiscally dependent on the City. The amounts on the government-wide 
financial statements are from the BOE’s audited financial statements for the year ending June 30, 2018, which 
were released on August 20, 2020 and are the latest available as of the date of our report.  
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NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - CONTINUED 
 
REPORTING ENTITY - CONTINUED 
 
Discretely Presented Component Units - Continued 
 
The financial statements of the City of Buford Board of Education noted above were audited by other 
independent auditors.  These component financial statements can be obtained from the City of Buford Board of 
Education at 2625 Sawnee Avenue, Buford, Georgia 30518. 
 
Note information in these Notes to Basic Financial Statements does not include any data related to the City of 
Buford Board of Education. GASBS No. 14, paragraph 63 states that “determining which discretely presented 
component unit disclosures are essential to fair presentation is a matter of professional judgment and should 
be done on a component unit-by-component unit basis.” Because of the fact that these financial statements 

are primarily concerned with the Primary Government of the City of Buford, and due to the fact that the BOE 
has separately issued financial statements that are readily available to users, this information is not included in 
these notes. 
 
City of Buford Downtown Development Authority – The City of Buford Downtown Development Authority 
(“DDA”) is governed by a board appointed by the City of Buford Board of Commissioners.  The DDA is 
responsible for the revitalization and redevelopment of the geographical area within the corporate limits of the 
City.   
 
The DDA did not issue separate financial statements for the year ended June 30, 2020. 

 
MEASUREMENT FOCUS, BASIS OF ACCOUNTING AND BASIS OF PRESENTATION 
 
Government-Wide Financial Statements 
 
The City of Buford’s Government-Wide Financial Statements include a Statement of Net Position and a 

Statement of Activities and Changes in Net Position and report information on all of the activities of the City.  
The statements present summaries of governmental and business-type activities of the City accompanied by a 
total column. Fiduciary activities of the City are not included in these statements.  
 
These statements are presented on an “economic resources” measurement focus and the accrual basis of 
accounting. Accordingly, all the City’s assets and liabilities, including capital assets as well as infrastructure 
assets acquired after July 1, 1980 and long-term liabilities, are included in the Statement of Net Position. The 
Statement of Activities presents changes in net position. Under the accrual basis of accounting, revenues are 
recognized in the period in which they are earned while expenses are recognized in the period in which the 
liability is incurred. The types of transactions reported as program revenues of the City are reported in three 
categories: (1) charges for services, (2) operating grants and contributions, and (3) capital grants and 
contributions. Governmental activities, which normally are supported by taxes and intergovernmental 
revenues, are reported separately from business-type activities, which rely to a significant extent on fees and 
charges for support. 
 
Certain eliminations have been made as prescribed by GASB Statement No. 34 in regards to interfund 
activities, payables and receivables. All internal balances in the Statement of Net Position have been 
eliminated except those representing balances between the governmental activities and the business-type 
activities, which are presented as internal balances and eliminated in the total column. In the Statement of 
Activities, transactions of a service type nature between the governmental activities and the business-type 
activities have not been eliminated. 
 
The City applies all applicable GASB pronouncements, including all NCGA Statements and Interpretations 
currently in effect. 
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NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - CONTINUED 
 
MEASUREMENT FOCUS, BASIS OF ACCOUNTING AND BASIS OF PRESENTATION - CONTINUED 
 
Governmental Fund Financial Statements 
 
Governmental fund financial statements include a Balance Sheet and a Statement of Revenues, Expenditures 
and Changes in Fund Balances for all governmental funds. An accompanying schedule is presented to reconcile 
and explain differences in fund balances and changes in fund balances as presented in these statements to the 
net position and changes in net position presented in the government-wide financial statements. The City has 
presented all funds that meet those qualifications.  
 
All governmental funds are accounted for on a spending or “current financial resources” measurement focus 
and the modified accrual basis of accounting. Accordingly, only current assets and current liabilities are 

included on the Balance Sheets. The Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances 
presents increases (revenues and other financing sources) and decreases (expenditures and other financing 
uses) in net current assets. Under the modified accrual basis of accounting, revenues are recognized in the 
accounting period in which they become both measurable and available to finance expenditures in the current 
period. Accordingly, revenues are recorded when received in cash, except those revenues that are subject to 
accrual (generally sixty days after year-end) which are recognized when due. The primary revenue sources, 
which have been treated as susceptible to accrual by the City are property tax, sales tax, intergovernmental 
revenues and other taxes. Sales taxes collected and held by the state at year-end on behalf of the government 
are also recognized as revenue.  All other governmental fund revenues are recognized when received. 
Expenditures are recorded in the accounting period in which the related fund liability is incurred. However, 
debt service expenditures, as well as expenditures related to compensated absences are recorded only when 
payment is due.  
 
Governmental funds are those funds through which most governmental functions typically are financed.  The 
measurement focus of governmental funds is on the sources, uses and balance of current financial resources.   
 

The City has presented the following major governmental funds: 
 
General Fund - The General Fund is the main operating fund of the City.  This fund is used to account for all 
financial resources not accounted for in other funds.  All general tax revenues and other receipts that are not 
restricted by law or contractual agreement to some other fund are accounted for in this fund. General 
operating expenditures, fixed charges and capital improvement costs that are not paid through other funds are 
paid from the General Fund. 
 
Other governmental funds that are not considered major include the following:  
 
Special Revenue Funds 
 
Special revenue funds are used by the City to account for the accumulation and disbursement of restricted 
resources. The following is a description of the City’s special revenue funds: 
 
Hotel/Motel Tax Fund - used to account for receipt and allocation of the City’s hotel/motel tax. Use of this tax 
is limited by law to promotion of tourism. The City hotel/motel tax rate for its three hotels was 7% during the 
fiscal year ending June 30, 2020. 
 
Auto Rental Excise Tax Fund – used to account for receipt and allocation of the City’s rental motor vehicle 
excise tax.  Use of this tax is limited by law to promote industry, trade, commerce, and tourism; for the 
provision of convention, trade, sports, and recreational facilities. The City’s rental motor vehicle excise tax rate 
was 3% during the fiscal year ending June 30, 2020. 
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NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - CONTINUED 
 
MEASUREMENT FOCUS, BASIS OF ACCOUNTING AND BASIS OF PRESENTATION - CONTINUED 
 
Governmental Fund Financial Statements - Continued 
 
Debt Service Funds 
 
The debt service funds account for the accumulation of resources for, and the payment of governmental long-
term debt principal, interest, and fiscal charges.  The following is a description of the City’s debt service funds: 

 
2010 General Obligation Bond Debt Service Fund – used to service the governmental long-term debt related to 
the 2010 General Obligation Bonds used to finance the construction of the Buford Community Center, Town 
Park and Theatre. 

 
2015 General Obligation Bond Debt Service Fund – used to service the governmental long-term debt related to 
the 2015 General Obligation Bonds used to finance the construction of educational facilities related to the City 
of Buford Board of Education. 
 
2017 General Obligation Bond Debt Service Fund – This fund is used to service the governmental long-term 
debt related to the 2017 General Obligation Bonds used to finance the construction of educational facilities 
related to the City of Buford Board of Education. 
 
 
Capital Project Funds 
 
Capital project funds account for all resources used for the acquisition and/or construction of major capital 
facilities by the City, except those financed by the General and Enterprise Funds. The following is a description 
of the City’s capital projects funds: 
 

Gwinnett County 2009 SPLOST Fund - used to account for the construction and financing of projects funded by 
the Gwinnett County 2009 SPLOST. 
 
Gwinnett County 2014 SPLOST Fund - used to account for the construction and financing of projects funded by 
the City of Buford 2014 SPLOST. 
 
Gwinnett County 2017 SPLOST Fund - used to account for the construction and financing of projects funded by 
the Gwinnett County 2017 SPLOST. 
 
Hall County 2009 SPLOST Fund - used to account for the construction and financing of projects funded by the 
Hall County 2009 SPLOST. 
 
Hall County 2015 SPLOST Fund - used to account for the construction and financing of projects funded by the 
Hall County 2015 SPLOST. 
 
Rest Haven 2001 SPLOST Fund - used to account for the construction and financing of projects funded by the 
City of Rest Haven 2001 SPLOST. 
 
Rest Haven 2005 SPLOST Fund - used to account for the construction and financing of projects funded by the 
City of Rest Haven 2005 SPLOST. 
 
2015 General Obligation Bond Capital Project Fund – This fund is used to account for the construction and 
financing of projects funded by the City of Buford 2015 General Obligation Bonds. 
 
2017 General Obligation Bond Capital Project Fund – This fund is used to account for the construction and 
financing of projects funded by the City of Buford 2017 General Obligation Bonds. 
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NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - CONTINUED 
 
MEASUREMENT FOCUS, BASIS OF ACCOUNTING AND BASIS OF PRESENTATION - CONTINUED 
 
Proprietary Funds Financial Statements 
 
Proprietary funds financial statements include a Statement of Net Position, a Statement of Revenues, Expenses 
and Changes in Net Position, and a Statement of Cash Flows for each major proprietary fund and aggregated 
non-major funds. 
 
Proprietary funds are accounted for using the “economic resources” measurement focus and the accrual basis 
of accounting.  The accounting objectives are determinations of net income, financial position and cash flow.  
Accordingly, all assets and liabilities (whether current or noncurrent) are included on the Statement of Net 
Position.  The Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position presents increases (revenues) 

and decreases (expenses) in total net position. Under the accrual basis of accounting, revenues are recognized 
in the period in which they are earned while expenses are recognized in the period in which the liability is 
incurred. 
 
Operating revenues in the proprietary fund are those revenues that are generated from the primary operations 
of the funds. All other revenues are reported as non-operating revenues. Operating expenses are those 
expenses that are essential to the primary operations of the funds. All other expenses are reported as non-
operating expenses. 
 
The City has presented the following major proprietary fund: 
 
Utilities Fund - used to account for the provision of electric, gas, water, waste water, sanitation and recycling 
services to the residents of the City of Buford and its surrounding areas. Activities of the fund include 
administration, operations and maintenance of the utility systems, and billing and collection activities. The 
fund also accounts for the accumulation of resources for, and the payment of, long-term debt principal and 
interest for enterprise fund debt. All costs are financed through charges to utility customers with rates 

reviewed regularly and adjusted, if necessary, to ensure the integrity of the fund.  
 
Other proprietary funds that are not considered major include the following:  
 
Buford Community Center Fund - used to account for the activity of the Buford Community Center, Town Park 
and Theatre. 
 
Fiduciary Fund Financial Statements 
 
Fiduciary Fund Financial Statements include a Statement of Fiduciary Net Position and a Statement of Changes 
in Fiduciary Net Position. The City’s Fiduciary Funds represent custodial funds. The custodial funds use the 
“economic resources” measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting like the proprietary funds 
explained above. Custodial funds of the City are related to Buford Board of Education SPLOST funds from 
Gwinnett and Hall Counties. 
 
USE OF RESTRICTED/UNRESTRICTED NET POSITION 
 
When both restricted and unrestricted resources are available for use, it is the City’s policy to use restricted 
resources first, and then unrestricted resources as they are needed. 
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NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - CONTINUED 
 
BUDGETS AND BUDGETARY ACCOUNTING 
 
Annual budgets are adopted for the General, Special Revenue, and Proprietary (Enterprise) Funds. Capital 
Projects are budgeted over the life of the projects. Debt Service is budgeted through either the General or 
Proprietary (Enterprise) Fund depending on the type of debt. The budget for the General Fund is adopted on a 
basis consistent with generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP).  The budget for the Proprietary 
(Enterprise) Fund is adopted on a GAAP basis, except that depreciation expense is not budgeted.  Budget 
amounts are as originally adopted, or as amended by the Board of Commissioners.  
 
Budgeting Policy 
 
• The prior year’s actual revenues and expenditures/expenses for the General and Proprietary (Enterprise) 

Funds are compared to budget amounts for that year. 
 
• Adjustments are made to the prior year’s budgeted revenues and expenditures/expenses to make budgeted 

amounts agree with actual amounts.  These are the proposed budgets for the coming year. 
 
• The proposed budgets are submitted to the Board of Commissioners, who make adjustments to the 

proposed budgets as it deems necessary. 
 
• The proposed budgets are revised in accordance with the Board of Commissioners recommendations and 

resubmitted to the Board of Commissioners for their approval. 
 
• After reviewing the budget revisions, the Board of Commissioners approves and adopts the budgets. 
 
• All budget amendments must be approved by the Board of Commissioners. 
 
• All appropriations lapse at the end of the fiscal year. 

 
CASH, CASH EQUIVALENTS AND INVESTMENTS 
 
For purposes of the Statement of Cash Flows, the City considers cash, demand deposits, certificates of deposit, 
cash with agents and all highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less when 
purchased to be cash and cash equivalents. All investments are recorded at fair value based on quoted market 
prices. Fair value is the amount at which a financial instrument could be exchanged in a current transaction 
between willing parties. The City generally holds all investments until maturity. 

 
INTERFUND RECEIVABLES AND PAYABLES 
Transactions between funds that are representative of lending/borrowing arrangements outstanding at the 
end of the fiscal year are referred to as “due to/from other funds”. Any residual balances outstanding between 
the governmental activities and the business-type activities are reported in the government-wide financial 
statements as “internal balances”.   
 
TRANSACTIONS BETWEEN FUNDS 

 
Legally authorized transfers are treated as interfund transfers and are included in the results of operations of 
both the Governmental and Proprietary Funds.  
 
PAYMENTS BETWEEN CITY AND BUFORD BOARD OF EDUCATION CUSTODIAL FUNDS 
 
Resource flows between the City and the custodial funds related to the Buford Board of Education SPLOST 
funds are reported as external transactions - that is, as revenues and expenses/expenditures in the financial 
statements. 
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NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - CONTINUED 

 
ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE AND UNEARNED REVENUES 
 
Accounts receivable are recorded in the General, Special Revenue, Capital Project and Proprietary Funds. 
Receivables are stated at their net realizable value (face value less the allowance for uncollectible accounts).  
Delinquent taxes receivable are fully reserved by the deferral of the related revenues until payment is received. 
Utility revenue is recorded when earned. The accrual of earned, but unbilled receivables is made at year-end 
and included in the accompanying financial statements. The Utilities Fund grants credit to utility customers, all 
of whom are located in North Georgia Counties. Allowances for doubtful accounts totaled $425,623 for the 
General Fund and $3,828,692 for the Utilities Fund. No allowance was considered necessary for any receivables 
in the special revenue or capital project funds. 

 
PREPAID ITEMS 

 
Prepaid balances are for payments made by the City in the current year for services occurring in the 
subsequent fiscal year, and the reserve for prepaid items has been recorded to signify that a portion of the 
fund balance is not available for subsequent expenditures (“nonspendable fund balance”). 
 
RESTRICTED CASH AND INVESTMENTS 
 
Certain funds are held in the Capital Project Funds, Debt Service Funds, and Utilities Fund in accounts 
restricted for capital outlay and debt service. These funds are held in cash or investments as allowed by State 
law and the requirements of the related debt agreements. The investments are stated at fair value and the City 
records all investment revenue earned on these investments in the appropriate fund. 

 
INVENTORIES 
 
There are no inventories of supplies or materials recorded at June 30, 2020, as amounts stored for supplies and 
materials were not of a material nature at that date. 

 
DEFERRED OUTFLOWS/INFLOWS OF RESOURCES 
 
In addition to assets, the statement of net position will sometimes report a separate section for deferred 
outflows of resources. The separate financial statement element, deferred outflows of resources, represents a 
consumption of net position that applies to future period(s) and so will not be recognized as an outflow of 
resources (expense/expenditure) until then. The amounts that qualify for reporting in this category are related 
to pensions and other post-employment benefits (OPEB).  
 
In addition to liabilities, the statement of net position will sometimes report a separate section for deferred 
inflows of resources. The separate financial statement element, deferred inflows of resources, represents an 
acquisition of net position that applies to future period(s) and so will not be recognized as an inflow of 
resources (revenue) until then. The amounts that qualify for reporting in this category are related to deferred 
gain on bond refunding, pensions, and other post-employment benefits (OPEB).  
  
In addition to liabilities, governmental activities fund balance will sometimes report a separate section for 
deferred inflows of resources. The separate financial statement element, deferred inflows of resources, 
represents an acquisition of net position that applies to future period(s) and so will not be recognized as an 
inflow of resources (revenue) until then. The amounts that qualify for reporting in this category are related to 
property taxes.  
  
MANAGEMENT ESTIMATES 

 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles requires 
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and 
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amount 
of revenues and expenditures or expenses during the reporting period.  Accordingly, actual results could differ 
from those estimates. 
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NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - CONTINUED 

 
PROPERTY TAX 
 
Property Taxes - City property tax revenues are recognized when levied to the extent that they result in 
current receivables.  Receivables outstanding more than 60 days after the fiscal year-end are recorded as 
deferred revenue in governmental funds.  Taxes were levied on August 5, 2019, which is the date that the 
millage rate was established.  Taxes are payable by December 20 and become delinquent and attach as an 
enforceable lien on that date.  The City bills and collects property taxes through the General Fund and the 
funds are entirely related to and for the use of the Buford Board of Education and transferred along with 
additional funding appropriations as set by the City Commission in the budget process.  The millage rate for the 
2019 tax digest was set at 12.70 mills. 

 
CAPITAL ASSETS 

 
Capital assets, which include property, plant and equipment and infrastructure assets, are reported in the 
applicable governmental or business-type activities columns in the government-wide financial statements and 
in the fund financial statements for proprietary funds.  All capital assets are recorded at historical cost or 
estimated historical cost if actual historical cost is not available.  Donated assets are valued at their fair market 
value on the date donated.  Capital assets utilized in the governmental funds are recorded as expenditures in 
the governmental fund financial statements.  Depreciation expense is recorded in the government-wide 
financial statements and in the fund financial statements for proprietary funds.  Repairs and maintenance are 
recorded as expenses and expenditures; renewal and betterments are capitalized. 
 
Assets capitalized, not including infrastructure assets, have an original cost of $5,000 or more and over one 
year of useful life. Infrastructure assets capitalized have an original cost of $10,000 or more. Depreciation has 
been calculated on depreciable assets using the straight-line method.  Estimated useful lives are as follows: 
 
 Buildings and improvements 15-50 years 
 Park improvements 5-25 years  

 Equipment     5-10 years 
 Furniture and fixtures     10 years  
 Sidewalks     16 years 
 Streets, streetscapes and hardscapes     20 years 
 Utility Plant - Electric     10-25 years 
 Utility Plant - Gas     10-25 years 
 Utility Plant - Waste Water     10-25 years 
 Utility Plant - Water     10-25 years 
 Vehicles  5-10 years 

 
The City has elected not to capitalize collections and works of art.  Collections such as works of art and 
historical artifacts meet the definition of a capital asset.  The requirement for capitalization is waived, 
however, for collections that meet the following conditions: 
 

➢ The collection is held for reasons other than financial gain. 
➢ The collection is protected, kept unencumbered, cared for, and preserved. 
➢ The collection is subject to an organizational policy requiring that the proceeds from sales of collection 

items be used to acquire other items for collections. 
 
The sale or disposal of capital assets is recorded by removing the cost and accumulated depreciation from the 
accounts and charging the resulting gain or loss to income.  
 
GASB Statement No. 34 requires the City to report and depreciate new infrastructure assets.  Infrastructure 
assets include roads, bridges, drainage, sidewalks, etc. The City finalized implementation of the general 
provisions of GASB Statement No. 34 related to retroactive infrastructure provisions in the fiscal year ending 
June 30, 2007. All infrastructure acquired after years ending June 30, 1980 is included in these financial 
statements. 
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NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - CONTINUED 
 
COMPENSATED ABSENCES 
 
Compensated absences are recorded on the statement of activities in the government-wide financial 
statements and the statement of revenues, expenses, and changes in net position in the proprietary fund 
financial statements. The City’s policy for compensated absences is as follows. Vacation is accrued at the rate 
of five days per year for employees with zero through three years of service, at a rate of ten days per year for 
employees with four years to nine years of service and at a rate of fifteen days per year for employees with ten 
or more years of service.  Unused vacation leave, not to exceed thirty days, may be carried into the next 
calendar year.  Any annual vacation leave above thirty days will be paid at the end of the calendar year.  Sick 
leave accrues at the rate of five days per year.  Unused sick leave may be carried into the next calendar year, 
not to exceed ten days.   
 

LONG-TERM OBLIGATIONS 
 
In the government-wide financial statements, and proprietary fund types in the fund financial statements, 
long-term debt and other long-term obligations are reported as liabilities in the applicable governmental 
activities, business-type activities, or proprietary fund type statement of net position. Long-term liabilities 
expected to be financed from governmental fund types are not recorded in the governmental fund financial 
statements. Any related interest expense is recorded on the statement of activities in the government-wide 
financial statements and the statement of revenues, expenses, and changes in net position in the proprietary 
fund financial statements. Payments of principal and interest are recorded as expenditures on the statement of 
revenues, expenditures and changes in fund balance in the governmental fund financial statements.  
 
Bond discounts and premiums are deferred and amortized over the term of the bonds using the effective 
interest method. Bonds payable are reported net of the applicable discount or premium. In the fund financial 
statements, governmental fund types report the face amount of debt issued and related premiums or discounts 
as other financing sources. Bond issuance costs are reported as debt service expenditures.  
 

GOVERNMENTAL FUND BALANCES 
 
In accordance with GASB Statement No. 54 Fund Balance Reporting and Governmental Fund Type Definitions, 
the City classifies governmental fund balances as follows: 
 
Nonspendable fund balance - amounts that cannot be spent because they are not in a spendable form, such as 
prepaid expenses or inventory, or because they are legally or contractually required to be maintained intact. 
 
Restricted fund balance - constraints are placed on the use of specific purposes by their providers, such as 
grantors, creditors and bondholders, contributors, or laws and regulations of other governments or imposed by 
law through constitutional provisions or enabling legislation. 
 
Committed fund balance - amounts that can be used only for specific purposes pursuant to constraints imposed 
by formal action of the City of Buford Board of Commissioners. The Board of Commissioners is the City’s 
highest level of decision-making authority, and the formal action that is required to be taken to establish, 
modify, or rescind a fund balance commitment is a resolution approved by the Board. Committed fund balance 
should also incorporate contractual obligations to the extent that existing resources in the fund have been 
specifically committed for use in satisfying those contractual requirements. 
 
Assigned fund balance - amounts that are constrained by the City’s intent to use for a specific purpose, but are 
neither restricted nor committed. The intent should be expressed by the Board of Commission. 
 
Unassigned fund balance – the residual classification representing fund balance that has not been assigned to 
other funds and that has not been restricted, committed or assigned to specific purposes within the fund. 
These are amounts that are available for any purpose; positive amounts are reported only in the General Fund. 
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NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - CONTINUED 
 
GOVERNMENTAL FUND BALANCES - CONTINUED 

 
The City Commission establishes (and modifies or rescinds) fund balance commitments by passage of an 
ordinance or resolution. This is typically done through adoption and amendment of the budget. A fund balance 
commitment is further indicated in the budget document as a designation or commitment of the fund. Assigned 
fund balance is established by the City Commission through adoption or amendment of the budget as intended 
for specific purpose (such as purchase of fixed assets, construction, debt service, or for other purposes). 
 
Flow assumptions - When both restricted and unrestricted amounts of fund balance are available for use for 
expenditures incurred, it is the City’s policy to use restricted amounts first and then unrestricted amounts as 
they are needed. For unrestricted amounts of fund balance, it is the City’s policy to use fund balance in the 
following order: Committed, then Assigned, and lastly, Unassigned. 

 
ADOPTION OF ACCOUNTING STANDARD 
 
The City has adopted GASB Statement No. 89, Accounting for Interest Cost Incurred Before the End of a 
Construction Period (GASB 89). GASB 89 establishes accounting requirements for interest cost incurred before 
the end of a construction period for the City’s proprietary funds.  GASB 89 requires that interest costs incurred 
before the end of a construction period be recognized as an expense in the period in which the cost is incurred.  
As a result of the implementation of GASB 89, all interest incurred is reported as an expense in the Statement 
of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position.  There was no interest cost incurred by the City’s 
proprietary funds for the year ended June 30, 2020. 
 
 

NOTE 2 - DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS 
 
Deposits 
 
Custodial credit risk - the risk that, in the event of the failure of a depository institution, the City will not be 
able to recover deposits or will not be able to recover collateral securities that are in the possession of an 
outside party.  State statutes require all deposits to be 110% collateralized by depository insurance, 
obligations of the United States or certain obligations guaranteed by the U.S. Government, obligations of the 
State of Georgia, or industrial revenue bonds or bonds of public or development authorities, counties, or 
municipalities of the State of Georgia.  The collateral pledged by the banks’ trust department in the City’s name 
is composed of bonds of U.S. Government Agencies.  The City’s policy on custodial credit risk is to comply with 
the requirements of the State of Georgia. 
 
Deposits of the City’s reporting entity are insured or collateralized with securities held by the City, its agent, or 
by the pledging financial institution’s trust department or agent in the name of the City or applicable public 
trust.  The City has not adopted a formal deposit policy.   
 
Investments 
 
State statutes authorize the City to invest only in certificates of deposit of banks and savings and loan 
associations which have deposits insured by the FDIC with any uninsured amounts collateralized by direct 
obligations of the United States or the State of Georgia; obligations of the United States and of its agencies and 
instrumentalities; or bonds or certificates of indebtedness of the State of Georgia and of its agencies and its 
instrumentalities.  The City has not adopted a formal investment policy. 
 
At June 30, 2020, the City’s primary government investments were classified as follows: 
 
 Investments      $  32,041,141 
 Restricted investments        7,077,379 
 
 Total primary government investments      $  39,118,520 
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NOTE 2 - DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS - CONTINUED 
 
Investments - Continued 
 
As of June 30, 2020, the City had the following investments: 
 
 Investment Rating Maturity Fair Value  
 Primary Government 
 
 Governmental activities  
 Certificates of Deposit                                         N/A              365 day $   7,092,418 
     
 Business-type activities 
 Certificates of Deposit N/A 365 day   17,147,037  

  Municipal Competitive Trust: 
   Flexible Operating Account N/A 07/01/20-10/02/20      11,149,960 
   Intermediate Extended Maturity N/A 07/01/20-10/01/40   3,729,105 
  
  Total primary government   $  39,118,520 
 
 Component Unit 
  
 Downtown Development Authority 
 Certificates of Deposit N/A 365 day $  2,310,243 
 
  Total Downtown Development Authority   $  2,310,243 
 
The City is involved in an external investment pool, the Municipal Competitive Trust, which is administered by 
the Municipal Electric Authority of Georgia (“MEAG”), a governmental entity.  The City entered into a Municipal 
Competitive Trust agreement with MEAG.  The City purchases for resale, electric power from MEAG.  The City is 

a beneficiary of this trust, and the City and MEAG deposit monies in the trust from time to time.  All monies are 
held by the trustee, Municipal Competitive Trust, for the City’s benefit and are invested in investment 
securities.  The City has recorded the assets in the Enterprise Fund.  The Municipal Competitive Trust permits 
the investment of funds in direct obligations of the United States Government, direct and general obligations of 
states, certain Federal agency discount notes and repurchase agreements collateralized by securities, which 
would otherwise by permissible under the laws of the State of Georgia.  The fair value of the City’s position in 
the pool changes with market conditions, and is calculated based on the fair market value of net position held 
in the pool at the close of each business day.   
 
Credit Risk - the City’s policy regarding credit risk is to follow state statute.  The Municipal Competitive Trust 
permits the investment of funds in direct obligations of the United States Government, direct and general 
obligations of states, certain Federal agency discount notes and repurchase agreements collateralized by 
securities, which would otherwise be permissible under the laws of the State of Georgia. 
 
Custodial Credit Risk - for an investment, the custodial risk is the risk that in the event of the failure of the 
counterparty, the City will not be able to recover the value of its investments or collateral securities that are in 
the possession of an outside party. An investment in money market funds is neither insured nor guaranteed by 
the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation or any other government agency.  Although money market funds 
seek to preserve the value of the investment at $1.00 per share, it is possible to lose money by investing in the 
funds. Fund shares are not guaranteed by the US Government. The fund is a managed portfolio and its holdings 
are subject to change.  The fund shares are held in an investment account in the City’s name.  Custodial Credit 
Risk is not required for external investment pools; therefore, the Municipal Competitive Trust is exempt from 
this requirement.  The City has no policy on custodial credit risk. 
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NOTE 2 - DEPOSITS AND INVESTMENTS - CONTINUED 
 
Investments - Continued 
 
Interest Rate Risk - interest rate risk is the risk that changes in interest rates may adversely affect an 
investment’s fair value.  Since the price of a bond fluctuates with market interest rates, the risk that an 
investor faces is that the price of a bond held in a portfolio will decline if market interest rates rise.  The 
portfolio’s weighted average maturity (WAM) is a key determinant of the tolerance of a fund’s investments to 
rising interest rates.  In general, the longer the WAM, the more susceptible the fund is to rising interest rates.  
The US Treasury Money Market interest rate risk is based on WAM.  The Municipal Competitive Trust interest 
rate risk is based on the maximum duration of maturity of its investments.  
 
Concentration of Credit Risk - the City places no limit on the amount that the City may invest in any one issuer.   
External investment pools are excluded from the concentration of credit risk requirement; therefore, the 

Municipal Competitive Trust is exempt from this requirement. 
 
Foreign Currency Risk - The City has no foreign currency risk as all investments are in U.S. dollar-denominated 
assets. 
 
Fair Value Measurements – The City categorizes its fair value measurements within the fair value hierarchy 
established by generally accepted accounting principles.  The hierarchy is based on valuation inputs used to 
measure the fair value of the asset.  Level 1 inputs are quoted market prices in active markets for identical 
assets; Level 2 inputs are significant other observable inputs; and Level 3 inputs are significant unobservable 
inputs.  The City’s fair value measurements follow: 
 
Investment    Level 1   Level 2   Level 3   Fair Value  
Primary Government 
Municipal Competitive Trust: 
 Short-term Portfolio  $ - $ 11,149,960 $ - $ 11,149,960 
 Intermediate Extended Maturity   -  3,729,105  -  3,729,105 

 
Total investments measured at fair value  $ - $ 14,879,065 $ - $ 14,879,065 
 
Investments recorded at cost: 
 Certificates of deposit         24,239,455 
 
Total primary government investments        $ 39,118,520 
 
Component Unit 
Downtown Development Authority – All investments of the Downtown Development Authority were invested in 
certificates of deposit, and were recorded at cost, which was $2,310,243 at June 30, 2020. 
 
 
NOTE 3 - RECEIVABLES 

       Business- 
     Governmental type  
        Activities   Activities    Total   

Current receivables: 
 Property taxes     $  594,333  $              -  $  594,333 
 Sales and excise tax receivable       36,187    -    36,187 
 Accounts                                -    5,353,212    5,353,212 
 Other         119,733               -    119,733 
 
Total current receivables     $  750,253  $  5,353,212  $  6,103,465 
 
Component Unit 
Downtown Development Authority - The Downtown Development Authority had current receivables of $39,000 
classified as other receivables at June 30, 2020. 
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NOTE 3 - RECEIVABLES - CONTINUED 
 
Intergovernmental contracts receivable 
The City has entered into intergovernmental contracts with the City of Buford Board of Education (BOE) 
regarding the issuance, use of proceeds, and payment of General Obligation Bonds Series 2015, 2017A, 2017B, 
and GO Refunding Bonds Series 2017C.  The Bonds were issued to provide funds, together with other available 
funds of the BOE to finance the costs of acquiring, constructing, and equipping certain capital outlay projects 
of the BOE and the costs of issuance of the bonds including capitalized interest.  The intergovernmental 
contracts state that the BOE’s payment obligations consist of the payments of all amounts coming due as 
principal and interest on the Bonds.  The BOE will fund the bonds with ESPLOST revenues, and thus the City 
has an intergovernmental contracts receivable from the BOE for the outstanding Bonds.  The outstanding 
principal balance on the Bonds was $54,200,000 with a premium outstanding of $4,995,085 for total 
intergovernmental contracts receivable of $59,195,085 at June 30, 2020.  The City’s two capital project funds 
2015 GOB Capital Project and 2017 GOB Capital Project account for the sources and uses of the Bond proceeds.  

At June 30, 2020, the City had restricted assets available to use for the BOE capital projects of $704 in the 
2017 GOB Capital Project Fund. 
 
 
NOTE 4 - INTERFUND RECEIVABLES/PAYABLES AND TRANSACTIONS 
 
Interfund balances result from the time lag between the dates that interfund goods and services are provided 
or reimbursable expenditures occur, transactions are recorded, and payment between funds are made. All 
interfund receivable/payable amounts are classified as short-term.  
 
Interfund receivables/payables are as follows at June 30, 2020: 
 
      Interfund   Interfund   
   Fund  Receivables   Payables  
 
General Fund 

 Due from Other Governmental Funds $   110,302 $   -         
 
  Total General Fund    110,302    - 
 
Other Governmental Funds 
 Due to General Fund   -   110,302 
 Due to Buford Community Center Enterprise Fund            -    66,683 
 
  Total Non-Major Governmental Funds   -   176,985 
 
Non-Major Proprietary Fund – Buford Community Center Fund 
 Due from Other Governmental Funds   66,683    - 
 
  Total Non-Major Proprietary Fund   66,683          - 
 
Total    $   176,985  $  176,985 
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NOTE 4 - INTERFUND RECEIVABLES/PAYABLES AND TRANSACTIONS - CONTINUED 
 
Interfund transactions consisted of the following for the year ending June 30, 2020: 
 
                   Transfers       Transfers    
                   In       Out    
 
General Fund: 
 Utilities Fund            $  29,682,465   $           - 
 Other Governmental Funds              223,540      6,949,620       
 Buford Community Center Fund                        -     914,828 
 
  Total General Fund                29,906,005     7,864,448 
 

Other Governmental Funds: 
 General Fund              6,949,620     223,540 
 Buford Community Center Fund              -      66,683 
 
  Total Other Governmental Funds              6,949,620      290,223 
         
Proprietary Funds: 
 Utilities Fund: 
  General Fund               -     29,682,465 
   
   Total Utilities Fund              -     29,682,465 
 
 Buford Community Center Fund: 
  General Fund              914,828     - 
  Other Governmental Funds               66,683        - 
 

   Total Buford Community Center Fund              981,511     - 
  
Totals               $  37,837,136   $  37,837,136 
 
 
Transfers are used to (a) move revenues from the fund that statute or budget requires to collect them to the 
fund that statute or budget requires to expend them and to (b) use unrestricted revenues collected in the 
General Fund and Utilities Fund to finance various programs accounted for in other funds in accordance with 
budgetary authorizations. (c) Transfer funds to finance the debt service funds in fulfillment of the 2010, 2015, 
and 2017 General Obligation Bond obligations.  
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NOTE 5 - CAPITAL ASSETS 
Following is a summary of changes in the capital assets of governmental activities: 
                                                                          

    Balance   Balance 
    July 1,   June 30,  
     2019   Increases   Decreases    2020   

 
GOVERNMENTAL ACTIVITIES: 
Not being depreciated:  
Land     $  13,045,334  $  2,935,063  $( 558,106) $  15,422,291 
Land - schools    8,085,162    -        -    8,085,162  
Construction in progress    4,716,294   11,935,605  ( 836,266)   15,815,633  
 
 Subtotal    25,846,790   14,870,668  ( 1,394,372)   39,323,086 

 
Other capital assets: 
  
Buildings and improvements   39,089,580    238,228              -    39,327,808 
City parks     4,661,579    65,323              -    4,726,902  
Equipment    345,048    104,079  ( 17,990)   431,137 
Furniture and fixtures   639,349                 -                 -    639,349 
Sidewalks       1,488,738     35,017                 -    1,523,755 
Streets      23,219,178    2,861,784              -    26,080,962 
Streetscapes and hardscapes   10,560,013    -              -    10,560,013 
Vehicles     339,893        87,679  ( 74,614)   352,958 
 
 Subtotal    80,343,378    3,392,110   ( 92,604)   83,642,884 
 
Accumulated depreciation: 
Buildings and improvements ( 9,820,671) ( 1,293,910)   -  ( 11,114,581) 

City parks  ( 1,281,119) ( 188,994)   -  ( 1,470,113) 
Equipment  ( 184,446) ( 46,238)   17,990  ( 212,694) 
Furniture and fixtures ( 639,349)   -     -  ( 639,349) 
Sidewalks  ( 423,286) ( 94,870)                      -  ( 518,156) 
Streets   ( 8,948,993) ( 1,186,712)            -  ( 10,135,705) 
Streetscapes and hardscapes ( 3,418,401) ( 524,876)   -  ( 3,943,277) 
Vehicles   ( 128,015) ( 63,390)   74,614  (    116,791) 
 
 Subtotal  ( 24,844,280) ( 3,398,990)    92,604   ( 28,150,666) 
 
 Net other capital assets   55,499,098  ( 6,880)             -    55,492,218 
 

Total capital assets  $  81,345,888  $ 14,863,788  $( 1,394,372) $  94,815,304 
 

Depreciation was charged to functions as follows: 
 
Governmental activities: 
  General government     $  250,670 
  Financial and administration       10,359 
  Public safety, Marshal and Code enforcement              2,265 
  Highway and street       1,926,702 
  Building inspection       - 
  Culture and recreation       1,161,170  
  Maintenance       47,824 
 
 Total governmental activities depreciation expense   $  3,398,990 
 
 
 

 
-40- 



CITY OF BUFORD, GEORGIA 
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2020         

 
 

NOTE 5 - CAPITAL ASSETS - CONTINUED 
 
Following is a summary of changes in the capital assets of business-type activities: 
 

 Balance   Balance 
    July 1,   June 30, 
     2019   Increases   Decreases    2020   

BUSINESS-TYPE ACTIVITIES: 
 
Not being depreciated: 
Land - Gas   $  11,183  $            -  $            -  $  11,183 
Land - Sanitation    85,000              -              -    85,000 
Land - Water & waste water   106,480              -              -    106,480 
Construction in progress - Gas   70,322    408,713    -    479,035 

Construction in progress - Water & wastewater    1,974,790      1,412,029  ( 1,086,332)   2,300,487 
 Subtotal    2,247,775     1,820,742  (  1,086,332)   2,982,185 
 
Other capital assets: 
Buildings and improvements - BCC   146,773    -    -    146,773 
Equipment - Electric    19,866    -    -    19,866 
Equipment - Gas    134,289    28,665    -    162,954 
Equipment - Water & wastewater   186,203    172,000    -    358,203 
Equipment - BCC   71,361    85,963    -    157,324 
Utility plant - Electric    18,668,096    104,880    -    18,772,976 
Utility plant - Gas    68,491,834    3,217,258  ( 539,744)   71,169,348 
Utility plant - Water & wastewater   30,704,021    2,867,977  ( 202,679)   33,369,319 
Vehicles - Electric    163,681    182,633  ( 46,162)   300,152 
Vehicles - Gas    514,923    -  ( 64,473)   450,450 
Vehicles - Solid waste & recycling     476,656    76,289    -    552,945 
Vehicles - Water & wastewater    91,503      -  ( 1,248)   90,255 

 
 Subtotal    119,669,206    6,735,665  ( 854,306)    125,550,565 
 
Accumulated depreciation:  
Buildings and improvements - BCC ( 39,140) ( 9,784)   -  ( 48,924) 
Equipment - Electric ( 6,280) ( 1,987)   -  ( 8,267) 
Equipment - Gas  ( 45,181) ( 17,448)   -  ( 62,629) 
Equipment - Water & wastewater ( 16,139) ( 27,220)   -  ( 43,359) 
Equipment - BCC ( 28,997) ( 13,503)   -  ( 42,500) 
Utility plant - Electric ( 12,908,241) ( 909,166)   -  ( 13,817,407) 
Utility plant - Gas ( 34,828,574) ( 2,725,762)   539,744  ( 37,014,592) 
Utility plant - Water & wastewater ( 15,630,228) ( 1,533,564)   202,679  ( 16,961,113) 
Vehicles - Electric  ( 104,602) ( 17,126)   46,162  ( 75,566) 
Vehicles - Gas  ( 348,792) ( 79,607)   64,473  ( 363,926) 
Vehicles - Solid waste & recycling  ( 150,537) ( 47,666)   -   ( 198,203) 
Vehicles - Water & waste water ( 10,062) ( 18,051)   1,248  ( 26,865) 
 
 Subtotal  ( 64,116,773) ( 5,400,884)   854,306  ( 68,663,351) 
 
Net other capital assets    55,552,433    1,334,781             -    56,887,214 
 
Net capital assets $   57,800,208  $  3,155,523  $( 1,086,332) $  59,869,399 
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NOTE 5 - CAPITAL ASSETS - CONTINUED 
 
Depreciation was charged to functions as follows: 
 
Business-type activities: 
 Electric              $   928,278 
 Gas                    2,822,817 
 Solid Waste and Recycling System                 47,666 
 Waste Water                 789,418 
 Water                   789,418 
 Buford Community Center                  23,287 
 
Total business-type activities depreciation expense           $   5,400,884 

 

 
NOTE 6 - LONG-TERM DEBT 
 
The following is a summary of changes in long-term debt for the year ended June 30, 2020: 

 
       Balance                   Balance       Amounts 
       July 1,                   June 30,        Due within   

Type of Debt    2019      Additions      Deductions     2020       One Year   
 
Governmental activities: 
 General Obligation Bonds 
  direct placement $  5,003,236  $  -  $( 500,000) $ 4,503,236  $  500,000 
 General Obligation Bonds    54,200,000      -    -    54,200,000     - 
 Reoffering premium     5,525,048     -  ( 529,963)   4,995,085     529,964 
  
 General Obligation Bonds 

  - net     64,728,284     -  ( 1,029,963)   63,698,321     1,029,964 
  
 Compensated absences    196,469      -  ( 4,349)   192,120              - 
 Net OPEB liability    5,445,005     1,044,253    -    6,489,258     - 
 Net pension liability    1,483,286     2,656,453    -    4,139,739     - 
 
Total governmental activities 
 Long-term liabilities $  71,853,044  $  3,700,706  $( 1,034,312) $ 74,519,438  $   1,029,964 
 
Business-type activities: 
 Compensated absences $  126,322  $  38,863  $  -  $  165,185   $  - 
 Net OPEB liability    4,732,574     795,312    -     5,527,886      - 
 Net pension liability    1,289,211      2,237,233    -       3,526,444              - 
 
Total business-type activities 
 Long-term liabilities $  6,148,107  $    3,071,408  $  -  $  9,219,515   $   - 
 
The reporting entity’s long-term debt is segregated between the amounts to be repaid from governmental 
activities and amounts to be repaid from business-type activities.  
 
For governmental activities, compensated absences, net OPEB liability, and net pension liability are liquidated 
by the General Fund. 
 
For business-type activities, compensated absences and net pension liability are liquidated by the Utilities 
Fund and the Buford Community Center Fund.  Net OPEB liability is liquidated by the Utilities Fund. 
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NOTE 6 - LONG-TERM DEBT - CONTINUED 
 
GOVERNMENTAL ACTIVITIES 
 
As of June 30, 2020, the governmental long-term debt of the financial reporting entity consisted of the 
following: 
 
GENERAL OBLIGATION BONDS PAYABLE 
 
City of Buford General Obligation Bonds Series 2010 

 
On October 21, 2010 the City issued City of Buford General Obligation Bonds Series 2010 payable in the 
original amount of $10,000,000 in a direct placement. The bonds were issued for the purpose of providing 
funds to be used to pay the cost of acquiring, constructing, and equipping certain additional facilities, including 

a multi-purpose facility to house and in furtherance of the following: (i) recreation and athletics, including, but 
not limited to a passive park, (ii) fine arts, including, but not limited to a theater, (iii) education, (iv) public 
meeting space and community-wide events and programs, and (v) administrative offices, and other buildings 
and facilities useful in connection therewith and acquiring property, real and personal, necessary therefor, and 
paying expenses incident thereto, including the costs of issuing the bonds.  The City has pledged its full faith 
and credit and taxing power to the bonds.  The bonds bear an interest rate of 3.50%, with a final maturity date 
of July 1, 2030. 
 
The following is a summary of the maturity of the bonds and interest thereon: 
  
 Amount of original issue                  $  10,000,000 
 Less:  amount redeemed                   ( 5,496,764) 

 
 Net amount outstanding June 30, 2020 - total general obligation bonds payable       4,503,236 
 Less:  current maturities                     500,000  

 

 Long-term maturities                  $  4,003,236 
 

Annual debt service requirements 

 
The annual debt service requirements to maturity, including principal and interest, for the General Obligation 
Bonds, Series 2010 long-term debt as of June 30, 2020, are as follows: 
 
  Governmental Activities   
 
 Year Ending June 30,  Principal           Interest    Total   
2021     $  500,000  $  153,238  $  653,238 
2022       500,000    135,738    635,738  
2023       500,000    118,238    618,238 
2024       500,000    100,738    600,738 
2025       500,000    83,238    583,238 
2026-2028     2,003,236    157,954    2,161,190                             
 
Total     $  4,503,236  $  749,144  $  5,252,380 
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NOTE 6 - LONG-TERM DEBT - CONTINUED 
 
City of Buford General Obligation Bonds Series 2015 

 
On June 17, 2015, the City issued City of Buford General Obligation Bonds Series 2015 payable in the original 
amount  of $33,050,000. The bonds were issued for the purpose of providing funds, together with other 
available funds of the Board of Education of the City of Buford (“BOE”) to finance the costs of acquiring, 
constructing, and equipping certain capital outlay projects of the School System and the costs of issuance of 
the Bonds including capitalized interest, more specifically for the purpose of acquisition, construction and 
equipping certain additional Buford City School facilities, the addition of classrooms to existing schools, 
renovation of existing facilities and technology and preventive maintenance thereto in furtherance of K-12 
education in the Buford City School district and other buildings and facilities useful in connection therewith, 
and acquiring property, real and personal, necessary thereof, and paying expenses incident thereto; to provide 
for the date and the maximum interest rate or rates of interest which such bonds shall bear, and the schedule 

of maturities of said bond issue; to provide for the levy of and collection of taxes to service said bond issue, 
and for other related purposes.  On December 6, 2017, $22,350,000 of the bonds were advance refunded by 
the issuance of the City of Buford General Obligation Refunding Bonds Series 2017C.  The proceeds of this 
advance refunding were deposited into an escrow fund to refund and defease the refunded bonds.  
Accordingly, the escrow account assets and the liability for the defeased bonds are not included in the City’s 
financial statements.  The remaining bonds from the 2015 issue bear an interest rate of 5.250%, with a final 
maturity date of January 1, 2029.  The City has pledged its full faith and credit and taxing power to the bonds.   
 
The City previously entered into an intergovernmental contract with the BOE in regards to issuance, use of 
proceeds and payment of the City of Buford General Obligation Bonds Series 2015.  This contract was replaced 
in its entirety by an amended and restated contract entered into on December 1, 2017 as part of the issuance 
of the City of Buford General Obligation Refunding Bonds Series 2017C.   
   
The BOE has assigned SPLOST revenues from the Intergovernmental Agreement with the Board of Education of 
Gwinnett County dated July 17, 2015 for use in payment of the Bonds. 
 

The following is a summary of the maturity of the bonds and interest thereon: 
  
 Amount of original issue at par                  $  33,050,000 
 Less:  amount redeemed                   ( 22,350,000) 

 
 Net amount outstanding June 30, 2020 - total general obligation bonds payable       10,700,000  
 
 Less:  current maturities                     -  

 
 Long-term maturities                  $  10,700,000 
 
 
Annual debt service requirements 
 
The annual debt service requirements to maturity, including principal and interest, for the General Obligation 
Bonds, Series 2015 long-term debt as of June 30, 2020, are as follows: 
 
  Governmental Activities   
    
 Year Ending June 30,  Principal           Interest    Total   
2021     $  -  $  561,750  $  561,750 
2022       -    561,750    561,750  
2023       -    561,750    561,750   
2024       -    561,750    561,750 
2025       -    561,750    561,750 
2026-2029    10,700,000    2,247,000    12,947,000 
 
Total     $ 10,700,000  $  5,055,750  $  15,755,750 
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NOTE 6 - LONG-TERM DEBT - CONTINUED 
 
City of Buford General Obligation Bonds Series 2017A and Series 2017B 

 
On November 22, 2017, the City issued The City of Buford General Obligation Bonds – Series 2017A and Series 
2017B in the total amount of $30,000,000.  The City has pledged its full faith and credit and taxing power to 
the bonds.  The Series 2017A and 2017B bonds were issued for the purpose of providing funds, together with 
other available funds of the Board of Education of the City of Buford (“BOE”) to finance the costs of acquiring, 
constructing, and equipping certain capital outlay projects of the School System and the costs of issuance of 
the Bonds including capitalized interest, more specifically for the purpose of acquisition, construction and 
equipping certain additional Buford City School facilities, the addition of classrooms to existing schools, 
renovation of existing facilities and technology and preventive maintenance thereto in furtherance of K-12 
education in the Buford City School district and other buildings and facilities useful in connection therewith, 
and acquiring property, real and personal, necessary thereof, and paying expenses incident thereto; to provide 

for the date and the maximum interest rate or rates of interest which such bonds shall bear, and the schedule 
of maturities of said bond issue; to provide for the levy of and collection of taxes to service said bond issue, 
and for other related purposes.  The bonds bear an interest rate of 5.00%, with a final maturity date of 
January 1, 2029.  
 
The City entered into an intergovernmental contract with the BOE in regards to issuance, use of proceeds and 
payment of the City of Buford General Obligation Bonds Series 2017A and Series 2017B.  The contract 
stipulates that the BOE’s payment obligations consist of the payments of all amounts coming due as principal 
and interest on the Bonds as set forth in the Bonds and the Bond Ordinance directly to and for the applicable 
account of the City as so designated by the City.  The obligation of the BOE to pay promptly its obligations shall 
be absolute and unconditional and shall not be subject to any defense or right of setoff, counterclaim, or 
recoupment arising from any breach by the City of any obligation to the BOE or the breach by the BOE of any 
obligation to the City.  In addition, the BOE has notified the State Board of Education of the issuance of the 
Bonds and has authorized and directed the State Board to withhold and transfer any state appropriation to 
which the BOE is entitled to.  The Sinking Fund Custodian shall be required to transfer to the paying agent for 
the Bonds such amounts of monies as are necessary to provide for the payment of the principal and/or interest 

on the Bonds coming due each payment date.  
 
The BOE has assigned SPLOST revenues from the Intergovernmental Agreement with the Board of Education of 
Gwinnett County dated July 17, 2015 for use in payment of the Bonds. 
 
The following is a summary of the maturity of the bonds and interest thereon: 
  
 Amount of original issue at par                  $  30,000,000 
 Less:  amount redeemed                   ( 10,770,000) 

 
 Net amount outstanding June 30, 2020 - total general obligation bonds payable       19,230,000  
 
 Less:  current maturities                     -  

 
 Long-term maturities                  $  19,230,000 
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NOTE 6 - LONG-TERM DEBT - CONTINUED 
 
City of Buford General Obligation Bonds Series 2017A and Series 2017B - Continued 
 
Annual debt service requirements 
 
The annual debt service requirements to maturity, including principal and interest, for the General Obligation 
Bonds Series 2017A and Series 2017B long-term debt as of June 30, 2020, are as follows: 
 
  Governmental Activities   
    
 Year Ending June 30,        Principal           Interest         Total   
2021     $  -  $  961,500  $  961,500 
2022        -    961,500    961,500 

2023       -    961,500    961,500  
2024       9,420,000    961,500    10,381,500 
2025        -    490,500    490,500 
2025-2029     9,810,000    1,962,000    11,772,000 
 
Total     $  19,230,000  $   6,298,500  $  25,528,500 
 
 
City of Buford General Obligation Refunding Bonds Series 2017C 
 
On December 6, 2017, the City issued The City of Buford General Obligation Refunding Bonds Series 2017C in 
the amount of $24,270,000.  The City has pledged its full faith and credit and taxing power to the bonds.  The 
Series 2017C bonds were issued to advance refund $22,350,000 of the City’s previously issued City of Buford 
General Obligation Bonds Series 2015.  The bonds bear interest rates averaging from 3.00% to 4.00%, with a 
final maturity date of January 1, 2048.  The City advance refunded a portion of the Series 2015 bonds in order 
to issue additional bonds for the construction of BOE facilities and to extend the maturity of the bonds by 19 

years, which will result in an increase in total scheduled debt service payments of $17,921,571 and an 
economic loss (difference between the present value of the debt service payments on the old and new debt) of 
$982,127.  The proceeds of the Series 2017C issue resulted in a gain on advance refunding as follows: 
 
  Net carrying amount of City of Buford G.O. Bonds Series 2015 refunded: 
   Principal balance $ 22,350,000 
   Unamortized bond issue premium   2,600,808 
 
  City of Buford G.O. Bonds Series 2015 Bonds refunded     $ 24,950,808 
 
  Reacquisition price of City of Buford G.O. Bonds Series 2015       24,754,238 
   
  Gain on advance refunding     $  196,570 

 
The City entered into an amended and restated intergovernmental contract with the BOE in regards to 
issuance, use of proceeds and payment of the City of Buford General Obligation Bonds Series 2015 and City of 
Buford General Obligation Refunding Bonds Series 2017C as of December 1, 2017.  The amended and restated 
contract replaced the 2015 intergovernmental contract in its entirety.  The contract stipulates that the BOE’s 
payment obligations consist of the payments of all amounts coming due as principal and interest on the Bonds 
as set forth in the Bonds and the Bond Ordinance directly to and for the applicable account of the City as so 
designated by the City.  The obligation of the BOE to pay promptly its obligations shall be absolute and 
unconditional and shall not be subject to any defense or right of setoff, counterclaim, or recoupment arising 
from any breach by the City of any obligation to the BOE or the breach by the BOE of any obligation to the City.  
In addition, the BOE has notified the State Board of Education of the issuance of the Bonds and has authorized 
and directed the State Board to withhold and transfer any state appropriation to which the BOE is entitled to.  
The Sinking Fund Custodian shall be required to transfer to the paying agent for the Bonds such amounts of 
monies as are necessary to provide for the payment of the principal and/or interest on the Bonds coming due 
each payment date.  
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NOTE 6 - LONG-TERM DEBT - CONTINUED 
 
City of Buford General Obligation Refunding Bonds Series 2017C - Continued 
 
Annual debt service requirements 
 
The annual debt service requirements to maturity, including principal and interest, for the General Obligation 
Refunding Bonds Series 2017C long-term debt as of June 30, 2020, are as follows: 
 
  Governmental Activities   
    
 Year Ending June 30,        Principal           Interest         Total   
2021     $   -  $  896,294  $  896,294 
2022       -    896,294    896,294  

2023       -    896,294    896,294 
2024        -    896,294    896,294 
2025       -    896,294    896,294 
2026-2030     890,000    4,481,469    5,371,469 
2031-2035     5,020,000    3,917,869    8,937,869 
2036-2040     6,055,000    2,890,519    8,945,519 
2041-2045     7,280,000    1,656,988    8,936,988 
2046-2048     5,025,000    342,898    5,367,898 
 
Total     $  24,270,000  $   17,771,213  $  42,041,213 
 
 
The annual debt service requirements to maturity, including principal and interest, for total General Obligation 
Bonds as of June 30, 2020, are as follows: 
 
DEBT SERVICE REQUIREMENTS - TOTAL GENERAL OBLIGATION BONDS PAYABLE, SERIES 2010, SERIES 2015, 

AND SERIES 2017 
 
  Governmental Activities   
 Direct Placement General Oblig. Bonds  

 Year Ending June 30,      Principal    Interest    Principal    Interest      Total   
2021     $   500,000  $  153,238  $  -  $  2,419,544  $  3,072,782 
2022       500,000    135,738    -    2,419,544    3,055,282  
2023       500,000    118,238    -    2,419,544    3,037,782 
2024       500,000    100,738    9,420,000    2,419,544    12,440,282 
2025       500,000    83,238    -    1,948,544    2,531,782 
2026-2030      2,003,236    157,954    21,400,000    8,690,469    32,251,659 
2031-2035     -    -    5,020,000    3,917,869    8,937,869 
2036-2040     -    -    6,055,000    2,890,519    8,945,519 
2041-2045     -    -    7,280,000    1,656,988    8,936,988 
2046-2048     -    -    5,025,000    342,898    5,367,898 
 
Total     $  4,503,236  $  749,144  $  54,200,000  $  29,125,463  $  88,577,843 
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NOTE 7 - FUND BALANCES 
 
The City’s governmental fund balance classifications are nonspendable, restricted for specific purposes, as 
required by bond ordinances, higher levels of government, or unassigned.  As of June 30, 2020, the City’s 
classifications of governmental fund balances are as follows: 
 
Governmental Funds 
 
 Nonspendable: 
   Prepaid items                           $   1,529,428 
 
 Restricted for: 
   Capital Projects – City of Buford Board of Education               704           
   Capital Projects – SPLOST Construction        11,148,012 

   Debt Service        383,675 
   Education                               609,190 
 
 Unassigned        3,838,585 
 
    Total governmental fund balances                          $    17,509,594 
 
 
NOTE 8 - RESTRICTED NET POSITION 
 
Governmental Activities 

 
Restricted net position is comprised of the following at June 30, 2020: 
 
Restricted for: 
 Capital Projects - SPLOST       $    11,148,012           

 Debt service         383,675                   
 Education         609,190 
 
Total net position restricted for governmental-type activities $  12,140,877 
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NOTE 9 - PENSION PLAN 
 
Plan Description 
 
The City’s defined benefit pension plan, City of Buford Retirement Plan (“The BRP”), provides retirement and 
death benefits to plan members and beneficiaries.  These retirement provisions were established by an 
adoption agreement executed by the City Commission. The BRP is affiliated with the Georgia Municipal 
Employees Benefit System (“GMEBS”), an agent multiple-employer pension plan administered by the Georgia 
Municipal Association.  The Georgia Municipal Association assigns the authority to establish and amend the 
benefit provisions of the plans that participate in GMEBS to the respective employer entities; for the BRP, that 
authority rests with the City of Buford.  The Georgia Municipal Association issues a publicly available financial 
report that includes financial statements and required supplementary information for GMEBS.  That report may 
be obtained by written request to Georgia Municipal Association, 201 Pryor Street, SW, Atlanta, Georgia 30303. 
 

Membership of the plan 
 
Retirees and beneficiaries receiving benefits               66 
Terminated vested participants               11 
Active plan members               113  
 
Total                   190 
 
Funding Policy 
 
BRP members are not required and do not contribute to BRP.  BRP is a noncontributory plan. The City is 
required to contribute 100% of the amount necessary to fund BRP at an actuarially determined rate; the 
current rate is 20.54% of expected payroll.  The contribution requirements of the City are established and may 
be amended by the GMEBS Board of Trustees.     
 
BRP is subject to minimum funding standards of the Georgia Public Retirement Systems Standards Law.  The 

GMEBS Board of Trustees has adopted an actuarial funding policy that requires a different funding level than 
the estimated minimum annual contribution to minimize fluctuations in annual contribution amounts and to 
accumulate sufficient funds to secure benefits under the plan.  The funding policy for the plan is to contribute 
an amount equal to the recommended contribution each year.  The recommended contribution is developed 
under the actuarial funding policy each year, and meets applicable state funding standards.  These 
contributions are determined under the entry age normal actuarial cost method and the asset valuation 
method for developing the actuarial value of assets.  The amortization of the unfunded actuarial accrued 
liability is level dollar over 30 years for the initial unfunded accrued liability, 15 years for actuarial gains and 
losses, 10 years for temporary retirement incentive programs, 20 years for other changes to plan provisions, 
and 30 years for actuarial assumptions and cost methods.  The total amortization must be within a corridor of 
the 10-year and the 30-year amortization of the unfunded/(surplus) actuarial accrued liability.  In a year when 
the 10-year or 30-year corridor applies, the following year, the prior year bases are combined into one 10-year 
or 30-year base.  These amortization periods, if applicable, are closed for this plan year.   
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NOTE 9 - PENSION PLAN - CONTINUED 
 
Investment Data 
 
The market value of assets is based on current values as of three months preceding the valuation date 
(September 30, 2019) as is assumed to be current through that date.  All asset data that was used in the 
actuarial valuation has been supplied by GMEBS.  Net investment return is assumed to be 7.375% on an on-
going basis, based on the long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments.  The long-term 
expected rate of return on pension plan investments was determined using a building-block method in which 
the best-estimate ranges of expected future real rates of return (expected returns, net of pension plan 
investment expense and inflation) are developed for each major asset class. These ranges are combined to 
produce the long-term expected rate of return by weighting the expected future real rates of return by the 
target asset allocation percentage and by adding expected inflation. The difference between the resulting rate 
and the rate on the ongoing basis is a margin for adverse deviation. Best estimates of arithmetic real rates of 

return for each major asset class included in the pension plan’s target asset allocation as of September 30, 
2019 are summarized in the following table. 
 
    Long-Term    
    Expected    
 Asset  Target Real Rate of   
  Class      Allocation   Return   
 
Domestic equity  45% 6.41%  
International equity  20% 6.96%  
Domestic fixed income  20% 1.96% 
Real estate  10% 4.76%  
Global fixed income  5% 3.06%  
Cash  0% 
 
Total  100%  

 
NET PENSION LIABILITY 
 
The City’s net pension liability was measured as of September 30, 2019.  The total pension liability used to 
calculate the net pension liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of January 1, 2020 with update 
procedures performed by the actuary to roll forward to the total pension liability measured as of September 
30, 2019. 
 
Net pension liability is calculated as follows: 
 
 Total pension liability $  24,013,100 
 Fiduciary net position  (16,346,917) 
 
 Net pension liability $   7,666,183 
 
 Fiduciary net position as a percentage of total pension liability    68.07% 
 
Total pension liability uses Entry Age Normal liabilities calculated using ages and service amounts as of 
January 1, 2020 are used to measure total pension liability as of September 30, 2019.  The balances as of 
September 30, 2019 constitute measurements of the net pension liability for the fiscal year ending June 30, 
2020. 
 
The mortality and economic actuarial assumptions used in the January 1, 2020 valuation were based on the 
results of an actuarial experience study for the period January 1, 2015 through June 30, 2019.  Mortality rates 
were based on the sex-distinct Pri-2012 head count rated Healthy Mortality Table with rates multiplied by 
1.25. 
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NOTE 9 - PENSION PLAN - CONTINUED 
 
Assumptions on which the cost of BRP is calculated include investment return, mortality rates, retirement 
rates, disability rates, withdrawal rates, and salary increase rates. 
 
Total pension liability, fiduciary net position, and net pension liability are based on a September 30, 2019 
measurement date which would make them applicable to the fiscal year beginning July 1, 2019 and ending 
June 30, 2020. 
 
Benefit Terms 
 
The eligibility requirement is immediate for employees and officials.  Employees and officials are vested after 
10 years.  The type of benefit payment is a life annuity.  Death benefits are term vested Auto A death benefit 
effective January 1, 2003.  Previously eligibility was “early or normal”. The benefit formula is 2.00%.  All 

participants are eligible to receive an annual variable cost-of-living adjustment not to exceed 3.0%.  The 
Georgia Municipal Association has assigned the authority to the City to establish and amend the benefit 
provisions of the plan.   
 
Actuarial Assumptions 
 
The total pension liability in the January 1, 2020 actuarial valuation was based on the projected unit credit 
actuarial cost method and the asset valuation method for developing the actuarial value of assets.  The 
actuarial assumptions included the following: 
 
• Rate of return on investment 7.375% per year 
 
• Projected salary increases  2.25% per year plus age and service based on merit increases 

 
• Inflation rate assumption 2.25% 
 
• Cost of living adjustments 2.10% 
 
Changes in Assumptions 
 
Amounts reported for the fiscal year ending in 2020 and later reflect the following assumption changes based 
on an actuarial study conducted in November and December 2019:   
 

• The mortality table for healthy retirees and beneficiaries was changed from the sex-distinct RP-2000 
Combined Healthy Mortality Table, set forward two years in age for males and one year for females to 
the sex-distinct Pri-2012 head-count weighted Healthy Retiree Mortality Table with rates multiplied by 
1.25. 

• The mortality table for disabled participants was changed from the sex-distinct RP-2000 Disabled 
Retiree Mortality Table to the sex-distinct Pri-2012 head-count weighted Disabled Retiree Mortality 
Table with rates multiplied by 1.25. 

• The mortality table for active participants, terminated vested participants, and deferred beneficiaries 
was changed from the sex-distinct RP-2000 Combined Healthy Mortality Table, set forward two years 

in age for males and one year for females to the sex-distinct Pri-2012 head-count weighted Employee 
Mortality Table. 

• Future mortality improvement is based on projecting generationally from 2012 using 60% of the sex-
distinct Scale SSA2019.  Previously future mortality improvements were not explicitly projected. 

• The prior retirement assumption was based on the Plan’s normal retirement eligibility.  If normal 
retirement eligibility was only available on or after age 65, the prior assumption was 60% at ages 65 
to 69 and 100% at age 70 and older.  If normal retirement was available prior to age 65, the rates 
were 10% at ages 55 to 59, 20% at age 60, 25% at age 61, 35% at age 62, 40% at age 63, 45% at 
age 64, 50% at ages 65 to 69, and 100% at age 70 and older as long as a participant was at least 
eligible for early retirement. 
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NOTE 9 - PENSION PLAN - CONTINUED 

 
Changes in Assumptions - Continued 

 
• The new assumption relates to when a given participant is eligible for normal retirement (either regular 

normal retirement or alternative normal retirement).  Retirement rates do not apply if a participant is 
not eligible for either early or normal retirement.  The retirement rates where normal retirement is 
available on or after age 65 are 5% at ages 55 to 59, 7% at ages 60 and 61, 20% at age 62, 10% at 
ages 63 and 64, 35% at age 65, 25% at ages 66 to 71 and 100% at ages 72 and older. 

• Where normal retirement is available to a given participant at age 62, 63, or 64, the new retirement 
rates are 3% when first eligible for early retirement through age 60, 10% at ages 61 to 64, 35% at 
age 65, 25% at ages 66 to 71 and 100% at ages 72 and older.  In addition, in the first year a 
participant is eligible for normal retirement, the rate is increased to 30%. 

• Where normal retirement is available at age 60 to 61, the new retirement rates are 3% when first 
eligible for early retirement through age 59, 10% at ages 60 to 64, 35% at age 65, 25% at ages 66 to 

71 and 100% at ages 72 and older.  In addition, in the first year a participant is eligible for normal 
retirement, the rate is increased by 20%. 

• Where normal retirement is available prior to age 60, the new retirement rates are 3% when first 
eligible for early retirement through the year prior to normal retirement eligibility, 10% from normal 
retirement eligibility through age 59, 20% at age 60, 25% at age 61, 35% at age 62, 40% at age 63, 
45% at age 64, 50% at age 65, 25% at ages 66 to 71 and 100% at ages 72 and older.  In addition, in 
the first year a participant is eligible for normal retirement, the rate is increased to 10%. 

• The turnover rates were changed from the greater of age-based rates and select rates for the first five 
years of service followed by age-based rates thereafter to service-based rates only. 

• The disability rates were changed to 50% of the rates in the prior age-based table. 
• The inflation assumption was decreased from 2.75% to 2.25%. 
• The salary increase assumption was changed from a service-based salary scale starting at 8.25% for the 

first two years of service with an ultimate rate of 3.25% at ten years of service to a service-based scale 
starting at 8.50% for the first two years of service with an ultimate rate of 3.00% at 15 years of 
service.  

• The investment return assumption was decreased from 7.50% to 7.375%.   

• The cost-of-living assumption of 2.10% was introduced in conjunction with the plan change to offer an 
annual variable COLA not to exceed 3.00%. 
 

Benefit Changes 
 
Amounts reported for fiscal years ending in 2020 and later reflect that effective July 15, 2019, all participants 
are eligible to receive an annual variable cost-of-living adjustment not to exceed 3.00%. 
 

 Discount Rate 
 

The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was 7.375%.  The projection of cash flows used to 
determine the discount rate assumed that City contributions will be made at rates equal to the difference 
between actuarially determined contribution rates.  Based on those assumptions, the pension plan’s fiduciary 
net position was projected to be available to make all projected future benefit payments of the current plan 
members.  Therefore, the long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was applied to all of 
the projected benefit payments to determine the total pension liability.  The discount rate was changed from 
7.50% to 7.375% since the plan’s prior fiscal year. 
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NOTE 9 - PENSION PLAN - CONTINUED 
 
Changes in the Net Pension Liability of the City.  The changes in the components of the net pension liability of 
the City for the year ended June 30, 2020, were as follows: 
 
     Total Pension Plan Fiduciary Net Pension 
     Liability Net Position Liability (Asset) 
       (a)     (b)     (a) – (b)   
 
Beginning balance $  17,978,334  $  15,205,836  $  2,772,498  
 
Changes for the year: 
 Service cost   260,982                  -     260,982  
 Interest    1,325,206                  -     1,325,206  

 Differences between expected and 
  actual experience   75,920                  -     75,920  
 Contributions – employer                 -     1,851,747  ( 1,851,747) 
 Contributions – employee                 -                   -                   -   
 Net investment income                 -     455,009  ( 455,009) 
 Benefit payments, including refunds of 
  employee contributions ( 1,139,797) ( 1,139,797)                 -   
 Administrative expense                 -   ( 25,878)   25,878  
 Other changes    5,512,455                  -      5,512,455  
 
Ending balance $  24,013,100  $  16,346,917  $  7,666,183  

 
The required schedule of changes in the City’s net pension liability and related ratios immediately following the 
notes of the financial statements presents multiyear trend information about whether the value of plan assets 
is increasing or decreasing over time relative to the total pension liability. 
 

Sensitivity of the net pension liability to changes in the discount rate.  The following presents the net pension 
liability of the City, calculated using the discount rate of 7.375 percent, as well as, what the City’s net pension 
liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is 1 percentage point lower (6.375%) or 1 
percentage point higher (8.375%) than the current rate: 
 
            Current        
       1% Decrease     Discount Rate     1% Increase   
       (6.375%)     (7.375%)     (8.375%)   
 
     $  11,048,541  $  7,666,183  $  4,890,225  
 
Actuarial valuations involve estimates of the value of reported amounts and assumptions about the probability 
of events far into the future, and actuarially determined amounts are subject to continual revision as results 
are compared to past expectations and new estimates are made about the future.  Actuarial calculations reflect 
a long-term perspective.  Calculations are based on the substantive plan in effect as of September 30, 2019 
and the current sharing pattern of costs between employer and employee. 
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NOTE 9 - PENSION PLAN - CONTINUED 
 
PENSION EXPENSE AND DEFERRED OUTFLOWS/INFLOWS OF RESOURCES RELATED TO PENSIONS 
 
Pension expense for the year ended June 30, 2020 is $5,237,478. 
 
Deferred outflows/inflows of resource related to pensions: 
 
        Deferred     Deferred 
        Outflows of     Inflows of 
        Resources     Resources   
 
Differences between expected and actual experience $      820,387  $  - 
Changes in assumptions    1,407,550                -  

Changes in benefit terms                  -                -  
Net difference between projected and actual earnings on pension plan  
 Investments   18,465    - 
City contributions subsequent to the measurement date   1,551,618    -  
 
Total     $   3,798,020  $  - 
 
Employer contributions made subsequent to the measurement date of the net pension liability of $1,551,618 
are reported as deferred outflows of resources and will be recognized as a reduction of the net pension liability 
in the year ending June 30, 2020.  Other amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred 
inflows of resources related to pensions will be recognized in pension expense as follows: 
 
Projected recognition of deferred outflows/(inflows): 
 
        Year Ended     Recognition   
 

        June 30, 2021  $  613,011  
        June 30, 2022    592,033  
        June 30, 2023    559,803  
        June 30, 2024    481,555  
        June 30, 2025    -  
        Thereafter     -  
 
        Total  $  2,246,402  
 
 
NOTE 10 - POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS OTHER THEN PENSIONS - OPEB  
 
Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 
 
The City uses accounting policies consistent with recognition of liabilities and expenses in the Government-
Wide financial statements as described in Note 1 and with GASB Statement No. 75.  The City has chosen the 
pay-as-you-go method of funding the Plan, and as of June 30, 2020, the Plan reported no assets. 
 
General Information about the OPEB Plan  
 
Plan administration.  The City of Buford Other Postemployment Benefit Plan (OPEB) is a defined benefit 
postretirement healthcare, prescription drug, and life insurance plan.  The Plan is administered through the 
Georgia Municipal Employees Benefit System (GMEBS), an agent multiple-employer OPEB plan administered by 
the Georgia Municipal Association (GMA).  The authority to establish and amend benefit provisions of the Plan 
rests with the City and is established by ordinance.  The Plan does not issue separate financial statements.  No 
assets are accumulated in a trust that meets the criteria in paragraph 4 of GASB Statement No. 75, Accounting 
and Financial Reporting for Postemployment Benefits Other Than Pensions. 
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NOTE 10 - POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS OTHER THEN PENSIONS - OPEB - CONTINUED 
 
Benefits Provided.  The Plan allows employees to continue medical, prescription drug, dental and life insurance 
coverage beyond retirement, depending on whether the retiree had those coverages at the time they retire.  
Spouse benefits are the same as benefits for retirees except for life insurance. Benefits are payable to a spouse 
regardless of when the retiree dies.  Retiree and spouse contribution rates are periodically reset by City 
ordinance.  
 
City Contributions.  The City has not elected to advance fund the OPEB Plan, but rather maintains the OPEB 
Plan on a “pay-as-you-go” basis, in that claims are paid as they arise, rather than establishing an irrevocable 
trust to accumulated restricted funds.  The plan is noncontributory in that the City contributes 100% of the 
benefit payments to the plan.  The GMA issues a publicly available financial report that includes financial 
statements and required supplementary information for GMEBS.   
 

Employees eligible for the plan include the following: 
 
Elected officials: officials and their dependents are eligible for a period equal to their years of service. 
 
Appointed positions and department heads: employees and their dependents are eligible for a period equal to 
their years of service in which they held an appointed position. 
 
Regular employees: After thirty years of service, the employee and their dependents are eligible for life. 
 
Employees covered by the benefit terms.  At January 1, 2018, City plan membership consisted of the following: 
 
 Retired members or beneficiaries currently receiving benefits  9 
 Vested terminated members entitled to but not yet receiving benefits  0 
 Active members  112 
 
 Total  121 

 
Total OPEB Liability 
 
The City’s Net OPEB liability was measured as of June 30, 2019 and 2018.  The Plan Fiduciary Net Positions 
(plan assets, if any) were valued as of the measurement dates and the Total OPEB liability was determined 
from actuarial valuations using data as of January 1, 2018. 
 
Actuarial assumptions and other inputs.  The total OPEB liability was measured as of June 30, 2019 using the 
following actuarial assumptions and other inputs, applied to all periods included in the measurement, unless 
otherwise noted: 
 
 Inflation 2.25% 
 
 Salary increases 2.25%, plus service-based merit increases 
 
 Discount rate 3.50% 
 
 Healthcare cost trends Medical and Prescription Drug:  6.50%  
  Trended down to 4.50% over 4 years 
  Dental and Administrative Expenses:  5.00% 
 
 Mortality rates Sex-distinct Pri-2002 head-count weighted Healthy 
  Mortality Table with rate multiplied by 1.25. 
 
The discount rate was based on the index of the General Obligation, 20-year, Municipal Bond Rate as of each 
measurement date. 
 
The actuarial assumptions used for the June 30, 2019 measurement date were based on the results of an 
actuarial experience study for the period January 1, 2015 to June 30, 2019. 
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NOTE 10 - POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS OTHER THEN PENSIONS - OPEB - CONTINUED 
 
Changes in the Total OPEB Liability of the City.  The changes in the components of the total OPEB liability of 
the City for the year ended June 30, 2020, were as follows: 
 
     Total OPEB Plan Fiduciary Net OPEB 
     Liability Net Position Liability (Asset) 
       (a)     (b)     (a) – (b)   
 
Beginning balance $  10,177,579  $                -   $  10,177,579  
 
Changes for the year: 
 Service cost   303,320                  -     303,320  
 Interest    402,317                  -     402,317  

 Differences between expected and 
  actual experience   18,451                  -     18,451  
 Changes of assumptions   1,285,673                  -     1,285,673  
 Contributions – employer                 -     170,196  ( 170,196) 
 Net investment income                 -                   -                   -   
 Benefit payments, including refunds of 
  employee contributions ( 170,196) ( 170,196)                 -   
 Administrative expense                 -                   -                   -  
 
Ending balance $  12,017,144  $                -   $  12,017,144  

 
Benefit Changes 
 
There were no changes in benefit provisions since GASB 75 implementation. 
 
Changes of Assumptions:  A comprehensive Actuarial Experience Review, was conducted November-December 

2019.  As a result of that study, the following assumption changes were proposed and subsequently approved.  
These changes are reflected for the first time in this valuation. 
 

• The mortality table for healthy retirees and beneficiaries was changed from the sex-distinct RP-2000 
Combined Healthy Mortality Table, set forward two years in age for males and one year for females to 
the sex-distinct Pri-2012 head-count weighted Healthy Retiree Mortality Table with rates multiplied by 
1.25. 

• The mortality table for disabled participants was changed from the sex-distinct RP-2000 Disabled 
Retiree Mortality Table to the sex-distinct Pri-2012 head-count weighted Disabled Retiree Mortality 
Table with rates multiplied by 1.25. 

• The mortality table for active participants, terminated vested participants, and deferred beneficiaries 
was changed from the sex-distinct RP-2000 Combined Healthy Mortality Table, set forward two years 
in age for males and one year for females to the sex-distinct Pri-2012 head-count weighted Employee 
Mortality Table. 

• Future mortality improvement is based on projecting generationally from 2012 using 60% of the sex-
distinct Scale SSA2019.  Previously future mortality improvements were not explicitly projected. 

• The retirement assumption was revised with the new rates based on expected Normal Retirement age. 
• The turnover rates were changed from the greater of age-based rates and select rates for the first five 

years of service followed by age-based rates thereafter to service-based rates only. 
• The disability rates were changed to 50% of the rates in the prior age-based table. 
• The inflation rate was changed from 2.75% to 2.25%. 
• The salary increase assumption was changed from a service-based salary scale starting at 8.25% for the 

first two years of service with an ultimate rate of 3.25% at ten years of service to a service-based scale 
starting at 8.50% for the first two years of service with an ultimate rate of 3.00% at 15 years of 
service. 

• The discount rate from the 20-year Bond GO Index for June 30, 2019 was 3.50%.  For June 30, 2018 it 
was 3.87%. 
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CITY OF BUFORD, GEORGIA 
NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2020         
 
 
NOTE 10 - POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS OTHER THEN PENSIONS - OPEB - CONTINUED 
 
Sensitivity of the total OPEB liability to changes in the discount rate.  The following presents the total OPEB 
liability of the City, as well as what the City’s total OPEB liability would be if it were calculated using a discount 
rate that is 1-percentage-point lower (2.50%) or 1-percentage-point higher (4.50%) than the current rate. 
 
            Current        
       1% Decrease     Discount Rate     1% Increase   
       (2.50%)     (3.50%)     (4.50%)   
 
Total OPEB liability $  15,133,955  $  12,017,144  $  9,692,952 
 
Sensitivity of the total OPEB liability to changes in the healthcare cost trend rates.  The following presents the 
total OPEB liability of the City, as well as what the City’s total OPEB liability would be if it were calculated 

using healthcare cost trend rates that are 1-percentage-point lower or 1-percentage-point higher than the 
current healthcare trend rates. 
 
       1% Decrease     Current     1% Increase   
       In Healthcare     Healthcare     in Healthcare  
       Cost Trend     Cost Trend     Cost Trend 
       Rates     Rates     Rates   
 
Total OPEB liability $  9,400,105  $  12,017,144  $  15,665,549 
 
 
OPEB Expense and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of Resources Related to OPEB 
 
For the year ended June 30, 2020, the City recognized OPEB expense of $553,115.  At June 30, 2020, the City 
reported deferred outflows/inflows of resource related to OPEB from the following sources: 
 

        Deferred     Deferred 
        Outflows of     Inflows of 
        Resources     Resources   
 
Differences between expected and actual experience $      19,712  $  - 
Changes in assumptions or other inputs    1,124,963    1,663,330  
City contributions subsequent to the measurement date   161,791    -  
 
Total     $   1,306,466  $  1,663,330 
 
Employer contributions made subsequent to the measurement date of the total OPEB liability of $161,791 are 
reported as deferred outflows of resources and will be recognized as a reduction of the total OPEB liability in 
the year ending June 30, 2020.  Other amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred 
inflows of resources related to OPEB will be recognized in OPEB expense as follows: 
 
Projected recognition of deferred outflows/(inflows): 
 
        Year Ended     Recognition   
 
        June 30, 2021  $( 152,526) 
        June 30, 2022  ( 152,526) 
        June 30, 2023  ( 152,526) 
        June 30, 2024  ( 152,526) 
        June 30, 2025  ( 152,526) 
        Thereafter    243,975 
 
        Total  $( 518,655) 
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NOTE 11 - HOTEL/MOTEL LODGING TAX 
 
The City has levied a hotel/motel lodging tax under OCGA 48-13-51(b). The City levies excise taxes at the rate 
of 7%.  3/7 (42.86%) goes into the general fund; 2/7 (28.57%) is remitted to the Cities destination marketing 
organizations (e.g. Gwinnett Convention and Visitors Bureau and Lake Lanier Convention and Visitors Bureau); 
the remaining 2/7 (28.57%) is spent on “tourism product development” such as the Buford Community Center 
or as defined in 48-13-50.2 under the definition tourism product development. A summary of the transactions 
for the year ending June 30, 2020 follows: 
 
Total hotel/motel tax receipts collected @ 7% $  232,996 
 
Less: 71.43% of hotel/motel tax collected @ 7% to be remitted to  
 City of Buford General Fund and Buford Community Center Fund ( 166,485) 
 

Tax collected to be expended for the promotion of tourism, conventions and trade shows      66,511 
 
Expenditures for promotion of tourism, conventions and trade shows remitted to the  
 Gwinnett and Lake Lanier Convention & Visitors Bureaus (  66,511)  
 
Collections over (under) expenditures for year ended June 30, 2020 $          -   
 
 
NOTE 12 – AUTO RENTAL EXCISE TAX  
 
The City has levied a rental motor vehicle excise tax.  OCGA 48-13-93 requires that all motor rental vehicle 
excise taxes be expended for the purpose of promoting industry, trade, commerce, and tourism; for the 
provision of convention, trade, sports, and recreational facilities.  During the year ended June 30, 2020, the 
City recognized $123,603 in revenue from rental motor vehicle excise tax.  Of this amount $123,603, was 
expended for these purposes. 
 

 
NOTE 13 - EXCESS EXPENDITURES OR EXPENSES OVER APPROPRIATIONS 
 
The City had no excess expenditures or expenses over appropriations for the year ending June 30, 2020. 
 
 
NOTE 14 - DEFICIT FUND BALANCES/NET POSITION 
 
The City had no deficits in fund balances or net position as of June 30, 2020. 
 
 
NOTE 15 - DEFERRED COMPENSATION PLAN 
 
The City offers its employees a deferred compensation plan created in accordance with Internal Revenue 
Service Code 457.  The plan, available to all City employees, permits them to defer a portion of their salary 
until future years. Participation in the plan is optional.  The deferred compensation plan is not available to 
employees until termination, retirement, death or unforeseeable emergencies. 
 
In accordance with Section 457 of the Internal Revenue Code, plan assets are held in trust for the exclusive 
benefit of participants and their beneficiaries.  Accordingly, the assets and liabilities of the deferred 
compensation plans are not included in the accompanying financial statements. 

 
 
NOTE 16 - LITIGATION 
 
The City is a party to one claim with no legal proceedings, which normally occurs in the course of governmental 
operations.  This claim is not likely to have a material adverse impact on the affected funds of the City, and 
accordingly, no provision for losses has been recorded.   
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NOTE 17 – COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES 
 
The City has Potential Liability under MEAG Contracts as follows: 
 
Electrical System.  The City has entered into Power Sales Contracts with the Municipal Electric Authority of 
Georgia (“MEAG”) pursuant to which the City purchases electric power and energy for resale to its customers. 
MEAG was created by the State of Georgia for the purpose of owning and operating electric generation and 
transmission facilities to supply bulk electric power to political subdivisions of Georgia which owned and 
operated electric distribution systems as of March 18, 1975. 
 
Under the terms of its Power Sales Contracts with MEAG, the City is obligated to take from MEAG, and MEAG is 
obligated to provide, all electric power and energy required by the City in excess of the amount received by the 
City as an allotment from federally owned projects through the Southeastern Power Administration (“SEPA”).  
Such allotment of SEPA power has been assigned by the City to MEAG and is transmitted to the City by MEAG 

through Georgia’s Integrated Transmission System for a separate charge.  Under its Power Sales Contracts 
with MEAG, the City has the right to receive additional power as needed from the Integrated Transmission 
System. The price paid by the City to MEAG under its Power Sales Contracts is intended to cover the City’s 
share of all the costs of MEAG, including debt service on MEAG’s long-term debt.  The amounts required to be 
paid to MEAG under the Power Sales Contracts are payable first from revenues of the City’s electrical system.  
To the extent the required payments are not made from revenues of the City’s electric system or other funds, 
the City is required to include in its general revenue or appropriation measure or annual tax levy amounts 
sufficient to make such payments.  Payments by the City are required to be made by the City whether or not 
MEAG’s facilities or any part thereof are operating or operable or the output there from is interrupted, 
interfered with, curtailed or terminated in whole or in part.  In addition, the City may be obligated to purchase 
additional power, subject to contractual limitations, in the event other MEAG participants default.   
 
MEAG has issued bonds for the purpose of providing power generation and transmission and 
telecommunication facilities. The City is contingently liable for their pro rata share of the bonds as a power 
purchase cost until they are retired. The City’s contingent contractual obligation varies by individual MEAG 
project and totals approximately $105,774,139 as of June 30, 2020. The contingent obligations of the City are 

general obligations of the City to which the City’s full faith credit and taxing powers are pledged. 
 
The City has Potential Liability under MGAG Contracts as follows: 
 
Gas System.  The City has entered into the Gas Supply Contract and certain Supplemental Gas Supply Contracts 
with the Municipal Gas Authority of Georgia (“MGAG”) under which the City buys natural gas for resale to its 
customers.  Under such contracts with MGAG, the City is obligated to take from MGAG, and MGAG is obligated 
to provide, all of the City’s natural gas requirements.  The price paid by the City to MGAG under its contracts is 
intended to cover the City’s share of all the costs of MGAG, including scheduled debt service of MGAG.  Such 
payments are required to be made by the City whether or not MGAG’s facilities or natural gas properties or any 
part thereof are operating or operable or the output there from is interrupted, interfered with, curtailed or 
terminated in whole or in part, or whether or not any of its natural gas suppliers or transporters defaults in its 
obligations under its gas supply or transportation contracts with MGAG.  To the extent the required payments 
are not made from the revenues of the System or other funds, the City is required to include in its general 
revenue or appropriation measure or annual tax levy amounts sufficient to make such payments.  The City is 
contingently liable for its pro-rata share of MGAG’s debt in the amount of $12,709,751 of as June 30, 2020. The 
contingent obligations of the City are general obligations of the City to which the City’s full faith credit and 
taxing powers are pledged. 
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NOTE 17 – COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES - CONTINUED 
 
Gwinnett County and City of Buford Wholesale Sewage Agreement 
The City entered into an agreement with Gwinnett County on May 2, 2018 to purchase water reclamation 
services from Gwinnett.  The agreement is for a period of 50 years, or until it is dissolved or revised by mutual 
consent by both Gwinnett and the City.  The payment terms of the agreement are for the City to make an 
annual payment to Gwinnett in the amount of $1,375,000 per year over 12 years totaling $16,500,000.  The 
agreement provides for an annual increase in the amount of instantaneous daily flow that the City can send to 
Gwinnett with an initial daily flow maximum of 83,333 gallons per day increasing annually by 83,333 gallons 
per day until the daily maximum flow reaches 1,000,000 gallons per day in year 12.  Payments are to be made 
annually unless the daily max flow sent from the City to Gwinnett exceeds the current allotted daily max flow.  
If the City exceeds its daily maximum flow then the City will be required to make a payment to Gwinnett that 
corresponds with the daily max flow tier level that occurred in the previous month.  The City has made 
payments totaling $5,500,000 as of June 30, 2020. 

 
Current Economic Environment 
 
The current economic environment presents municipalities with circumstances and challenges, which in some 
cases could result in declines in the volume of tax collections, other general revenues, municipal utility billings; 
constraints on liquidity and difficulty obtaining financing. These financial statements have been prepared using 
fair values and information currently available to the City, which are susceptible to change in the future based 
on economic conditions.  
 
Worldwide Coronavirus Pandemic 
 
The City has been negatively impacted by the effects of the worldwide coronavirus pandemic.  The City is 
closely monitoring its operations, liquidity, and capital resources and is actively working to minimize the 
current and future impact of this unprecedented situation.  The City has obtained CARES Act funding 
subsequent to the date of these financial statements in order to help offset some expenses during the 
outbreak.   As of the date of the issuance of these financial statements, the full impact to the City’s financial 

position is not known.   
 
 
NOTE 18 - RISK MANAGEMENT 
 
The City is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts; theft of, damage to, and destruction of assets; 
errors and omissions; injuries to employees; and natural disasters.  Significant losses in these areas are all 
covered by commercial insurance.  There have been no significant reductions in insurance coverage.  
Settlement amounts have not exceeded insurance coverage for the current year or the three prior years. 
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NOTE 19 - TRANSACTIONS WITH COMPONENT UNITS AND OTHER RELATED ENTITIES 
 
For the year ended June 30, 2020, The City incurred the following intergovernmental revenues, expenditures 
and transfers relating to the City of Buford Board of Education, a component unit of the City.  For additional 
information, see Note 1. 
 
General Fund 
                
Operating transfers to City of Buford Board of Education $  28,900,000 
Other transfers for expenditures to City of Buford Board of Education   778,096 
 
GOB 2017 Capital Project Fund 
 
Capital project expenditures by the GOB 2017 Construction fund   2,596,441 

 
GOB 2015 Capital Project Fund 
 
Intergovernmental expenditures by the GOB 2015 Construction fund   2,746 
 
Total intergovernmental expenditures relating to City of Buford Board of Education $  32,277,283 
 
Fiduciary Custodial Funds 
 
Amounts from Education SPLOST funds held in trust for the City of Buford Board of Education totaled 
$9,360,114 as of June 30, 2020.   
 
Component Unit - Downtown Development Authority 
 
For the year ended June 30, 2020, The City transferred property with a book value of $558,106 to the City of 
Buford Downtown Development Authority, a component unit of the City.     

 
In addition, The City of Buford Housing Authority is a related organization of the City.  The Authority provides 
safe and sanitary dwelling accommodations for persons of low income.  The City appoints a voting majority of 
the Authority’s board, but is not financially accountable for the Authority.  The City has no significant influence 
over the management, budget, or policies of the Authority.  The Authority reports independently.  The City 
received payment in lieu of taxes from the Authority for the year ended June 30, 2020 totaling $6,195. 
 
 
NOTE 20 - JOINT VENTURE 
 
Under Georgia law, the City, in conjunction with other cities and counties in the 10 county metro Atlanta area, 
is a member of the Atlanta Regional Commission (“ARC”).  The City pays no annual dues to ARC.  Membership 
in a Regional Commission (“RC”) is required by the Official Code of Georgia Annotated (OCGA) Section 50-8-
34, which provides for the organizational structure of an RC in Georgia.  The ARC Board membership includes 
each county commission chairman in the region, one mayor from each county (except Fulton County) chosen 
by a caucus of mayors, one mayor from the northern half and one mayor from the southern half of Fulton 
County elected by a caucus of mayors within northern and southern Fulton County, the mayor of the City of 
Atlanta, one member of the Atlanta City Council, fifteen private citizens, one from each of the 15 multi-
jurisdictional districts of roughly equal population, elected by the 23 public officials, and one member 
appointed by the Board of the Georgia Department of Community Affairs.  OCGA Section 50-8-39.1 provides 
that the member governments are liable for any debts or obligations of the ARC.  Separate financial statements 
may be obtained from Atlanta Regional Commission, 40 Courtland St, NE, Atlanta, GA  30303 or the Northeast 
Georgia Regional Commission, 305 Research Drive, Athens, GA  30605-2725. 
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NOTE 21 - GRANTS 
 
In the normal course of operations, the City receives grant funds from various Federal and State agencies.  The 
grant programs are subject to audit by agents of the granting authority, the purpose of which is to ensure 
compliance with conditions precedent to the granting of funds.  Any liability for reimbursement which may 
arise as the result of these audits is not believed by management to have a direct and material effect on the 
financial statements taken as a whole. 
 
 
NOTE 22 - MUNICIPAL SOLID WASTE LANDFILL CLOSURE AND POSTCLOSURE CARE  
 
The City’s municipal solid waste landfill located at Peachtree Industrial Boulevard and McEver Road (The 
“landfill”) ceased accepting waste in 1986.  In 1998 the landfill was capped with a minimum of two-foot thick 
soil cover to close the site under existing EPD rules and regulations, then grassed, and has since been routinely 

maintained by the City to preserve its integrity.  According to state and federal laws and regulations, the City 
must perform certain maintenance and monitoring functions at the site for a minimum of 30 years from the 
time of closure, and since 1997, the landfill has been the subject of routine ground water and methane 
monitoring and reporting in conformance with EPD rules and regulations.  The City previously recognized a 
liability for closure and postclosure care costs, which was fully amortized as of June 30, 2018.  There is no 
remaining estimated total current cost of closure and postclosure care remaining to be recognized.  The 
percentage of landfill capacity used to date is 100%, and it has an estimated remaining landfill life of zero 
years.   The City is and will maintain the landfill as a grassed area to discourage erosion.  There are no assets 
restricted for payment of closure and postclosure care costs.  The City continued to perform routine ground 
water and methane monitoring and testing at the site during the current year, and expended $115,076 on the 
monitoring and testing.  Even though there is no remaining liability for closure and postclosure care costs, the 
City could potentially be subject to additional costs due to changes in requirements of and decisions made by 
the EPD in relation to the landfill, inflation, or changes in technology. 
  
The City is listed on the State of Georgia’s Hazardous Site Inventory and, as such, is eligible for reimbursement 
of certain costs. Any reimbursable amounts have not been included in cost estimates due to the uncertainty of 

amounts to be reimbursed. The City is not under any closure and post closure financial assurance requirements 
per EPD rule 391-3-4-.13 due to its closing prior to October 8, 1993.   
 
 
NOTE 23 - SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 
 
The City issued Combined Utility System Revenue Bonds Series 2020 in the total amount of $17,435,000 to be 
applied to the financing of the costs of the acquisition, construction and installation of certain additions, 
extensions and improvements to the water and sewerage portions of its Combined Utility System, including, 
without limitation, the construction and development of a new water plant and improvements to one or more 
existing sewer main service lines.  The closing date of the bonds was July 21, 2020 and the bonds mature July 
1, 2040. 
 
 
NOTE 24 - CHANGE IN ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLE 
 
The City has implemented Government Accounting Standards Board Statement No. 84, Fiduciary Activities.  
This Standard has required the City to reevaluate the accounting treatment of fiduciary activities.  The new 
standard requires the City to determine if funds are still considered fiduciary, and if so, if they are considered 
custodial funds under the new definitions of GASB Statement No. 84.  The City identified three funds, formerly 
agency funds, which meet the definition of custodial funds under the new standard. 
 
As agency funds did not report net position prior to GASB Statement No. 84, a restatement of beginning 
fiduciary net position was required as of July 1, 2019.  The City recognized the beginning net position of 
$10,608,959, $720,697, and $33,236 for the Gwinnett County E-SPLOST V, Hall County E-SPLOST IV, and Hall 
County E-SPLOST V funds, in accordance with GASB Statement No. 84. 
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CITY OF BUFORD 
REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION 

SCHEDULE OF CHANGES IN THE NET PENSION LIABILITY AND RELATED RATIOS 
FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2020 

 
CITY OF BUFORD RETIREMENT PLAN 

      2020   2019   2018   2017   2016   2015     
 Total Pension Liability 
 Service cost $  260,982  $  295,792  $  290,915  $  282,761  $  242,345  $  229,426                  
 Interest    1,325,206    1,237,995    1,141,107    1,064,758     860,448    814,082                   
 Differences between  
  Expected and actual  
  Experience   75,920    705,887    643,809    392,980    910,203    74,088                  
 Changes in assumptions   1,620,701    -    277,477    -     -    23,680                  
 Changes of benefit terms   3,891,754    -    -             -    1,281,817    -   
 Benefit payments, including 
  Refunds of employee 
  Contributions ( 1,139,797) ( 944,292) ( 788,624) ( 722,078) ( 595,041) ( 490,971)                 
 Net change in total pension 
  Liability   6,034,766    1,295,382    1,564,684    1,018,421    2,699,772    650,305                  
 Total pension liability –  
  Beginning  17,978,334  16,682,952   15,118,268  14,099,847   11,400,075   10,749,770                   
 Total pension liability – 
  Ending (a) $ 24,013,100  $ 17,978,334  $ 16,682,952  $ 15,118,268  $ 14,099,847  $ 11,400,075                  
          
 Plan Fiduciary Net Position 
 Contributions – employer $  1,851,747  $  1,926,160  $  1,991,281  $  1,966,440  $  806,632  $  740,510                  
 Contributions – employee   -    -    -    -    -    -                  
 Net Investment income   455,009    1,320,193    1,593,046    953,798    80,385    770,232       
 Benefit payments, including 
  Refunds of employee 
  Contributions ( 1,139,797) ( 944,292) ( 788,624) ( 722,078) ( 595,041) ( 490,971)                 
 Administrative expense ( 25,878) ( 25,152) ( 25,331) ( 14,366) ( 15,919) ( 12,688)                 
 Other     -    -    -    -    -    -                  
 Net change in fiduciary  
  Net position   1,141,081    2,276,909    2,770,372    2,183,794    276,057    1,007,083                  
 Plan fiduciary net position – 
  Beginning  15,205,836   12,928,927   10,158,555    7,974,761    7,698,704    6,691,621                  
 Plan fiduciary net position –  
  Ending (b) $ 16,346,917  $ 15,205,836  $ 12,928,927  $ 10,158,555  $  7,974,761  $  7,698,704                  
               
 Net Position Liability 
 Net pension liability –  
  Ending (a) – (b) $  7,666,183  $  2,772,498  $  3,754,025  $  4,959,713  $  6,125,086  $  3,701,371                  
         
 Plan’s fiduciary net position 
  As a percentage of the 
  Total pension liability   68.07%    84.58%    77.50%    67.19%    56.56%    67.53%                  
         
 Covered-employee payroll $  5,785,007  $  5,477,581  $  6,066,224  $  5,655,240  $  5,475,883  $  5,393,065                  
         
 Net pension liability as a  
  Percentage of covered-  
  Employee payroll   132.52%    50.62%    61.88%    87.70%    111.86%    68.63%                  
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CITY OF BUFORD 
REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION 

SCHEDULE OF CONTRIBUTIONS 
FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2020 

 
CITY OF BUFORD RETIREMENT PLAN 

      2020   2019   2018   2017   2016   2015   
 
 Actuarially determined 
  contribution   *   $  888,965  $  938,559  $  1,008,855  $  757,901  $  758,076                  
         
 Contributions in relation to  
  The actuarially determined 
  Contribution   *     1,888,965    1,938,559    2,008,855    1,952,301    758,076    
 
 Contribution deficiency 
  (excess)   *   ( 1,000,000) ( 1,000,000) ( 1,000,000) ( 1,194,400)   - 
 
 Covered-employee payroll   *   $  5,477,581  $  6,066,224  $  5,655,240  $  5,475,883  $  5,393,065 
 
 Contributions as a percentage 
  Of covered-employee 
  Payroll    *     34.49%    31.96%    35.52%    35.65%    14.06% 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

* 2020 information will be determined after fiscal year end and will be included in the 2021 audit report. 
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CITY OF BUFORD, GEORGIA 
REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION 
NOTES TO REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION - PENSION 
FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2020         
 
 
NOTE 1 - RECOMMENDED CONTRIBUTION 
 
The GMEBS Board of Trustees has adopted an actuarial funding policy for determination of annual 
contributions and the systematic funding of liabilities arising under the BRP.  The annual minimum 
contribution is the sum of 1) the normal cost (including administrative expenses), 2) the closed level dollar 
amortization of the unfunded actuarial liability over a period that ranges from 10 to 30 years based on the 
funding policy adopted by the GMEBS Board of Trustees, and 3) interest on these amounts from the valuation 
date to the date contributions are paid (assumed monthly). 
 
 
NOTE 2 – VALUATION DATE 
 
The actuarially determined contribution rate was determined as of January 1, 2020, with an interest 

adjustment to the fiscal year.  Contributions in relation to this actuarially determined contribution rate will be 
reported for the fiscal year ending June 30, 2021. 
 
 
NOTE 3 – METHODS AND ASSUMPTIONS USED TO DETERMINE CONTRIBUTION RATES: 
 
Actuarial Cost Method – Entry Age Normal 
 
Amortization Method – Closed level dollar for remaining unfunded liability 
 
Remaining Amortization Period – Remaining amortization period varies for the bases, with a net effective 
amortization period of 15 years 
 
Asset Valuation Method – Sum of actuarial value at beginning of year and the cash flow during the year plus 
the assumed investment return, adjusted by 10% of the amount that the value exceeds or is less than the 
market value at the end of year.  The actuarial value is adjusted, if necessary, to be within 20% of market 

value. 
 
Actuarial Assumptions: 
 

• Rate of return on investment 7.375% per year 
 

• Projected salary increases  2.25% per year plus age and service based on merit increases 
 

• Cost of living adjustments 2.10% 
 
Normal Retirement Age – 65+5 or 60+30 or Rule of 75 
 
Early Retirement Age – 55+10 
 
The mortality and economic actuarial assumptions used in the January 1, 2020 valuation were based on the 
results of an actuarial experience study for the period January 1, 2015 through June 30, 2019.  Mortality rates 

were based on the Pri-2012 head-count weighted Healthy Mortality Table with rates multiplied by 1.25. 
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NOTES TO REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION - PENSION 
FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2020         
 
 
NOTE 4 - CHANGES OF ASSUMPTIONS 
 
Amounts reported for the fiscal year ending in 2020 and later reflect the following assumption changes based 
on an actuarial study conducted in November and December 2019:   
 

• The mortality table for healthy retirees and beneficiaries was changed from the sex-distinct RP-2000 
Combined Healthy Mortality Table, set forward two years in age for males and one year for females to 
the sex-distinct Pri-2012 head-count weighted Healthy Retiree Mortality Table with rates multiplied by 
1.25. 

• The mortality table for disabled participants was changed from the sex-distinct RP-2000 Disabled 
Retiree Mortality Table to the sex-distinct Pri-2012 head-count weighted Disabled Retiree Mortality 
Table with rates multiplied by 1.25. 

• The mortality table for active participants, terminated vested participants, and deferred beneficiaries 

was changed from the sex-distinct RP-2000 Combined Healthy Mortality Table, set forward two years 
in age for males and one year for females to the sex-distinct Pri-2012 head-count weighted Employee 
Mortality Table. 

• Future mortality improvement is based on projecting generationally from 2012 using 60% of the sex-
distinct Scale SSA2019.  Previously future mortality improvements were not explicitly projected. 

• The prior retirement assumption was based on the Plan’s normal retirement eligibility.  If normal 
retirement eligibility was only available on or after age 65, the prior assumption was 60% at ages 65 
to 69 and 100% at age 70 and older.  If normal retirement was available prior to age 65, the rates 
were 10% at ages 55 to 59, 20% at age 60, 25% at age 61, 35% at age 62, 40% at age 63, 45% at 
age 64, 50% at ages 65 to 69, and 100% at age 70 and older as long as a participant was at least 
eligible for early retirement. 

• The new assumption relates to when a given participant is eligible for normal retirement (either regular 
normal retirement or alternative normal retirement).  Retirement rates do not apply if a participant is 
not eligible for either early or normal retirement.  The retirement rates where normal retirement is 
available on or after age 65 are 5% at ages 55 to 59, 7% at ages 60 and 61, 20% at age 62, 10% at 
ages 63 and 64, 35% at age 65, 25% at ages 66 to 71 and 100% at ages 72 and older. 

• Where normal retirement is available to a given participant at age 62, 63, or 64, the new retirement 
rates are 3% when first eligible for early retirement through age 60, 10% at ages 61 to 64, 35% at 
age 65, 25% at ages 66 to 71 and 100% at ages 72 and older.  In addition, in the first year a 
participant is eligible for normal retirement, the rate is increased to 30%. 

• Where normal retirement is available at age 60 to 61, the new retirement rates are 3% when first 
eligible for early retirement through age 59, 10% at ages 60 to 64, 35% at age 65, 25% at ages 66 to 
71 and 100% at ages 72 and older.  In addition, in the first year a participant is eligible for normal 
retirement, the rate is increased by 20%. 

• Where normal retirement is available prior to age 60, the new retirement rates are 3% when first 
eligible for early retirement through the year prior to normal retirement eligibility, 10% from normal 
retirement eligibility through age 59, 20% at age 60, 25% at age 61, 35% at age 62, 40% at age 63, 
45% at age 64, 50% at age 65, 25% at ages 66 to 71 and 100% at ages 72 and older.  In addition, in 
the first year a participant is eligible for normal retirement, the rate is increased to 10%. 

• The turnover rates were changed from the greater of age-based rates and select rates for the first five 
years of service followed by age-based rates thereafter to service-based rates only. 

• The disability rates were changed to 50% of the rates in the prior age-based table. 

• The inflation assumption was decreased from 2.75% to 2.25%. 
• The salary increase assumption was changed from a service-based salary scale starting at 8.25% for the 

first two years of service with an ultimate rate of 3.25% at ten years of service to a service-based scale 
starting at 8.50% for the first two years of service with an ultimate rate of 3.00% at 15 years of 
service.  

• The investment return assumption was decreased from 7.50% to 7.375%.   
• The cost-of-living assumption of 2.10% was introduced in conjunction with the plan change to offer an 

annual variable COLA not to exceed 3.00%. 
 

 
NOTE 5 - BENEFIT CHANGES 
 
Amounts reported for fiscal years ending in 2020 and later reflect that effective July 15, 2019, all participants 
are eligible to receive an annual variable cost-of-living adjustment not to exceed 3.00%. 
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CITY OF BUFORD 
REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION 

SCHEDULE OF CHANGES IN THE TOTAL OPEB LIABILITY AND RELATED RATIOS 
FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2020 

 
CITY OF BUFORD OPEB PLAN 

      2020   2019   2018    
 Total OPEB Liability 
 Service cost $  303,320  $  329,837  $  421,379                               
 Interest    402,317    377,047    338,642      
 Changes of benefit terms   -    -    - 
 Differences between  
  Expected and actual  
  Experience   18,451    4,002    909                              
 Changes in assumptions   1,285,673  ( 660,436) ( 1,868,799)                               
 Benefit payments, including 
  Refunds of employee 
  Contributions ( 170,196) ( 150,158) ( 151,309)                            
 Net change in total OPEB 
  Liability   1,839,565  ( 99,708) ( 1,259,178)                              
 Total OPEB liability –  
  Beginning  10,177,579   10,277,287   11,536,465    
 Total OPEB liability – 
  Ending (a) $ 12,017,144  $ 10,177,579  $ 10,277,287   
                        
 Plan fiduciary net position 
 Contributions – employer $  170,196  $  150,158  $  151,309 
 Net investment income   -    -                    - 
 Benefit payments ( 170,196) ( 150,158) ( 151,309) 
 Administrative expense   -    -    - 
 
 Net Change in plan fiduciary 
  Net position   -    -    - 
 
 Plan fiduciary net position –  
  Beginning   -    -    - 
 
 Plan fiduciary net position – 
  Ending (b) $  -  $  -  $  - 
 
 Net OPEB Liability –  
  Ending (a) - (b) $ 12,017,144  $ 10,177,579  $ 10,277,287 
 
 Plan’s fiduciary net position 
  As a percentage of the 
  Total OPEB Liability   0.00%    0.00%    0.00% 
   
 Covered-employee payroll $  5,785,007  $  5,477,581  $  6,066,224                             
 
 Total OPEB liability as a  
  Percentage of covered-  
  Employee payroll   207.73%    185.80%    169.42%   
 
 

 
-67- 



CITY OF BUFORD, GEORGIA 
REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION 
NOTES TO REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION - OPEB 
FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2020         
 
 
NOTE 1 - CONTRIBUTION RATE 
 
Actuarially determined contribution rates are calculated as of the middle of the fiscal year, based on the most recent 
valuation date. 
 
Methods and assumptions used to determine contribution rates: 
 Discount rate    3.50% 
 Actuarial cost method   Entry Age Level Percent of Pay Actuarial Cost Method 
 Amortization method   Open 30 years, level percent of payroll 
 Remaining amortization period  30 years 
 Asset valuation method  Market Value 
 Payroll increase assumption  2.25% 
 
 
NOTE 2 - PLAN ASSETS 
 
There were no assets accumulated in a trust that meets the criteria in GASB 75, Paragraph 4 to pay related benefits. 
 
 
NOTE 3 - CHANGES OF ASSUMPTIONS 
 

Changes of Assumptions:  A comprehensive Actuarial Experience Review, was conducted November-December 
2019.  As a result of that study, the following assumption changes were proposed and subsequently approved.  
These changes are reflected for the first time in this valuation. 
 

• The mortality table for healthy retirees and beneficiaries was changed from the sex-distinct RP-2000 
Combined Healthy Mortality Table, set forward two years in age for males and one year for females to 
the sex-distinct Pri-2012 head-count weighted Healthy Retiree Mortality Table with rates multiplied by 
1.25. 

• The mortality table for disabled participants was changed from the sex-distinct RP-2000 Disabled 
Retiree Mortality Table to the sex-distinct Pri-2012 head-count weighted Disabled Retiree Mortality 
Table with rates multiplied by 1.25. 

• The mortality table for active participants, terminated vested participants, and deferred beneficiaries 
was changed from the sex-distinct RP-2000 Combined Healthy Mortality Table, set forward two years 
in age for males and one year for females to the sex-distinct Pri-2012 head-count weighted Employee 
Mortality Table. 

• Future mortality improvement is based on projecting generationally from 2012 using 60% of the sex-
distinct Scale SSA2019.  Previously future mortality improvements were not explicitly projected. 

• The retirement assumption was revised with the new rates based on expected Normal Retirement age. 
• The turnover rates were changed from the greater of age-based rates and select rates for the first five 

years of service followed by age-based rates thereafter to service-based rates only. 
• The disability rates were changed to 50% of the rates in the prior age-based table. 
• The inflation rate was changed from 2.75% to 2.25%. 
• The salary increase assumption was changed from a service-based salary scale starting at 8.25% for the 

first two years of service with an ultimate rate of 3.25% at ten years of service to a service-based scale 
starting at 8.50% for the first two years of service with an ultimate rate of 3.00% at 15 years of 
service. 

• The discount rate from the 20-year Bond GO Index for June 30, 2019 was 3.50%.  For June 30, 2018 it 
was 3.87%. 

 
 
NOTE 4 - BENEFIT CHANGES 
 
There have been no benefit changes since GASB 75 implementation. 
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COMBINING FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
NON-MAJOR GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS 

 
 

 
Nonmajor Governmental Funds are funds in which total fund assets plus deferred outflows of resources, 
liabilities plus deferred inflows of resources, revenues or expenditures are less than 10% of total 
governmental funds, and total fund assets plus deferred outflows of resources, liabilities plus deferred inflows 
of resources, revenues or expenditures are less than 5% of total governmental and business-type funds.  
These funds are made up of funds used to account for resources, which are required legally or by sound 
financial management to be accounted for in a fund other than the General Fund. 

 
SPECIAL REVENUE FUND 

 
The Special Revenue Funds are used by the City to account for the accumulation and disbursement of 
restricted resources. The following is a description of the City’s Special Revenue Fund: 
 
Hotel/Motel Tax Fund - used to account for receipt and allocation of the City’s hotel/motel tax. Use of this tax 
is limited by law to promotion of tourism. The City hotel/motel tax rate for its three hotels was 7% during the 
fiscal year ending June 30, 2020. 
 
Auto Rental Excise Tax Fund – used to account for the receipt and allocation of the City’s auto rental excise 
tax.  Use of this tax is limited by law to promote industry, trade, commerce, and tourism, certain capital outlay 
projects, and maintenance and operating expenses or security and public safety expenses associated with 
those capital outlay projects.  The City auto rental excise tax rate was 3% during the fiscal year ending June 
30, 2020. 
  

DEBT SERVICE FUNDS 
 

The Debt Service Funds account for the accumulation of resources for, and the payment of governmental long- 
term debt principal, interest, and fiscal charges. The governmental long-term debt serviced by the Debt Service 
Funds consist of the 2010 General Obligation Bonds, 2015 General Obligation Bonds, and 2017 General 
Obligation Bonds.  
 

CAPITAL PROJECTS FUNDS 
 

The Capital Projects Funds account for all resources used for the acquisition and/or construction of major 
capital facilities by the City, except those financed by the General and Proprietary Funds. The following is a 
description of the City’s non-major Capital Projects Funds. 
 
Gwinnett County 2009 SPLOST Fund - used to account for the construction and financing of projects funded by 
the City of Buford 2009 SPLOST. 
 
Gwinnett County 2014 SPLOST Fund - used to account for the construction and financing of projects funded by 
the City of Buford 2014 SPLOST. 
 
Gwinnett County 2017 SPLOST Fund - used to account for the construction and financing of projects funded by 
the City of Buford 2017 SPLOST. 
 
Hall County 2009 SPLOST Fund - used to account for the construction and financing of projects funded by the 
Hall County 2009 SPLOST. 
 
Hall County 2015 SPLOST Fund - used to account for the construction and financing of projects funded by the 
Hall County 2015 SPLOST. 
 
Rest Haven 2001 SPLOST Fund - used to account for the construction and financing of projects funded by the 
City of Rest Haven 2001 SPLOST. 
 
Rest Haven 2005 SPLOST Fund - used to account for the construction and financing of projects funded by the 
City of Rest Haven 2005 SPLOST. 
 
2015 General Obligation Bond Capital Project Fund - used to account for the construction of the new Buford 
high school funded by the issuance of the 2015 General Obligation Bonds. 
 
2017 General Obligation Bond Capital Project Fund - used to account for the construction of the new Buford 
high school funded by the issuance of the 2017 General Obligation Bonds. 



CITY OF BUFORD, GEORGIA 
COMBINING BALANCE SHEET 
NONMAJOR GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS 
AS OF JUNE 30, 2020         

 
                                                                                               TOTAL 

  SPECIAL   DEBT   CAPITAL     NON-MAJOR 
  REVENUE   SERVICE   PROJECT GOVERNMENTAL   
  FUNDS   FUNDS   FUNDS         FUNDS  

 
           
ASSETS 

Cash and cash equivalents $  163,486  $  -  $  11,481,179  $  11,644,665 
 Sales, excise, and other tax receivable   36,187    -    -    36,187 
 Due from other governments   -    -    397,927    397,927 
 Prepaid items             -      1,257,488           -       1,257,488 
 Restricted cash and cash equivalents   -    383,675    704    384,379 
  
   Total assets $   199,673  $    1,641,163  $   11,879,810  $   13,720,646 

 
 
LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCES 
 
 
LIABILITIES 
 Accounts payable $  22,688  $            -  $  731,094  $  753,782 
 Interfund balances         176,985              -     -     176,985 
 
  Total liabilities    199,673              -    731,094    930,767 
 
 
FUND BALANCES 
 Nonspendable: 
  Prepaid items   -    1,257,488    -    1,257,488 
 Restricted for: 

  Tourism, conventions and trade shows   -              -              -    -   
  Debt Service             -    383,675              -    383,675 
  Capital projects - City of Buford 
   Board of Education   -    -    704    704 
  Capital projects –  
   SPLOST construction              -               -     11,148,012     11,148,012 
  
  Total fund balances    -      1,641,163     11,148,716     12,789,879 
 
  Total liabilities and fund balances $   199,673  $    1,641,163  $   11,879,810  $   13,720,646 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
SEE INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT. 
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CITY OF BUFORD, GEORGIA 
COMBINING STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES 
NONMAJOR GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDING JUNE 30, 2020         

 
        TOTAL 

  SPECIAL   DEBT   CAPITAL   NON-MAJOR 
  REVENUE   SERVICE   PROJECTS GOVERNMENTAL   
  FUNDS   FUNDS   FUNDS         FUNDS  

 
 

REVENUES 
 Taxes – sales, excise, and other  $   356,599  $            -  $             -   $  356,599 
 Intergovernmental revenue             -    2,418,024    2,258,707    4,676,731   
 Investment income             135             99     23,701    23,935 
 
  Total revenues    356,734    2,418,123    2,282,408    5,057,265 
 
EXPENDITURES 

 Current operating: 
  Public services: 
   Culture and recreation   66,511    -    -    66,511 
 Intergovernmental: 
  Buford Board of Education   -    -    2,599,187    2,599,187 
 Capital outlay             -    -    731,094    731,094 
 Debt service: 
  Principal retirement             -    500,000              -    500,000 
  Interest and fiscal agent fees            -     2,591,496                   -    2,591,496 
 
   Total expenditures    66,511     3,091,496    3,330,281    6,488,288 
 
Excess (deficiency) of revenues over 
 (under) expenditures   290,223  ( 673,373) ( 1,047,873) ( 1,431,023) 
 
OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES) 

 Transfers in    -    663,706    6,285,914    6,949,620 
 Transfers out ( 290,223)          -    -  ( 290,223)     
 
  Net other financing sources (uses) ( 290,223)   663,706          6,285,914    6,659,397  
 
Net change in fund balance   -  ( 9,667)   5,238,041    5,228,374  
  
Fund balance - beginning     -        1,650,830     5,910,675    7,561,505  
 
Fund balance - ending $   -      $    1,641,163  $   11,148,716  $  12,789,879 

    
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 
SEE INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT. 
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CITY OF BUFORD, GEORGIA 
COMBINING BALANCE SHEET 
NONMAJOR SPECIAL REVENUE FUNDS 
AS OF JUNE 30, 2020             

 
                         NON-MAJOR SPECIAL REVENUE FUNDS      
                                                                                                       
   Total           
 Hotel/ Auto Nonmajor                     
 Motel Rental Special        
 Tax Excise Tax Revenue  
                                                                                           Fund              Fund Funds  
            
ASSETS 
 Cash and cash equivalents     $  163,486  $        -  $  163,486  
 Sales, excise, and other taxes receivable       25,822    10,365    36,187 

  
Total assets       $  189,308   $   10,365  $   199,673 
 
 
LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCES 
 
 
LIABILITIES 
 Accounts payable     $  22,688  $  -  $  22,688 
 Interfund balances       166,620    10,365    176,985  
 
Total liabilities        189,308    10,365    199,673  
 
 
FUND BALANCE 
 Restricted for: 
  Tourism, conventions, and trade shows        -    -    - 
 
Total fund balance       -    -    - 
 
Total liabilities and fund balance     $  189,308      $  10,365  $   199,673 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
SEE INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT. 
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CITY OF BUFORD, GEORGIA 
COMBINING STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES 
NONMAJOR SPECIAL REVENUE FUNDS 
AS OF JUNE 30, 2020             

 
                         NON-MAJOR SPECIAL REVENUE FUNDS      
                                                                                                       
   Total           
 Hotel/ Auto Nonmajor                     
 Motel Rental Special        
 Tax Excise Tax Revenue  
                                                                                           Fund              Fund Funds  
      

REVENUES 
 Taxes – sales, excise, and other     $  232,996  $  123,603  $  356,599 
 Investment income        135      -    135   
 
  Total revenues            233,131            123,603    356,734  
 
EXPENDITURES 
 Culture and recreation          66,511          -             66,511         
 
   Total expenditures           66,511      -            66,511  
 

Excess (deficiency) of revenues over(under) expenditures     166,620    123,603     290,223   
 
OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES) 
 Transfers out     ( 166,620) ( 123,603)  (      290,223)   
 
  Net other financing sources (uses)     ( 166,620) ( 123,603) ( 290,223) 
 
Net change in fund balance       -    -    -  
  
Fund balance - beginning         -    -       -  
 
Fund balance - ending     $  -  $  -  $  - 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
SEE INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT. 
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CITY OF BUFORD, GEORGIA 
COMBINING BALANCE SHEET 
NONMAJOR DEBT SERVICE FUNDS 
AS OF JUNE 30, 2020             

 
                         NON-MAJOR DEBT SERVICE FUNDS        
 
 2010 2015 2017 Total 
 GOB GOB GOB Nonmajor 
 Debt Service Debt Service Debt Service Debt Service 
  Fund Fund Fund Funds  
            
ASSETS 
 Prepaid items  $  328,591  $  -  $  928,897  $  1,257,488 
 Restricted cash and cash equivalents   65,372    288,075    30,228    383,675 

  
Total assets   $  393,963     $  288,075  $   959,125  $   1,641,163  
 
 
FUND BALANCES 
 Nonspendable: 
  Prepaid items $  328,591  $  -  $  928,897  $  1,257,488 
 Restricted for: 
  Debt Service   65,372            288,075     30,228     383,675 
 
Total fund balances $  393,963  $  288,075  $  959,125  $  1,641,163 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
SEE INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT. 
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CITY OF BUFORD, GEORGIA 
COMBINING STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES 
NONMAJOR DEBT SERVICE FUNDS 
AS OF JUNE 30, 2020             

 
                         NON-MAJOR DEBT SERVICE FUNDS        
 
 2010 2015 2017 Total  
 GOB GOB GOB Nonmajor  
 Debt Service Debt Service Debt Service Debt Service 
 Fund Fund Fund Funds  
      

REVENUES 
 Intergovernmental $  -  $  560,230  $  1,857,794  $  2,418,024 
 Investment income    -     56    43    99 
 
  Total revenues       -          560,286    1,857,837    2,418,123 
 
EXPENDITURES 
 Debt service: 
  Principal retirement   500,000    -    -    500,000 
  Interest and fiscal charges      170,702    562,250         1,858,544    2,591,496  
 
   Total expenditures       670,702      562,250       1,858,544    3,091,496 
 
Excess (deficiency) of revenues over  
 (under) expenditures ( 670,702) ( 1,964) ( 707) ( 673,373) 
 
OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES) 
 Transfers in      662,456    500     750    663,706 
 
  Net other financing sources (uses)    662,456    500    750    663,706 
 
Net change in fund balance ( 8,246) ( 1,464)   43  ( 9,667) 
  
Fund balance - beginning    402,209    289,539    959,082    1,650,830  

 
Fund balance - ending $  393,963  $  288,075  $  959,125  $  1,641,163 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
SEE INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT. 
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CITY OF BUFORD, GEORGIA 
COMBINING BALANCE SHEET 
NONMAJOR CAPITAL PROJECTS FUNDS 
AS OF JUNE 30, 2020             

 
                         NON-MAJOR CAPITAL PROJECTS FUNDS      
                          
     GWINNETT   GWINNETT   GWINNETT   HALL   HALL 
     COUNTY   COUNTY   COUNTY   COUNTY      COUNTY 
     2009   2014   2017    2009    2015       
     SPLOST   SPLOST   SPLOST       SPLOST   SPLOST  
  
ASSETS 
  Cash and cash equivalents     $ 2,771,204  $ 1,124,445  $ 6,180,399  $ 91,991  $ 724,115 
  Due from other governments         -    -     366,521     -    31,406  
  Restricted cash and cash equivalents     -    -    -    -    -   
 
Total assets      $  2,771,204  $ 1,124,445  $ 6,546,920  $ 91,991   $ 755,521 
 
 
LIABILITIES AND FUND 
 BALANCES 
 
LIABILITIES 
  Accounts payable     $ -  $ 731,094  $ -  $ -  $ -  
  Interfund balances       -    -    -    -    - 
 
Total liabilities       -    731,094    -    -    - 
 
FUND BALANCES 
  Restricted for: 
   Capital projects - City of Buford 
  Board of Education       -    -    -    -    - 
 Capital projects - SPLOST construction      2,771,204    393,351    6,546,920    91,991     755,521 
  
Total fund balances         2,771,204    393,351     6,546,920        91,991      755,521      
 
Total liabilities and  
  fund balances     $  2,771,204  $  1,124,445  $ 6,546,920    $  91,991  $ 755,521 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 



 
 
 

 
 
               

             TOTAL  
       2015   2017   NONMAJOR   
 REST HAVEN   REST HAVEN   GOB   GOB   CAPITAL 
 2001   2005   CAPITAL   CAPITAL   PROJECTS    
 SPLOST   SPLOST   PROJECT   PROJECT   FUNDS  
 
 
$  19,137  $  569,888  $  -  $  -  $  11,481,179 
   -    -    -    -    397,927 
   -    -    -    704    704 
 
$  19,137  $  569,888  $  -  $  704  $  11,879,810 
  
 
 
 
 
   
$  -  $  -  $  -  $  -  $  731,094 
   -    -    -    -    - 
 
   -    -    -    -    731,094 
 
 
 
 
   -    -    -    704    704 
   19,137    569,888    -    -    11,148,012 
 
   19,137    569,888    -    704    11,148,716 
 
$  19,137  $  569,888  $  -  $  704  $  11,879,810 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
SEE INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT. 
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CITY OF BUFORD, GEORGIA 
COMBINING STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES 
NONMAJOR CAPITAL PROJECTS FUNDS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2020             

 
               NON-MAJOR CAPITAL PROJECTS FUNDS       
                               
     GWINNETT   GWINNETT   GWINNETT   HALL   HALL  
     COUNTY   COUNTY   COUNTY   COUNTY      COUNTY 
     2009   2014   2017       2009   2015  
     SPLOST   SPLOST   SPLOST   SPLOST            SPLOST  
 
REVENUES 
  Intergovernmental revenue     $  -  $ -  $ 2,088,179  $  -  $  170,528 
  Investment income         3,328              1,133              5,279               92    646 
 
Total revenues        3,328       1,133    2,093,458           92    171,174 
 
EXPENDITURES 
  Intergovernmental: 
 Buford Board of Education       -    -    -    -    - 
  Capital outlay           -    731,094    -     -          - 
  
Total expenditures                -    731,094        -               -          - 
 
Excess (deficiency) of  
 Revenues over (under) 
 Expenditures       3,328  ( 729,961)   2,093,458    92    171,174  
 
OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)    
Transfers in        -    -    -    -    - 
 
Net other financing sources (uses)     -    -    -    -    - 
 
Net change in fund balance        3,328  ( 729,961)       2,093,458          92     171,174 
 
Fund balance - beginning        2,767,876    1,123,312       4,453,462       91,899    584,347 
  
Fund balance - ending                  $  2,771,204  $   393,351  $   6,546,920  $  91,991  $     755,521 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 
 
 
 
                                    
             TOTAL  
       2015   2017   NONMAJOR   
 REST HAVEN   REST HAVEN   GOB   GOB   CAPITAL 
 2001   2005   CAPITAL   CAPITAL   PROJECTS    
 SPLOST   SPLOST   PROJECT   PROJECT   FUNDS  
 
 
$  -  $  -  $  -  $  -  $  2,258,707 
   19    575    1    12,628    23,701 
   
    19    575    1    12,628    2,282,408 
 
 
 
     -    -    2,746    2,596,441    2,599,187 
   -    -    -    -    731,094 
 
   -    -    2,746    2,596,441    3,330,281 
 
 
 
   19    575  ( 2,745) ( 2,583,813) ( 1,047,873) 
 
 
   -    -    -    6,285,914    6,285,914  
 
   -    -    -    6,285,914    6,285,914 
 
   19    575  ( 2,745)   3,702,101    5,238,041  
 
    19,118    569,313    2,745  ( 3,701,397)   5,910,675 
 
$  19,137  $  569,888  $  -  $  704  $  11,148,716 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 
 
 

 
SEE INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT. 
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CITY OF BUFORD, GEORGIA 
HOTEL/MOTEL TAX FUND 

 SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES  
AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES - BUDGET AND ACTUAL  

FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2020 
 
 
        Variance with 
        Final budget 
   Final      Over 
     Budget   Actual   (Under)  
REVENUES 
 Taxes – sales, excise, and other                     $  340,000    $  232,996  $( 107,004) 
 Investment income       200     135  ( 65)  
 
  Total revenues         340,200           233,131  ( 107,069) 
 
EXPENDITURES 
 Current operating: 

  Public services: 
   Culture and recreation       66,511     66,511    - 
 
    Total expenditures        66,511     66,511     - 
 
Excess (deficiency) of revenues over 
 (under) expenditures       273,689     166,620  ( 107,069) 
 
OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES) 
 Transfers out     ( 166,620)  ( 166,620)   - 
  
  Net other financing sources (uses)     ( 166,620)  ( 166,620)   - 
 
Net change in fund balance       107,069    -  ( 107,069) 
  
Fund balance - beginning         -    -             -  

 
Fund balance - ending     $  107,069  $  -  $( 107,069) 
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CITY OF BUFORD, GEORGIA 
AUTO RENTAL EXCISE TAX FUND 

 SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES  
AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES - BUDGET AND ACTUAL  

FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2020 
 
 
        Variance with 
        Final budget 
   Final      Over 
     Budget   Actual   (Under)  
REVENUES 
 Taxes – sales, excise, and other                    $  125,000  $  123,603  $( 1,397)   
  
  Total revenues         125,000           123,603  ( 1,397) 
 
EXPENDITURES 
 Current operating: 
  Public services: 

   Culture and recreation       -     -              - 
 
    Total expenditures        -     -             - 
 
Excess (deficiency) of revenues over 
 (under) expenditures       125,000     123,603  ( 1,397) 
 
OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES) 
 Transfers out       ( 123,603)  ( 123,603)         -     
  
  Net other financing sources (uses)       ( 123,603)  ( 123,603)   - 
 
Net change in fund balance       1,397    -  ( 1,397)  
  
Fund balance - beginning         -    -             -  
 

Fund balance - ending     $  1,397  $  -  $( 1,397) 
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CITY OF BUFORD, GEORGIA 
2010 GENERAL OBLIGATION BOND DEBT SERVICE FUND 

 SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES  
AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES - BUDGET AND ACTUAL  

FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2020 
 
 
        Variance with 
        Final budget 
   Final      Over 
     Budget   Actual   (Under)  
 
REVENUES       $   -  $   -     $  -   
 
  Total revenues            -           -   - 
 
EXPENDITURES 
 Debt service: 
  Principal retirement       500,000    500,000    - 

  Interest and fiscal charges         170,702    170,702          -         
 
   Total expenditures         670,702      670,702                - 
 
Excess (deficiency) of revenues over 
 (under) expenditures     ( 670,702)  ( 670,702)                    - 
 
OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES) 
 Transfers in         700,000     662,456  ( 37,544) 
  
  Net other financing sources (uses)        700,000    662,456  ( 37,544) 
 
Net change in fund balance       29,298  ( 8,246) ( 37,544) 
  
Fund balance - beginning         402,209     402,209     -  
 

Fund balance - ending     $  431,507  $  393,963  $( 37,544) 
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CITY OF BUFORD, GEORGIA 
2015 GENERAL OBLIGATION BOND DEBT SERVICE FUND 

 SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES  
AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES - BUDGET AND ACTUAL  

FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2020 
 
 
        Variance with 
        Final budget 
   Final      Over 
     Budget   Actual   (Under)  
 
REVENUES 
 Intergovernmental     $  -  $  560,230  $  560,230 
 Investment income       -     56          56   
 
  Total revenues        -            560,286     560,286 
 
EXPENDITURES 

 Debt service: 
  Interest & fiscal charges         562,250          562,250              -         
 
   Total expenditures         562,250      562,250                 - 
  
Excess (deficiency) of revenues over 
 (under) expenditures     ( 562,250) ( 1,964)     560,286   
 
OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES) 
 Transfers in         -    500    500 
 
  Net other financing sources (uses)       -    500     500 
 
Net change in fund balance     ( 562,250) ( 1,464)   560,786 
  
Fund balance - beginning        289,539    289,539             -  

 
Fund balance - ending                                  $( 272,711) $  288,075  $  560,786 
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CITY OF BUFORD, GEORGIA 
2017 GENERAL OBLIGATION BOND DEBT SERVICE FUND 

 SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES  
AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES - BUDGET AND ACTUAL  

FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2020 
 
 
        Variance with 
        Final budget 
   Final      Over 
     Budget   Actual   (Under)  
 
REVENUES 
 Intergovernmental     $  -  $  1,857,794  $  1,857,794 
 Investment income       -     43          43   
 
  Total revenues        -            1,857,837     1,857,837 
 
EXPENDITURES 

 Debt service: 
  Interest and fiscal charges          1,858,544     1,858,544              -         
 
   Total expenditures          1,858,544      1,858,544                 - 
  
Excess (deficiency) of revenues over 
 (under) expenditures     ( 1,858,544) ( 707)     1,857,837   
 
OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES) 
 Transfers in         -    750    750 
 
  Net other financing sources (uses)       -    750     750 
 
Net change in fund balance     ( 1,858,544)   43    1,858,587 
  
Fund balance - beginning         959,082    959,082    -  

 
Fund balance - ending      $( 899,462) $  959,125  $  1,858,587 
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CITY OF BUFORD, GEORGIA 
GWINNETT COUNTY 2009 SPLOST FUND 

 SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES  
AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES - BUDGET AND ACTUAL  

FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2020 
 
 
        Variance with 
        Final budget 
   Final      Over 
     Budget   Actual   (Under)  
REVENUES 
 Intergovernmental revenue                        $  -    $  -     $   -    
 Investment income       -    3,328    3,328   
  
  Total revenues          -     3,328    3,328 
 
EXPENDITURES 
 Capital outlay        -    -              - 

 
  Total expenditures       -    -             - 
 
Excess (deficiency) of revenues over 
 (under) expenditures       -    3,328    3,328 
 
OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES) 
 Transfers in        -    -    - 
 
Total other financing sources (uses)       -    -    - 
 
Net change in fund balance       -    3,328    3,328  
  
Fund balance - beginning         2,767,876     2,767,876    -  
 
Fund balance - ending     $  2,767,876  $  2,771,204  $  3,328 
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CITY OF BUFORD, GEORGIA 
GWINNETT COUNTY 2014 SPLOST FUND 

 SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES  
AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES - BUDGET AND ACTUAL  

FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2020 
 
 
        Variance with 
        Final budget 
   Final      Over 
     Budget   Actual   (Under)  
REVENUES 
 Intergovernmental revenue                        $  -    $  -     $   - 
 Investment income       -    1,133    1,133   
  
  Total revenues          -     1,133    1,133  
 
EXPENDITURES 
 Capital outlay        731,094    731,094              - 

 
  Total expenditures       731,094    731,094             - 
 
Excess (deficiency) of revenues over 
 (under) expenditures     ( 731,094) ( 729,961)   1,133 
 
OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES) 
 Transfers in        -    -    - 
 
Total other financing sources (uses)       -    -    - 
 
Net change in fund balance     ( 731,094) ( 729,961)   1,133  
  
Fund balance - beginning        1,123,312     1,123,312    -  
 
Fund balance - ending     $  392,218  $  393,351  $  1,133 
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CITY OF BUFORD, GEORGIA 
GWINNETT COUNTY 2017 SPLOST FUND 

 SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES  
AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES - BUDGET AND ACTUAL  

FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2020 
 
 
        Variance with 
        Final budget 
   Final      Over 
     Budget   Actual   (Under)  
REVENUES 
 Intergovernmental revenue                        $  -    $  2,088,179    $   2,088,179    
 Investment income       -    5,279    5,279   
 
  Total revenues         -           2,093,458    2,093,458 
 
EXPENDITURES 
 Capital outlay         -    -     - 

 
  Total expenditures        -     -          - 
 
Excess (deficiency) of revenues over 
 (under) expenditures       -    2,093,458    2,093,458 
 
OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES) 
 Transfers in        -    -    - 
 
Total other financing sources (uses)       -    -    - 
 
Net change in fund balance       -    2,093,458    2,093,458  
  
Fund balance - beginning         4,453,462     4,453,462    -  
 
Fund balance - ending     $  4,453,462  $  6,546,920  $  2,093,458 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
-84- 



CITY OF BUFORD, GEORGIA 
HALL COUNTY 2009 SPLOST FUND 

 SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES  
AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES - BUDGET AND ACTUAL  

FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2020 
 
 
        Variance with 
        Final budget 
   Final      Over 
     Budget   Actual   (Under)  
REVENUES 
 Intergovernmental revenue                        $  -    $  -  $  -   
 Investment income         -     92    92  
 
  Total revenues         -           92     92 
 
EXPENDITURES 
 Capital outlay         -     -              - 

 
  Total expenditures        -     -             - 
 
Excess (deficiency) of revenues over 
 (under) expenditures       -    92    92 
 
OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES) 
 Transfers in        -    -    - 
 
Total other financing sources (uses)       -    -    - 
 
Net change in fund balance       -    92    92 
  
Fund balance - beginning         91,899     91,899             - 
 
Fund balance - ending     $  91,899  $  91,991  $  92 
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CITY OF BUFORD, GEORGIA 
HALL COUNTY 2015 SPLOST FUND 

 SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES  
AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES - BUDGET AND ACTUAL  

FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2020 
 
 
        Variance with 
        Final budget 
   Final      Over 
     Budget   Actual   (Under)  
REVENUES 
 Intergovernmental revenue                       $  -      $  170,528   $   170,528    
 Investment income       -    646    646   
 
  Total revenues         -           171,174     171,174 
 
EXPENDITURES 
 Capital outlay         -    -              - 

 
  Total expenditures       -    -             - 
 
Excess (deficiency) of revenues over 
 (under) expenditures       -    171,174    171,174 
 
OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES) 
 Transfers in        -    -    - 
 
Total other financing sources (uses)       -    -    - 
 
Net change in fund balance       -    171,174    171,174 
  
Fund balance - beginning         584,347     584,347             -  
 
Fund balance - ending     $  584,347  $  755,521  $  171,174 
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CITY OF BUFORD, GEORGIA 
REST HAVEN 2001 SPLOST FUND 

 SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES  
AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES - BUDGET AND ACTUAL  

FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2020 
 
 
        Variance with 
        Final budget 
   Final      Over 
     Budget   Actual   (Under)  
REVENUES 
 Intergovernmental revenue                        $   -  $  -  $  -    
 Investment income       -    19    19 
 
  Total revenues         -           19    19  
 
EXPENDITURES 
 Capital outlay         -    -     - 

 
  Total expenditures        -    -     - 
 
Excess (deficiency) of revenues over 
 (under) expenditures       -    19    19 
 
OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES) 
 Transfers in        -    -    - 
 
Total other financing sources (uses)       -    -    - 
 
Net change in fund balance       -    19    19  
  
Fund balance - beginning         19,118     19,118             -  
 
Fund balance - ending     $  19,118  $  19,137  $  19 
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CITY OF BUFORD, GEORGIA 
REST HAVEN 2005 SPLOST FUND 

 SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES  
AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES - BUDGET AND ACTUAL  

FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2020 
 
 
        Variance with 
        Final budget 
   Final      Over 
     Budget   Actual   (Under)  
REVENUES 
 Intergovernmental revenue                        $  -    $  -  $  -    
 Investment income       -     575    575   
 
  Total revenues          -            575     575 
 
EXPENDITURES 
 Capital outlay       -    -              - 

 
  Total expenditures        -     -             - 
 
Excess (deficiency) of revenues over 
 (under) expenditures       -    575    575 
 
OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES) 
 Transfers in        -    -    - 
 
Total other financing sources (uses)       -    -    - 
 
Net change in fund balance       -    575    575 
  
Fund balance - beginning          569,313     569,313             -  
 
Fund balance - ending     $   569,313  $   569,888  $  575 
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CITY OF BUFORD, GEORGIA 
2015 GOB CAPITAL PROJECT FUND 

 SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES  
AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES - BUDGET AND ACTUAL  

FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2020 
 
 
        Variance with 
        Final budget 
   Final      Over 
     Budget   Actual   (Under)  
REVENUES 
 Intergovernmental revenue                        $  -    $  -  $  -    
 Investment income       -     1    1  
 
  Total revenues          -            1     1 
 
EXPENDITURES 
 Intergovernmental: 

    Buford Board of Education       2,746    2,746              - 
 
  Total expenditures        2,746     2,746             - 
 
Excess (deficiency) of  
 Revenues over (under) 
 Expenditures     ( 2,746) ( 2,745)   1 
 
OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES) 
Transfers in         -    -    - 
 
Net other financing sources (uses)       -    -    - 
 
Net change in fund balance     ( 2,746) ( 2,745)   1 
  
Fund balance - beginning          2,745     2,745             -  

 
Fund balance - ending     $( 1) $   -  $  1 
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CITY OF BUFORD, GEORGIA 
2017 GOB CAPITAL PROJECT FUND 

 SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES  
AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES - BUDGET AND ACTUAL  

FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2020 
 
 
        Variance with 
        Final budget 
   Final      Over 
     Budget   Actual   (Under)  
REVENUES 
 Intergovernmental revenue                        $  -    $  -  $  -    
 Investment income       -     12,628    12,628  
 
  Total revenues          -            12,628     12,628 
 
EXPENDITURES 
 Intergovernmental: 

    Buford Board of Education       2,596,441    2,596,441              - 
 
  Total expenditures        2,596,441     2,596,441             - 
 
Excess (deficiency) of  
 Revenues over (under) 
 Expenditures     ( 2,596,441) ( 2,583,813)   12,628 
 
OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES) 
Transfers in         -    6,285,914    6,285,914 
 
Net other financing sources (uses)       -    6,285,914    6,285,914 
 
Net change in fund balance     ( 2,596,441)   3,702,101    6,298,542 
  
Fund balance - beginning       ( 3,701,397) ( 3,701,397)            -  

 
Fund balance - ending     $( 6,297,838) $   704  $  6,298,542 
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COMBINING FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FIDUCIARY FUNDS 

 
 

CUSTODIAL FUNDS 
 

The Custodial Funds account for all resources held by the City in trust for use by the City of Buford Board of 
Education.  They are Educational SPLOST funds used for the acquisition and/or construction of major capital 
facilities and assets, or debt service on debt issued for the acquisition and/or construction of major capital 
facilities for the BOE.  The following is a description of the City’s Custodial Fiduciary Funds. 
 
Gwinnett County E-SPLOST V Fund - used to account for the construction and financing of projects funded by 
the City of Buford Board of Education Gwinnett County E-SPLOST V. 
 
Hall County E-SPLOST IV Fund - used to account for the construction and financing of projects funded by the 
City of Buford Board of Education Hall County E-SPLOST IV. 
 
Hall County E-SPLOST V Fund - used to account for the construction and financing of projects funded by the 
City of Buford Board of Education Hall County E-SPLOST V. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



CITY OF BUFORD, GEORGIA 
COMBINING STATEMENT OF FIDUCIARY NET POSITION   

CUSTODIAL FUNDS 
CITY OF BUFORD BOARD OF EDUCATION SPLOST FUNDS 

JUNE 30, 2020 
 
           
 
  CUSTODIAL FUNDS  
      Gwinnett Hall Hall  
       County County County Total  
      E-SPLOST V E-SPLOST IV E-SPLOST V Custodial  
      Fund Fund Fund Funds  
            
ASSETS 
 Cash and cash equivalents     $  366,158  $  721,564  $  17,677  $  1,105,399 
 Investments        8,254,715    -    -    8,254,715 

  
Total assets        $   8,620,873  $   721,564  $  17,677  $  9,360,114 
 
 
NET POSITION 
 Restricted for: 
  City of Buford Board of Education     $  8,620,873  $  721,564  $  17,677  $  9,360,114 
 
Total net position         $  8,620,873  $  721,564  $  17,677  $  9,360,114 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
SEE INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT. 
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CITY OF BUFORD, GEORGIA 
COMBINING STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN FIDUCIARY NET POSITION   

CUSTODIAL FUNDS 
CITY OF BUFORD BOARD OF EDUCATION SPLOST FUNDS 

JUNE 30, 2020 
 
           
 
  CUSTODIAL FUNDS  
      Gwinnett Hall Hall  
       County County County Total  
      E-SPLOST V E-SPLOST IV E-SPLOST V Custodial  
      Fund Fund Fund Funds  
            
ADDITIONS 
 Investment income     $  414,378  $  867  $  -  $  415,245 

  
Total additions         414,378     867    -    415,245 
 
 
DEDUCTIONS 
 Intergovernmental       2,402,464    -    15,559    2,418,023 
 
Total deductions        2,402,464    -    15,559    2,418,023 
 
Net increase (decrease) in fiduciary 
 net position      ( 1,988,086)   867  ( 15,559) ( 2,002,778) 
 
Total net position at beginning of year, 
 as restated        10,608,959    720,697    33,236    11,362,892  
 
Total net position at end of year     $  8,620,873  $  721,564  $  17,677  $  9,360,114 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
SEE INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT. 
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STANDARDS 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 



WILCOX & BIVINGS, P.C. 
CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS 

4485 Tench Road, Suite 1320 
Suwanee, GA  30024 

Phone:  770-904-0419 
Fax:  770-904-5299 

 
 
 
 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING AND ON 
COMPLIANCE AND OTHER MATTERS BASED ON AN AUDIT OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS PERFORMED IN 

ACCORDANCE WITH GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS 
 
 

To the Honorable Members of the Board of Commissioners 
City of Buford, Georgia 
 
We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America 
and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards issued by the 
Comptroller General of the United States, the financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-
type activities, the discretely presented component units, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund 
information of the City of Buford, Georgia, as of and for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2020, and the related notes 
to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the City of Buford, Georgia’s basic financial statements 
and have issued our report thereon dated December 18, 2020. Our report includes a reference to other auditors 
who audited the financial statements of the City of Buford Board of Education, as described in our report on the 
City of Buford, Georgia’s financial statements. This report does not include the results of the other auditors’ 
testing of internal control over financial reporting or compliance and other matters that are reported separately 
by those auditors. 
 
Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 
 
In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the City of Buford, Georgia’s 
internal control over financial reporting (“internal control”) to determine the audit procedures that are 

appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinions on the financial statements, but not 
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the City of Buford, Georgia’s internal control. 
Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the City of Buford, Georgia’s internal control. 
 
A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow management or 
employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, 
misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal 
control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the entity’s financial 
statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected on a timely basis. A significant deficiency is a 
deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe than a material weakness, yet 
important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance. 
 
Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this section 
and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material weaknesses or 
significant deficiencies. Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any deficiencies in internal 
control that we consider to be material weaknesses. However, material weaknesses may exist that have not been 
identified. 
 
Compliance and Other Matters 
 
As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the City of Buford, Georgia's financial statements are 
free from material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, 
regulations, contracts and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material effect 
on the determination of financial statement amounts. However, providing an opinion on compliance with those 
provisions was not an objective of our audit, and accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The results of 
our tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance or other matters that are required to be reported under 
Government Auditing Standards. 
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To the Honorable Members of the Board of Commissioners 
City of Buford, Georgia 
 
 
Purpose of this Report 
 
The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and compliance and the 
results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control or on 
compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing 
Standards in considering the entity’s internal control and compliance. Accordingly, this communication is not 
suitable for any other purpose. 
 
 
 

Wilcox & Bivings, P.C. 
Suwanee, Georgia 
December 18, 2020 
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SCHEDULE REQUIRED BY THE 
STATE OF GEORGIA 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



CITY OF BUFORD, GEORGIA 
SCHEDULE OF PROJECTS CONSTRUCTED WITH SPECIAL PURPOSE LOCAL OPTION SALES TAX PROCEEDS 

FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2020 
 
        Amount   Amount      Estimated 
  Original   Current   Expended   Expended      Percentage 
  Estimate   Estimate   In Prior   In Current      of 
 PROJECT DESCRIPTION   Amount   Amount   Years   Year   Total   Completion  
 
 REST HAVEN 2001 SPLOST 
 Recreational Facilities $  -  $  91,016  $   71,879   $        -  $  71,879  78.97% 
 
 Total Rest Haven 2001 SPLOST $  -  $  91,016  $  71,879  $  -  $   71,879 
 
 REST HAVEN 2005 SPLOST 
 Transportation $  296,785  $  569,888  $  -  $  -  $  -  0.00% 
 
 Total Rest Haven 2005 SPLOST $  296,785  $  569,888  $  -  $  -  $  - 
 
 HALL COUNTY 2009 SPLOST 
 Transportation $  25,732  $  91,991  $  -  $  -  $  -  0.00% 
 
 Total Hall County 2009 SPLOST $  25,732  $  91,991  $  -  $  -  $  -   
 
 GWINNETT COUNTY 2009 SPLOST 
 Transportation $  5,960,000  $  4,731,391  $  2,179,281  $  -  $  2,179,281  46.06% 
 Recreational Facilities   1,677,101    1,331,379    1,200,000    -    1,200,000  90.13% 
 Water & Sewer   2,000,000    1,587,715    1,500,000    -    1,500,000  94.48% 
 
 Total Gwinnett County 2009 SPLOST $  9,637,101  $  7,650,485  $  4,879,281  $  -  $  4,879,281 
 
 GWINNETT COUNTY 2014 SPLOST 
 Recreational Facilities & Equipment $  4,172,696  $  3,810,404  $  3,810,404  $  -  $  3,810,404  100.00% 
 Transportation   1,788,299    1,473,050    348,605    731,094    1,079,699  73.30% 
 
 Total Gwinnett County 2014 SPLOST $  5,960,995  $  5,283,454  $  4,159,009  $  731,094  $  4,890,103 
 
 HALL COUNTY 2015 SPLOST 
 Transportation $  111,249  $  111,249  $  -  $  -  $  -  0.00% 
 Water & Sewer   600,000    600,000    -    -    -  0.00% 
 
 Total Hall County 2015 SPLOST $  711,249  $  711,249  $  -  $  -  $  -   
 
 GWINNETT COUNTY 2017 SPLOST 
 Parking Facilities $  3,765,543  $  3,765,543  $  -  $  -  $  -  0.00% 
 Recreational Facilities & Equipment   6,932,788    6,932,788    -    -    -  0.00% 
 Transportation   941,677    941,677    -    -    -  0.00% 
 
 Total Gwinnett County 2017 SPLOST $  11,640,008  $  11,640,008  $  -  $  -  $  - 
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Appendix D 

 
 

PROPOSED FORM OF LEGAL OPINIONS OF BOND COUNSEL 
 

The form of Legal Opinions included in this Appendix D has been prepared by Alston & Bird, 
LLP, Atlanta, Georgia, Bond Counsel, and are substantially the forms to be given in connection with the 
delivery of the Bonds. 
 

December 21, 2021 
 
U.S. Bank National Association 
Atlanta, Georgia 

 
Board of Education of the City of Buford, Georgia  
Buford, Georgia 
 
 
 Re: $40,565,000 Board of Education of the City of Buford, Georgia Refunding Revenue 

Bonds, Taxable Series 2021 
 

Ladies and Gentlemen: 
 
 We have acted as Bond Counsel in connection with the issuance by the Board of Education 
of the City of Buford, Georgia (the “Board”) of the referenced bonds (the “Bonds”), pursuant to the 
Constitution and laws of the State of Georgia, including specifically the charter of the City of Buford 
(the “Act”), and the Revenue Bond Law of the State of Georgia, as amended (Official Code of Georgia 
Sections 36-82-60 through 36-82-85, the “Revenue Bond Law”), and the bond resolution of the Board 
adopted on December 7, 2020, as amended and restated on December 13, 2021 (the “Bond 
Resolution”).  We have examined the law and such certified proceedings, including a certified copy of 
the transcript of the validation proceedings concluded in the Superior Court of Gwinnett County, 
Georgia (the “Validation Proceeding”), and other papers as we have deemed necessary to render this 
opinion.  In all such examinations, we have assumed the genuineness of signatures on original 
documents and the conformity to original documents of all copies submitted to us as certified, 
conformed or photographic copies, and as to certificates of public officials, we have assumed the same 
to have been properly given and to be accurate.  Capitalized terms used but not defined herein shall 
have the meaning assigned to such terms in the Bond Resolution. 
 
 The Bonds are being issued to (i) to provide funds, together with other available funds of the 
Board, to finance the costs of advance refunding and redeeming the outstanding City of Buford 
General Obligation Bonds, Series 2015 and City of Buford General Obligation Bonds, Series 2017C 
(the “Refunded Bonds”), and (ii) to pay costs of issuance of the Bonds.  Pursuant to the terms of an 
Intergovernmental Contract, dated as of December 1, 2021 (the “Contract”), between the Board and 
the City of Buford, Georgia, a municipal corporation and a political subdivision of the State of Georgia 
(the “City”), the Board has agreed to refinance the Refunded Bonds, and the City has agreed to make 
payments equal to the principal and interest on the Bonds as they come due. 
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 The Bonds do not constitute a debt of the Board or a pledge of the faith and credit of the 
Board, and the Board is not subject to any pecuniary liability thereon.  The Bonds shall not be payable 
from, nor a charge upon, any funds other than the revenues pledged to the payment thereof.  The 
Bonds are payable solely from the Revenues (as defined in the Bond Resolution) and are secured by 
the Revenues (as defined in the Bond Resolution).  Pursuant to the terms of the Bond Resolution, the 
Board has pledged to the payment of the principal of and the interest and redemption premium, if 
any, on the Bonds and any additional parity bonds issued pursuant to the Bond Resolution the 
Revenues, subject only to the provisions of the Bond Resolution permitting the application thereof 
for the purpose and on the terms and conditions set forth in the Bond Resolution.  The Bonds shall 
not constitute a charge, lien or encumbrance, legal or equitable, upon any other property of the Board.   
 
 As to matters of fact material to our opinion, we have relied upon the representations of the 
Board contained in the Bond Resolution and of the City and the Board contained in the Contract and 
in the certified proceedings and other certifications of public officials furnished to us, including the 
Validation Proceeding, without undertaking to verify the same by independent investigation. 
 
 Based upon the foregoing, we are of the opinion, under existing law, as follows: 
 
 1. The Board is a duly created and validly existing public school system and local school 
board with the corporate power to adopt the Bond Resolution, to perform the agreements on its part 
contained therein and to issue the Bonds.  The City is a duly created and validly existing municipal 
corporation and political subdivision of the State of Georgia with the corporate power to perform the 
agreements on its part contained in the Contract.  
 
 2. The Bond Resolution has been adopted by the Board and constitutes a valid and 
binding obligation of enforceable upon the Board. 
 
 3. The Contract has been authorized, executed and delivered by the Board and the City 
and constitutes the valid obligation of the Board and the City, respectively, enforceable against them 
in accordance with its terms.   
 
 4. Pursuant to the Act and the Revenue Bond Law, the Bond Resolution creates a valid 
lien on the Revenues and other funds pledged by the Bond Resolution for the security of the Bonds 
on a parity with any additional parity bonds to be issued under the terms of the Bond Resolution. 
 
 5. The Bonds have been duly authorized, executed, issued and delivered by the Board 
and are valid and binding limited obligations of the Board, payable solely from the Revenues as 
provided for in the Bond Resolution. 
 

6. Interest on the Bonds is included in gross income for federal income tax purposes.  
We express no opinion regarding other federal tax consequences arising with respect to the Bonds. 

 
7. Interest on the Bonds is exempt from present state income taxation within the State 

of Georgia. 
 
 It is to be understood that the rights of the owners of the Bonds and the enforceability of the 
Bonds, the Bond Resolution and the Contract may be limited by bankruptcy, insolvency, 
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reorganization, moratorium and other similar laws affecting creditors' rights generally and by equitable 
principles, whether considered at law or in equity. 
 
 We have not been engaged and have not undertaken to examine the accuracy, completeness 
or sufficiency of any offering material of the Board relating to the Bonds, and we express no opinion 
relating thereto, nor do we express any opinion as to the compliance by the Board or the purchaser 
of the Bonds with any federal or state statute, regulation or ruling with respect to the sale (other than 
the initial sale by the Board) or distribution of the Bonds except as specifically set forth in this opinion.  
Further, we express no opinion regarding tax consequences arising with respect to the Bonds other 
than as expressly set forth herein. 
 
 This opinion is given as of the date hereof and we assume no obligations to update, revise or 
supplement this opinion to reflect any facts or circumstances that may hereafter come to our attention 
or any changes in law that may hereafter occur. 
 
     Very truly yours, 
 
     ALSTON & BIRD LLP 
 
 
     By:________________________________ 
           Partner 
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DISCLOSURE DISSEMINATION AGENT AGREEMENT  

 
This Disclosure Dissemination Agent Agreement (the “Disclosure Agreement”), dated as of 

___________________, 20__, is executed and delivered by Board of Education of the City of Buford, Georgia (the 
“Issuer”), the City of Buford (an Obligated Person) and Digital Assurance Certification, L.L.C., as exclusive 
Disclosure Dissemination Agent (the “Disclosure Dissemination Agent” or “DAC”) for the benefit of the Holders 
(hereinafter defined) of the Bonds (hereinafter defined) and in order to assist the Issuer and Obligated Person in 
processing certain continuing disclosure with respect to the Bonds in accordance with Rule 15c2-12 of the United 
States Securities and Exchange Commission under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as the same may be amended 
from time to time (the “Rule”). 

The services provided under this Disclosure Agreement solely relate to the execution of instructions received 
from the Issuer and Obligated Person through use of the DAC system and do not constitute “advice” within the 
meaning of the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act (the “Act”). DAC will not provide any 
advice or recommendation to the Issuer, Obligated Person or anyone on the Issuer’s or Obligated Person’s behalf 
regarding the “issuance of municipal securities” or any “municipal financial product” as defined in the Act and nothing 
in this Disclosure Agreement shall be interpreted to the contrary.  DAC is not a “Municipal Advisor” as such term is 
defined in Section 15B of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and related rules. 

SECTION 1. Definitions.  Capitalized terms not otherwise defined in this Disclosure Agreement shall 
have the meaning assigned in the Rule or, to the extent not in conflict with the Rule, in the Official Statement 
(hereinafter defined).  The capitalized terms shall have the following meanings: 

 “Annual Filing Date” means the date, set in Sections 2(a) and 2(f) hereof, by which the Annual Report is to 
be filed with the MSRB. 

“Annual Financial Information” means annual financial information as such term is used in paragraph 
(b)(5)(i) of the Rule and specified in Section 3(a) of this Disclosure Agreement. 

“Annual Report” means an Annual Report containing Annual Financial Information described in and 
consistent with Section 3 of this Disclosure Agreement. 

“Audited Financial Statements” means the annual financial statements of the Issuer and Obligated Person 
for the prior fiscal year, certified by an independent auditor as prepared in accordance with generally 
accepted accounting principles or otherwise, as such term is used in paragraph (b)(5)(i)(B) of the Rule and 
specified in Section 3(b) of this Disclosure Agreement.   

“Bonds” means the bonds as listed on the attached Exhibit A, with the 9-digit CUSIP numbers relating 
thereto. 

“Certification” means a written certification of compliance signed by the Disclosure Representative stating 
that the Annual Report, Audited Financial Statements, Notice Event notice, Failure to File Event notice, 
Voluntary Event Disclosure or Voluntary Financial Disclosure delivered to the Disclosure Dissemination 
Agent is the Annual Report, Audited Financial Statements, Notice Event notice, Failure to File Event 
notice, Voluntary Event Disclosure or Voluntary Financial Disclosure required to be submitted to the 
MSRB under this Disclosure Agreement.  A Certification shall accompany each such document submitted 
to the Disclosure Dissemination Agent by the Issuer or Obligated Person and include the full name of the 
Bonds and the 9-digit CUSIP numbers for all Bonds to which the document applies. 

 “Disclosure Dissemination Agent” means Digital Assurance Certification, L.L.C, acting in its capacity as 
Disclosure Dissemination Agent hereunder, or any successor Disclosure Dissemination Agent designated in 
writing by the Issuer and Obligated Person pursuant to Section 9 hereof. 

“Disclosure Representative” for the Board of Education means__________________, _______________or 
his or her designee, or such other person as the Issuer shall designate in writing to the Disclosure 
Dissemination Agent from time to time as the person responsible for providing Information to the Disclosure 
Dissemination Agent. 
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“Disclosure Representative” for the City means__________________, _______________or his or her 
designee, or such other person as the Obligated Person shall designate in writing to the Disclosure 
Dissemination Agent from time to time as the person responsible for providing Information to the Disclosure 
Dissemination Agent. 

“Failure to File Event” means the Issuer’s or Obligated Person’s failure to file an Annual Report on or 
before the Annual Filing Date. 

“Financial Obligation” as used in this Disclosure Agreement is defined in the Rule, as may be amended, as 
(i) a debt obligation; (ii) derivative instrument entered into in connection with, or pledged as a security or a 
source of payment for, an existing or planned debt obligation; or (iii) guarantee of (i) or (ii).  The term 
“Financial Obligation” shall not include municipal securities as to which a final official statement has been 
provided to the MSRB consistent with the Rule. 

“Force Majeure Event” means: (i) acts of God, war, or terrorist action; (ii) failure or shut-down of the 
Electronic Municipal Market Access system maintained by the MSRB; or (iii) to the extent beyond the 
Disclosure Dissemination Agent’s reasonable control, interruptions in telecommunications or utilities 
services, failure, malfunction or error of any telecommunications, computer or other electrical, mechanical 
or technological application, service or system, computer virus, interruptions in Internet service or 
telephone service (including due to a virus, electrical delivery problem or similar occurrence) that affect 
Internet users generally, or in the local area in which the Disclosure Dissemination Agent or the MSRB is 
located, or acts of any government, regulatory or any other competent authority the effect of which is to 
prohibit the Disclosure Dissemination Agent from performance of its obligations under this Disclosure 
Agreement. 

 “Holder” means any person (a) having the power, directly or indirectly, to vote or consent with respect to, 
or to dispose of ownership of, any Bonds (including persons holding Bonds through nominees, depositories 
or other intermediaries) or (b) treated as the owner of any Bonds for federal income tax purposes. 

“Information” means, collectively, the Annual Reports, the Audited Financial Statements, the Notice Event 
notices, the Failure to File Event notices, the Voluntary Event Disclosures and the Voluntary Financial 
Disclosures. 

“MSRB” means the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board, or any successor thereto, established pursuant 
to Section 15B(b)(1) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. 

“Notice Event” means any of the events enumerated in paragraph (b)(5)(i)(C) of the Rule and listed in 
Section 4(a) of this Disclosure Agreement. 

“Obligated Person” means any person, including the Issuer, who is either generally or through an 
enterprise, fund, or account of such person committed by contract or other arrangement to support payment 
of all, or part of the obligations on the Bonds (other than providers of municipal bond insurance, letters of 
credit, or other liquidity facilities), as shown on Exhibit A.   

“Official Statement” means that Official Statement prepared by the Issuer in connection with the Bonds, as 
listed in Exhibit A.  

“Trustee” means the institution, if any, identified as such in the document under which the Bonds were 
issued. 

“Voluntary Event Disclosure” means information of the category specified in any of subsections (e)(vi)(1) 
through (e)(vi)(10) of Section 2 of this Disclosure Agreement that is accompanied by a Certification of the 
Disclosure Representative containing the information prescribed by Section 7(a) of this Disclosure 
Agreement. 

“Voluntary Financial Disclosure” means information of the category specified in any of subsections 
(e)(vii)(1) through (e)(vii)(9) of Section 2 of this Disclosure Agreement that is accompanied by a 
Certification of the Disclosure Representative containing the information prescribed by Section 7(b) of this 
Disclosure Agreement. 
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SECTION 2. Provision of Annual Reports.   

(a) The Issuer and each Obligated Person shall provide, annually, an electronic copy of the Annual 
Report and Certification to the Disclosure Dissemination Agent[, together with a copy for the Trustee,] not later than 
the Annual Filing Date. Promptly upon receipt of an electronic copy of the Annual Report and the Certification, the 
Disclosure Dissemination Agent shall provide an Annual Report to the MSRB not later nine months following the end 
of each fiscal year of the Issuer, commencing with the fiscal year ending June 30, 2022.  Such date and each 
anniversary thereof is the Annual Filing Date. The Annual Report may be submitted as a single document or as separate 
documents comprising a package, and may cross-reference other information as provided in Section 3 of this 
Disclosure Agreement. 

 (b) If on the fifteenth (15th) day prior to the Annual Filing Date, the Disclosure Dissemination Agent 
has not received a copy of the Annual Report and Certification, the Disclosure Dissemination Agent shall contact the 
Disclosure Representative by telephone and in writing (which may be by e-mail) to remind the Issuer and Obligated 
Person of its undertaking to provide the Annual Report pursuant to Section 2(a). Upon such reminder, the Disclosure 
Representative shall either (i) provide the Disclosure Dissemination Agent with an electronic copy of the Annual 
Report and the Certification no later than two (2) business days prior to the Annual Filing Date, or (ii) instruct the 
Disclosure Dissemination Agent in writing that the Issuer or Obligated Person will not be able to file the Annual 
Report within the time required under this Disclosure Agreement, state the date by which the Annual Report for such 
year will be provided and instruct the Disclosure Dissemination Agent to immediately send a Failure to File Event 
notice to the MSRB in substantially the form attached as Exhibit B, which may be accompanied by a cover sheet 
completed by the Disclosure Dissemination Agent in the form set forth in Exhibit C-1. 

(c) If the Disclosure Dissemination Agent has not received an Annual Report and Certification by 10:00 
a.m. Eastern time on Annual Filing Date (or, if such Annual Filing Date falls on a Saturday, Sunday or holiday, then 
the first business day thereafter) for the Annual Report, a Failure to File Event shall have occurred and the Issuer or 
Obligated Person irrevocably directs the Disclosure Dissemination Agent to immediately send a Failure to File Event 
notice to the MSRB in substantially the form attached as Exhibit B without reference to the anticipated filing date for 
the Annual Report, which may be accompanied by a cover sheet completed by the Disclosure Dissemination Agent in 
the form set forth in Exhibit C-1. 

(d) If Audited Financial Statements of the Issuer and Obligated Person are prepared but not available 
prior to the Annual Filing Date, the Issuer shall, when the Audited Financial Statements are available, provide at such 
time an electronic copy to the Disclosure Dissemination Agent, accompanied by a Certification, together with a copy 
for the Trustee, if any, for filing with the MSRB. 

(e) The Disclosure Dissemination Agent shall: 

(i) verify the filing specifications of the MSRB each year prior to the Annual Filing Date; 

(ii) upon receipt, promptly file each Annual Report received under Sections 2(a) and 2(b) hereof with the 
MSRB; 

(iii) upon receipt, promptly file each Audited Financial Statement received under Section 2(d) hereof with the 
MSRB; 

(iv) upon receipt, promptly file the text of each Notice Event received under Sections 4(a) and 
4(b)(ii) hereof with the MSRB, identifying the Notice Event as instructed by the Issuer  or 
Obligated Person pursuant to Section 4(a) or 4(b)(ii) hereof (being any of the categories 
set forth below) when filing pursuant to Section 4(c) of this Disclosure Agreement: 

1.                  “Principal and interest payment delinquencies;” 

2.                  “Non-Payment related defaults, if material;” 

3.                  “Unscheduled draws on debt service reserves reflecting financial 
difficulties;” 

4.                  “Unscheduled draws on credit enhancements reflecting financial difficulties;” 
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5.                  “Substitution of credit or liquidity providers, or their failure to perform;” 

6.        Adverse tax opinions, the issuance by the Internal Revenue Service of proposed or 
final determinations of taxability, Notices of Proposed Issue (IRS Form 5701-
TEB) or other material notices or determinations with respect to the tax status of 
the Bonds, or other material events affecting the tax status of the Bonds; 

7.                  “Modifications to rights of securities holders, if material;” 

8.                  Bond calls, if material, and tender offers;  

9.                  “Defeasances;” 

10.              “Release, substitution, or sale of property securing repayment of the securities, 
if material;” 

11.              “Rating changes;”  

12.              “Bankruptcy, insolvency, receivership or similar event of the obligated 
person;” 

13.             The consummation of a merger, consolidation, or acquisition involving an 
Obligated Person or the sale of all or substantially all of the assets of the Obligated 
Person, other than in the ordinary course of business, the entry into a definitive 
agreement to undertake such an action or the termination of a definitive agreement 
relating to any such actions, other than pursuant to its terms, if material; 

 

14.              “Appointment of a successor or additional trustee, or the change of name of a 
trustee, if material;” 

15.              “Incurrence of a Financial Obligation of the obligated person, if material, or 
agreement to covenants, events of default, remedies, priority rights, or other 
similar terms of a Financial Obligation of the obligated person, any of which affect 
security holders, if material;” and 

16.              “Default, event of acceleration, termination event, modification of terms, or 
other similar events under the terms of a Financial Obligation of the obligated 
person, any of which reflect financial difficulties. 

 

 (v) upon receipt (or irrevocable direction pursuant to Section 2(c) of this Disclosure 
Agreement, as applicable), promptly file a completed copy of Exhibit B to this Disclosure 
Agreement with the MSRB, identifying the filing as “Failure to provide annual financial 
information as required” when filing pursuant to Section 2(b)(ii) or Section 2(c) of this 
Disclosure Agreement; 

(vi) upon receipt, promptly file the text of each Voluntary Event Disclosure received under 
Section 7(a) hereof with the MSRB, identifying the Voluntary Event Disclosure as 
instructed by the Issuer  or Obligated Person pursuant to Section 7(a) (being any of the 
categories set forth below) when filing pursuant to Section 7(a) of this Disclosure 
Agreement: 

1. “amendment to continuing disclosure undertaking;” 

2. “change in obligated person;” 
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3. “notice to investors pursuant to bond documents;” 

4. “certain communications from the Internal Revenue Service;”other than those 
communications included in the Rule; 

5. “secondary market purchases;”  

6. “bid for auction rate or other securities;” 

7. “capital or other financing plan;” 

8. “litigation/enforcement action;” 

9. “change of tender agent, remarketing agent, or other on-going party;” and 

10. “other event-based disclosures.” 

(vii) upon receipt, promptly file the text of each Voluntary Financial Disclosure received under 
Section 7(b) hereof with the MSRB, identifying the Voluntary Financial Disclosure as 
instructed by the Issuer or Obligated Person pursuant to Section 7(b) (being any of the 
categories set forth below) when filing pursuant to Section 7(b) of this Disclosure 
Agreement: 

1. “quarterly/monthly financial information;” 

2.  “change in fiscal year/timing of annual disclosure;” 

3. “change in accounting standard;” 

4. “interim/additional financial information/operating data;” 

5. “budget;” 

6. “investment/debt/financial policy;” 

7. “information provided to rating agency, credit/liquidity provider or other third 
party;” 

8. “consultant reports;” and 

9. “other financial/operating data.” 

(viii) provide the Issuer and Obligated Person evidence of the filings of each of the above when 
made, which shall be by means of the DAC system, for so long as DAC is the Disclosure 
Dissemination Agent under this Disclosure Agreement. 

(f) The Issuer and Obligated Person may adjust the Annual Filing Date upon change of its fiscal year 
by providing written notice of such change and the new Annual Filing Date to the Disclosure Dissemination Agent, 
Trustee (if any) and the MSRB, provided that the period between the existing Annual Filing Date and new Annual 
Filing Date shall not exceed one year. 

(g) Anything in this Disclosure Agreement to the contrary notwithstanding, any Information received 
by the Disclosure Dissemination Agent before [10:00 a.m.] Eastern time on any business day that it is required to file 
with the MSRB pursuant to the terms of this Disclosure Agreement and that is accompanied by a Certification and all 
other information required by the terms of this Disclosure Agreement will be filed by the Disclosure Dissemination 
Agent with the MSRB no later than 11:59 p.m. Eastern time on the same business day; provided, however, the 
Disclosure Dissemination Agent shall have no liability for any delay in filing with the MSRB if such delay is caused 
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by a Force Majeure Event provided that the Disclosure Dissemination Agent uses reasonable efforts to make any such 
filing as soon as possible. 

SECTION 3. Content of Annual Reports.  

(a) Each Annual Report shall contain Annual Financial Information with respect to the Issuer, including 
the financial and statistical information provided in the Official Statement under the headings: “SCHOOL SYSTEM 
FINANCIAL INFORMATION – Five-Year General Fund History”.  

(b) Each Annual Report shall contain Annual Financial Information with respect to the City, including 
the financial and statistical information provided in  the Official Statement under the headings: and “CITY OF 
BUFORD FINANCIAL INFORMATION - Six-Year General Fund History”. 

(c)  

(d) Audited Financial Statements as described in the Official Statement will be included in the Annual 
Report.  If audited financial statements are not available, then unaudited financial statements, prepared in accordance 
with Generally Accepted Accounting Principles as described in the Official Statement will be included in the Annual 
Report.  In such event, Audited Financial Statements (if any) will be provided pursuant to Section 2(d). 

Any or all of the items listed above may be included by specific reference from other documents, including 
official statements of debt issues with respect to which the Issuer is an “obligated person” (as defined by the Rule), 
which have been previously filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission or available on the MSRB Internet 
Website. If the document incorporated by reference is a final official statement, it must be available from the MSRB.  
The Issuer will clearly identify each such document so incorporated by reference. 

If the Annual Financial Information contains modified operating data or financial information different from 
the Annual Financial Information agreed to in the continuing disclosure undertaking related to the Bonds, the Issuer 
and Obligated Person is required to explain, in narrative form, the reasons for the modification and the impact of the 
change in the type of operating data or financial information being provided. 

SECTION 4. Reporting of Notice Events. 

(a) The occurrence of any of the following events with respect to the Bonds constitutes a Notice Event: 

1. Principal and interest payment delinquencies; 

2. Non-payment related defaults, if material; 

3. Unscheduled draws on debt service reserves reflecting financial difficulties; 

4. Unscheduled draws on credit enhancements reflecting financial difficulties; 

5. Substitution of credit or liquidity providers, or their failure to perform; 

6. Adverse tax opinions, the issuance by the Internal Revenue Service of proposed or final 
determinations of taxability, Notices of Proposed Issue (IRS Form 5701-TEB) or other 
material notices or determinations with respect to the tax status of the Bonds, or other 
material events affecting the tax status of the Bonds; 

7. Modifications to rights of Bond holders, if material; 

8. Bond calls, if material, and tender offers; 

9. Defeasances; 
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10. Release, substitution, or sale of property securing repayment of the Bonds, if material; 

11. Rating changes; 

12. Bankruptcy, insolvency, receivership or similar event of the Obligated Person; 

Note to subsection (a)(12) of this Section 4:  For the purposes of the event 
described in subsection (a)(12) of this Section 4, the event is considered to occur when any 
of the following occur: the appointment of a receiver, fiscal agent or similar officer for an 
Obligated Person in a proceeding under the U.S. Bankruptcy Code or in any other 
proceeding under state or federal law in which a court or governmental authority has 
assumed jurisdiction over substantially all of the assets or business of the Obligated Person, 
or if such jurisdiction has been assumed by leaving the existing governing body and 
officials or officers in possession but subject to the supervision and orders of a court or 
governmental authority, or the entry of an order confirming a plan of reorganization, 
arrangement or liquidation by a court or governmental authority having supervision or 
jurisdiction over substantially all of the assets or business of the Obligated Person. 

13. The consummation of a merger, consolidation, or acquisition involving an Obligated 
Person or the sale of all or substantially all of the assets of the Obligated Person, other than 
in the ordinary course of business, the entry into a definitive agreement to undertake such 
an action or the termination of a definitive agreement relating to any such actions, other 
than pursuant to its terms, if material; 

14. Appointment of a successor or additional trustee or the change of name of a trustee, if 
material; 

15. Incurrence of a Financial Obligation of an Obligated Person, if material, or agreement to 
covenants, events of default, remedies, priority rights, or other similar terms of a Financial 
Obligation of an Obligated Person, any of which affect security holders, if material; and 

16. Default, event of acceleration, termination event, modification of terms, or other similar 
events under the terms of a Financial Obligation of an Obligated Person, any of which 
reflect financial difficulties. 

The Issuer and Obligated Person shall, in a timely manner not later than nine (9) business days after its 
occurrence, notify the Disclosure Dissemination Agent in writing of the occurrence of a Notice Event.  Such notice 
shall instruct the Disclosure Dissemination Agent to report the occurrence pursuant to subsection (c) and shall be 
accompanied by a Certification.  Such notice or Certification shall identify the Notice Event that has occurred (which 
shall be any of the categories set forth in Section 2(e)(iv) of this Disclosure Agreement), include the text of the 
disclosure that the Issuer or Obligated Person desires to make, contain the written authorization of the Issuer or 
Obligated Person for the Disclosure Dissemination Agent to disseminate such information, and identify the date the 
Issuer or Obligated Person desires for the Disclosure Dissemination Agent to disseminate the information (provided 
that such date is not later than the tenth business day after the occurrence of the Notice Event). 

 (b) The Disclosure Dissemination Agent is under no obligation to notify the Issuer, Obligated Person 
or the Disclosure Representative of an event that may constitute a Notice Event.  In the event the Disclosure 
Dissemination Agent so notifies the Disclosure Representative, the Disclosure Representative will within two business 
days of receipt of such notice (but in any event not later than the tenth business day after the occurrence of the Notice 
Event, if the Issuer or Obligated Person determines that a Notice Event has occurred), instruct the Disclosure 
Dissemination Agent that either (i) a Notice Event has not occurred and no filing is to be made or (ii) a Notice Event 
has occurred and the Disclosure Dissemination Agent is to report the occurrence pursuant to subsection (c) of this 
Section 4, together with a Certification.  Such Certification shall identify the Notice Event that has occurred (which 
shall be any of the categories set forth in Section 2(e)(iv) of this Disclosure Agreement), include the text of the 
disclosure that the Issuer  or Obligated Person desires to make, contain the written authorization of the Issuer or 
Obligated Person for the Disclosure Dissemination Agent to disseminate such information, and identify the date the 
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Issuer or Obligated Person desires for the Disclosure Dissemination Agent to disseminate the information (provided 
that such date is not later than the tenth business day after the occurrence of the Notice Event). 

(c) If the Disclosure Dissemination Agent has been instructed by the Issuer or Obligated Person as 
prescribed in subsection (a) or (b)(ii) of this Section 4 to report the occurrence of a Notice Event, the Disclosure 
Dissemination Agent shall promptly file a notice of such occurrence with MSRB in accordance with Section 2 (e)(iv) 
hereof. This notice may be filed with a cover sheet completed by the Disclosure Dissemination Agent in the form set 
forth in Exhibit C-1.  

SECTION 5. CUSIP Numbers.  The Issuer and Obligated Person will provide the Dissemination Agent 
with the CUSIP numbers for (i) new bonds at such time as they are issued or become subject to the Rule and (ii) any 
Bonds to which new CUSIP numbers are assigned in substitution for the CUSIP numbers previously assigned to such 
Bonds. 

 SECTION 6. Additional Disclosure Obligations.  The Issuer and Obligated Person acknowledges and 
understands that other state and federal laws, including but not limited to the Securities Act of 1933 and Rule 10b-5 
promulgated under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, may apply to the Issuer and Obligated Person, and that the 
duties and responsibilities of the Disclosure Dissemination Agent under this Disclosure Agreement do not extend to 
providing legal advice regarding such laws.  The Issuer and Obligated Person acknowledges and understands that the 
duties of the Disclosure Dissemination Agent relate exclusively to execution of the mechanical tasks of disseminating 
information as described in this Disclosure Agreement. 

SECTION 7. Voluntary Filing.  

(a) The Issuer and Obligated Person may instruct the Disclosure Dissemination Agent to file a 
Voluntary Event Disclosure with the MSRB from time to time pursuant to a Certification of the Disclosure 
Representative.  Such Certification shall identify the Voluntary Event Disclosure (which shall be any of the categories 
set forth in Section 2(e)(vi) of this Disclosure Agreement), include the text of the disclosure that the Issuer or Obligated 
Person desires to make, contain the written authorization of the Issuer or Obligated Person for the Disclosure 
Dissemination Agent to disseminate such information, and identify the date the Issuer desires for the Disclosure 
Dissemination Agent to disseminate the information.  If the Disclosure Dissemination Agent has been instructed by 
the Issuer or Obligated Person as prescribed in this Section 7(a) to file a Voluntary Event Disclosure, the Disclosure 
Dissemination Agent shall promptly file such Voluntary Event Disclosure with the MSRB in accordance with Section 
2(e)(vi) hereof. This notice may be filed with a cover sheet completed by the Disclosure Dissemination Agent in the 
form set forth in Exhibit C-2. 

(b) The Issuer and Obligated Person may instruct the Disclosure Dissemination Agent to file a 
Voluntary Financial Disclosure with the MSRB from time to time pursuant to a Certification of the Disclosure 
Representative.  Such Certification shall identify the Voluntary Financial Disclosure (which shall be any of the 
categories set forth in Section 2(e)(vii) of this Disclosure Agreement), include the text of the disclosure that the Issuer 
or Obligated Person desires to make, contain the written authorization of the Issuer or Obligated Person for the 
Disclosure Dissemination Agent to disseminate such information, and identify the date the Issuer or Obligated Person 
desires for the Disclosure Dissemination Agent to disseminate the information.  If the Disclosure Dissemination Agent 
has been instructed by the Issuer or Obligated Person as prescribed in this Section 7(b) hereof to file a Voluntary 
Financial Disclosure, the Disclosure Dissemination Agent shall promptly file such Voluntary Financial Disclosure 
with the MSRB in accordance with Section 2(e)(vii) hereof. This notice may be filed with a cover sheet completed by 
the Disclosure Dissemination Agent in the form set forth in Exhibit C-3. 

(e) The parties hereto acknowledge that the Issuer and Obligated Person are not obligated pursuant to 
the terms of this Disclosure Agreement to file any Voluntary Event Disclosure pursuant to Section 7(a) hereof or any 
Voluntary Financial Disclosure pursuant to Section 7(b) hereof.   

(f) Nothing in this Disclosure Agreement shall be deemed to prevent the Issuer or Obligated Person 
from disseminating any other information through the Disclosure Dissemination Agent using the means of 
dissemination set forth in this Disclosure Agreement or including any other information in any Annual Report, Audited 
Financial Statements, Notice Event notice, Failure to File Event notice, Voluntary Event Disclosure or Voluntary 
Financial Disclosure, in addition to that required by this Disclosure Agreement.  If the Issuer or Obligated Person 
chooses to include any information in any Annual Report, Audited Financial Statements, Notice Event notice, Failure 
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to File Event notice, Voluntary Event Disclosure or Voluntary Financial Disclosure in addition to that which is 
specifically required by this Disclosure Agreement, the Issuer or Obligated Person shall have no obligation under this 
Disclosure Agreement to update such information or include it in any future Annual Report, Audited Financial 
Statements, Notice Event notice, Failure to File Event notice, Voluntary Event Disclosure or Voluntary Financial 
Disclosure. 

SECTION 8. Termination of Reporting Obligation.  The obligations of the Issuer and Obligated Person 
and the Disclosure Dissemination Agent under this Disclosure Agreement shall terminate with respect to the Bonds 
upon the legal defeasance, prior redemption or payment in full of all of the Bonds, when the Issuer is no longer an 
obligated person with respect to the Bonds, or upon delivery by the Disclosure Representative to the Disclosure 
Dissemination Agent of an opinion of counsel expert in federal securities laws to the effect that continuing disclosure 
is no longer required.    

SECTION 9. Disclosure Dissemination Agent.  The Issuer and Obligated Person have appointed Digital 
Assurance Certification, L.L.C. as exclusive Disclosure Dissemination Agent under this Disclosure Agreement. The 
Issuer and Obligated Person may, upon thirty days written notice to the Disclosure Dissemination Agent and the 
Trustee, replace or appoint a successor Disclosure Dissemination Agent.  Upon termination of DAC’s services as 
Disclosure Dissemination Agent, whether by notice of the Issuer, Obligated Person or DAC, the Issuer and Obligated 
Person agree to appoint a successor Disclosure Dissemination Agent or, alternately, agrees to assume all 
responsibilities of Disclosure Dissemination Agent under this Disclosure Agreement for the benefit of the Holders of 
the Bonds.  Notwithstanding any replacement or appointment of a successor, the Issuer and Obligated Person shall 
remain liable to the Disclosure Dissemination Agent until payment in full for any and all sums owed and payable to 
the Disclosure Dissemination Agent. The Disclosure Dissemination Agent may resign at any time by providing thirty 
days’ prior written notice to the Issuer.   

SECTION 10. Remedies in Event of Default.  In the event of a failure of the Issuer, Obligated Person or 
the Disclosure Dissemination Agent to comply with any provision of this Disclosure Agreement, the Holders’ rights 
to enforce the provisions of this Agreement shall be limited solely to a right, by action in mandamus or for specific 
performance, to compel performance of the parties' obligation under this Disclosure Agreement.  Any failure by a 
party to perform in accordance with this Disclosure Agreement shall not constitute a default on the Bonds or under 
any other document relating to the Bonds, and all rights and remedies shall be limited to those expressly stated herein. 

SECTION 11. Duties, Immunities and Liabilities of Disclosure Dissemination Agent. 

(a) The Disclosure Dissemination Agent shall have only such duties as are specifically set forth in this 
Disclosure Agreement.  The Disclosure Dissemination Agent’s obligation to deliver the information at the times and 
with the contents described herein shall be limited to the extent the Issuer and Obligated Person have provided such 
information to the Disclosure Dissemination Agent as required by this Disclosure Agreement.  The Disclosure 
Dissemination Agent shall have no duty with respect to the content of any disclosures or notice made pursuant to the 
terms hereof.  The Disclosure Dissemination Agent shall have no duty or obligation to review or verify any 
Information or any other information, disclosures or notices provided to it by the Issuer and Obligated Person and 
shall not be deemed to be acting in any fiduciary capacity for the Issuer and Obligated Person, the Holders of the 
Bonds or any other party.  The Disclosure Dissemination Agent shall have no responsibility for the Issuer’s and 
Obligated Person’s failure to report to the Disclosure Dissemination Agent a Notice Event or a duty to determine the 
materiality thereof.  The Disclosure Dissemination Agent shall have no duty to determine, or liability for failing to 
determine, whether the Issuer and Obligated Person have complied with this Disclosure Agreement.  The Disclosure 
Dissemination Agent may conclusively rely upon Certifications of the Issuer and Obligated Person at all times. 

The obligations of the Issuer and Obligated Person under this Section shall survive resignation or removal of the 
Disclosure Dissemination Agent and defeasance, redemption or payment of the Bonds. 

(b) The Disclosure Dissemination Agent may, from time to time, consult with legal counsel (either in-
house or external) of its own choosing in the event of any disagreement or controversy, or question or doubt as to the 
construction of any of the provisions hereof or its respective duties hereunder, and shall not incur any liability and 
shall be fully protected in acting in good faith upon the advice of such legal counsel.  The reasonable fees and expenses 
of such counsel shall be payable by the Issuer or Obligated Person. 
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(c)  All documents, reports, notices, statements, information and other materials provided to the MSRB 
under this Agreement shall be provided in an electronic format and accompanied by identifying information as 
prescribed by the MSRB.  

SECTION 12. Amendment; Waiver.  Notwithstanding any other provision of this Disclosure Agreement, 
the Issuer, Obligated Person and the Disclosure Dissemination Agent may amend this Disclosure Agreement and any 
provision of this Disclosure Agreement may be waived, if such amendment or waiver is supported by an opinion of 
counsel expert in federal securities laws acceptable to the Issuer, Obligated Person and the Disclosure Dissemination 
Agent to the effect that such amendment or waiver does not materially impair the interests of Holders of the Bonds 
and would not, in and of itself, cause the undertakings herein to violate the Rule if such amendment or waiver had 
been effective on the date hereof but taking into account any subsequent change in or official interpretation of the 
Rule; provided neither the Issuer, Obligated Person or the Disclosure Dissemination Agent shall be obligated to agree 
to any amendment modifying their respective duties or obligations without their consent thereto.     

Notwithstanding the preceding paragraph, the Disclosure Dissemination Agent shall have the right to adopt 
amendments to this Disclosure Agreement necessary to comply with modifications to and interpretations of the 
provisions of the Rule as announced by the Securities and Exchange Commission from time to time by giving not less 
than 20 days written notice of the intent to do so together with a copy of the proposed amendment to the Issuer and 
Obligated Person. No such amendment shall become effective if the Issuer and Obligated Person shall, within 10 days 
following the giving of such notice, send a notice to the Disclosure Dissemination Agent in writing that it objects to 
such amendment. 

SECTION 13. Beneficiaries.  This Disclosure Agreement shall inure solely to the benefit of the Issuer, 
the Obligated Person, the Trustee, if any, for the Bonds, the Disclosure Dissemination Agent, the underwriter, and the 
Holders from time to time of the Bonds, and shall create no rights in any other person or entity. 

SECTION 14. Governing Law.  This Disclosure Agreement shall be governed by the laws of the State of 
Florida (other than with respect to conflicts of laws). 

SECTION 15. Counterparts.  This Disclosure Agreement may be executed in several counterparts, each 
of which shall be an original and all of which shall constitute but one and the same instrument. 

 

 

 

 

 

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank.] 
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The Disclosure Dissemination Agent, the Issuer and Obligated Person have caused this Continuing 
Disclosure Agreement to be executed, on the date first written above, by their respective officers duly authorized. 

 
DIGITAL ASSURANCE CERTIFICATION, L.L.C.,  as 
Disclosure Dissemination Agent 
 
 
 
By:_______________________________________ 
Name:____________________________________ 
Title:_____________________________________ 

 
 

 
BOARD OF EDUCATION OF THE CITY OF BUFORD, 
GEORGIA, 
as Issuer and as an Obligated Person 
 
 
 
By:_______________________________________ 
Name:____________________________________ 
Title:_____________________________________ 
 
 
Acknowledged and Agreed to by: 
 
CITY OF BUFORD, GEORGIA,  
an Obligated Person 
 
 
 
By:_______________________________________ 
Name:____________________________________ 
Title:_____________________________________ 
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EXHIBIT A 

NAME AND CUSIP NUMBERS OF BONDS 

Name of Issuer   Board of Education of the City of Buford, Georgia 
Obligated Person(s)  Issuer and the City of Buford, Georgia 
Name of Bond Issue:  Refunding Revenue Bonds, Taxable Series 2021 
Date of Issuance:  December 21, 2021 
Date of Official Statement  December 13, 2021 
 
CUSIP 

Issuer 
Num 

Issue 
Num 

Issue 
check 
Digit 

Rate Maturity 

120004 AA 4    .886 01/01/2024 

120004 AB 2   1.132 01/01/2025 

120004 AC 0   1.364 01/01/2026 

120004 AD 8   1.464 01/01/2027 

120004 AE 6   1.635 01/01/2028 

120004 AF 3   1.765 01/01/2029 

120004 AG 1   1.924 01/01/2030 

120004 AH 9   2.024 01/01/2031 

120004 AJ 5   2.114 01/01/2032 

120004 AK 2   2.244 01/01/2033 

120004 AL 0   2.364 01/01/2034 

120004 AM 8   2.464 01/01/2035 

120004 AN 6   2.564 01/01/2036 

120004 AP 1   2.674 01/01/2037 

120004 AQ 9   2.713 01/01/2039 

120004 AR 7   2.813 01/01/2041 

 
 

E-12



 

 
 

EXHIBIT B 

NOTICE TO MSRB OF FAILURE TO FILE ANNUAL REPORT 

Issuer:    [B1]________________________ 

Obligated Person:  [B2]________________________ 

Name(s) of Bond Issue(s): [B3]________________________ 

Date(s) of Issuance:  [B4]________________________ 

Date(s) of Disclosure  [B5]               
Agreement:    
 
CUSIP Number:  [B6]               
    
 

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the Issuer has not provided an Annual Report with 
respect to the above-named Bonds as required by the Disclosure Agreement between the Issuer 
and Digital Assurance Certification, L.L.C., as Disclosure Dissemination Agent.  [The Issuer has 
notified the Disclosure Dissemination Agent that it anticipates that the Annual Report will be filed 
by [B7]______________]. 

Dated: [B8]_____________________________ 

Digital Assurance Certification, L.L.C., as Disclosure 
Dissemination Agent, on behalf of the Issuer 

 

      __________________________________________ 

cc: [B9] 
 [B10] 
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EXHIBIT C-1 
EVENT NOTICE COVER SHEET 

 

This cover sheet and accompanying “event notice” may be sent to the MSRB, pursuant to Securities and Exchange 
Commission Rule 15c2-12(b)(5)(i)(C) and (D). 

Issuer’s and/or Other Obligated Person’s Name: 

[C1] ________________________________________________________________________________________  

Issuer’s Six-Digit CUSIP Number: 

[C2] ________________________________________________________________________________________  

 ____________________________________________________________________________________________  

or Nine-Digit CUSIP Number(s) of the bonds to which this event notice relates:  

[C3] ________________________________________________________________________________________  

Number of pages attached:  [C4]_____ 

____ Description of Notice Events (Check One): [C5] 

1. “Principal and interest payment delinquencies;” 
2. “Non-Payment related defaults, if material;” 
3. “Unscheduled draws on debt service reserves reflecting financial difficulties;” 
4. “Unscheduled draws on credit enhancements reflecting financial difficulties;” 
5. “Substitution of credit or liquidity providers, or their failure to perform;” 
6. “Adverse tax opinions, IRS notices or events affecting the tax status of the security;” 
7. “Modifications to rights of securities holders, if material;” 
8. “Bond calls, if material;” Tender offers; 
9. “Defeasances;” 
10. “Release, substitution, or sale of property securing repayment of the securities, if material;” 
11. “Rating changes;”  
12. “Bankruptcy, insolvency, receivership or similar event of the obligated person;” 
13. “Merger, consolidation, or acquisition of the obligated person, if material;” 
14. “Appointment of a successor or additional trustee, or the change of name of a trustee, if material;” 
15. “Incurrence of a Financial Obligation of the obligated person, if material, or agreement to covenants, 

events of default, remedies, priority rights, or other similar terms of a Financial Obligation of the 
obligated person, any of which affect security holders, if material;” and 

16. “Default, event of acceleration, termination event, modification of terms, or other similar events 
under the terms of a Financial Obligation of the obligated person, any of which reflect financial 
difficulties.” 

 
   ____ Failure to provide annual financial information as required. [C6] 
 
I hereby represent that I am authorized by the issuer or its agent to distribute this information publicly: 

Signature: 

 ____________________________________________________________________________________________  

Name: [C7] _________________________________ Title: [C8] _________________________________________  

Digital Assurance Certification, L.L.C. 
315 E. Robinson Street, Suite 300 

Orlando, FL 32801 
407-515-1100 

 
Date:  [C9] 
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EXHIBIT C-2 
VOLUNTARY EVENT DISCLOSURE COVER SHEET 

 

This cover sheet and accompanying “voluntary event disclosure” may be sent to the MSRB, pursuant to the Disclosure 
Dissemination Agent Agreement dated as of  [C10] _____ between the Issuer and DAC. 

Issuer’s and/or Other Obligated Person’s Name: 

[C1] ________________________________________________________________________________________  

Issuer’s Six-Digit CUSIP Number: 

[C2] ________________________________________________________________________________________  

 ____________________________________________________________________________________________  

or Nine-Digit CUSIP Number(s) of the bonds to which this notice relates:  

[C3] ________________________________________________________________________________________  

Number of pages attached:  [C4]_____ 

  ____ Description of Voluntary Event Disclosure (Check One): [C11] 
 

1. “amendment to continuing disclosure undertaking;” 
2. “change in obligated person;” 
3. “notice to investors pursuant to bond documents;” 
4. “certain communications from the Internal Revenue Service;” 
5. “secondary market purchases;” 
6. “bid for auction rate or other securities;” 
7. “capital or other financing plan;” 
8. “litigation/enforcement action;” 
9. “change of tender agent, remarketing agent, or other on-going party; and” 
10. “other event-based disclosures.” 
 
 

I hereby represent that I am authorized by the issuer or its agent to distribute this information publicly: 

Signature: 

 ____________________________________________________________________________________________  

Name: [C7] _________________________________ Title: [C8] _________________________________________  

Digital Assurance Certification, L.L.C. 
315 E. Robinson Street 

Suite 300 
Orlando, FL 32801 

407-515-1100 
 
 

Date:  [C9] 
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EXHIBIT C-3 
VOLUNTARY FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE COVER SHEET 

 

This cover sheet and accompanying “voluntary financial disclosure” may be sent to the MSRB, pursuant to the 
Disclosure Dissemination Agent Agreement dated as of  [C9] _____ between the Issuer and DAC. 

Issuer’s and/or Other Obligated Person’s Name: 

[C1] ________________________________________________________________________________________  

Issuer’s Six-Digit CUSIP Number: 

[C2] ________________________________________________________________________________________  

 ____________________________________________________________________________________________  

or Nine-Digit CUSIP Number(s) of the bonds to which this notice relates:  

[C3] ________________________________________________________________________________________  

Number of pages attached:  [C4]_____ 
 

  ____ Description of Voluntary Financial Disclosure (Check One): [C12] 

1. “quarterly/monthly financial information;” 
 2. “change in fiscal year/timing of annual disclosure;” 
 3. “change in accounting standard;” 
 4. “interim/additional financial information/operating data;” 

5. “budget;” 
 6. “investment/debt/financial policy;” 
 7. “information provided to rating agency, credit/liquidity provider or other third party;” 

8. “consultant reports;” and 
9. “other financial/operating data.” 

 
I hereby represent that I am authorized by the issuer or its agent to distribute this information publicly: 

Signature: 

 ____________________________________________________________________________________________  

Name: [C7] _________________________________ Title: [C8] _________________________________________  

Digital Assurance Certification, L.L.C. 
315 E. Robinson Street 

Suite 300 
Orlando, FL 32801 

407-515-1100 
 
 
Date:  [C9] 
 
 

E-16





B
O

A
R

D
 O

F
 E

D
U

C
A

T
IO

N
 O

F
 T

H
E

 C
IT

Y
 O

F
 B

U
F

O
R

D
 (G

E
O

R
G

IA
) • R

efunding








 R
e

v
enue




 B
ond




s T
a

x
ab


l

e S
erie




s 2021 (
the


 “B

ond



s”)


	OFFICIAL STATEMENT
	TABLE OF CONTENTS
	INTRODUCTION
	The School System
	The City
	Legal Authority for the Bonds
	Security and Sources of Payment for the Bonds
	Purposes of the Bonds
	Tax Status
	Other Information

	THE BONDS
	General Description
	Redemption
	Registration, Transfer, and Exchange of Bonds
	DTC and Book-Entry Only System of Registration

	PLAN OF REFUNDING
	Verification of Mathematical Computations
	Investment of Money

	ESTIMATED SOURCES AND USES OF FUNDS
	SECURITY AND SOURCES OF PAYMENT FOR THE BONDS
	General
	Pledge of Revenues; Intergovernmental Agreement with the City
	Additional Security Provided by State of Georgia Intercept Program
	Enforcement of Remedies

	RISK FACTORS
	Special, Limited Obligation
	General Factors that May Affect Sufficiency of Revenues
	Maintenance of Credit Rating
	Cybersecurity
	Economy
	Secondary Markets and Prices
	Infectious Disease Outbreak – COVID-19

	CITY OF BUFORD DEBT STRUCTURE
	Summary of City Debt by Category
	Indebtedness of Overlapping Governmental Entities
	Debt Limitation
	Long and Short-Term Indebtedness
	Debt Service Schedules

	CITY OF BUFORD AD VALOREM TAXATION
	Introduction
	Property Subject to Taxation
	Tax Reform
	Assessed Value
	Annual Tax Levy
	Property Tax Collections
	M&O Tax Digest
	Ten Largest Taxpayers
	M&O Tax Levies and Collections for the City and School System
	Millage Rates

	SCHOOL SYTEM FINANCIAL INFORMATION
	Five-Year General Fund History
	Management Comments Concerning Material Trends in Revenues and Expenditures

	CITY OF BUFORD FINANCIAL INFORMATION
	Six-Year Total-Primary Government History
	Six-Year General Fund History
	Six-Year Proprietary Funds History
	Management Comments Concerning Material Trends in Revenues and Expenditures
	Accounting Policies
	Budgetary Process for General Fund
	Retirement Plans and Other Post-Employment Benefits
	Governmental Immunity and Insurance Coverage

	LITIGATION
	VALIDATION AND APPROVAL OF LEGAL PROCEEDINGS
	TAX MATTERS
	RATINGS
	UNDERWRITING
	CONTINUING DISCLOSURE
	EXPERTS
	ACCURACY AND COMPLETENESS OF OFFICIAL STATEMENT
	AUTHORIZATION OF OFFICIAL STATEMENT
	Appendix A: BUFORD SCHOOL SYSTEM GENERAL INFORMATION
	Appendix B: CITY OF BUFORD GENERAL INFORMATION
	Appendix C: FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF THE CITY OF BUFORD FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2020
	Appendix D: PROPOSED FORM OF LEGAL OPINIONS OF BOND COUNSEL
	Appendix E: FORM OF DISCLOSURE DISSEMINATION AGREEMENT



<<

  /ASCII85EncodePages false

  /AllowPSXObjects false

  /AllowTransparency false

  /AlwaysEmbed [

    true

  ]

  /AntiAliasColorImages false

  /AntiAliasGrayImages false

  /AntiAliasMonoImages false

  /AutoFilterColorImages true

  /AutoFilterGrayImages true

  /AutoPositionEPSFiles true

  /AutoRotatePages /None

  /Binding /Left

  /CalCMYKProfile (U.S. Web Coated \050SWOP\051 v2)

  /CalGrayProfile (Dot Gain 20%)

  /CalRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)

  /CannotEmbedFontPolicy /Warning

  /CheckCompliance [

    /None

  ]

  /ColorACSImageDict <<

    /HSamples [

      1

      1

      1

      1

    ]

    /QFactor 0.15000

    /VSamples [

      1

      1

      1

      1

    ]

  >>

  /ColorConversionStrategy /LeaveColorUnchanged

  /ColorImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG

  /ColorImageDepth -1

  /ColorImageDict <<

    /HSamples [

      1

      1

      1

      1

    ]

    /QFactor 0.15000

    /VSamples [

      1

      1

      1

      1

    ]

  >>

  /ColorImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000

  /ColorImageDownsampleType /Bicubic

  /ColorImageFilter /DCTEncode

  /ColorImageMinDownsampleDepth 1

  /ColorImageMinResolution 300

  /ColorImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK

  /ColorImageResolution 300

  /ColorSettingsFile ()

  /CompatibilityLevel 1.5

  /CompressObjects /Tags

  /CompressPages true

  /ConvertImagesToIndexed true

  /CreateJDFFile false

  /CreateJobTicket false

  /CropColorImages false

  /CropGrayImages false

  /CropMonoImages false

  /DSCReportingLevel 0

  /DefaultRenderingIntent /Default

  /Description <<

    /ENU ([Based on '[ImageMaster]'] Use these settings to create Adobe PDF documents best suited for high-quality prepress printing.  Created PDF documents can be opened with Acrobat and Adobe Reader 5.0 and later.)

  >>

  /DetectBlends true

  /DetectCurves 0

  /DoThumbnails false

  /DownsampleColorImages false

  /DownsampleGrayImages false

  /DownsampleMonoImages false

  /EmbedAllFonts true

  /EmbedJobOptions true

  /EmbedOpenType false

  /EmitDSCWarnings false

  /EncodeColorImages true

  /EncodeGrayImages true

  /EncodeMonoImages true

  /EndPage -1

  /GrayACSImageDict <<

    /HSamples [

      1

      1

      1

      1

    ]

    /QFactor 0.15000

    /VSamples [

      1

      1

      1

      1

    ]

  >>

  /GrayImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG

  /GrayImageDepth -1

  /GrayImageDict <<

    /HSamples [

      1

      1

      1

      1

    ]

    /QFactor 0.15000

    /VSamples [

      1

      1

      1

      1

    ]

  >>

  /GrayImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000

  /GrayImageDownsampleType /Bicubic

  /GrayImageFilter /DCTEncode

  /GrayImageMinDownsampleDepth 2

  /GrayImageMinResolution 300

  /GrayImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK

  /GrayImageResolution 300

  /ImageMemory 1048576

  /JPEG2000ColorACSImageDict <<

    /Quality 30

    /TileHeight 256

    /TileWidth 256

  >>

  /JPEG2000ColorImageDict <<

    /Quality 30

    /TileHeight 256

    /TileWidth 256

  >>

  /JPEG2000GrayACSImageDict <<

    /Quality 30

    /TileHeight 256

    /TileWidth 256

  >>

  /JPEG2000GrayImageDict <<

    /Quality 30

    /TileHeight 256

    /TileWidth 256

  >>

  /LockDistillerParams false

  /MaxSubsetPct 100

  /MonoImageDepth -1

  /MonoImageDict <<

    /K -1

  >>

  /MonoImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000

  /MonoImageDownsampleType /Bicubic

  /MonoImageFilter /CCITTFaxEncode

  /MonoImageMinResolution 1200

  /MonoImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK

  /MonoImageResolution 1200

  /Namespace [

    (Adobe)

    (Common)

    (1.0)

  ]

  /NeverEmbed [

    true

  ]

  /OPM 1

  /Optimize true

  /OtherNamespaces [

    <<

      /AsReaderSpreads false

      /CropImagesToFrames true

      /ErrorControl /WarnAndContinue

      /FlattenerIgnoreSpreadOverrides false

      /IncludeGuidesGrids false

      /IncludeNonPrinting false

      /IncludeSlug false

      /Namespace [

        (Adobe)

        (InDesign)

        (4.0)

      ]

      /OmitPlacedBitmaps false

      /OmitPlacedEPS false

      /OmitPlacedPDF false

      /SimulateOverprint /Legacy

    >>

    <<

      /AddBleedMarks false

      /AddColorBars false

      /AddCropMarks false

      /AddPageInfo false

      /AddRegMarks false

      /BleedOffset [

        0

        0

        0

        0

      ]

      /ConvertColors /NoConversion

      /DestinationProfileName (U.S. Web Coated \050SWOP\051 v2)

      /DestinationProfileSelector /UseName

      /Downsample16BitImages true

      /FlattenerPreset <<

        /PresetSelector /MediumResolution

      >>

      /FormElements false

      /GenerateStructure false

      /IncludeBookmarks false

      /IncludeHyperlinks false

      /IncludeInteractive false

      /IncludeLayers false

      /IncludeProfiles false

      /MarksOffset 6

      /MarksWeight 0.25000

      /MultimediaHandling /UseObjectSettings

      /Namespace [

        (Adobe)

        (CreativeSuite)

        (2.0)

      ]

      /PDFXOutputIntentProfileSelector /UseName

      /PageMarksFile /RomanDefault

      /PreserveEditing true

      /UntaggedCMYKHandling /LeaveUntagged

      /UntaggedRGBHandling /LeaveUntagged

      /UseDocumentBleed false

    >>

    <<

      /AllowImageBreaks true

      /AllowTableBreaks true

      /ExpandPage false

      /HonorBaseURL true

      /HonorRolloverEffect false

      /IgnoreHTMLPageBreaks false

      /IncludeHeaderFooter false

      /MarginOffset [

        0

        0

        0

        0

      ]

      /MetadataAuthor ()

      /MetadataKeywords ()

      /MetadataSubject ()

      /MetadataTitle ()

      /MetricPageSize [

        0

        0

      ]

      /MetricUnit /inch

      /MobileCompatible 0

      /Namespace [

        (Adobe)

        (GoLive)

        (8.0)

      ]

      /OpenZoomToHTMLFontSize false

      /PageOrientation /Portrait

      /RemoveBackground false

      /ShrinkContent true

      /TreatColorsAs /MainMonitorColors

      /UseEmbeddedProfiles false

      /UseHTMLTitleAsMetadata true

    >>

  ]

  /PDFX1aCheck false

  /PDFX3Check false

  /PDFXBleedBoxToTrimBoxOffset [

    0

    0

    0

    0

  ]

  /PDFXCompliantPDFOnly false

  /PDFXNoTrimBoxError true

  /PDFXOutputCondition ()

  /PDFXOutputConditionIdentifier (CGATS TR 001)

  /PDFXOutputIntentProfile (U.S. Web Coated \050SWOP\051 v2)

  /PDFXRegistryName (http://www.color.org)

  /PDFXSetBleedBoxToMediaBox true

  /PDFXTrapped /False

  /PDFXTrimBoxToMediaBoxOffset [

    0

    0

    0

    0

  ]

  /ParseDSCComments true

  /ParseDSCCommentsForDocInfo true

  /ParseICCProfilesInComments true

  /PassThroughJPEGImages true

  /PreserveCopyPage true

  /PreserveDICMYKValues true

  /PreserveEPSInfo true

  /PreserveFlatness false

  /PreserveHalftoneInfo false

  /PreserveOPIComments true

  /PreserveOverprintSettings true

  /StartPage 1

  /SubsetFonts true

  /TransferFunctionInfo /Apply

  /UCRandBGInfo /Preserve

  /UsePrologue false

  /sRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)

>> setdistillerparams

<<

  /HWResolution [2400 2400]

  /PageSize [612.000 792.000]

>> setpagedevice




 
 
    
   HistoryItem_V1
   AddNumbers
        
     Range: From page 54 to page 54
     Font: Times-Roman 11.0 point
     Origin: bottom centre
     Offset: horizontal 0.00 points, vertical 39.60 points
     Prefix text: 'A-'
     Suffix text: ''
     Use registration colour: no
      

        
     
     BC
     A-
     1
     TR
     1
     0
     1459
     357
     0
     11.0000
            
                
         Both
         1
         54
         SubDoc
              

       CurrentAVDoc
          

     0.0000
     39.6000
      

        
     QITE_QuiteImposingPlus2
     Quite Imposing Plus 2.9b
     Quite Imposing Plus 2
     1
      

        
     53
     80
     53
     1
      

   1
  

    
   HistoryItem_V1
   AddNumbers
        
     Range: From page 57 to page 58
     Font: Times-Roman 11.0 point
     Origin: bottom centre
     Offset: horizontal 0.00 points, vertical 39.60 points
     Prefix text: 'B-'
     Suffix text: ''
     Use registration colour: no
      

        
     
     BC
     B-
     1
     TR
     1
     0
     1459
     357
     0
     11.0000
            
                
         Both
         2
         57
         SubDoc
              

       CurrentAVDoc
          

     0.0000
     39.6000
      

        
     QITE_QuiteImposingPlus2
     Quite Imposing Plus 2.9b
     Quite Imposing Plus 2
     1
      

        
     56
     80
     57
     2
      

   1
  

    
   HistoryItem_V1
   AddNumbers
        
     Range: From page 61 to page 63
     Font: Times-Roman 11.0 point
     Origin: bottom centre
     Offset: horizontal 0.00 points, vertical 39.60 points
     Prefix text: 'D-'
     Suffix text: ''
     Use registration colour: no
      

        
     
     BC
     D-
     1
     TR
     1
     0
     1459
     357
     0
     11.0000
            
                
         Both
         3
         61
         SubDoc
              

       CurrentAVDoc
          

     0.0000
     39.6000
      

        
     QITE_QuiteImposingPlus2
     Quite Imposing Plus 2.9b
     Quite Imposing Plus 2
     1
      

        
     60
     81
     62
     3
      

   1
  

    
   HistoryItem_V1
   AddNumbers
        
     Range: From page 67 to page 82
     Font: Times-Roman 11.0 point
     Origin: bottom centre
     Offset: horizontal 0.00 points, vertical 39.60 points
     Prefix text: 'E-'
     Suffix text: ''
     Use registration colour: no
      

        
     
     BC
     E-
     1
     TR
     1
     0
     1459
     357
    
     0
     11.0000
            
                
         Both
         16
         67
         SubDoc
              

       CurrentAVDoc
          

     0.0000
     39.6000
      

        
     QITE_QuiteImposingPlus2
     Quite Imposing Plus 2.9b
     Quite Imposing Plus 2
     1
      

        
     66
     82
     81
     16
      

   1
  

 HistoryList_V1
 qi2base



		2021-12-17T22:22:11+0000
	MuniOS.com




